
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 
PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 
VILLAGE HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

6:30 P.M., OCTOBER 20, 2016  

AGENDA 

I) Call to Order

II) Roll Call

III) Minutes – Committee of the Whole Meeting – October 5, 2016

IV) Regular Business

1) Discussion Concerning Questions on the Village Board Agenda (6:30- 6:45 p.m.)

2) Discussion Concerning the 2016 Property Tax Levy and Fiscal Year 2015/16
Budget Update (6:45 – 7:30 p.m.)

V) Public Comment

VI) Adjournment

DATE POSTED: October 14, 2016 



 

 

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 

    PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

                                   COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

VILLAGE HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

OCTOBER 5, 2016 

 
DRAFT 

Call to Order 
 
President Turry called the Committee of the Whole meet ing of the Lincolnwood Board of 
Trustees to order at 6:15 PM, Wednesday,  October  5 , 2016 in the Council Chambers of 
the Municipal Complex, 6900 North Lincoln Avenue, Village of Lincolnwood, County of Cook 
and State of Illinois. 
 
Roll Call 
 
On roll call by Village Clerk Beryl Herman the following were: 
PRESENT: President Turry, Trustees Bass, Patel, Spino, Klatzco, Elster, Cope (6:25) 
ABSENT:  None 
 
A quorum was present. Also present: Timothy Wiberg, Village Manager;  Douglas Petroshius, 
Assistant Village manager;  Amanda Pazdan, Management Analyst;  Steve McNellis, Director 
of Community Development; Charles Greenstein, Village Treasurer;  Robert LaMantia, Police 
Chief;  Charles Meyer, Assistant to the Village Manager;  Ashley Engelmann, Public Works 
Director; Andrew Letson, Assistant Public Works Director. 
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
Minutes of the September 20, 2016 Committee of the Whole meetings were distributed in 
advance of the meeting and were examined.  Trustee Bass moved to approve the minutes.  
Trustee Patel seconded the motion.   
 
Trustees Elster and Spino abstained. 
 
The motion passed by Voice Vote. 
 
Regular Business 
 
1.    Discussion Concerning any Questions on Village Board Meeting Agenda Items 
 
*Trustee Klatzco questioned the bidding process regarding Lincoln Avenue Streetscaping. 
 



 
 
 
Trustee Elster suggested that the bidding be looked at more closely.  Mrs. Engelmann and Mr. 
Wiberg responded and clarified. 
 
*Trustee Cope questioned items on Consent regarding stormwater management.  Mr. Wiberg 
stated that the Board had directed Staff to obtain bids, finish the design and award to the lowest 
bidder. 
 
*Items involving cannabis will be removed from Consent. 
 
2. Discussion Concerning the Landscaping of the Lincoln Avenue Medians 
 
This item was presented by Mrs. Engelmann. 
 
This item will appear on the regular agenda, with direction to award the contract. 
 
It was thought that waiting to get bids during the winter months would produce a lower bid, 
which would be to the advantage of the Village.  Could this be reevaluated as to materials?   
Village Engineer Amelio agrees. 
 

Background 
*January 19, 2016, Committee of the Whole meeting, a concept plan for the revitalization of the 
medians on Lincoln Avenue was presented 

 Funds allocated  in FY2016/2017 budget 
*May 3, 2016, the Village Board awarded a proposal to Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. 
for phase 1 engineering 
*The project includes: 

 All medians on Lincoln Avenue from Jarvis Avenue to Devon Avenue 
 Raised beds with perennial landscaping 
 Irrigation 
 Brick Edging 

Photos and Renderings were presented. 
 

Bid Process 
*September 8, 2016 a bid notice was published 
*Bid packages were requested by eight firms 
*September 27, 2016 four sealed bids were received 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

Bid Tabulation 
Contractor       Total Contract Price 
Landmark Contractors      $1,156,489.63 
Martam Construction       $1,608,360.25 
Copenhaver Construction      $1,687,265.00 
Vixen Construction       $1,756,525.50 
Engineer’s Estimate                $966,310.00 
 

Budget 
$480,000 – General Fund 
$194,225 – Devon/ Lincoln TIF 
$175,775 – Lincoln/Touhy TIF 
$850,000 – Total Budget (Based on 2015 Concept Plan) 
 
*Lowest bid is $3000,000 above the budgeted amount 
 
*Items contributing to increased cost: 

 Brick Work 
 Irrigation 
 Traffic Control 

 
Options for Consideration 

*Option 1 – Award Contract 
 Complete project this fiscal year 

#Fall Hardscape 
#Spring Plantings 
#$300,000 above budgeted amount 

*Option 2 – Award Amended Contract 
 Medians from Touhy Avenue south to Devon Avenue completed this fiscal year 

#Fall hardscape 
#Spring plantings 
#Amend contract to remove medians north of Touhy Avenue due to future street light 
replacement 
#Estimated reduction of $217,000 

*Option 3 – Reject and Rebid* 
 Project completed during Spring and Summer of 2017 extending into next fiscal year 

#Winter rebid could yield additional bids and more favorable pricing 
Option 3 is Staff Recommendation 
 

Next Steps 
*Options 1 or 2 

 A Resolution is on the Regular Meeting Agenda awarding a contract to Landmark 
Contractors 



 
 
 
 
*Option 3 

 The Resolution on the Regular Meeting Agenda should be tabled and a Resolution 
rejecting the bids will be included  on the October 20, 2016 Village Board Agenda 

 
Discussion ensued. 
 
Consensus was that a motion be made to reject during the regular Village Board meeting this 
evening. 
 
3. Discussion Concerning the Current Regulations of Signs 
 
This item was presented by Mr. McNellis with use of PowerPoint. 
 
Trustee Klatzco brought this item to the attention of Staff. 

 
Business Sign Illumination 

Current Zoning Code Permissibility: 
Hours of Illumination:  With the exception of public service signs and flags, all illuminated signs 
shall be turned off between the hours of 11PM and 7AM unless the business establishment is 
engaged in the operation of its business with employees on the premises during such period   
 
*Code requirement has been in place since at least 1998 
*Past surveys (as recent as recent as 2012) found a number of businesses out of compliance 
 
A survey of surrounding communities’ business sign regulations was presented: 
Des Plaines, Evanston, Glenview, Morton Grove, Niles, Park Ridge, Skokie and Wilmette 
 

Business Sign Illumination – Village Survey 
 Village-wide survey conducted September 14, 2016, between 12:30AM and 3:20AM 
 Seventy (70) signs illuminated at businesses that were closed 
 Represents 18.5% of approximately 380 business signs in the Village 

 
*Justifications in Favor of Continued Limitations/Enforcement 

 Illuminated business signs after hours are contrary to Sign Regulations stating signage is 
intended for identification purposes, not advertising 

 Permitted illumination of all business signs overnight could increase light 
pollution/impact in residential areas 

*Justifications Against Continued Limitations/Enforcement 
 Signage serves dual purpose of identification and advertisement.  Permitting afterhours 

“advertisement” helps support business 
 The practice of leaving signs illuminated overnight shows businesses believe it is 

beneficial, true or not 



 
 
 
 

 Village would be at a competitive disadvantage to neighboring communities who do not 
impose such restrictions 

 
Staff recommends continuing Village restrictions on hours of illumination for business signs, and 
following Village procedure for remedying Zoning Code violations. 
 
Discussion ensued. 
 
Consensus was to keep the status quo. 
 
4. Discussion Concerning Access to the Former Union Pacific Railroad Property 

Recreation Trail from Columbia Avenue 
 
This item was presented by Mr. Letson using PowerPoint. 

 
Background 

*2006 – The Union Pacific Trail was envisioned in the Bikeway Plan 

 Goal was to improve connectivity 
*November, 2012 – Parks and Recreation Board held a public meeting to discuss the project 
*Early 2016 – Union Pacific right-of- way was purchased 
*August 2016 – Construction of the path began 
*At September 20, 2016 Village Board Meeting, residents from the 3700 block of Columbia 
Avenue provided a petition opposing the construction of a sidewalk connection 

 
Neighborhood Connections 

*Union Pacific Trail (Planned) 

 Columbia Avenue 

 North Shore Avenue 

 Wallen Avenue 

 Albion Avenue 
*Valley Line Trail 

 Chase Avenue 

 Morse Avenue 

 Albion Avenue 
Photos and aerial views were exhibited 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Pros of Sidewalk       Cons of Sidewalk 
   Connection            Connection  
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
* Connects path to       *Connections to North 
Columbia Park at       Shore and Wallen are 
Columbia and Hamlin       planned for both sides 
*Connects path to       of the path, Columbia 
neighborhood for use by      only connects on the 
those living in the area      west side of the path 
*Meets goal of greater      *Columbia Avenue is the 
connectivity outlined in      closest residential 
2006 Bikeway Plan       connection to the 
*Open area between       path’s crossing at Pratt 
Columbia and the path would      Avenue 
likely serve as a cut through 
 

Village Board Direction 
Staff is seeking direction proceeding with construction of a sidewalk connection between 
Columbia Avenue and the Union Pacific Trail 
 
Residents of Wallen and Albion Avenues were in attendance and addressed the Board: 
Medina and Mirsad Biser, Cristian Lupas, and Leanne and Layla Ellis. 
 
Mr. Thuy Nguyen of Columbia Avenue returned after speaking last week and presenting a 
petition. 
 
The Wallen and Albion residents presented a petition in opposition of the accesses from their 
streets. 
 
Mr. Wiberg stated that there is access from Pratt and Lincoln. 
 
Trustee Cope expressed concern with all of the private streets having access.  
 
The consensus was to leave access at North Shore and omit Wallen, Columbia and Albion. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Adjournment   
 
At 7:45 PM Trustee Bass moved to adjourn Committee of the Whole, seconded by Trustee 
Klatzco. 
 
The motion passed with a Voice Vote 
                                                                            Respectfully Submitted, 
 

 
Beryl Herman 
Village Clerk 



MEMORANDUM 

TO:  President Turry and Members of the Village Board 

FROM: Timothy C. Wiberg, Village Manager  

DATE:  October 14, 2016 

SUBJECT: October 20 Committee of the Whole Meeting  

Please note the next Board Meeting is scheduled for THURSDAY October 20, due to 
a holiday.  As a reminder, the Committee of the Whole (COTW) meeting is scheduled for 
6:30 p.m. on Wednesday evening.  Dinner will be available beginning at 5:45 p.m. in the 
Village Hall Board Conference Room.  Please find below a summary of the items for 
discussion: 

1) Discussion Concerning Any Questions on Village Board Meeting Agenda Items
(6:30 – 6:45 p.m.)

The Mayor has requested that time be devoted at each COTW meeting for staff to address 
any questions the Board may have concerning any item on the Village Board meeting 
agenda. 

2) Discussion Concerning the 2016 Property Tax Levy and Fiscal Year 2016/17
Budget Update (6:45 – 7:30  p.m.)

Attached is a memorandum from the Finance Director providing a summary of the 
proposed property tax levy for 2016.  Also attached is a memorandum from the Finance 
Director summarizing the status of the current fiscal year’s budget.  Staff will discuss key 
issues on Thursday evening. 

If you should have any questions concerning these matters, please feel free to contact me. 
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MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Timothy C. Wiberg, Village Manager 

FROM: Bob Merkel, Director of Finance 

DATE : October 12, 2016 

SUBJECT: 2016 Tax Levy 

Background 
The Village prepares the annual tax levy based on the Village financial policy which allows 
an increase in the prior year’s tax levy consummate with the consumer price index as 
computed by the State of Illinois. This year’s allowable increase is .7% or $38,022. If this 
amount is approved, the Village’s tax levy average increase over the last three years is 1%. 

Allocation of Tax Levy 
The proposed 2016 village tax levy is utilized in the General Fund as follows: 

Tax Levy 2015 (actual) 2016( Proposed) Difference 
General $2,912,481 $2,731,115 $(181,366)
Police Pension 1,519,252 1,738,640 219,388 
Special Recreation 110,000 110,000 0 
Parks and 
Recreation 

890,000 890,000 0

Totals $5,431,733 $5,469,755 $38,022

The Police Pension portion of the levy has increased by $219,388. The Village financial 
policy is to fund the actuarial valuation contribution requirement. This year’s contribution 
increase in mainly due to updating of the mortality table the fund actuary uses in 
preparing the required calculations. Per discussion with the Police Pension Fund’s actuary, 
the mortality table has not been updated in many years which was the major factor in the 
large increase. The mortality table should be updated annually in future years to avoid 
these large fluctuations.  
The large increase in the Police Pension portion of the levy reduces the amount available to 
fund normal operating expenses in the General Fund by $181,366. Staff will need to take 
this reduction in revenue into account when assembling the FY2018 budget. 

If you have any comments or questions, please let me know.  



2016 Property Tax Levy 
Discussion



• Current Village Financial Policy –
Tax levy increase is limited to  the Cook  
County CPI 

•  2016 CPI is .7% - for a total levy increase of  
$38,022

•  Average property tax percent increase would be 
1% over the last three years  (Village portion 
only) 



Tax Levy 2015

(Actual)

2016

(Proposed)

Difference

General $2,912,481 $2,731,115 $(181,366)

Police 
Pension

1,519,252 1,738,640 219,388

Special 
Recreation

110,000 110,000 -

Parks and 
Recreation

890,000 890,000 -

Totals $5,431,733 $5,469,755 $  38,022

Utilization of Property Tax Levy in the General Fund



Pension Levy Effect on General Fund



General Fund Expenditure Percentage Increases
Previous Five Years
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1.6%

1.6%

3.4%

1.9%
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MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Timothy C. Wiberg, Village Manager 

FROM: Bob Merkel, Director of Finance 

DATE: October 12, 2016 

SUBJECT: First Quarter 2016/2017 General Fund Budget Update 

General Fund Budget Update FY2016/17 
The approved Village’s General Fund Budget for the fiscal year 2016/2017 was balanced 
with the use of excess fund balance reserves of $520,007. The updated projection for the 
fiscal 2016/2017 has been adjusted to reflect the use of $370,007 of fund balance reserves to 
balance the budget. 

Revenues 
Revenues are projected to increase $150,000 from the adopted budget. This increase of 
$150,000 is the result  two revenue item adjustments. When the Village budget was 
prepared, the State of Illinois did not have a budget and was threatening to reduce the 
amount of the state income tax allocation to the various village governments. The Village 
reduced the State income tax allocation by $250,000 in anticipation of this threat.  The 
State is currently operating on a temporary budget which does not include any provision for 
a reduction in the state income allocation to village governments. The result is a $250,000 
increase in revenue to the Village’ General Fund. This amount though, will be offset by 
$100,000 as the Village’s sales tax receipts are below the budgeted amounts. This is mainly 
due to a reduction in home rule sales tax receipts. 

Expenditures 
Expenditures are projected as originally budgeted. 

Issues affecting FY2017/18 Budget 
Revenues 
The projected 2016 tax levy increase will be .7% which translates to approximately $38,000 
in additional revenue.  
Also, the Village will have to continually monitor the budget situation in the State of 
Illinois for any potential revenue reduction measures. 
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Expenditures 
Pension costs will continue to increase. The Village will have to increase the police pension 
contribution by approximately $220,000. This is mainly due to updating of the mortality 
tables the fund actuary used in preparing the annual pension contribution. The Retirement 
Plans Experience Committee of the Society of Actuaries (RPEC) recently released an 
updated “Mortality Improvement Scale”, aptly named MP-2015. This updated scale was 
created using two additional years of historical data released by the Social Security 
Administration. All pension plans should be using this updated table when preparing their 
funding requirements.  
 
The Police Pension Fund also incurred a 0.19% investment return for the year due mainly 
to the decline in the value of the Fund’s stock holdings and low returns on fixed asset 
holdings. The Village’s actuarial assumptions include a 7% investment return. The Fund’s 
actuary informed me that the Police Pension Fund was in the middle of investment 
performance in relation to other pension funds which they did actuarial work. Most funds 
had negative investment returns and the highest investment return noted was 2%. 
  
There will also be a significant increase in health care costs as premiums are forecasted to 
increase by 13.5% or approximately $90,000. The Village has kept health care costs to a 
minimum in the preceding years averaging about 1% for the last three years.  
 
If you have any comments or questions, please let me know. 



General Fund Budget 
Update - First Quarter 

FY16/17



Budget Update FY16/17
Adopted 
Budget 

FY16/17

Projected 
Actual 

FY16/17

Variance

Revenues $20,442,803 $20,592,803 $150,000

Expenditures 20,035,310 20,035,310  0

Surplus 407,493 557,493   150,000

Transfers -
Net

(927,500) (927,500) 0

Net change 
to Fund 
Balance

$ (520,007) $(370,007) $150,000



GF Revenues FY16/17

• Sales tax - Projecting a decrease of approx. $100,000 from 
budget

• Income tax distribution from state of Illinois was not reduced
-Project an additional $250,000 in revenue

• Building permit revenue – Permits for Carrington  project - ???



FY2017/18 Revenue Issues
• Projected 2016 Tax Levy  Increase – Less than 1% -

.7%. Approx. $38,000
(2015 Tax Levy - .8% - $43,000

• U.S. economy is still in slow growth mode, global 
economy is still lagging . Economist keep predicting a 
recession in the next few years.



FY2017/18 Expenditure Issues
• IMRF Pension Funding - Decrease in rate of  .73% –

Approx. $16,000 increase in costs 
(Current rate 11.17%)            

• Police Pension Funding - Increase from prior actuarial 
valuation – Approx. $220,000 

• Health Care Insurance - Increase of approx. 10-13%. 
Last year was 3%. Approx. $90,000 in additional  costs 

• Final payment on 2011  G O Refunding Bonds –
Village will have no GO bonds outstanding                          



General Fund
Debt Principal Re-payment Schedule



 

 
 

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 
PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

REGULAR MEETING 
VILLAGE HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

7:30 P.M., OCTOBER 20, 2016 
 

AGENDA 
 

 
I. Call to Order 

II. Pledge to the Flag 

III. Roll Call 

IV. Approval of Minutes 

1. Village Board Minutes – October 5, 2016 

V. Warrant Approval 

VI. Village President’s Report 
 

1. Ron Amen of Lauterbach & Amen, LLP will Present the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for 
Year Ending April 30, 2016 

VII. Consent Agenda (If any one wishes to speak to any matter on the Consent Agenda, a Speaker’s Request Form 
must be completed, presented to the Village Clerk, and the matter will be removed from the Consent Agenda 
and added to Regular Business.) 

 
1. Approval of an Ordinance Approving a Plat of Vacation for a Portion of the Keystone Avenue Right-of-

Way Adjacent to 6825 North Lincoln Avenue (Appears on the Consent Agenda Because it was Approved 
Unanimously by a Recommending Body) 
 

2. Approval of a Recommendation by the Plan Commission in Case #PC-16-16 to Adopt an Ordinance 
Granting a Zoning Map Amendment to Rezone 4120 West Morse Avenue to the R-3 Residential Zoning 
District (Appears on the Consent Agenda Because it was Approved Unanimously by a Recommending 
Body) 

 
3. Approval of a Resolution to Approve the Planting of 79 Trees to be Purchased from the Suburban Tree 

Consortium for the Fall 2016 Planting in the Amount of $26,390 (Appears on the Consent Agenda 
Because it is a Routine Function of Government) 

 
4. Approval of a Resolution to Reject the Bids Received for the Landscaped Median Improvements on 

Lincoln Avenue (Appears on the Consent Agenda Because it is a Routine Function of Government) 
 

5. Approval of an Ordinance Waiving Enforcement of Section 14-14-10 of the Municipal Code to Allow the 
Village’s Contractor J.A. Johnson Paving Performing Resurfacing Work on Pratt Avenue to Work 
between 12:00 P.M. and 3:00 P.M. on Saturdays from October 22, 2016 through November 19, 2016       
(Appears on the Consent Agenda Because it is a Routine Function of Government) 
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6. Approval of a Recommendation by the Park and Recreation Board to Adopt an Ordinance Waiving 
Enforcement of Section 10-2-36(A) of the Village Code for the Sale of Beer and Wine at the Community 
Center on Saturday, October 22, 2016 from 6:30-10 P.M. for Maine-Niles Association of Special 
Recreation Trivia Night (Appears on the Consent Agenda Because it was Approved Unanimously by a 
Recommending Body) 
 

7. Approval of a Resolution to Accept the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Year Ended April 
30, 2016 (Appears on the Consent Agenda Because it is a Routine Function of Government) 

 
VIII. Regular Business 
 

8.   Consideration of an Ordinance Concerning Case #PC-01-16 Approving a New Comprehensive Plan for 
the Village of Lincolnwood 

   
IX. Manager’s Report 

X. Board, Commission, and Committee Reports 

XI. Village Clerk’s Report 

XII. Trustee Reports 

XIII. Public Forum 

XIV.    Adjournment 

DATE POSTED:  October 14, 2016 
 
All Village Board meetings are broadcast live to residents on Comcast Cable Channel 6, AT&T U-VERSE Channel 
99, RCN Channel 49, and online at Lincolnwood.tv at 7:30 p.m. Rebroadcasts of Village Board meetings can be 
viewed one week following the live broadcast at 1:00 p.m. and 7:30 p.m. on cable television or online at lwdtv.org or 
on the Lincolnwood Mobile App. 



 
 

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 
PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

REGULAR MEETING  
VILLAGE HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

OCTOBER 5, 2016 
DRAFT 
 
Call to Order 
 
President Turry called the Regular Meeting of the Lincolnwood Board of Trustees to order at 7:50 P.M., 
Wednesday, October 5, 2016, in the Council Chambers of the Municipal Complex, 6900 North Lincoln 
Avenue, Village of Lincolnwood, County of Cook, and State of Illinois. 
 
Pledge to the Flag 
 
The Corporate Authorities and all persons in attendance recited the Pledge of Allegiance to the flag of 
our country.  
 
Roll Call 
 
On roll call by Village Clerk Beryl Herman the following were: 
PRESENT: President Turry, Trustees Klatzco, Spino, Elster, Patel, Cope, Bass 
ABSENT: None 
 
A quorum was present. Also present: Timothy Wiberg, Village Manager; Douglas Petroshius, Assistant 
Village Manager; Charles Meyer, Assistant to the Village Manager; Steven Elrod, Village Attorney;  
Steve McNellis, Director of Community Development; Aaron Cook, Acting Community Development 
Director; Amanda Pazdan, Management Analyst; Charles Greenstein, Village Treasurer. 
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
The minutes of the September 20, 2016 Village Board meeting were distributed and examined in advance. 
 
Trustee Bass moved to approve the minutes as presented.  The motion was seconded by Trustee Patel. 
  
Trustees Elster and Spino abstained. 
 
The motion passed by voice vote.  
 
Warrant Approval 
 
Trustee Klatzco moved to approve warrants in the amount of $442,448.27.  The motion was seconded by 
Trustee Patel. 
 
Upon a Roll Call by the Village Clerk the results were:  
AYES: Trustees Klatzco, Patel, Cope, Bass, Spino, Elster  
NAYS: None                                                                     The motion passed.  
 
Village President’s Report 
 
1.   President Turry stated that the ribbon cutting for the Valley Line Trail would take place on 

Saturday, October 15 at 10AM, Goebelt Park 6621 Kilbourn. 
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2.   Upcoming Meetings 
 
President Turry announced upcoming meetings.  These meeting dates may be found on the Village 
Website. 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
1.    Approval of an Ordinance Amending Section 17-3-18 of the Municipal Code of Lincolnwood 

Regarding Possession of Cannabis and Drug Paraphernalia 
 

2.     Approval of a Resolution to Reject Proposals Received for the Village’s Chemical Feed 
System Replacement Project 
 
The following item was moved to regular Business 

3.    Approval of a Resolution Approving License Agreements with Various Properties for the 
Village’s Stormwater Street Storage Program 
 
The following item was moved to Regular Business 

4.    Approval of the Following Items Pertaining to the Village’s Stormwater Street Storage 
Improvements in a Pilot Area of the Village: A) A Resolution Awarding a Bid to 
Chicagoland Paving Contractors, Inc. of Lake Zurich, IL in the Amount of $439,000, B) An 
Ordinance Waving the Competitive Bidding Process and Approving an Agreement with 
Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. in the Amount of $47,950 for the Provision of 
Construction Management Services 
 

5.     Approval of an Ordinance in Case #PC-08-16 Amending Section 3.13 of the Zoning Code to 
Revise Fence Regulations for Residential Properties abutting Public Recreation Paths 

     
       The following item was moved to Regular Business       
6.    Consideration Approval of an Ordinance Approving a Plat of Vacation for a Portion of     

Keystone Avenue Adjacent to 6825 North Lincoln Avenue 
 
Trustee Cope moved to approve the Consent Agenda as amended, seconded by Trustee Bass. 
 
Upon Roll Call the Results were: 
AYES: Trustees Cope, Bass, Klatzco, Elster, Spino, Patel  
NAYS: None                                                                        The motion passed 
 
Regular Business 
7.  Consideration of a Recommendation by the Plan Commission Concerning Case #PC-01016 

Regarding a New Comprehensive Plan 
 
This item was presented by Mr. Cook and Doug Hamil from Hoseal Levigne. 
*Three areas were discussed at this meeting: 

Multi-Family Redevelopment 
Senior Housing 
Vacation of Alleyways 
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Multi-Family Redevelopment 
 
Trustee Cope spoke of the poor experience for residents living near multi-family dwellings.  He stated 
that he hoped the Village would not consider adding additional buildings of this kind.  Mr. Cook stated 
that the code was changed after the building on Lincoln Avenue was built. 
 
President Turry stated that Trustees need to decide on this. 
 
*The Final Plan Recommendation 

Amend the Village’s zoning ordinance to allow for appropriate residential development as a 
component of mixed use projects along commercial corridors 

*Issue 
In 2015, missed use residential was changed to Special Use 
Concerns over impacts on surrounding neighborhoods 
Plan includes criteria for assessing impacts on a case-by-case basis 

 
*Staff recommendation 

Maintain as drafted based on CPAC and PC discussion 
 
Consensus: Maintain – Trustee Klatzco, Trustee Spino, Trustee Elster, Trustee Patel 
                    Eliminate – Trustee Cope, Trustee Bass 
 

Senior Housing 
 

*Plan Recommendation 
Encourage the development of senior housing throughout Lincolnwood, especially near 

commercial areas that provide access to necessary goods and services. 
*Issue 

Senior housing currently under development 
Resulting 600 total units meets immediate need 
Age 65+: 2010-22.2%,2015-24.4%, 2020-27-27% 

*Staff Recommendation 
Eliminate the policy 

 
Consensus: Eliminate – Trustee Bass, Trustee Cope, Trustee Patel, Trustee Elster, Trustee Spino, 
Trustee Klatzco 
 

Vacation of Alleyways 
 

*Plan Recommendation 
In blocks where alleys exist, require new residential development to provide vehicular acess from 

the public street so that alleys can be vacated over time. 
*Issue 

Vacation of alleyways will reduce Village maintenance and policing costs 
Not recommended as a short term requirement, but rather as housing redevelops over time 

*Staff recommendation 
Maintain as drafted based on CPAC and PC discussion 
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Trustee Patel moved to direct the attorney to draft for review, a concurrence with the Plan 
Commission, with the exception of removal of Item 2 (Senior Housing) and Item 3 should include 
“where feasible”, Trustee Elster seconded. 
 
Upon Roll Call the Results were: 
AYES: Trustees Elster, Patel, Spino, Klatzco 
NAYS: Trustees Bass, Cope                                                               The motion passes 
 
Resident and Plan Commission member Irving Fishman addressed the Board offering thanks to the 
Board for heeding comments from residents and Staff and moving ahead with the Comprehensive 
Plan. 
 
8.     Consideration of the following pertaining to the Landscaped Median Improvements on 

Lincoln Avenue: A) Approval of a Resolution to Award a Contract to Landmark 
Contractors, Inc. of Huntley, Illinois for the Landscaped Median Improvements on Lincoln 
Avenue in the Amount of $1,156,489.63; and B) Approval of an Ordinance Waiving the Bid 
Process and Awarding a Proposal from Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. for 
Oversight of the Construction of the Landscaped Median Improvements on Lincoln Avenue 
in the Amount of $33,950 

 
Attorney Elrod stated that there is no action necessary on these items tonight. 
 
9 and 10.These items were removed as Item 3 and 4 from Consent 
 
Trustee Cope stated that pipe on North Shore to the Channel is good.  He disagrees with berm building 
which he feels will cause more water accumulation in the streets. Berms will serve no purpose except 
flooding where there is currently no flooding. 
 
Mr. Wiberg responded, this has been looked at by engineers who have opined that this is needed. 
 
Trustee Patel moved to approve Items 9 and 10.  He stated that all studies indicated that this is needed. 
Trustee Spino seconded. 
 
Upon Roll Call the Results were: 
AYES:  Trustees Patel, Spino, Klatzco, Elster 
NAYS:  Trustees Bass, Cope 
 
11. This item was removed as Item 6 from Consent 
 
Trustee Patel moved to Table the item to the October 20 Village Board Meeting, seconded by Trustee 
Klatzco. 
 
The motion passed with a Voice Vote 
 
Manager’s Report 
 
Mr. Wiberg announced that the next Village Board Meeting will be on Thursday, October 20 
Emission Testing Facilities in the area will be closing, remaining open will be the Skokie location. 
 
 



 5

 
 
 
Board and Commissions Report 
 
None. 
 
Village Clerk’s Report 
 
None. 
 
Trustees Reports 
 
Trustee Klatzco reported on his attending the Illinois Municipal League Conference. 
 
Trustee Patel stated that he will be attending the International Council of Shopping Centers - Chicago 
Deal Makers; also in attendance will be Mr. Wiberg, Mr. McNellis, and Mr. Petroshius. 
 
Public Forum 
 
None. 
 
Adjournment 
 
At 9:05 PM Trustee Patel moved to adjourn, seconded by Trustee Spino.  
 
The motion passed with a Voice Vote 
 
                                                                                     Respectfully Submitted, 
                                                                                 
 

Beryl Herman 
Village Clerk                                                                           



TO: President and the Board of Trustees

FROM: Timothy C. Wiberg, Village Manager

SUBJECT: Warrant Approval

DATE: October 14, 2016

              The following are the totals for the List of Bills being presented
 at the October 20th Village Board meeting.

10/20/2016 187,106.61       
10/20/2016 411,309.84       
10/20/2016 32,207.87          

         Total                           630,624.32$     



To Be Paid Proof List

10/11/2016 -  3:00PM

jmazzeffi

Printed:

User:

Accounts Payable

Batch: 00200.10.2016

Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

Adorama Camera Inc.

ADORAMA

19210229  41.25  0.00 10/20/20169/26/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Lexar SD cards for Evidence Techs

19210229 Total:  41.25

19221606  18.60  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies SD Card readers for Evidence techs

19221606 Total:  18.60

Adorama Camera Inc. Tota  59.85

American Charge Service

AMERCHAR

99196  36.00  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  205-570-515-5280 Subsidized taxi program Taxi coupons - Sept

99196 Total:  36.00

American Charge Service T  36.00

Arrow Road Construction Co

ARROWROA

60790MB  1,045.38  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  213-000-561-5490 R&M Road Repairs UPM cold patch material for potholes
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

60790MB Total:  1,045.38

Arrow Road Construction C  1,045.38

AT&T Global Services, Inc.

AT&TGLOB

IL826699  1,430.00  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  215-000-512-5580 Telephone Repair to 911 console

IL826699 Total:  1,430.00

AT&T Global Services, Inc  1,430.00

Authorized Photo Service

AUTHORIZ

558020  245.00  0.00 10/20/20169/26/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Repair/Maintenance Evidence Tech camera

558020 Total:  245.00

Authorized Photo Service T  245.00

Builders Asphalt

BUILDERS

19415  471.12  0.00 10/20/20169/7/2016

  213-000-561-5490 R&M Road Repairs Recycled surface

19415 Total:  471.12

19449  644.00  0.00 10/20/20169/12/2016

  213-000-561-5490 R&M Road Repairs Recycled surface

19449 Total:  644.00

19545  590.56  0.00 10/20/20169/14/2016

  213-000-561-5490 R&M Road Repairs Recycled surface
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

19545 Total:  590.56

19562  382.20  0.00 10/20/20169/15/2016

  213-000-561-5490 R&M Road Repairs Recycled surface

19562 Total:  382.20

Builders Asphalt Total:  2,087.88

Canon Solutions America, Inc

CANONSOL

988743152  310.87  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-210-511-5440 R&M - office equipment Maintenance for plotter - September

988743152 Total:  310.87

988751797  271.67  0.00 10/20/201610/4/2016

  101-210-511-5440 R&M - office equipment Maintenance for copier - September

988751797 Total:  271.67

Canon Solutions America,  582.54

CDS Office Technologies

CDS

INV1030851  565.00  0.00 10/20/20169/21/2016

  660-620-519-5730 Program supplies Ipad mount for vactor

INV1030851 Total:  565.00

CDS Office Technologies T  565.00

Evanston Funeral & Cremation

EVANSFUN

117  325.00  0.00 10/20/20169/25/2016

  101-300-512-5599 Other contractual Death Investigation/Body removal
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

117 Total:  325.00

Evanston Funeral & Crema  325.00

Frank, Jay

FRANKJA

16-9179  100.00  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  101-400-511-5210 Animal control Animal control services

16-9179 Total:  100.00

Frank, Jay Total:  100.00

Grainger

GRAINGER

9233457135  327.25  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  660-620-519-5405 R&M - buildings Air circulator for Pump House

9233457135 Total:  327.25

9244705811  101.20  0.00 10/20/201610/5/2016

  101-420-511-5405 R&M - buildings Light bulbs for Village Hall

9244705811 Total:  101.20

Grainger Total:  428.45

Grano, Tim & Wendy

GRANO

16-9180  200.00  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  101-400-511-5210 Animal control Animal control services

16-9180 Total:  200.00

Grano, Tim & Wendy Total  200.00
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

Grossinger Autoplex

GROSSING

316761CDR  36.15  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  101-440-513-5480 R&M - vehicles Coolant line for Truck #49

316761CDR Total:  36.15

CM316630CDR -20.00  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  101-440-513-5480 R&M - vehicles Core return

CM316630CDR Total: -20.00

Grossinger Autoplex Total:  16.15

Illinois Ass'n of Police Chiefs

ILLASSOC

2016-1735  198.00  0.00 10/20/20169/28/2016

  101-300-512-5590 Training Training - Brady Decision training

2016-1735 Total:  198.00

Illinois Ass'n of Police Chi  198.00

IRMA

IRMA

IVC00009829  178.50  0.00 10/20/20169/28/2016

  660-620-519-5590 Training Training - Public Works

IVC00009829 Total:  178.50

IVC00009845  42.50  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  660-620-519-5590 Training Training - Public Works

IVC00009845 Total:  42.50

SALES0015532  3,479.48  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-210-511-5260 Liability insurance September Deductible
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

SALES0015532 Total:  3,479.48

SALES0015567  10,366.24  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-210-511-5260 Liability insurance September Optional Deductible

SALES0015567 Total:  10,366.24

IRMA Total:  14,066.72

Isenstein, Melvin

ISENSTEI

16-9083  45.00  0.00 10/20/20169/13/2016

  101-400-511-5210 Animal control Animal control services

16-9083 Total:  45.00

Isenstein, Melvin Total:  45.00

JG Uniforms Inc

JGUNIFOR

6782  49.40  0.00 10/20/20169/21/2016

  101-300-512-5070 Uniform allowance Misc uniform items

6782 Total:  49.40

JG Uniforms Inc Total:  49.40

Johnson & Son, Carl

JOHNSON

160746  1,000.00  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-000-210-2620 Contractor bonds payable Driveway deposit refund

160746 Total:  1,000.00

Johnson & Son, Carl Total:  1,000.00
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

Landscape Concepts Management

LANDSCAP

114728  2,835.00  0.00 10/20/201610/1/2016

  205-430-515-5250 Contract Maintenance Landscaping maintenance - Centennial - Oct

114728 Total:  2,835.00

Landscape Concepts Mana  2,835.00

Lowe's Business Acc/GECF

LOWES

7585246  17.66  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Materials to post temporary speed display devices

7585246 Total:  17.66

Lowe's Business Acc/GEC  17.66

Lund Industries

LUNDIND

86435  75.00  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-300-512-5480 R&M - vehicles Remove/replace air bag shut off

86435 Total:  75.00

86436  47.15  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-300-512-5480 R&M - vehicles Replace broken antenna

86436 Total:  47.15

Lund Industries Total:  122.15

Mahmood, Saifuddin

MAHMOOD

160187  2,000.00  0.00 10/20/20166/14/2016

  101-000-210-2620 Contractor bonds payable Street opening deposit refund
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

160187 Total:  2,000.00

Mahmood, Saifuddin Total  2,000.00

North Suburban Employee Benefit

NSEBENEF

September 2016  89,488.00  0.00 10/20/201610/5/2016

  102-000-210-2027 Health insurance premium with Health Insurance - September 2016

September 2016 Total:  89,488.00

North Suburban Employee  89,488.00

Northern Illinois  Police Alarm System

NTILPALS

11056  9,207.67  0.00 10/20/20169/21/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Mandatory uniform for police officer

11056 Total:  9,207.67

Northern Illinois  Police Al  9,207.67

Orange Crush LLC

ORANGCRH

16058  372.14  0.00 10/20/20169/21/2016

  213-000-561-5490 R&M Road Repairs Asphalt surface mix

16058 Total:  372.14

16258  272.85  0.00 10/20/20169/21/2016

  213-000-561-5490 R&M Road Repairs Asphalt surface mix

16258 Total:  272.85

Orange Crush LLC Total:  644.99
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

Perdomo, Olga

PERDOMO

16-8404  190.00  0.00 10/20/20168/31/2016

  101-400-511-5210 Animal control Animal control services

16-8404 Total:  190.00

Perdomo, Olga Total:  190.00

Perspectives

PERSPECT

84979  550.00  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-200-511-5599 Other contractual Training sessions

84979 Total:  550.00

Perspectives Total:  550.00

Quinlan Security Systems

QUINLANS

11751  1,079.25  0.00 10/20/20169/20/2016

  660-620-519-5490 R&M - water system equipmen Indoor and outdoor wall mount

11751 Total:  1,079.25

Quinlan Security Systems T  1,079.25

Safeware, Inc.

SAFEWARE

3528697  270.00  0.00 10/20/20169/6/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Rescue blankets

3528697 Total:  270.00

3529167  1,297.20  0.00 10/20/20169/8/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Trauma rapid intervention kit
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

3529167 Total:  1,297.20

3529355  1,016.52  0.00 10/20/20169/12/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Forcible entry tool

3529355 Total:  1,016.52

3529367  169.42  0.00 10/20/20169/12/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Forcible entry tool

3529367 Total:  169.42

3529629  367.36  0.00 10/20/20169/13/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Wedge it door stop

3529629 Total:  367.36

3530016  227.64  0.00 10/20/20169/15/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Paracord survival bracelet

3530016 Total:  227.64

3530630  735.00  0.00 10/20/20169/20/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Tactical tourniquet

3530630 Total:  735.00

3530900  974.70  0.00 10/20/20169/21/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Backpacks

3530900 Total:  974.70

3531231  389.88  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Backpacks

3531231 Total:  389.88

Safeware, Inc. Total:  5,447.72

Schneider Electric
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

SCHNEI

4946845  831.00  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-400-511-5730 Program supplies Weather services

4946845  342.00  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-250-511-5330 Data processing Weather services

4946845 Total:  1,173.00

Schneider Electric Total:  1,173.00

T.P.I. Building Code Consultants, Inc.

TPI

201609  8,044.50  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-240-517-5399 Other professional services Plan review - Sept

201609  8,950.50  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-240-517-5399 Other professional services In House - Sept

201609 Total:  16,995.00

T.P.I. Building Code Cons  16,995.00

Thompson Elevator Inspection Service, Inc.

THOMPSO

16-3186  100.00  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-240-517-5399 Other professional services 7257 Plan Review

16-3186  100.00  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-240-517-5399 Other professional services 6400 Cicero plan review

16-3186  100.00  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-240-517-5399 Other professional services 6400 Cicero plan review

16-3186 Total:  300.00

Thompson Elevator Inspec  300.00

Traffic Control & Protection

TRAFFICC
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87888  227.20  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  101-440-513-5768 Street materials - signs & bar Signs

87888 Total:  227.20

Traffic Control & Protectio  227.20

Trans Union Corp

TRANSU

9600550  60.00  0.00 10/20/20169/25/2016

  101-300-512-5399 Other professional services Monthly subscription fee

9600550 Total:  60.00

Trans Union Corp Total:  60.00

TransUnion Risk and Alternative

TRANSUN

5568811093016  72.00  0.00 10/20/201610/1/2016

  101-300-512-5399 Other professional services Online investigative database system

5568811093016 Total:  72.00

TransUnion Risk and Alter  72.00

Treasurer State of Illinois

IDOT

120090  33,972.20  0.00 10/20/201610/1/2016

  454-000-561-5399 Land Acquistion & Improveme Commonwealth Edison Trail

120090 Total:  33,972.20

Treasurer State of Illinois T  33,972.20

Tri-Tech Forensics
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

TRITECH

135576  223.90  0.00 10/20/20168/26/2016

  101-300-512-5730 Program supplies Specimen collection kits

135576  20.50  0.00 10/20/20168/26/2016

  101-210-511-5720 Postage Shipping

135576 Total:  244.40

Tri-Tech Forensics Total:  244.40

Report Total:  187,106.61
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To Be Paid Proof List

10/11/2016 -  3:00PM

jmazzeffi

Printed:

User:

Accounts Payable

Batch: 00201.10.2016

Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

Ali-Nasser, Dhekra Mohsen

ALINASSE

100316  30.00  0.00 10/20/201610/6/2016

  205-000-210-2430 Parks and Recs Control Deposi Cancellation of rental

100316 Total:  30.00

Ali-Nasser, Dhekra Mohse  30.00

Avalon Petroleum

AVALON

17540  656.60  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  101-350-512-5670 Fuel Fuel usage

17540  705.04  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  101-440-513-5670 Fuel Fuel usage

17540  229.38  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  205-430-515-5670 Fuel Fuel usage

17540  426.99  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  660-620-519-5670 Fuel Fuel usage

17540 Total:  2,018.01

555635  76.72  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  101-420-511-5670 Fuel Fuel usage

555635  1,522.47  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  101-300-512-5670 Fuel Fuel usage

555635  58.43  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  101-350-512-5670 Fuel Fuel usage

555635  56.84  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016
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  101-400-511-5670 Fuel Fuel usage

555635  271.90  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  101-440-513-5670 Fuel Fuel usage

555635  313.83  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  205-430-515-5670 Fuel Fuel usage

555635  286.81  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  660-620-519-5670 Fuel Fuel usage

555635 Total:  2,587.00

Avalon Petroleum Total:  4,605.01

Christopher Burke Engineering

CHRISTB

131833  18,500.00  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  660-620-519-5320 Consulting Street Storage Pilot area

131833 Total:  18,500.00

131840  4,500.00  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-290-511-5920 Administration Engineer Costs Retainer - September

131840  4,500.00  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  660-620-519-5399 Other professional services Retainer - September

131840 Total:  9,000.00

131841  172.50  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  205-571-515-5730 Program supplies Community Center roof evaluation

131841 Total:  172.50

131842  7,532.50  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  465-000-561-5340 Engineering Lincoln Avenue Landscaped medians

131842 Total:  7,532.50

131843  21,766.91  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  217-000-561-5340 Engineering UP ROW Parking lot

131843 Total:  21,766.91
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131844  6,504.57  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  660-620-519-5320 Consulting North Shore Channel Outfall

131844 Total:  6,504.57

131845  7,466.96  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-290-511-5922 Building Engineering Costs 3400 Pratt

131845 Total:  7,466.96

131847  619.00  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-290-511-5922 Building Engineering Costs 6950 NE Prairie Rd

131847 Total:  619.00

131848  1,071.98  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-290-511-5922 Building Engineering Costs Lou Malnati's Plan Review

131848 Total:  1,071.98

131849  2,866.34  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-290-511-5922 Building Engineering Costs 4320 Touhy

131849 Total:  2,866.34

131850  919.00  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-290-511-5922 Building Engineering Costs 3701 Touhy

131850 Total:  919.00

131851  532.58  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-290-511-5922 Building Engineering Costs Airoom Parking

131851 Total:  532.58

Christopher Burke Enginee  76,952.34

Cornblett, Aileen

CORNBLEE

100416  64.00  0.00 10/20/201610/4/2016

  205-000-210-2430 Parks and Recs Control Deposi Refund - Classes
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100416 Total:  64.00

Cornblett, Aileen Total:  64.00

Deluxe Business Checks & Solutions

DELUXEBU

2038015062  567.19  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  101-210-511-5700 Office supplies Laser P/R Check

2038015062 Total:  567.19

Deluxe Business Checks &  567.19

D'Original Juzz Dance Group

DORIGINA

9302016  1,519.00  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  205-504-515-5270 Purchased program services September 2016 Collected Drop In

9302016 Total:  1,519.00

D'Original Juzz Dance Gro  1,519.00

Eagle Engraving

EAGLE

2016-2579  6.64  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  101-350-512-5665 Firefighting supplies Gear locker sign

2016-2579 Total:  6.64

Eagle Engraving Total:  6.64

Essential Equipment Solutions

ESSEN

4987  1,125.62  0.00 10/20/20169/19/2016
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  101-350-512-5665 Firefighting supplies Fure suppression foam

4987 Total:  1,125.62

Essential Equipment Soluti  1,125.62

Eterno  Attorney at Law, David

ETERNO

11818  825.00  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-230-511-5399 Other professional services Adjudication Hearing officer - August

11818 Total:  825.00

Eterno  Attorney at Law, D  825.00

Golf Mill Ford

GOLFMILL

595750  550.50  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  101-300-512-5480 R&M - vehicles Paint hood of squad

595750 Total:  550.50

Golf Mill Ford Total:  550.50

HMO Healthcare Service Corporation

HMO

Oct, 2016  11,144.24  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  102-000-210-2027 Health insurance premium with Employee Health Insurance - October 2016

Oct, 2016 Total:  11,144.24

HMO Healthcare Service C  11,144.24

Hoving Pit Stop

HOVING
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142189  93.00  0.00 10/20/20169/1/2016

  205-430-515-5730 Program supplies Weekly Service Centennial

142189 Total:  93.00

144485  93.00  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  205-430-515-5730 Program supplies Weekly Service Centennial

144485 Total:  93.00

Hoving Pit Stop Total:  186.00

IL Municipal Retirement Fund

ZZIMRF

September  33,861.51  0.00 10/20/20169/28/2016

  102-000-210-2023 Employee IMRF withholding Monthly Employer - September

September  14,193.37  0.00 10/20/20169/28/2016

  102-000-210-2023 Employee IMRF withholding Monthly Employee - September

September Total:  48,054.88

IL Municipal Retirement F  48,054.88

Innovative Emergency Solutions, LLC

INNOEMER

2016-09222016  700.00  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  101-350-512-5665 Firefighting supplies Halligan bar, axe, hook, wye E3

2016-09222016 Total:  700.00

Innovative Emergency Solu  700.00

J.C. Licht / Epco Painting & Decorating Centers

JCLICHT

52019603  1,162.01  0.00 10/20/20169/21/2016

  205-560-515-5405 R&M - buildings Locker room paint & paint supplies
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52019603 Total:  1,162.01

J.C. Licht / Epco Painting &  1,162.01

Lauterbach & Amen, LP

LAUTER

18220  25,500.00  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  101-210-511-5310 Audit Audit of Financial statements - Y/E 4/30/2016

18220 Total:  25,500.00

Lauterbach & Amen, LP To  25,500.00

Lowe's Business Acc/GECF

LOWES

07929  56.84  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-350-512-5799 Other materials & supplies Light bulbs, brooms

07929 Total:  56.84

2437  253.90  0.00 10/20/20169/13/2016

  205-560-515-5405 R&M - buildings Filter room - cleaning supplies

2437 Total:  253.90

2576  7.77  0.00 10/20/20168/25/2016

  205-560-515-5405 R&M - buildings Pool valve parts

2576 Total:  7.77

Lowe's Business Acc/GEC  318.51

Marc Printing

MARCP

110600  235.14  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  660-610-519-5720 Postage Mailing of Water bills - Sept 2016
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110600 Total:  235.14

Cycle 3 & 4  714.87  0.00 10/20/201610/4/2016

  660-610-519-5720 Postage Water Bills Postage Cycle 3 & 4

Cycle 3 & 4 Total:  714.87

Marc Printing Total:  950.01

Paramedic Services of Illinois

PARAMEDI

4895  231,048.30  0.00 10/20/201610/1/2016

  101-350-512-5220 Fire protection Services rendered month ended 10/31/16

4895 Total:  231,048.30

Paramedic Services of Illin  231,048.30

Pham, Jimmy

PHAMJIM

093016  340.00  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  205-000-210-2430 Parks and Recs Control Deposi Refund - Soccer

093016 Total:  340.00

Pham, Jimmy Total:  340.00

Sam's Club

SAMSCL

001392  631.10  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  101-350-512-5730 Program supplies Supplies for Brat Fest

001392 Total:  631.10

837  33.70  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  205-520-515-5645 Concessions & food Snacks for Club Kid
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date
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837  46.84  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  205-500-515-5840 Meals Snacks for event

837 Total:  80.54

91216  108.40  0.00 10/20/20169/12/2016

  205-520-515-5645 Concessions & food Club Kid snack

91216 Total:  108.40

999999  120.00  0.00 10/20/20168/20/2016

  101-210-511-5725 Bank & Credit Card Fees Annual membership fee

999999 Total:  120.00

CF160821  50.00  0.00 10/20/20168/21/2016

  101-210-511-5725 Bank & Credit Card Fees Annual admin fee

CF160821 Total:  50.00

Sam's Club Total:  990.04

Spyratos, Spyridon and Anastasia

SPYRATO

MTR2015  54.59  0.00 10/20/201610/6/2016

  101-000-410-4050 Utility tax - electric Municipal Tax rebate 2015

MTR2015  40.03  0.00 10/20/201610/6/2016

  101-000-410-4055 Utility tax - natural gas Municipal Tax rebate 2015

MTR2015  15.62  0.00 10/20/201610/6/2016

  101-000-410-4060 Telecommunications tax Municipal Tax rebate 2015

MTR2015 Total:  110.24

Spyratos, Spyridon and An  110.24

W S Darley

WSDARLEY

17257397  603.85  0.00 10/20/20169/16/2016

  101-350-512-5665 Firefighting supplies Hydrant adapters E3
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17257397 Total:  603.85

W S Darley Total:  603.85

Warehouse Direct

WAREHOUS

3196572-0  189.72  0.00 10/20/20169/15/2016

  101-350-512-5700 Office supplies Office supplies

3196572-0 Total:  189.72

3196573-0  483.91  0.00 10/20/20169/15/2016

  101-200-511-5700 Office supplies Office supplies

3196573-0 Total:  483.91

3205822-0  200.00  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  101-210-511-5700 Office supplies Office supplies

3205822-0 Total:  200.00

3205830-0  75.84  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  205-500-515-5700 Office supplies Office supplies

3205830-0 Total:  75.84

3206209-0  50.21  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  101-200-511-5700 Office supplies Office supplies

3206209-0 Total:  50.21

3206347-0  99.06  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  101-300-512-5700 Office supplies Office supplies

3206347-0 Total:  99.06

3213210-0  117.30  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  101-350-512-5700 Office supplies Office supplies
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date
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3213210-0 Total:  117.30

3213211-0  53.96  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  101-350-512-5700 Office supplies Office supplies

3213211-0 Total:  53.96

3213212-0  237.83  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  101-400-511-5700 Office supplies Office supplies

3213212-0 Total:  237.83

3214092-0  146.93  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  101-240-517-5700 Office supplies Office supplies

3214092-0 Total:  146.93

Warehouse Direct Total:  1,654.76

We Got Game

WEGOT

92916  856.80  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  205-502-515-5270 Purchased program services Basketball Skills

92916 Total:  856.80

We Got Game Total:  856.80

Welding Supply Inc.

WELDINGS

898348  6.36  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  205-571-515-5730 Program supplies Helium Tank rental - October

898348  6.36  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-350-512-5730 Program supplies Argon Tank rental - October

898348 Total:  12.72
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Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

Welding Supply Inc. Total:  12.72

Wells Fargo Vendor Fin Serv

GECAPITA

65623432  232.43  0.00 10/20/20169/25/2016

  660-610-519-5340 Maintenance Agreement Expen Copier - P. W.

65623432  269.95  0.00 10/20/20169/25/2016

  205-500-515-5440 R&M - office equipment Copier - Parks.

65623432  232.44  0.00 10/20/20169/25/2016

  101-000-210-2650 Contractor Permits Payable Copier - Fire

65623432  697.36  0.00 10/20/20169/25/2016

  101-210-511-5440 R&M - office equipment Copier - PD & Fin

65623432 Total:  1,432.18

Wells Fargo Vendor Fin Se  1,432.18

Report Total:  411,309.84
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Printed:
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Accounts Payable

Batch: 00202.10.2016

Invoice Number Invoice Date Amount Quantity Payment Date

DescriptionAccount Number

Ace Hardware Skokie

ACEHRDS

203619  119.68  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  660-620-519-5730 Program supplies Bolts and nuts for Water Dept

203619 Total:  119.68

Ace Hardware Skokie Tota  119.68

Active Electrical Supply Co. Inc. & Fox Lighting

ACTIVELE

1048847-01  88.93  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  101-420-511-5405 R&M - buildings Electrical gloves

1048847-01 Total:  88.93

10488576-00  45.04  0.00 10/20/20169/13/2016

  205-560-515-5405 R&M - buildings Tape for Filter room closing procedures

10488576-00 Total:  45.04

Active Electrical Supply C  133.97

Anderson Pest Solutions

ANDERP

4005311  283.55  0.00 10/20/201610/1/2016

  101-420-511-5405 R&M - buildings Pest Control - October
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4005311 Total:  283.55

Anderson Pest Solutions To  283.55

Atlas Bobcat Inc

ATLASB

BC8939  773.81  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  660-620-519-5480 R&M - vehicles Actuator for Bob Cat

BC8939 Total:  773.81

Atlas Bobcat Inc Total:  773.81

Back Flow Solutions Inc

BFSINC

1580  688.60  0.00 10/20/201610/1/2016

  660-620-519-5399 Other professional services Program management fee for backflow

1580 Total:  688.60

Back Flow Solutions Inc T  688.60

Case Lots, Inc.

CASELOTS

16187  2,082.50  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-420-511-5730 Program supplies Toilet paper and paper towels for Village Bldgs

16187 Total:  2,082.50

Case Lots, Inc. Total:  2,082.50

Cassidy Tire

CASSIDYT

5184028  21.85  0.00 10/20/20169/14/2016
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  101-440-513-5480 R&M - vehicles Tire repair for Mower #1

5184028 Total:  21.85

Cassidy Tire Total:  21.85

Christopher Burke Engineering

CHRISTB

1  5,929.14  0.00 10/20/201610/4/2016

  212-000-511-5320 Consulting Pratt Avenue Resurfacing

1 Total:  5,929.14

132054  960.15  0.00 10/20/201610/6/2016

  220-000-511-5340 Engineering Devon Avenue Streetscape Phase I

132054 Total:  960.15

Christopher Burke Enginee  6,889.29

Douglas Truck Parts

DOUGTK

20315  146.21  0.00 10/20/20169/21/2016

  101-440-513-5480 R&M - vehicles Herculiner, masking tape for Truck #26

20315 Total:  146.21

20316  437.75  0.00 10/20/20169/21/2016

  101-440-513-5480 R&M - vehicles Step assembly for Sweeper #1

20316 Total:  437.75

20443  144.10  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-410-511-5730 Program supplies Fluid film for Shop

20443 Total:  144.10

Douglas Truck Parts Total:  728.06
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Fastenal

FASTENAL

ILNIL52885  11.56  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  101-440-513-5480 R&M - vehicles Bolts for Tractor 7

ILNIL52885 Total:  11.56

Fastenal Total:  11.56

Halogen

HALOGEN

093016A  249.13  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  205-560-515-5405 R&M - buildings Small pool vacuum repairs

093016A Total:  249.13

492880  18.40  0.00 10/20/20168/31/2016

  205-560-515-5630 Chemicals - swimming pool Chemical test reagent

492880 Total:  18.40

493099  1,888.00  0.00 10/20/20169/6/2016

  205-560-515-5630 Chemicals - swimming pool Degreaser and Cleaner for Pulsars

493099 Total:  1,888.00

Halogen Total:  2,155.53

Home Depot Credit Services

HOMEDEPO

021328/4225450  1.00  0.00 10/20/20169/21/2016

  205-430-515-5730 Program supplies Drill rental for Tennis Court

021328/4225450 Total:  1.00

022585/3022304  129.90  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  205-430-515-5730 Program supplies Squeegies for Tennis Court
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022585/3022304 Total:  129.90

029584/7224408  75.00  0.00 10/20/20168/29/2016

  205-571-515-5535 Facility rental Machine rental for Community Center

029584/7224408 Total:  75.00

031779/5022360  153.72  0.00 10/20/20168/31/2016

  101-440-513-5730 Program supplies Bee Spray - Forestry

031779/5022360 Total:  153.72

9999/5224490 -20.31  0.00 10/20/20168/31/2016

  205-571-515-5535 Facility rental Machine rental for Community Center

9999/5224490 Total: -20.31

Home Depot Credit Servic  339.31

KGI Landscaping Co

KGILANDS

222849  1,125.00  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  205-560-515-5270 Purchased program services Landscaping for medians, pool, and Village Hall

222849  1,250.00  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  205-430-515-5250 Contract Maintenance Landscaping for medians, pool, and Village Hall

222849  2,125.00  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-440-513-5250 Landscaping services Landscaping for medians, pool, and Village Hall

222849 Total:  4,500.00

KGI Landscaping Co Total  4,500.00

Lowe's Business Acc/GECF

LOWES

01737  44.51  0.00 10/20/20169/26/2016

  101-410-511-5730 Program supplies Socket set & wrench
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01737 Total:  44.51

01740  65.65  0.00 10/20/20169/26/2016

  101-420-511-5730 Program supplies Heater & ground breaker for PW

01740 Total:  65.65

01809  9.53  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  101-410-511-5730 Program supplies Decals for fuel tank trucks

01809 Total:  9.53

02092  42.74  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-400-511-5730 Program supplies Heater for PW

02092 Total:  42.74

02098  135.13  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-420-511-5405 R&M - buildings Bracket, anchor with screws

02098 Total:  135.13

02101  27.55  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-410-511-5730 Program supplies Cabinet hinge, weldable flat bar

02101 Total:  27.55

02275  23.73  0.00 10/20/201610/5/2016

  101-440-513-5730 Program supplies Butane multi purpose & butane refill

02275 Total:  23.73

02360  175.38  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  205-430-515-5730 Program supplies Trash can & dolly for Tennis court

02360 Total:  175.38

02397  23.33  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-400-511-5730 Program supplies Stacking bins for PW

02397 Total:  23.33
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02399  17.92  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-400-511-5730 Program supplies Stacking bins for PW

02399 Total:  17.92

02626  55.05  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  205-430-515-5730 Program supplies Tape, paint rollers for Tennis courts

02626 Total:  55.05

02627 -60.56  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  205-430-515-5730 Program supplies Return - tape & rollers

02627 Total: -60.56

02634  78.58  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  205-430-515-5730 Program supplies Paint rollers, tape for Tennis court

02634 Total:  78.58

02643  10.25  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  660-620-519-5480 R&M - vehicles Weldable flat bar

02643 Total:  10.25

02651  53.08  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  101-440-513-5680 Landscaping supplies Landscaping stakes for Forestry

02651 Total:  53.08

02787  32.51  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  101-440-513-5480 R&M - vehicles Spray paint, rollers

02787 Total:  32.51

02815  70.51  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  205-430-515-5730 Program supplies Concrete mix, cable, staples

02815 Total:  70.51

02888  25.52  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-440-513-5480 R&M - vehicles Decals for trucks
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02888 Total:  25.52

02891  20.00  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-440-513-5480 R&M - vehicles Flat bar for trucks

02891 -20.00  0.00 10/20/201610/3/2016

  101-410-511-5730 Program supplies Return for flat bar

02891 Total:  0.00

02899  134.19  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-420-511-5405 R&M - buildings Bracket, anchor with screws

02899 Total:  134.19

02918  29.29  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-420-511-5405 R&M - buildings Drill bit & screws

02918 Total:  29.29

02927  0.99  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-440-513-5480 R&M - vehicles Bolt for Bob Cat

02927 Total:  0.99

07635  31.26  0.00 10/20/201610/6/2016

  101-350-512-5799 Other materials & supplies Tilex, oxiclean

07635 Total:  31.26

08182  74.21  0.00 10/20/20169/26/2016

  101-420-511-5730 Program supplies Heater & stacking bins for PW

08182 Total:  74.21

09699  24.70  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-400-511-5730 Program supplies Stacking bins & storage drawer

09699 Total:  24.70

16409 -2.25  0.00 10/20/20169/27/2016

  101-400-511-5730 Program supplies Refund
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16409 Total: -2.25

17016 -0.44  0.00 10/20/20169/28/2016

  101-420-511-5730 Program supplies Tax refund

17016 Total: -0.44

17801 -15.27  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-400-511-5730 Program supplies Return

17801 Total: -15.27

17953 -69.29  0.00 10/20/20169/26/2016

  101-420-511-5730 Program supplies Return

17953 Total: -69.29

2489  33.21  0.00 10/20/20168/24/2016

  205-430-515-5730 Program supplies Shelter push brooms

2489 Total:  33.21

91270 -358.08  0.00 10/20/20168/26/2016

  205-430-515-6350 Park Construction & Improvem Shelter paint return

91270 Total: -358.08

Lowe's Business Acc/GEC  712.93

Maaco Auto Painting & Bodyworks Center

MAACO

3664  708.25  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  101-240-517-5480 R&M - vehicles Building Dept truck painted

3664 Total:  708.25

Maaco Auto Painting & Bo  708.25

McKenna Automotive
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MCKENNA

14440  51.35  0.00 10/20/20169/15/2016

  660-620-519-5480 R&M - vehicles Hydraulic fittings for Truck #7

14440 Total:  51.35

McKenna Automotive Tota  51.35

NAPA

NAPA

234200  33.38  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  205-430-515-5480 R&M - vehicles Light bulbs for Truck #19

234200 Total:  33.38

NAPA Total:  33.38

North Suburban

NORTHSUB

473-107128  14.46  0.00 10/20/20169/29/2016

  660-620-519-5480 R&M - vehicles Sand paper for Tractor #6

473-107128 Total:  14.46

North Suburban Total:  14.46

Rush Truck Centers of Illinois, Inc

RUSHTRUC

3003968861  93.94  0.00 10/20/20169/23/2016

  101-440-513-5480 R&M - vehicles Bearing for Dump truck

3003968861 Total:  93.94

Rush Truck Centers of Illin  93.94
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Russo Power Equipment

RUSSO

3493906  243.13  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  205-430-515-5480 R&M - vehicles Cap, gasket, muffler for riding mower

3493906 Total:  243.13

Russo Power Equipment T  243.13

Safe Slide Restoration

SAFESLI

812  2,950.00  0.00 10/20/20169/20/2016

  205-560-515-5405 R&M - buildings Water slide inspection & repairs

812 Total:  2,950.00

Safe Slide Restoration Tota  2,950.00

Snap-On Industrial

SNAPON

ARV/30327447  7,570.10  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  101-410-511-5730 Program supplies Scanner upgrade

ARV/30327447 Total:  7,570.10

Snap-On Industrial Total:  7,570.10

Standard Equipment Company

STANDARD

C16550  417.80  0.00 10/20/20169/22/2016

  101-440-513-5480 R&M - vehicles Main broom for sweeper #2

C16550 Total:  417.80

Standard Equipment Comp  417.80
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Suburban Laboratories, Inc.

SUBURB

138713  120.00  0.00 10/20/20169/30/2016

  660-620-519-5320 Consulting Coliform testing and disinfectant

138713 Total:  120.00

Suburban Laboratories, Inc  120.00

United States Postal Service

USPOSTAL

PB101016  16.43  0.00 10/20/201610/10/2016

  101-210-511-5720 Postage Pitney Bowest postage

PB101016  70.31  0.00 10/20/201610/10/2016

  101-210-511-5720 Postage Pitney Bowest postage

PB101016  3.25  0.00 10/20/201610/10/2016

  101-210-511-5720 Postage Pitney Bowest postage

PB101016  63.46  0.00 10/20/201610/10/2016

  101-210-511-5720 Postage Pitney Bowest postage

PB101016  12.77  0.00 10/20/201610/10/2016

  101-210-511-5720 Postage Pitney Bowest postage

PB101016  94.54  0.00 10/20/201610/10/2016

  205-500-515-5720 Postage Pitney Bowest postage

PB101016  39.94  0.00 10/20/201610/10/2016

  205-500-515-5720 Postage Pitney Bowest postage

PB101016  56.69  0.00 10/20/201610/10/2016

  101-210-511-5720 Postage Pitney Bowest postage

PB101016  65.31  0.00 10/20/201610/10/2016

  101-210-511-5720 Postage Pitney Bowest postage

PB101016  18.13  0.00 10/20/201610/10/2016

  660-610-519-5720 Postage Pitney Bowest postage

PB101016 Total:  440.83

United States Postal Servic  440.83
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Work' N  Gear, LLC

WRKNGEAR

HA67934  123.99  0.00 10/20/20169/19/2016

  660-620-519-5070 Uniform allowance Clothing allowance

HA67934 Total:  123.99

Work' N  Gear, LLC Total:  123.99

Report Total:  32,207.87
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REFERRED TO BOARD:  October 20, 2016                    AGENDA ITEM NO:  1 

ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT:  Community Development 

SUBJECT:  Approval of an Ordinance Approving a Plat of Vacation for a Portion of the Keystone 
Avenue Right-of-Way Adjacent to 6825 North Lincoln Avenue 

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:  
This matter was initially scheduled for Village Board consideration at its October 5, 2016 meeting.  This matter 
was tabled at the meeting to the Village Board’s October 20, 2016 meeting.  The material below is the material 
provided the Village Board for its October 5, 2016 meeting.  

At its September 20, 2016 meeting, the Village Board approved two Special Uses and seven Variations to 
allow the installation of new off-street parking on a vacated portion of Keystone Avenue and to 
reconfigure the existing off-street parking along 6825 North Lincoln Avenue (Airoom).  At that meeting, 
Trustee Patel expressed a desire to ensure the sidewalk adjacent to the vacated portion of Keystone 
Avenue remains forever open to the public and proposed approval of the Special Use and Variation 
Ordinance be subject to said stipulation.  The Village Board subsequently voted 5-0 to approve the 
Ordinance with this caveat.  

The matter of the Plat of Vacation was tabled by the Village Board at the September 20, 2016 meeting as 
the Illinois Municipal Code requirement for number of Trustees needed for approval was not met.  
Therefore, this matter is before the Board once again for consideration.  Attached for approval is an 
Ordinance approving the requisite Plat of Vacation to vacate and includes the Village selling a portion of 
the Keystone Avenue right-of-way.  This Ordinance provides a requirement that Airoom’s owner obtain 
all necessary permits (including the IDOT Highway Permit) prior to recording the Plat of Vacation and 
submitting payment of the required Compensation Fee for the vacated property.  In addition, Airoom’s 
owner must provide a Covenant for recordation that restricts the use of the vacated right-of-way to open 
air vehicular parking.  This provides a cross-reference to the stipulation in the Special Use and Variations 
Ordinance that requires a Covenant restricting any addition or expansion of the Airoom building into 
the vacated right-of-way.  The public sidewalk easement, stipulated by the Village Board in approving 
the Special Use and Variations Ordinance, has been added to the Plat of Vacation as an easement further 
ensuring the sidewalk remains forever open to the public. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  
The Village will receive $70,000 in compensation for the vacated right-of-way. 

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:  
1. Proposed Ordinance

RECOMMENDED MOTION:  
Move to approve an Ordinance Approving a Plat of Vacation of a Portion of Keystone Avenue adjacent 
to 6825 North Lincoln Avenue. 

Request for Board Action 
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ORDINANCE NO. 2016-___ 
 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING A PORTION OF THE KEYSTONE AVENUE RIGHT-
OF-WAY ADJACENT TO 6825 NORTH LINCOLN AVENUE 

 
WHEREAS, Lamb Corporation ("Owner") is the record owner of that certain parcel of 

real property located at the address commonly known as 6825 North Lincoln Avenue, 
Lincolnwood, Illinois, and legally described on Exhibit A attached to and, by this reference, 
made a part of this Ordinance ("Property"); and  

WHEREAS, the Property abuts the Keystone Avenue right-of-way; and 

WHEREAS, Section 11-91-1 of the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 ILCS 5/11-91-1, 
authorizes the Village Board of Trustees to vacate any public street, alley, or right-of-way, or 
part thereof, in order to serve the public interest; and  

WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees has determined that the public interest will be 
served by vacating a portion the Keystone Avenue right-of-way located immediately south-east 
of the Property, which portion of the right-of-way is legally described on Exhibit B attached to 
and, by this reference, made a part of this Ordinance ("Right-of-Way"), as described in and 
depicted on the Plat of Vacation which shall be substantially in the form attached to, and by this 
reference, made a part of this Ordinance as Exhibit C ("Plat of Vacation"), subject to the terms 
and conditions set forth in this Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees has further determined that, upon the effective 
date of the vacation of the Right-of-Way, the Right-of-Way is to be incorporated into and made a 
part of the Property, and title and sole responsibility of upkeep and maintenance will vest in the 
then-owner of the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees has found that the vacation of the Right-of-
Way will not inhibit any currently existing street access for any parcel or tract dependent on the 
Right-of-Way as its sole means of access; and 

WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees has determined that the vacation of the Right-
of-Way will serve and be in the best interest of the Village; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as 
follows: 

SECTION 1. RECITALS.  The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this 
Ordinance are found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 2. VACATION OF THE RIGHT-OF-WAY.  Subject to, and contingent 
upon, the conditions set forth in Section 3 of this Ordinance, and pursuant to 65 ILCS 5/11-91-1 
and the home rule powers of the Village, the Village Board of Trustees hereby (a) vacates the 
Right-of-Way depicted on the Plat of Vacation; and (b) approves the Plat of Vacation. 

#48006892_v2 



 

SECTION 3. VACATION COMPENSATION FEE.  The approvals granted pursuant to 
Section 2 of this Ordinance are hereby conditioned upon the payment by the Owner to the 
Village, as consideration for the vacated Right-of-Way, the amount of $70,000, plus the total 
amount of  all fees, costs, and expenses incurred or accrued in connection with the review, 
negotiation, preparation, consideration, and review of this Ordinance (collectively, the “Vacation 
Compensation Fee”).    

SECTION 4. COMPENSATION FOR VACATED RIGHT-OF-WAY.  The Village 
Board of Trustees hereby finds and declares that the Vacation Compensation Fee, the future 
maintenance of the vacated Right-of-Way by the owner of the Property, and the future payment 
of real estate taxes to be assessed against the vacated Right-of-Way, collectively constitutes the 
fair market value of the benefits that will accrue to the Village by reason of the vacation of the 
Right-of-Way approved pursuant to this Ordinance.   

SECTION 5. PAYMENT AND RECORDATION.  Upon (a) the payment of the 
Vacation Compensation Fee by the owner of the Property to the Village pursuant to Section 3 of 
this Ordinance, (b) final approval of the Plat of Vacation by the Village Engineer, and (c) the 
delivery of the restrictive covenant described in Section 7 of this Ordinance, the Village Clerk 
shall cause this Ordinance and the Plat of Vacation to be recorded in the Office of the Recorder 
of Cook County.  In the event that the payment of the restrictive covenant is not delivered to the 
Village, or the Vacation Compensation Fee is not paid to the Village, on or before December 31, 
2016, the President and Board of Trustees shall have the right to repeal this Ordinance. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Village Clerk shall not record the Plat of Vacation unless and 
until Owner provides evidence to the satisfaction of the Village Manager that Owner has secured 
all necessary permits for, and is proceeding with, the Lincoln Avenue improvements to Owner’s 
property located at 6825 North Lincoln Avenue. 

SECTION 6. TITLE TO THE VACATED RIGHT-OF-WAY.  Upon the payment of the 
Vacation Compensation Fee, as set forth in Section 3 of this Ordinance, and upon the recordation 
of this Ordinance and the Plat of Vacation, as provided in Section 5 of this Ordinance, the 
vacated Right-of-Way is to be incorporated into and made a part of the Property, and title will 
vest in the then-owner of the Property.  Following the recordation of this Ordinance, the vacated 
Right-of-Way must be and remain a part of the Property, unless and until a plat of subdivision is 
approved by the Village in accordance with all applicable state and local statutes, ordinances, 
and regulations. 

SECTION 7. FUTURE USE COVENANT.  Prior to the recordation of the Plat of 
Vacation, the owner of the Property shall deliver to the Village a covenant, in form and 
substance acceptable to the Village Attorney, restricting the use of the Vacated Right-Of-Way to 
open-air vehicular parking.  The Village shall record the covenant against the Vacated Right-Of-
Way. 

SECTION 8. MAINTENANCE OF THE VACATED RIGHT-OF-WAY.  After the 
recordation of the Plat of Vacation and this Ordinance, the Village will have no obligation to 
maintain or perform improvements on the vacated Right-of-Way. 
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SECTION 9. RESERVATION OF RIGHTS.  The vacation of the Right-of-Way will 
not affect any easement rights the Village may have with regard to the Property, and such 
vacation will be subject to and limited by the easements and other rights set forth on the Plat of 
Vacation.   

SECTION 10. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Ordinance or part thereof is 
held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions of this Ordinance are 
to remain in full force and effect, and are to be interpreted, applied, and enforced so as to 
achieve, as near as may be, the purpose and intent of this Ordinance to the greatest extent 
permitted by applicable law. 

SECTION 11. EFFECTIVE DATE.   

This Ordinance will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the following events: 

1. Passage by three-fourths of the members of the Village Board of Trustees, 
excluding the Village President, in the manner required by law; 

2. Publication in pamphlet form in the manner required by law; 

PASSED this _____ day of __________, 2016. 

 
AYES:           
 
NAYS:           
 
ABSENT:           
 
ABSTENTION:          

 
 
APPROVED by me this _____ day of _____________, 2016. 

 
 
             

Gerald C. Turry, President 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 

 
 
ATTESTED and FILED in my office the 
_____ day of ___________, 2016. 
 
 
        
Beryl Herman, Village Clerk 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 
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EXHIBIT A 
 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 
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EXHIBIT B 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE RIGHT-OF-WAY  
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EXHIBIT C 

 
PLAT OF VACATION 
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Plat of Vacation
Central Survey Company, Inc.

6415 N. Caldwell Ave., Chicago, Il.   60646
Phone (773) 631-5285   Fax (773) 775-2071

Of that part of Keystone Avenue lying both Southeast and East of Lot 42 in Lincoln-Crawford Pratt Boulevard
Subdivision of the South ½ of the East 15 acres and the South ½ of the West 25 acres (except therefrom the
South 30 feet of that part thereof lying West of Lincoln Avenue) Southeast ¼ of Northeast ¼, also that part of
the East ½ of the Southeast ¼ lying Northeast of Northeasterly line of Lincoln Avenue in Section 34, Township
41 North, Range 13 East of the Third Principal Meridian, descrbed as follows: beginning at the most Southerly
corner of said Lot 42; thence Northeasterly along the Southeast line of said Lot 42 to the East line of said Lot;
thence North along the East line of said Lot 42, 2.74 feet; thence Northeasterly along the same bearing as the
Southeasterly line of Lot 42, 8.05 feet; thence Southeasterly along a line parallel with the Northeasterly line
of North Lincoln Avenue, 18.01 feet; thence Southwesterly parallel with the Southeast line of said Lot 42 to a
point of intersection with the Northeasterly line of North Lincoln Avenue extended 16.0 feet Southeasterly of the
most Southerly corner of said Lot 42; thence Northwesterly along the last described line, 16.0 feet to the point
of beginning, in Cook County, Illinois

NOTE: This vacation of Keystone Avenue shall preserve an easement for any public or private utilities
            that may exist in said vacated Keystone Avenue.

Point of Beginning

(H
er

eb
y 

Vac
at

ed
)

Approved by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois at a regular

meeting held this _________ day of ___________________, A.D., 2016

By, ____________________________________________  Attest, _____________________________________
                                    Village President                                                                       Village Clerk

Board of Trustee's Certificate

Professional
Land

Surveyor

2190

State of
Illinois

W
ill

ia
R. W

eb
b

C
h

icag o, Il Ii

no
is

m

William R. Webb P.L.S.  #2190  (exp.11/30/2016)     Professional Design Firm Land Surveying LLC  (#184-004113)

State of Illinois     )
                            )S.S.
County of Cook   )

     Central Survey, LLC does hereby certify that it has prepared this Plat of Vacation and that it is a
true and correct representation of said vacation.       When bearings are shown the bearing base is
assumed.  Dimensions are shown in feet and hundredths and are correct at a temperature of 68° F.

Dated this      15th    day of   September   2016
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Plat of Vacation
Central Survey Company, Inc.

6415 N. Caldwell Ave., Chicago, Il.   60646
Phone (773) 631-5285   Fax (773) 775-2071

Of that part of Keystone Avenue lying both Southeast and East of Lot 42 in Lincoln-Crawford Pratt Boulevard
Subdivision of the South ½ of the East 15 acres and the South ½ of the West 25 acres (except therefrom the
South 30 feet of that part thereof lying West of Lincoln Avenue) Southeast ¼ of Northeast ¼, also that part of
the East ½ of the Southeast ¼ lying Northeast of Northeasterly line of Lincoln Avenue in Section 34, Township
41 North, Range 13 East of the Third Principal Meridian, descrbed as follows: beginning at the most Southerly
corner of said Lot 42; thence Northeasterly along the Southeast line of said Lot 42 to the East line of said Lot;
thence North along the East line of said Lot 42, 2.74 feet; thence Northeasterly along the same bearing as the
Southeasterly line of Lot 42, 8.05 feet; thence Southeasterly along a line parallel with the Northeasterly line
of North Lincoln Avenue, 18.01 feet; thence Southwesterly parallel with the Southeast line of said Lot 42 to a
point of intersection with the Northeasterly line of North Lincoln Avenue extended 16.0 feet Southeasterly of the
most Southerly corner of said Lot 42; thence Northwesterly along the last described line, 16.0 feet to the point
of beginning, in Cook County, Illinois

NOTE: This vacation of Keystone Avenue shall preserve an easement for any public or private utilities
            that may exist in said vacated Keystone Avenue.

Point of Beginning

(H
er

eb
y 

Vac
at

ed
)

Approved by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois at a regular

meeting held this _________ day of ___________________, A.D., 2016

By, ____________________________________________  Attest, _____________________________________
                                    Village President                                                                       Village Clerk

Board of Trustee's Certificate
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Land

Surveyor
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William R. Webb P.L.S.  #2190  (exp.11/30/2016)     Professional Design Firm Land Surveying LLC  (#184-004113)

State of Illinois     )
                            )S.S.
County of Cook   )

     Central Survey, LLC does hereby certify that it has prepared this Plat of Vacation and that it is a
true and correct representation of said vacation.       When bearings are shown the bearing base is
assumed.  Dimensions are shown in feet and hundredths and are correct at a temperature of 68° F.

Dated this      15th    day of   September   2016



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
REFERRED TO BOARD:  October 20, 2016          AGENDA ITEM NO:  2   
 
ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT:  Community Development  
 
SUBJECT:  Approval of a Recommendation by the Plan Commission in Case #PC-16-16 to Adopt an 

Ordinance Granting a Zoning Map Amendment to Rezone 4120 West Morse Avenue to 
the R-3 Residential Zoning District 

 
SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:  
Lon and Susan Nianick, who own the single-family home at 4120 West Morse Avenue, are requesting a 
rezoning from B-1 to R-3 as they intend to continue to use this home as a single-family residence.  The 
residential property at 4120 West Morse Avenue has been zoned B-1, Traditional Business since at least 
1962.  It is unclear as to the zoning district in which this property was located prior to that time.  The 
home itself was constructed in 1956.   
 
The property is currently in a Business Transition Overlay District which is intended for commercial and 
office uses, with no single-family residential uses permitted.  The property is located at the northeast 
corner of North Lincoln Avenue and West Morse Avenue, with a single contiguous point of frontage on 
North Lincoln Avenue, and the remainder of the frontage on West Morse Avenue.      
 
Mr. Nianick has raised concerns about the constraints he has as a legal nonconforming use in the B-1 
Business District (a commercial zoning district).  As a legal nonconforming use, Mr. Nianick’s home can 
continue to be used as a single-family residence, with all necessary repairs that may arise over the years 
being permitted.  However, should the home be damaged beyond 50% of the overall cost of replacement 
of the structure, it would not be permissible to construct a new single-family structure at this location, as 
multi-family housing is the only residential use type permitted in the B-1 Zoning District.  In addition, 
Mr. Nianick would not have the ability to expand the footprint of his home or increase the height, even if 
all bulk regulations were met, due to the legal nonconforming status of the property. 
 
The Village Board directed the Plan Commission to hold a Public Hearing on a proposed Map 
Amendment on September 6, 2016 to consider rezoning the property to the R-3 Residential zoning 
designation.   
 
Public Hearing 
A Public Hearing on this matter was held by the Plan Commission on October 6, 2016.  Staff presented 
several considerations for review in this matter including:  1) Comprehensive Plan long-range vision of 
the property as commercial; 2) status of the property as nonconforming under the current B-1 District 
zoning; 3) negligible property frontage on Lincoln Avenue; 4) redevelopment opportunities within the 
current B-1 Zoning; and 5) benefit of rezoning the property to the R-3 District to reflect the historical and 
current use of the property. 
 

Request For Board Action 
 



At the public hearing the following were present to testify in support of the application: 

o Harriet Levin, 6923 Kedvale Avenue;
o Mae Nessenson, 6902 North Karlov Avenue; and
o Tom Sdralis, 4116 West Morse Avenue.

No other testimony was received by the Plan Commission. 

Plan Commission Recommendation 
The Plan Commission did not object to the proposed Map Amendment for 4120 West Morse Avenue.  At 
the conclusion of the hearing, by a unanimous 5-0 vote, the Plan Commission recommended approval of 
a Map Amendment for 4120 West Morse Avenue, from the B-1 Traditional Business District to the R-3 
Residential District. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
None 

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:  
1. Proposed Ordinance
2. October 6, 2016 Plan Commission Minutes Excerpt (Draft)
3. October 6, 2016 Staff Report to Plan Commission
4. Public Hearing Map Amendment Application
5. Zoning Code Part B. Nonconforming Uses (3 pages)
6. Zoning Code Part C. Nonconforming Structures (2 pages)
7. Plat of Survey
8. Proof of Ownership
9. Photographs of Property
10. Plat of Survey w/ Dedicated Alley Note
11. Location Map
12. Zoning Map
13. Zoning Certificate Letter

RECOMMENDED MOTION:  
Move to approve an Ordinance granting a Zoning Map Amendment to rezone 4120 West Morse Avenue 
to the R-3 Residential District.  



 
 
 
 

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-_______ 
 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE REZONING  
PROPERTY TO THE R3 RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 

(4120 West Morse Avenue) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ADOPTED BY THE 
PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 
THIS ____ DAY OF OCTOBER, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
Published in pamphlet form 
by the authority of the 
President and Board of Trustees 
of the Village of Lincolnwood,  
Cook County, Illinois this 
             day of October, 2016 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Village Clerk 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-_____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE REZONING  
PROPERTY TO THE R3 RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 

(4120 West Morse Avenue) 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnwood is a home rule municipal corporation in 
accordance with Article VII, Section 6(a) of the Constitution of the State of Illinois of 1970; and 

WHEREAS, the Village has the authority to adopt ordinances and to promulgate rules 
and regulations that pertain to its government and affairs; and 

WHEREAS, Lon and Susan Nianick (collectively, the “Owner”) are the record title 
owners of that certain property located at the address commonly known as 4120 West Morse 
Avenue, Lincolnwood, Illinois, and legally described in Exhibit A attached to and, by this 
reference, made a part of this Ordinance (“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is currently located within the “Business/Residential 
Transition Area” of the B-1 Traditional Business Zoning District of the Village (“B-1 
District”); and 

WHEREAS, the Owner has submitted an application to the Village requesting that the 
Village rezone the Property into the R-3 Residential Zoning District of the Village (“R-3 
District”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to notice duly published in the Lincolnwood Review on September 
15, 2016, the Village Plan Commission conducted a public hearing on October 6, 2016, 
concerning amendments to the Village of Lincolnwood Official Zoning Map (“Zoning Map”) to 
rezone the Property into the R-3 Residential District (“Requested Rezoning”); and 

WHEREAS, at the conclusion of the public hearing, the Plan Commission made findings 
and recommended that the President and Board of Trustees approve the Requested Rezoning of 
the Property, as set forth in this Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, having considered the finding and recommendations of the Plan 
Commission, the President and Board of Trustees have found and determined that it will serve 
and be in the best interest of the Village and its residents to rezone the Property into the R-3 
Residential District; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF LINCOLNWOOD, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

SECTION 1. RECITALS.  The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this 
Ordinance are found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 2. ZONING MAP AMENDMENT.  The Zoning Map of the Village is 
hereby amended to rezone the Property into the R-3 Residential District, in accordance with, and 
pursuant to, Section 5.16 of the Zoning Ordinance and the home rule powers of the Village. 
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SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provisions of this Ordinance or part thereof is 
held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions of this Ordinance are 
to remain in full force and effect, and are to be interpreted, applied, and enforced so as to 
achieve, as near as may be, the purpose and intent of this Ordinance to the greatest extent 
permitted by applicable law. 

SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance will be in full force and effect from 
and after its passage, approval, and publication in the manner provided by law. 

 

PASSED this ___ day of October, 2016. 

AYES: ______ 

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTENTION:  

APPROVED by me this ___ day of October, 2016. 

 
__________________________________ 
Gerald C. Turry, President 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 

 

ATTESTED and FILED in my office this 
_____ day of October, 2016 

 

  
Beryl Herman, Village Clerk 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 
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EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY 
 

LOT 21 (EXCEPT THE EAST 10 FEET THEREOF) IN BLOCK 3 IN LINCOLN 
CRAWFORD MANOR SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTH ½ OF THE SOUTHEAST ¼ OF 
THE NORTHEAST ¼ OF SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 41 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE 
THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 
Commonly referred to as 4120 West Morse Avenue 
 
P.I.N.: 10-34-217-040-0000 
 

Exhibit A-1 



  
 

DRAFT MEETING MINUTES  
OF THE 

PLAN COMMISSION  
OCTOBER 6, 2016 – 7:00 P.M. 

 
LINCOLNWOOD VILLAGE HALL 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
6900 NORTH LINCOLN AVENUE 
LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS 60712 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT:                                 MEMBERS ABSENT: 
Chairman Mark Yohanna                                                                      Patricia Goldfein                             
Irving Fishman                                                                                                Anthony Pauletto 
Steven Jakubowski (arrived at 7:13) 
Henry Novoselsky                                          
Don Sampen     
 
STAFF PRESENT:  
Steve McNellis, Community Development Director 
Aaron N. Cook, AICP, Community Development Manager 
Kathryn M. Kasprzyk, Community Development Coordinator 
     

   I. Call to Order 
 

Chairman Yohanna noted a quorum of four members and called the meeting to order at 7:03 p.m.   
  

    II. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

    III. Approval of Minutes 
 
Motion to approve the September 7, 2016 Plan Commission Minutes was made by Commissioner 
Fishman and seconded by Commissioner Novoselsky.                .                                                    . 
 
Aye:  Fishman, Novoselsky, Sampen, and Yohanna 
Nay:  None 
Motion Approved:  4-0 
 
   IV. Case #PC-16-16:  Public Hearing: 4120 West Morse Avenue – Map Amendment 
 
Chairman Yohanna announced Case #PC-16-16 to rezone the property located at 4120 West Morse 
Avenue from the B-1 Traditional Business District to the R-3 Residential Zoning District.  
Chairman Yohanna swore in the Petitioner, Mr. Lon Nianick, and other members of the audience 
wishing to address the Plan Commission on this matter. 
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Development Manager Cook presented the request to rezone the property located at 4120 West 
Morse Avenue located on the corner of Lincoln and Morse Avenues.  The home was constructed in 
1956 and has been located in the B-1 District since at least 1962.  In accordance with the proposed 
2016 Comprehensive Plan, property along Lincoln Avenue is planned for commercial use only.   
The subject property is the only single-family use within the B-1 District.  The new R-3 District 
would reflect the current use of the property, remove the nonconforming status, and allow 
reinvestment in the property. 
 
Chairman Yohanna asked if there was anyone in the audience who would like to address the Plan 
Commission regarding this Public Hearing.  Listed below are comments from members of the 
audience. 
 
Mr. Lon Nianick, 4120 West Morse Avenue, was not aware of this zoning classification until July 
of this year.  If the property was damaged by more than 50 percent, he would be unable to rebuild.  
The property is not salable without this rezoning.   
 
Ms. Harriet Levin, 6923 Kedvale Avenue, spoke in support of this request.   
 
Ms. Mae Nessenson, 6902 North Karlov Avenue, also came to support this request and wondered if 
this change in zoning would affect her property. 
  
Mr. Tom Sdralis, 4116 West Morse Avenue, stated he does not want to live next to a commercial 
lot and is in support of this rezoning. 
 
Chairman Yohanna asked if there was anyone in the audience who would like to address the Plan 
Commission regarding this Public Hearing.  Let the record state that no one came forward. 
 
Motion to approve the rezoning for 4120 West Morse Avenue from the B-1 Traditional Business 
District to the R-3 Residential Zoning District was made by Commissioner Fishman and seconded 
by Commissioner Sampen. 
 
Aye:  Fishman, Sampen, Jakubowski, Novoselsky, and Yohanna 
Nay:  None 
Motion Approved:  5-0 
 
      V. Case #PC-17-16:  Public Hearing:  7001 North Ridgeway Avenue – Special  
  Use and Variations 
 
Chairman Yohanna announced Case #PC-17-16 for certain approvals for a building addition and 
reconfiguration of an off-street parking area.  Chairman Yohanna swore in the Petitioner’s 
representative,  Mr. Ken Price of Watermark Engineering Resources, Ltd., 2631 Ginger Woods 
Parkway, Aurora, Illinois. 
 
Development Manager Cook presented an overview of the proposed Special Use and Variations 
requested for Food 4 Thought, located at 7001 North Ridgeway Avenue in the M-B 
Manufacturing/Business Zoning District for a 4,680-square-foot addition to the rear of the existing 
building.  
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Plan Commission Staff Report 
Case #PC-16-16 

October 6, 2016 
 

Subject Properties: 
4120 West Morse Avenue 

 

 

Zoning District:  
B-1 Business Transition District  
 
Petitioner:   
Lon & Susan Nianick, Property Owner 
 

Nature of Request:  Map Amendment 
to align zoning with use of the property 
at 4120 West Morse Avenue.  
 

Requested Action:  
Zoning Map Amendment for the property at 4120 West Morse Avenue from the B-1 Business 
Transition District to the R-3 Residential District. 
 
 

Notification:  Notice in Lincolnwood Review dated September 15, 2016, Public Hearing Sign 
Installed at 6649 North Lincoln Avenue, and Mailed Legal Notices Dated September 15, 2016 
to Properties within 250 Feet. 
 

Summary of Request 
Mr. Lon Nianick, who owns the single-family home at 4120 West Morse Avenue, is 
requesting a rezoning from B-1 to R-3 as he intends to continue to use this home as a 
single-family residence.  The residential property at 4120 West Morse Avenue has been 
zoned B-1, Traditional Business since at least the adopted Zoning Map of 1962.  It is 
unclear as to the zoning district in which this property was located prior to that time.  The 
home itself was constructed in 1956.  The property is currently in a Business Transition 
Overlay District, which is intended for commercial and office uses, with no single-family 
residential uses envisioned.  The property is located at the northeast corner of North 
Lincoln Avenue and West Morse Avenue, with a single contiguous point of frontage on 
North Lincoln Avenue, and the remainder of the frontage on West Morse Avenue.      
 
Mr. Nianick has raised concerns about the constraints he has as a legal nonconforming use 
in the B-1 Business District (a commercial zoning district).  As a legal nonconforming use, 



4120 West Morse Avenue   October 6, 2016 
  

Mr. Nianick’s home can continue to be used as a single-family residence, with all 
necessary repairs that may arise over the years being permitted.  However, should the 
home be damaged beyond 50% of the overall cost of replacement of the structure, it would 
not be permissible to construct a new single-family structure at this location, as multi-
family housing is the only residential use type permitted in the B-1 Zoning District.  
 

  
Aerial Image of 4120 W. Morse Ave. 
Identified w/ Red Dot 

Zoning Map Excerpt with 4120 W. Morse 
Ave. Identified w/ Red Dot 

 

Planning/Zoning Considerations 
In reviewing the merits of this proposal, Staff recommends the Board consider the 
following: 
 

1. Planning Documents Designation -  Both the 2001 Comprehensive Plan and the 
proposed 2016 Updated Comprehensive Plan depict this property as having a 
proposed future land use of “Commercial/Office” (2001) or “Local/Corridor 
Commercial” (2016). It should be noted the 2001 plan stated the existing use at that 
time was Commercial/ Office, which was incorrect.  The 2005 Lincoln Avenue 
Corridor Plan does not specifically depict a land use or building type for this 
property.  The goal of all three plans appears to have been to encourage multi-family 
housing in selected areas along Lincoln Avenue, as infill uses, to help provide a 
transitional buffer to the single-family neighborhoods off Lincoln Avenue.  

2. Existing B-1-Zoned Property – The B-1 Zoning District exists almost exclusively 
along the Lincoln Avenue corridor, between West Devon Avenue and West Estes 
Avenue.  The vast majority of that property, which has frontage on Lincoln Avenue, 
consists of commercial uses.  There are also two small multi-family developments 
located in the B-1 District on the Lincoln Avenue Corridor.  However, the subject 
property is the only single-family property on this corridor zoned B-1.  Further, it is 
one of only two single-family properties along the entire Lincoln Avenue Corridor, 
with the other single-family property zoned R-4, Multi-Family Residential.  

3. Property Frontage – The subject property is unique in that it maintains frontage 
with Lincoln Avenue only at a point.  The front of the home, driveway and bulk of 
the frontage lies on West Morse Avenue.  
 

     2 
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4. Benefits of B-1 Zoning – The current Zoning designation provides the opportunity 
for a consolidation with the A. Schoaneman Appraisal office fronting Lincoln 
Avenue to the north to create the potential for a larger commercial property with no 
further zoning action needed.  The commercial zoning designation also notifies the 
commercial real estate community and anyone seeking commercial land on Lincoln 
Avenue that the Village’s intent is to have commercial property fronting on Lincoln 
Avenue.  It also makes clear the Village’s intent to see properties consolidated to 
create larger commercial properties more indicative of retail/restaurant uses today.  

5. Benefits of R-3 Zoning – The benefits of rezoning this property to a residential 
zoning accrue primarily to Mr. Nianick.  Such a rezoning would allow him to 
invest more in the property through home additions and other major exterior 
changes as well as assist him with any future sale of the property as its expansion/ 
remodeling and/or renovation would not be hamstrung by the Non-Conforming 
Uses section of the Zoning Code. While the more that is invested in this property as 
a residential use, the less likely it would be affordable for a conversion and 
consolidation for commercial uses; it is also possible that the current limited 
flexibility on this property could lead to disinvestment and possible future property 
maintenance issues. 

 
While it is important that the Village be committed to increasing the commercial presence 
and flexibility on Lincoln Avenue, there are downsides to maintaining that commitment for 
this property which has almost no frontage on Lincoln Avenue.  Should the property be 
rezoned to a residential designation, any future party interested in consolidating this property 
with the office use next door would always have the option of seeking to rezone this 
property back to the B-1 Zoning Designation.  However, in the interim, given the fact there 
appears to have been no real interest in such a consolidation (likely given the small size of 
both the office and residential lots), a rezoning to R-3 would permit Mr. Nianick to invest in 
his home.   
 
At its September 6, 2016 meeting, the Village Board referred, at the request of Mr. and Mrs. 
Nianick, to the Plan Commission to convene a Public Hearing to consider a Zoning Map 
Amendment from B-1 District to R-3 District for the property at 4120 West Morse Avenue.  
 
Staff has been contacted by several residents regarding this application.  No objections to the 
request have been raised. 
 

Documents Attached 
1. Public Hearing Map Amendment Application 
2. Zoning Code Part B. Nonconforming Uses (3 pages) 
3. Zoning Code Part C. Nonconforming Structures (2 pages) 
4. Plat of Survey 
5. Proof of Ownership 
6. Photographs of Property 
7. Plat of Survey w/ Dedicated Alley Note 
8. Location Map 
9. Zoning Map 
10. Zoning Certificate Letter 
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Request For Board Action 

REFERRED TO BOARD:  October 20, 2016 AGENDA ITEM NO: 3

ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT:  Public Works 

SUBJECT:  Approval of a Resolution to Approve the Planting of 79 Trees to be Purchased from the 
Suburban Tree Consortium for the Fall 2016 Planting in the Amount of $26,390 

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:  
The Village plants parkway trees in locations where a tree has been removed for reasons such as disease 
or infestation, storm damage, utility maintenance, or accidents. A fall and spring planting are conducted 
each year. The fall 2016 planting will include the installation of 79 trees. 

As the Public Works Department has managed the planting program, staff has identified some trees that 
were planted too close to each other, which has proven to produce uneven growth or even jeopardize the 
health of the tree. As new trees are planted, they are being spaced at a minimum of 25 feet apart. 
Therefore, a new tree will not always be planted for every tree that is removed. Staff works with the 
property owner adjacent to the planting site to identify a species of tree that the resident will enjoy while 
also ensuring that the planting space is sufficient for the tree to thrive. 

Lincolnwood is a member of the Suburban Tree Consortium (STC), a coalition of 38 communities created 
to jointly purchase and plant parkway trees. As a member of the STC, the Village has access to 
competitively bid planting services and high quality nursery stock.  

The fall 2016 tree planting is scheduled to occur in mid-November. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
$40,000 has been budged in the FY 2016/17 Public Works Street Maintenance Division of the General 
Fund and $15,000 has been budgeted in the FY 2016/17 Northeast Industrial (NEID) TIF District for the 
planting of parkway trees. These funds are divided between two plantings per year. 

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:  
1. Proposed Resolution
2. Quote from Suburban Tree Consortium

RECOMMENDED MOTION:   
Move to approve a Resolution approving the purchase and planting of 79 trees from the Suburban Tree 
Consortium for the 2016 Fall Planting in an amount of $26,390.  



 

RESOLUTION NO. R2016-__________ 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE PLANTING OF 79 TREES  
TO BE PURCHASED FROM THE SUBURBAN TREE CONSORTIUM 

IN AN AMOUNT OF $26,390 
 

WHEREAS, Article VII, Section 10 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, and the 
Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq., authorize and encourage 
intergovernmental cooperation; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Village is a member of the  Suburban Tree Consortium (“STC”), a 

consortium of 38 municipalities located within the State of Illinois; and 
 
WHEREAS, the STC competitively bids tree planting services on behalf of the member 

municipalities, resulting in significant savings for the Village; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village has identified the need to replace parkway trees that have been 

removed due to disease, illness, storm damage, or accident; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village desires to purchase and plant 79 trees, in the amount of 

$26,390.00; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees have determined that it will 

serve and be in the best interest of the Village to plant 79 trees to be purchased from the STC in 
the amount of $26,390.00;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as 
follows: 

SECTION 1. RECITALS.  The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this 
Resolution are found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Resolution. 
 

SECTION 2. APPROVAL OF PURCHASE.  The President and Board of Trustees 
hereby approve the planting by the Village of 79 trees to be purchased from the STC, in the 
amount of $26,390. 
 

SECTION 3. EXECUTION OF REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION.  The Village 
Manager and the Village Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to execute and attest, on 
behalf of the Village, all documents necessary to complete the purchase authorized pursuant to 
Section 2 of this Resolution. 
 

SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution will be in full force and effect from 
and after its passage and approval as provided by law. 

 



 

PASSED this ___ day of                                  , 2016. 

AYES: ______ 

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTENTION:  

APPROVED by me this _____ day of ____________, 2016. 

 

_______________________________________ 
Gerald C. Turry, President 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 

 
 
ATTESTED and FILED in my office this 
_____ day of _________, 2016 
 
  
Beryl Herman, Village Clerk 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 

 
 





Request For Board Action 

REFERRED TO BOARD:  October 20, 2016 AGENDA ITEM NO:   4 

ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT:  Public Works 

SUBJECT:  Approval of a Resolution to Reject the Bids Received for the Landscaped Median 
Improvements on Lincoln Avenue 

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER: 
At the January 19, 2016 Committee of the Whole (COTW) meeting, the Village’s engineering firm, 
Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. (CBBEL), presented a concept plan for the revitalization of the 
medians on Lincoln Avenue. The project includes the installation of raised beds with perennial 
landscaping, irrigation, and brick edging. The project includes all of the medians on Lincoln Avenue 
from Jarvis Avenue to Devon Avenue. The concept plan was received favorably and the Village Board 
ultimately awarded a contract to CBBEL to design and bid the project. On September 27, 2016, four 
sealed bids were received, the lowest of which was approximately $300,000 over budget. 

At the October 5, 2016 COTW meeting, the Village Board provided direction to draft a resolution 
rejecting all bids and rebid the project over the winter with construction planned to occur in the 
spring/summer of 2017. Before the project is re-bid, staff with work with CBBEL to review the project 
scope in an effort to reduce costs while still meeting the overall goals of the project.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
None 

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:  
1. Proposed Resolution

RECOMMENDED MOTION:   
Move to approve a Resolution rejecting the bids received for the Landscaped Median Improvements on 
Lincoln Avenue.  



 

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 
 

RESOLUTION NO. R2016-__________ 
 

A RESOLUTION REJECTING THE BIDS RECEIVED FOR 
THE LANDSCAPED MEDIAN IMPROVEMENTS ON LINCOLN AVENUE 

 
WHEREAS, the Village sought proposals for the award of a contract for landscaped 

median improvements on Lincoln Avenue (“Contract”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village received four sealed bids for the Contract, all of which exceed 

the amount budgeted for the project; and 
 
WHEREAS, upon investigation, Village Staff has determined that the Village is likely to 

received more favorable pricing for the Contract by rejecting the submitted bids for the Contract 
and re-bidding the Contract; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees have determined that it will 

serve and be in the best interests of the Village to reject the submitted bid for the Contract;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as 
follows: 

SECTION 1. RECITALS.  The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this 
Resolution are found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Resolution. 
 

SECTION 2. REJECTION OF ALL BIDS RECEIVED.  The bids received for the 
Contract are hereby declared to be unacceptable and are rejected. 
 

SECTION 3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution will be in full force and effect from 
and after its passage and approval as provided by law. 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 

 

 

 

 

  



PASSED this ___ day of                                  , 2016. 

AYES: ______ 

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTENTION:  

APPROVED by me this _____ day of ____________, 2016. 

 

_______________________________________ 
Gerald C. Turry, President 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 

 
 
ATTESTED and FILED in my office this 
_____ day of _________, 2016 
 
  
Beryl Herman, Village Clerk 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 



REFERRED TO BOARD:  October 20, 2016 AGENDA ITEM NO: 5 

ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT:  Public Works 

SUBJECT: Approval of an Ordinance Waiving Enforcement of Section 14-14-10 of the Municipal Code 
      to Allow the Village’s Contractor J.A. Johnson Paving Performing Resurfacing Work on 
      Pratt Avenue to Work between 12:00 P.M. and 3:00 P.M. on Saturdays from October 22,  

 2016 through November 19, 2016   

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:  
The Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) awarded a bid to J.A. Johnson Paving (“Johnson”) on 
September 9, 2016 to resurface Pratt Avenue from Lockwood Avenue east to Crawford Avenue. The 
contractor began limited work during the week of September 26, 2016 and is scheduled to complete the 
project in November, 2016. Due to a delay by in scheduling by their concrete subcontractor, the 
unknowns regarding the fall and winter weather and the necessity to complete the project prior to the 
Turkey Trot race scheduled for November 20, 2016 Johnson is requesting the ability to work on 
Saturdays from 7:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. through the duration of the project in an effort to expedite the work 
schedule. The Village Code does not allow work after 12:00 p.m. on Saturdays. In order to allow Johnson 
to work during the prohibited hours the Village Board must waive enforcement of the Village Code. 
Staff is recommending approval of this request.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
None 

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:  
1. Proposed Ordinance
2. Letter of Request from J.A. Johnson Paving

RECOMMENDED MOTION:  
Move to approve an Ordinance waiving enforcement of Section 14-14-10 of the Municipal Code of 
Lincolnwood for completion of the Pratt Avenue resurfacing project.  

Request For Board Action 



 
 

  
 
 

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-____ 
 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE WAIVING ENFORCEMENT OF SECTION 14-14-10 OF THE 

MUNICIPAL CODE OF LINCOLNWOOD FOR COMPLETION OF 
THE PRATT AVENUE RESURFACING PROJECT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ADOPTED BY THE 
PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 
THIS ___ DAY OF ______________, 2016.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Published in pamphlet form 
by the authority of the 
President and Board of Trustees 
of the Village of Lincolnwood, 
Cook County, Illinois 
this _____ day of _______, 2016 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-___ 
 

AN ORDINANCE WAIVING ENFORCEMENT OF SECTION 14-14-10 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE OF LINCOLNWOOD FOR COMPLETION OF 

THE PRATT AVENUE RESURFACING PROJECT 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnwood is a home rule municipal corporation in 
accordance with Article VII, Section 6(a) of the Constitution of the State of Illinois of 1970; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village has the authority to adopt ordinances and to promulgate rules 
and regulations that pertain to its government and affairs; and 
 

WHEREAS, on September 9, 2016, the Illinois Department of Transportation ("IDOT") 
awarded a contract to J.A. Johnson Paving ("Johnson") to resurface Pratt Avenue from 
Lockwood Avenue east to Crawford Avenue within the Village ("Work"); and 

WHEREAS, due to delays with Johnson’s subcontractors, concerns regarding the fall and 
winter weather and the necessity to complete the project no later than November 20, 2016 due to 
the Village’s scheduled Turkey Trot race, Johnson now desires to expedite completion of the 
Work by performing Work between 7:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. on Saturdays, beginning on October 
22, 2016, and continuing through November 19, 2016; and 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 14-14-10 of the Municipal Code of Lincolnwood 
("Village Code"), construction in the Village is permitted on Saturdays only between the hours 
of 7:00 a.m. and 12:00 p.m.; and 

 
WHEREAS, Johnson has filed a request with the Village President and Board of 

Trustees, seeking a waiver of enforcement of Section 14-14-10 of the Village Code to permit the 
performance of Work on Saturdays between 7:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. on Saturdays, beginning on 
October 22, 2016, and continuing through November 19, 2016 (“Requested Waiver”); and 

 WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees have considered the request of Johnson 
and have determined that it will grant the Requested Waiver, but only in accordance with the 
provisions of this Ordinance; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as 
follows: 

SECTION 1. RECITALS.  The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this 
Ordinance are found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Ordinance. 

 
SECTION 2. WAIVER.  In accordance with the home rule powers of the Village, the 

Village President and Board of Trustees hereby waive the enforcement of Section 14-14-10 of 
the Village Code to permit Johnson to perform Work on Saturdays between 7:00 a.m. and 3:00 
p.m., beginning on October 22, 2016, and continuing through November 19, 2016. 

SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Ordinance or part thereof is 
held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions of this Ordinance will 



-2- 

remain in full force and effect, and are to be interpreted, applied, and enforced so as to achieve, 
as near as may be, the purpose and intent of this Ordinance to the greatest extent permitted by 
applicable law. 

SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance will be in full force and effect from 
and after its passage, approval, and publication in the manner provided by law. 
 

PASSED this _____ day of ________, 2016. 

AYES:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTENTION: 

APPROVED by me this _____ day of ________, 2016. 

 

_______________________________________ 
Gerald C. Turry, President 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 

 
 
ATTESTED and FILED in my office this 
_____ day of _________, 2016 
 
  
Beryl Herman, Village Clerk 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 
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REFERRED TO BOARD:  October 20, 2016 AGENDA ITEM NO: 6 

ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT:  Village Manager’s Office 

SUBJECT: Approval of a Recommendation by the Park and Recreation Board to Adopt an Ordinance 
Waiving Enforcement of Section 10-2-36(A) of the Village Code for the Sale of Beer and 
Wine at the Community Center on Saturday, October 22, 2016 from 6:30-10 P.M. for Maine-
Niles Association of Special Recreation Trivia Night 

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:  
Maine-Niles Association of Special Recreation (M-NASR), a non-for profit foundation, is holding a Trivia 
Craze fundraising event at the Community Center on Saturday, October 22, 2016. Beer and wine will be 
sold at the event to raise money for scholarship funds. 

Chapter 10, Article 2, Section 36(A) of the Village Code states that no alcoholic beverages shall at any 
time be sold or distributed for any tangible consideration in or about the Community Center.  Approval 
of this Ordinance will waive the enforcement of this portion of the Village Code. The organizers of this 
event will be required to obtain local and State liquor licenses, appropriate insurance. 

This same request has been approved in the past by the Village Board for the Special Education (SEED) 
Foundation, which is also a not-for profit foundation. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
None 

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:  
1. Proposed Ordinance
2. Letter from M-NASR Dated July 6, 2016
3. July 12, 2016 Park and Recreation Board Minutes

RECOMMENDED MOTION: 
Move to approve a recommendation by the Park and Recreation Board to adopt an Ordinance waiving 
enforcement of Section 10-2-36(A) of the Village Code for the sale of beer and wine at the Community 
Center on Saturday, October 22, 2016 from 6:30-10 p.m., for M-NASR trivia night. 

Request For Board Action 



 
 

  
 
 

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-____ 
 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE WAIVING ENFORCEMENT OF SECTION 10-2-36(A) 

OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF LINCOLNWOOD FOR THE SALE OF BEER AND 
WINE AT THE MAINE-NILES ASSOCIATION OF SPECIAL RECREATION TRIVIA 

NIGHT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ADOPTED BY THE 
PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 
THIS 20th DAY OF OCTOBER 2016.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Published in pamphlet form 
by the authority of the 
President and Board of Trustees 
of the Village of Lincolnwood, 
Cook County, Illinois 
this 20th day of October, 2016 



 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-___ 
 

AN ORDINANCE WAIVING ENFORCEMENT OF SECTION 10-2-36(A) 
OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF LINCOLNWOOD FOR THE SALE OF BEER AND 

WINE AT THE MAINE-NILES ASSOCIATION OF SPECIAL RECREATION TRIVIA 
NIGHT 

 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnwood is a home rule municipal corporation in 
accordance with Article VII, Section 6(a) of the Constitution of the State of Illinois of 1970; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village has the authority to adopt ordinances and to promulgate rules 
and regulations that pertain to its government and affairs; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Maine-Niles Association of Special Recreation ("M-NASR") is a 
not-for-profit agency organized under the laws of the State of Illinois; and 

WHEREAS, M-NASR desires to host its first annual Trivia Night (the "Event") on 
October 22, 2016 in the Lincolnwood Community Center located at 6900 North Lincoln Avenue 
in the Village (“Community Center”); and 

WHEREAS, M-NASR desires to sell beer and wine at the Event; and 

 WHEREAS, Section 10-2-36(A) of the Municipal Code of Lincolnwood ("Village 
Code") prohibits the sale or distribution of alcoholic beverages for tangible consideration at the 
Community Center; and 

 
WHEREAS, M-NASR filed a request with the Village Board, seeking a waiver of 

enforcement of Section 10-2-36(A) of the Village Code to permit the sale of beer and wine at the 
Event (“Requested Waiver”); and 

 WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees have considered the request of M-
NASR and have determined that it will grant the Requested Waiver, but only in accordance with 
the provisions of this Ordinance, and specifically subject to the conditions set forth in this 
Ordinance; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as 
follows: 

SECTION 1. RECITALS.  The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this 
Ordinance are found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Ordinance. 

 
SECTION 2. WAIVER.  In accordance with the home rule powers of the Village, and 

subject to, and contingent upon, the conditions, restrictions, and provisions set forth in Section 3 
of this Ordinance, the Village President and Board of Trustees shall, and do hereby, waive the 
enforcement of Section 10-2-36(A) of the Village Code to the extent necessary to permit the sale 
of beer and wine at the Event. 
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SECTION 3. CONDITIONS.  Notwithstanding any right that may be applicable or 
available pursuant to the provisions of the Village Code or any other rights M-NASR may have, 
the waiver granted in Section Two of this Ordinance shall be, and is hereby, expressly subject to 
and contingent upon the operation of the Event in compliance with each and all of the following 
conditions: 

A. Compliance with Regulations.  Except to the extent specifically provided 
otherwise in this Ordinance, the operation of the Event shall comply at all times 
with all applicable Village codes and ordinances, as the same have been or may 
be amended from time to time. 

 
B. Dispensation, Sale, and Consumption of Alcoholic Beverages. 
 

1. Compliance with Liquor Ordinance.  No alcoholic beverage shall be 
dispensed, served or consumed at the Event except in strict compliance 
with Article 2 of Chapter 11 of the Village Code.  Specifically, and 
without limitation of the foregoing: 

 
a. Liquor Licenses.  No alcoholic beverage shall be dispensed, served 

or consumed at the Event prior to the issuance to M-NASR of all 
state and Village liquor licenses necessary therefor. 

b. Community Center Permit.  No alcoholic beverage shall be 
dispensed, served or consumed at the Event prior to the issuance to 
M-NASR of a permit therefor, in accordance with Sections 10-2-
36(B) and 10-2-36(C) of the Village Code. 

c. Insurance.  M-NASR shall procure all insurance policies required 
pursuant to Sections 10-2-9 and 10-2-36(B)(3) of the Village Code. 

d. Product Sampling.  No beer or wine shall be dispensed at the Event 
in violation of the product sampling regulations set forth in Section 
10-2-35 of the Village Code. 

2. Sales of Beer and Wine Only.  Other than beer and wine, no spirits or 
other alcoholic beverage shall be dispensed, sold, or consumed at the 
Event. 

 
3. Responsible Alcohol Service Training.  Prior to the commencement of the 

Event, the manager of the Event, and all persons who will sell, mix, 
prepare, serve, or deliver alcoholic beverages at the Event, shall complete 
the Beverage Alcohol Sellers and Servers Education and Training 
(BASSET) program, or a similar responsible alcohol service training 
program. 
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4. Off-Premises Consumption Prohibited.  No alcoholic beverage dispensed 
or served at the Event shall be consumed off of the Community Center 
premises.   

 
C. Sale of Food and Beverages.  No food or nonalcoholic beverages shall be sold at 

the Event, except upon: (1) proper inspection by the Cook County Department of 
Health; and (2) the issuance of all Village permits required therefor. 

D. Raffles.  No raffle shall be conducted at the Event except: (1) in accordance with 
the Illinois Raffles Act, 230 ILCS 15/1 et seq. and Article 14 of Chapter 9 of the 
Village Code; and (2) upon issuance of a license therefor pursuant to Article 14 of 
Chapter 9 of the Village Code. 

SECTION 4. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Ordinance or part thereof is 
held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions of this Ordinance 
shall remain in full force and effect, and shall be interpreted, applied, and enforced so as to 
achieve, as near as may be, the purpose and intent of this Ordinance to the greatest extent 
permitted by applicable law. 

SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
A. This Ordinance shall be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the following 

events: 

1. Passage by the Village President and Board of Trustees in the manner 
required by law; 

2. Publication in pamphlet form in the manner required by law; and 

3. The filing by M-NASR with the Village Clerk of an Unconditional 
Agreement and Consent, in the form of Exhibit A attached to and, by this 
reference, made a part of this Ordinance, to accept and abide by each and 
all of the terms, conditions, and limitations set forth in this Ordinance and 
to indemnify the Village for any claims that may arise in connection with 
the approval of this Ordinance. 

B. In the event M-NASR does not file fully executed copies of the Unconditional 
Agreement and Consent, as required by Section 5.A.3 of this Ordinance, within 
30 days after the date of final passage of this Ordinance, the Village President and 
Board of Trustees shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to declare this 
Ordinance null and void and of no force or effect.  

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
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PASSED this 20th day of October, 2016. 

AYES:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTENTION: 

APPROVED by me this 20th day of October, 2016. 

 

_______________________________________ 
Gerald C. Turry, President 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 

 
 
ATTESTED and FILED in my office this 
20th day of October, 2016 
 
  
Beryl Herman, Village Clerk 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 
 

#48254711_v1 
 



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

UNCONDITIONAL AGREEMENT AND CONSENT 
 
TO: The Village of Lincolnwood, Illinois ("Village"): 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 2016-__________, adopted by the Village President and 
Board of Trustees on October 20, 2016 ("Ordinance"), grants a waiver of enforcement from 
Section 10-2-36(A) of “The Municipal Code of Lincolnwood,” as amended, to permit the sale of 
beer and wine by the Maine-Niles Association of Special Recreation (“M-NASR”) at the Trivia 
Night Event (“Event”) on October 22, 2016, at the Lincolnwood Community Center; and 

WHEREAS, Section 5 of the Ordinance provides, among other things, that the Ordinance 
will be of no force or effect unless and until M-NASR shall have filed, within 30 days following 
the passage of the Ordinance, its unconditional agreement and consent to accept and abide by 
each and all of the terms, conditions, and limitations set forth in the Ordinance; 

NOW, THEREFORE, M-NASR does hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

1. M-NASR shall, and does hereby unconditionally agree to, accept, consent to, and 
abide by each and all of the terms, conditions, limitations, restrictions, and provisions of the 
Ordinance. 

2. M-NASR acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not and shall not be, in any 
way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the Village's 
authorization of the operation of the Event or its adoption of the Ordinance, and that the Village's 
approvals do not, and shall not, in any way, be deemed to insure M-NASR against damage or 
injury of any kind and at any time. 

3. M-NASR shall, and does hereby agree to, hold harmless and indemnify the 
Village, the Village's corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed officials, 
officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any and all claims that may, at 
any time, be asserted against any of such parties in connection with the Village's adoption of the 
Ordinance authorizing the operation of the Event. 

Dated: October 20, 2016. 

ATTEST: MAINE-NILES ASSOCIATION OF SPECIAL 
RECREATION 

 
By:   By:  
Its:    Its:    
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Request For Board Action 

REFERRED TO BOARD:  October 20, 2016     AGENDA ITEM NO: 7 

ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT:   Finance 

SUBJECT:   Approval of a Resolution to Accept the Comprehensive Annual Financial 
    Report for the Year Ended April 30, 2016          

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER: 
Due for the consideration of the Village Board is the recommendation to accept the Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016. 

The audit of the Village’s financial statements was performed by Lauterbach & Amen, LLP. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 None. 

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: 
1. Proposed Resolution
2. The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

RECOMMENDED MOTION:   
Move to approve a Resolution to accept the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal 
Year Ended April 30, 2016. 



 

  

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 
 

RESOLUTION NO. R2016-_________ 
 

 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
REPORT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2016 

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnwood is a home rule municipal corporation in 

accordance with Article VII, Section 6(a) of the Constitution of the State of Illinois of 1970; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village has the authority to adopt ordinances and to promulgate rules 
and regulations that pertain to its government and affairs; and 

 
WHEREAS, Lauterbach & Amen, LLP, a professional accounting firm, has prepared, on 

behalf of the Village, the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Village for the fiscal 
year ended April 30, 2016 (“CAFR”); and 

WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees have determined that it will 
serve and be in the best interest of the Village to accept the CAFR; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as 
follows: 

SECTION 1. RECITALS. The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this 
Resolution are found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Resolution. 

SECTION 2. ACCEPTANCE OF CAFR. The President and Board of Trustees hereby 
accept the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016 in 
the form attached to and, by this reference, made a part of this Resolution as Exhibit A. 

SECTION 3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution will be in full force and effect from 
and after its passage and approval in the manner provided by law. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 



 

  

PASSED this ___day of October, 2016. 

AYES: ______ 

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTENTION:  

APPROVED by me this ___day of October, 2016. 

 

_______________________________________ 
Gerald C. Turry, President 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 

 
 
ATTESTED and FILED in my office this 
_____ day of October, 2016 
 
  
Beryl Herman, Village Clerk 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 

 



 

  

EXHIBIT A 
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The Honorable Gerald C. Turry, Village President
Members of the Board of Trustees
Village Manager Timothy C. V/iberg, and
Citizens of the Village of Lincolnwood
Village of Lincolnwood, Illinois

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the Village of Lincolnwood, Illinois for the fiscal year
ended April 30,2016 is hereby respectfully submitted. The report consists of management's representations
concerning the finances of the Village of Lincolnwood. Local ordinance and State Statute require the Village to
issue 4n annual reporl on its f,rnancial condition and that the financial statements are audited by an independent firm
of licensed certified public accountants. This CAFR complies with these requirements. The certihed public
accou¡ting firm of Lauterbach & Amen, LLP was retained as auditors for fiscal year 2016. They have concluded
that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion that the Village's financial statements for the
ftscal year ended April 30,2016 are fairly presented in conformity with generally aCcepted accounting principles
(GAAP). Their report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report.

Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all
disclosures, rests with the Village. All disclosures to enable the reader to gain an understanding of the Village's
hnancial statements have been included. To provide a reasonable basis for making these representations,
management of the Village has established a comprehensive intemal control framework that is designed to protect
the assets of the government from loss, theft or misuse and to compile sufficient reliable information for the
prepa¡ation of the Village's frnancial statements in conformity with GAAP. The cost of internal controls should not
outweigh their benefits. Therefore, intemal controls have been designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute
assurance that the financial statements shall be free from material misstatement

GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic
financial statements in the form of Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This transmittal letter is
designed to complement the information presented here in conjunction with the additional information that is
furnished in the MD&A. The Village's MD&A is located following the independent auditor's report.

VILLAGE OF LINCOLN\ilOOD PROFILE

The Village of Lincolnwood is a home-rule community as defined by the Illinois State Constitution of 1970 and was
incorporated in l9l1 as Village of Tessville, Illinois. In 1936, Tessville formally became the Village of
Lincolnwood. Lincolnwood is a mature community that is home to approximately 12,600 culturally diverse citizens
and located 10 miles northwest of downtown Chicago. The Village provides a complete variety of governmental
services. Services include police and fire protection, repairs and maintenance ofstreets and infrastructure, garbage,
yard-waste, and recycling services, property inspections and issuing ofpermits services, recreational and social
services, water and sewer services, and other governmental services. The Village is financially responsible for the
Lincolnwood Parks & Recreation Department and therefore has been included as an integral part of the basic
financial statements of the Village. The Village operates a municipal water system that provides a reliable source of
potable water purchased from the City of Chicago. The Lincolnwood School District # 74 and the Lincolnwood

VILLAGE oFFlcES .6900 N. LlNcoLN AVENUE . LtNcoLÑüooD, rLLrNots 60712 .847-623-1s40 . FAX: 847-67g-gsuz

TIEI C1TY USA
WWW.LINCOLNWOODIL.ORG



 iv 

Library are independent legal entities, are not financially dependent on the Village, and are not included in this 
financial report.  
 
The Village operates under a Council/Manager form of government with the Village President and the Trustees 
elected at large serving staggering four-year terms. The Village Clerk is also elected. The Village Treasurer, the 
Village Manager and the Village Attorney are appointed by the Village Board of Trustees. The Village employs 
approximately 90 full time, 10 regular part-time, and 180 seasonal summer employees in the parks & recreation and 
public works departments. The Village’s police officers are members of the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) 
Labor Council/Lincolnwood Lodge #23 whose collective bargaining agreement expires April 30, 2017.  The 
Village’s 911 emergency communication operators are members of the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) 
Labor Council/Lincolnwood Communication Operators whose collective bargaining agreement expires April 30, 
2018. The public works department employees of the Village are members of the Local #714 – Affiliated with the 
International Brotherhood of Teamsters whose collective bargaining agreement expires April 30, 2018.  All other 
employees of the Village are not represented by any collective bargaining organization. Since 1990 the Village has 
contracted with Paramedic Services of Illinois (PSI) which provides fire protection and emergency medical services. 
The current six year contract with PSI will expire on May 1, 2022. 
 

The Village staff prepares an annual operating budget by fund and department and presents the document to the 
Village Board for adoption. The budget serves as the foundation for the Village’s financial planning and provides 
the operating tool that directs staffs’ use of the Village’s resources. The Village also adopts an annual appropriations 
ordinance as mandated by the Illinois Revised Statutes that provides the legal authority and limits for expenditures. 
Management may exceed budgeted amounts without formal approval of the Board of Trustees provided the amount 
expended for a budgeted purpose does not exceed the legally adopted appropriation for budgeted item. Budget-to-
actual comparisons are presented in the CAFR. 

 

RELEVANT FINANCIAL POLICES 

There were no material changes to financial policies during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016. During the review 
of the long range financial plan it was discussed that the Village Board would consider available alternate funding 
for capital improvement projects such as low interest state loans and increasing fund balance reserves to provide 
resources for capital projects. 

 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

The Village staff, at the direction of the Village Board, has been involved in the planning and implementation of a 
number of major projects throughout last year and some will continue into next fiscal year. These projects reflect the 
Village’s commitment to its citizens to ensure they are able to live and work in a desirable community environment. 
The most significant of these projects follow: 

 
              The Village completed the replacement of the streetlights on Lincoln Ave. for the fourth year of a five year 

program of replacing all the streetlights in the Village.  
 
              The Village completed the installation of new water mains, streetlights and public sidewalks on Crawford 

Avenue. 
 

The Village continued the engineering work on the bike path and overpass to be constructed on the 
Commonwealth Edison right - of- way and the land purchased from the Union Pacific Railroad. 
 
The Village refurbished the Proesel Park shelter as a continuing program to systematically update the 
various parks in the Village. 
 

              The Village extinguished the Touhy/Lawndale Tax Increment District during the current year and the  
               remaining funds were sent to the Cook County Treasurer for distribution to the various tax districts in the  
              TIF boundaries. 
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              The Village purchased land from the Union Pacific Railroad with a grant that covered 80% of the purchase  
               price. The land will be used to construct a bike path. 
 
              The Village replaced the Vac-con in the public works department. This equipment is used to clean the  
               Village sewer system. The Village purchased a chassis for a new fire engine which will be delivered in the  
               next fiscal year. 
            
. 
 
FACTORS AFFECTING FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 
The information as presented in the financial statements is perhaps best understood when it is considered from the 
broader perspective of the specific environment from within which the Village operates. 
 
Local Economy. The Village is influenced by a number of economic factors that directs its economy. The Village is 
recovering from the recent economic downturn at a slow pace that is also reflected in the State and Country 
economies. There are a number of economic factors that influence the economy of a specific community and various 
measures are used to gauge the economic outlook. Probably the four most notable and objective measurements are 
the level of retail sales, the employment level of the community, income levels in the community and the building 
activity. In Illinois, sales taxes are allocated based on the point-of-sale, which represents the sales in the community. 
Local sales tax receipts experienced an increase this year as auto sales helped to fuel the increase. The Village’s 
portion of general sales tax receipts is based on a 1% tax rate. The State and County take the balance of 8% of the 
applicable sales tax rate. The sales tax receipts represent total retail sales of approximately $504,827,000 for fiscal 
year 2015.  
 
Lincolnwood’s average unemployment rate has been consistently lower than the State average. Lincolnwood’s 
median family income of $79,142 as of the 2010 Census is approximately 20% higher than the median income for 
the State of Illinois. The Village’s 2015 equalized assessed valuation (EAV) experienced a minimal decrease from 
2014. 
 
Building activity increased at a minimal pace in fiscal 2016 as economic growth is continuing at a slow pace. This 
growth could increase in future years due to the development of  property in two of the Village’s Tax Increment 
Financing districts. The Village actively encourages economic development and the TIF redevelopment districts 
have served as catalysts for continued retail growth.  
 
Long-Term Financial Planning.  On a biennial basis the Village Board completes a strategic plan which is 
included in the annual budget and helps guide the development of this document. The Village is also in the process 
of reviewing long-range issues and the funding alternatives for major improvements to infrastructure and equipment 
replacement. The goal of the planning process is to put the Village on firm ground to provide for the planned major 
upgrades and the continued viability of the infrastructure network.  
 
A tool in managing the long-range planning process of the Village is the Five-Year Capital Improvement Program. 
This plan outlines the major project improvements and capital expenditures of the Village over the next five years. 
Over the next five years (2017-2021), it is anticipated that the Village could expend approximately $37,000,000 in 
water and sewer, flood control, street, public building, parks and recreation, equipment and other capital 
improvement projects.  In adherence with Village financial policies, staff is constantly seeking public and private 
grants and other outside sources of revenues to fund these projects. Grants received during the fiscal year ended 
April 30, 2016 help fund park improvements and land acquisition. 
 
Cash Management Policies and Practices.  The Village’s investment policy seeks to minimize credit and market 
risks to assure safety of principal while maintaining liquidity at a competitive yield. Investments are transacted 
under the “prudent person” standard with a safety, liquidity, yield, and legal priority covenant. At April 30, 2016 
virtually all of the Village’s deposits were insured or collateralized.  
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Cash which was temporarily idle during the year was invested as permitted by State statute. Short-term cash is 
placed in the State of Illinois investment pool (Illinois Funds). Cash invested for up to one year is invested in the 
Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund (IMET) or at community banks in a secured certificate of deposit (CD). 
Village management continues to give priority to local financial institutions whenever possible when placing funds 
for investment. When placing available funds in CDs the rates are checked to assess which institution is giving the 
best rate of return at that time. We have seen the rates remain at the same low levels as experienced in the prior year. 
It is the Village’s position that if banks in the community are competitive then investing locally will benefit all 
citizens and businesses. 
 
Risk Management.  The Village is a member of the Intergovernmental Risk Management Association (IRMA) for 
virtually 100% of its property/casualty insurance needs. IRMA is an organization of local municipalities that 
administers a product of self-insurance and commercial insurance coverage. IRMA also provides property/casualty 
and workers’ compensation claim/litigation management services, unemployment claim administration, risk 
management/loss control consulting and training programs, and a risk information system and financial reporting 
service for its members.  
 
In addition, various control techniques including safety training for certain high-risk personnel (police, fire and 
public works) and other Village employees are in place to minimize accident related losses. 
 
The Village is a member of a group of seven municipalities that self-insures the medical and dental benefits for all 
eligible employees. The Village contributes 85% and the employee contributes 15% of the premium to fund the 
program. Premiums costs have been stable over the last few years. The Village continuously reviews various 
programs to control these premiums. 
 
Pension and Other Post-employment Benefits.  The Village sponsors a single employer defined benefit pension 
plan for the police officers. The Lincolnwood Police Pension Fund is reviewed each year by the Illinois Department 
of Insurance and an independent actuary engaged by the Village. The Department of Insurance recommends the 
annual contribution that the Village must make to the pension plan to ensure that the plan will be able to fully meet 
its obligations to retired pensioners on a timely basis. As a matter of financial policy, the Village fully funds each 
year’s annual required contribution to the plan as determined by the Department of Insurance. The unfunded liability 
is being systematically funded as part of the required annual contribution as calculated by the Department of 
Insurance. The Village’s Actuary has determined that, at April 30, 2016, the Lincolnwood Pension Fund has an 
actuarial accrued liability in excess of assets of $26,987,128 and the funded ratio is 41.03%. 
 
In anticipation of implementation of GASB Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans, and No.68, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, the Village has made adjustments to the mortality table for the 
police fund actuarial valuation. This change has reduced the funded ratio but is intended to put the Village in an 
even stronger position when implementing the new standards. 
 
The Village also provides pension benefits for the non-public safety employees through the statewide plan managed 
by the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF). Benefit provisions and funding requirements are established by 
the Illinois State Statutes. Participating (employees) members are required to contribute 4.5% of their annual salary 
and the Village is required to contribute the remaining amounts necessary to fund the future pensions. The Village’s 
contribution rate for the calendar year 2015 (fiscal year 2016) was 11.06% of the annual salary. The Village has no 
obligation in connection with employee benefits offered through this plan beyond its contractual payments to IMRF. 
 
Additional information on the Village’s pension arrangements can be reviewed in Note 4 in the financial statements. 
The Fund’s actuary has determined as of December 31, 2015, which is the latest available date, the Village has an 
actuarial accrued liability in excess of assets of $2,389,355 and the funded ratio is 89.52%. 
 
Further postemployment benefits are offered to retirees to remain in the Village’s medical and dental insurance plan 
at the current group rates. The Village incurs no current costs by offering this benefit; however, claims by the 
covered retirees may affect the Village’s overall claim experience and thus affect future premiums. The Village has 
no post-employment benefit obligation at April 30, 2016. 
 
Additional information on the Village’s pension arrangements can be found in Note 4 in the financial statements. 



Additional information on the Village's pension arrangements can be found in Note 4 in the financial statements.

LOCAL INITIATIVES

The Mayor, the Trustees and the staff realize that public service is our mission. To this end the Village has
undertaken the following initiatives.

Human Services. The Village provides services that directly affect the personal well-being of our citizens. Under
the auspices of human services the Village reaches out to those in need of beneficial intervention. A trained
counseling professional provides a resource for all residents in need of family or individual counseling. Seniors
receive support services such as blood pressure screening, change batteries in the smoke detectors, ambulance
service to residents, reverse 9l I high speed emergency notification system, and a refund of utility taxes to eligible
citizens in financial need.

The police department through the emergency communication center provides to all citizens a reverse 9l I high
speed emergency notification system. In case of an all-out emergency or catastrophe all citizens will be notified by
telephone.

The parks & recreation department of the Village facilitates the participation of children, teens, and adults with
physical, mental, and emotional disabilities and their families through community recreation agencies. V/ithout these
agencies and programs many recreational opportunities would not be available to improve the qualþ of life for
people with disabilities.

These services are provided by the Village free of charge or at a nominal fee to our citizens.

Awards

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting to the Village of Lincolnwood for its comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year
ended April 30, 2015. In order to receive this prestigious award, the Village published an easily readable and
effrciently organized comprehensive annual financial report. This report satisfied both generally accepted accounting
principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year. We believe that the current comprehensive annual
financial report continues to meet the Program's requirements, and we will submit the current report to the GFOA
for review to determine the eligibility for a continuing certificate.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The preparation of the comprehensive annual financial report could not have been accomplished without the
effrcient and dedicated services of the staffof the Finance Department.

I would like to also acknowledge the Mayor, the Board of Trustees, and the Village Manager for their leadership and
support in planning and conducting the financial affairs of the Village in a responsible and progressive manner.

Respectfully submitted,
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FINANCIAL SECTION 
 

This section includes: 
 

 Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

 Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 

 Basic Financial Statements 
 

 Required Supplementary Information 
 

 Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules 



  

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 

This section includes the opinion of the Village’s independent auditing firm.  



iW
Lauterbach & Amen, LLP

27W457 WARRENVILLE RD. . WARRENVILLE, ILLINOIS 60555

PHONE 630.393.1483 . FAX 630.393.2516
www.lauterbachamen.com

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

INppPpNpENr AUprr,QRç' REPoßr

September 13,2016

The Honorable Village President
Members of the Board of Trustees
Village of Lincolnwood, Illinois

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Village of Lincolnwood,
Illinois, as of and for the year ended April 30, 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the Village's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
efïor.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. 'We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or emor. In
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers intemal control relevant to the Village's preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Village's
intemal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.
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Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Village of Lincolnwood, Illinois, as of April 30, 
2016, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the 
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information  
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis as listed in the table of contents and budgetary information reported in the 
required supplementary information as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted 
of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Village of Lincolnwood, Illinois’, basic financial statements. The introductory section, 
combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules, supplemental schedules, and statistical 
section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial 
statements.  
 
The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules and supplemental schedules are the 
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used 
to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. In our opinion, the combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules and 
supplemental schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole.  
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Other Matters – Continued  
 
Other Information – Continued  
 
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on them. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 13, 
2016, on our consideration of the Village’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provision of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Village’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 

 
LAUTERBACH & AMEN, LLP 



  

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 



MD&A 1 

 VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

April 30, 2016 
 
 
 
The Village of Lincolnwood (the Village) Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is designed to (1) 
assist the reader in focusing on significant financial issues, (2) provide an overview of the Village's financial 
activity, (3) identify changes in the Village's financial position (its ability to address the next and subsequent 
year challenges), (4) identify any material deviations from the financial plan (the approved budget), and (5) 
identify individual fund issues or concerns. 
 
Since the MD&A is designed to focus on the current year's activities, resulting changes and currently known 
facts, please read it in conjunction with the Village's financial statements.  
 
Financial Highlights 
 

 The assets/deferred outflows of the Village exceeded its liabilities/deferred inflows at the close of the 
most recent fiscal year by $40,326,885 (net position).  

 
 The Village's total net position increased by $2,187,984.  This reflects the excess of current revenues 

over current expenses, offset by the systematic and planned consumption of the Village's capital 
assets that is quantified as depreciation expense. Total depreciation expense for the year was 
$2,499,821. 

 
 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the Village's governmental funds reported combined fund 

balances of $21,852,364, a decrease of $1,471,336 in comparison with the prior year.  Of this 
amount, $10,802,808 is available for spending at the Village's discretion (unassigned fund balance). 
The decrease during the current year was primarily due to the purchase of property and the early 
extinguishment of a loan used to purchase equipment. 

 
 At the end of the current fiscal year, the unassigned fund balance of the General Corporate Fund was 

$11,113,026, or 56.7%, of total General Fund expenditures during the current year. 
 

 The Village's total debt increased by $3,989,655 (11.9%) during the current fiscal year.  This was 
mainly due to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68 which requires the Village to record 
the net pension liabilities. The net pension liabilities increased $5,939,576.The Village paid down 
scheduled principal payments totaling $1,951,200.   

 
USING THE FINANCIAL SECTION OF THE COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL REPORT 

 
The principal focus of local government financial statements in the past has been by fund type data.  This 
method of presentation has been modified to present two differing views of the Village’s financial 
statements.  The new financial statements’ focus is on both the Village as a whole (government-wide) and on 
the major individual funds.  Both perspectives (government-wide and major fund) allow the user to address 
relevant questions, broaden a basis for comparison (year-to-year or government-to-government) and enhance 
the Village's accountability. 
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT.) 
 
 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (see pages 4-7) are designed to emulate the corporate sector in 
that all governmental and business-type activities are consolidated into columns which add to a total for the 
Primary Government.  The focus of the Statement of Net Position (see pages 4-5) is designed to be similar to 
bottom line results for the Village and its governmental and business-type activities. This statement combines 
and consolidates the governmental funds' current financial resources (short-term spendable resources) with 
capital assets and long-term obligations using the accrual basis of accounting and economic resources 
measurement focus. 
 
The Statement of Activities (see pages 6-7) is focused on both the gross and net cost of various activities 
(including governmental and business-type), which are supported by the government's general taxes and 
other resources.  This is intended to summarize and simplify the user's analysis of the cost of various 
governmental services and/or subsidy to various business-type activities. 
 
The Governmental Activities reflect the Village's basic services, including public safety (police and fire), 
public works, engineering, culture-recreation and administration. Property taxes, shared state sales and 
income, and local utility taxes finance the majority of these services. The Business-type Activities reflect 
private sector type operations (Water and Sewer), where the fee for service typically covers all or most of the 
cost of operation, including depreciation. 
 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
Traditional users of governmental financial statements will find the Fund Financial Statements presentation 
more familiar. The focus is on Major Funds, rather than fund types. 
 
The Governmental funds (see pages 8-13) are presented on a sources and uses of liquid resources basis. This 
is the manner in which the financial plan (the budget) is typically developed.  Funds are established for 
various purposes and the Fund Financial Statements allow the demonstration of sources and uses and/or 
budgeting compliance associated therewith. 
 
The Proprietary fund (Water and Sewer Fund) accounts for services that are generally fully supported by user 
fees (i.e. charges to customers). The Proprietary fund is presented on a total economic resources basis. 
Proprietary fund statements, like government-wide financial statements, provide both short- and long-term 
financial information. 
 
While the Business-type Activities column on the Business-type Fund Financial Statements (see pages 14-
17) is the same as the Business-type column on the Government-Wide Financial Statement, the 
Governmental Funds Total column requires a reconciliation because of the different measurement focus 
(current financial resources versus total economic resources) which is reflected on the page following each 
statement (see pages 10 and 13).  The flow of current financial resources will reflect bond proceeds and 
interfund transfers as other financing sources as well as capital expenditures and bond principal payments as 
expenditures. The reconciliation will eliminate these transactions and incorporate the capital assets and long-
term obligation (bonds and others) into the Governmental Activities column (in the Government-wide 
statements). 
 
The Fund Financial Statements allow the Village to address its Fiduciary fund (Police Pension Trust, see 
pages 18-19).  While these funds represent trust responsibilities of the Village, these assets are restricted in 
purpose and do not represent discretionary assets of the general government. Therefore, these assets are not 
presented as part of the Government-Wide Financial Statements. 
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT.) 
 
 
 
Capital Assets 
 
The new statement requires that these assets be valued and reported within the governmental column of the 
government-wide statements.  Additionally, the government must elect to either (1) depreciate these assets 
over their estimated useful life or (2) develop a system of asset management designed to maintain the 
service delivery potential to near perpetuity.  If the government develops the asset management system (the 
modified approach) which periodically (at least every third year), by category, measures and demonstrates 
its maintenance of locally established levels of service standards, the government may record its cost of 
maintenance in lieu of depreciation.  The Village has chosen to depreciate assets over their useful life.  If a 
road project is considered maintenance - a recurring cost that does not extend the road’s original useful life 
or expand its capacity - the cost of the project will be expensed.  An “overlay” of a road will be considered 
maintenance whereas a “rebuild” of a road will be capitalized. 
 
 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE VILLAGE AS A WHOLE 
 
The following table reflects the condensed Statement of Net Position: 
 

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Current and Other Assets 27.6$       29.0         2.5           2.5           30.1         31.5         
Capital Assets 37.1         32.1         11.5         11.8         48.6         43.9         
Deferred Outflows 5.2           -          0.1           -          5.3           -              

Total Assets/ 
 Deferred Outflows 69.9         61.1         14.0         14.3         83.9         75.4         

Current Liabilities 4.2           4.0           0.8           0.8           5.0           4.8           
Long-Term Liabilities 33.8         3.3           4.6           5.0           38.4         8.3           
Deferred Inflows 0.2           2.8           -          -          0.2           2.8           

Total Liabilities/
Deferred Inflows 38.2         10.1         5.4           5.8           43.6         15.9         

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 34.8         28.4         6.5           6.3           41.3         34.7         
Restricted 11.0         12.6         -          -          11.0         12.6         
Unrestricted (14.1)       10.0         2.1           2.2           (12.0)       12.2         

Total Net Position 31.7         51.0         8.6           8.5           40.3         59.5         

Activities Activities Total
Governmental Business-Type

 
For more detailed information see the Statement of Net Position (pages 4-5). 
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT.) 
 
 
 
The Village's had a deficit unrestricted net position which totaled a negative 30% of its net position at April 
30, 2016. This is due to the change in accounting principle for the implementation of GASB 68 which 
required the Village to retroactively record the net pension liability. Approximately 27.5% reflects net 
position restricted for economic development and highway and street purposes.  The remaining 102.5% 
reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, equipment, improvements, and construction in 
progress), less any debt used to acquire those assets.  The Village uses these capital assets to provide service 
to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for spending.  Although the Village's investment in its 
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt 
must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these 
liabilities. 
 

Normal Impacts 
 
There are six basic (normal) transactions that will affect the comparability of the Statement of Net Position 
summary presentation. 
 
Net Results of Activities - which will impact (increase/decrease) current assets and unrestricted net position. 
 
Borrowing for Capital - which will increase current assets and long-term debt. 

Spending Borrowed Proceeds on New Capital - which will reduce current assets and increase capital 
assets. There is a second impact, an increase in invested in capital assets and an increase in related net debt, 
which will not change the invested in capital assets, net of debt. 
 
Spending of Non-borrowed Current Assets on New Capital - which will (a) reduce current assets and 
increase capital assets, and (b) will reduce unrestricted net position and increase invested in capital assets, net 
of debt. 
 
Principal Payment on Debt - which will (a) reduce current assets and reduce long-term debt, and (b) reduce 
unrestricted net position and increase investment in capital assets, net of debt. 
 
Reduction of Capital Assets through Depreciation - which will reduce capital assets and investment in 
capital assets, net of debt. 
 

Current Year Impacts 
 
The Village's combined net position for the primary government (which is the Village’s bottom line) 
increased from $2.2 million which was the result of the governmental activities net position increasing by $2 
million and the business-type activities net position increasing by $.2 million. The governmental activities 
accounted for 91% of the growth in the assets of the Village. The beginning net position of the governmental 
activities as of May 1, 2015 was decreased $21.3 million related to a change in accounting principle for the 
implementation of GASB Statement No. 68 which required the Village to retroactively record the net pension 
liability. 
 
The Village has restricted net position of $11 million which are used primarily for economic development 
and highway and street improvements. Certain resources (e.g. Special Revenue Funds and Debt Service 
Funds), are generally used only for the purpose restricted by the specific revenue source. 
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT.) 
 
 
 
Changes in Net Position 
 
The following table shows the revenue and expenses of the governmental and business-type activities for the 
current and prior year. 
 

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
REVENUES

Program Revenues:
Charges for Services 3.3$         3.2           4.7           4.2           8.0           7.4           
Capital Grants 
  and Contributions 3.9           0.4           -          -          3.9           0.4           

General Revenues:                         
Property Taxes 6.7           6.2           -          -          6.7           6.2           
Sales, income, and use taxes 9.3           9.0           -          -          9.3           9.0           
Other Taxes 2.7           3.0           -          -          2.7           3.0           
Other 0.6           0.6           -          -          0.6           0.6           

Total Revenues 26.5         22.4         4.7           4.2           31.2         26.6         

EXPENSES
General Government 7.3           3.7           -          -          7.3           3.7           
Public Safety 10.0         9.6           -          -          10.0         9.6           
Water and Sewer -          -          4.3           4.1           4.3           4.1           
Parks & Recreation 2.7           2.7           -          -          2.7       2.7           
Interest Expense 0.1           0.1           -          -          0.1           0.1           
Highways and Streets 2.6           2.6           -          -          2.6           2.6           
Economic Development 1.0           1.3           -          -          1.0           1.3           
Sanitation 1.0           1.0           -          -          1.0           1.0           

Total Expenses 24.7         21.0         4.3           4.1           29.0         25.1         

Change in Net Position before Transfers 1.8           1.4           0.4           0.1           2.2           1.5           

Transfers 0.2           0.2           (0.2) (0.2)         -          -          

Change in Net Position 2.0           1.6           0.2           (0.1)         2.2           1.5           

Net Position - Beginning as Restated 29.7         49.4         8.4           8.6           38.1         58.0         

Net Position -  Ending 31.7         51.0         8.6           8.5           40.3         59.5         

Activities Activities Total

Table 2:  Statement of Changes in Net Position
Fiscal Years Ended April 30, 2016 and 2015

(in millions)

Governmental Business-Type

 
 
The Beginning Net Position for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016 has been restated (See Note 3, page 42) 
related to a change in accounting principle for the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68 which 
required the Village to retroactively record the net pension liability. 
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT.) 
 
 
 
There are eight basic impacts on revenues and expenses as reflected below. 
 

Normal Impacts 
 
Revenues: 
 
Economic Condition - which can reflect a declining, stable or growing economic environment and has a 
substantial impact on state income, sales and utility tax revenue as well as public spending habits for building 
permits, elective user fees, and volumes of consumption. 
 
Increase/Decrease in Village Approved Rates - While certain tax rates are set by statute, the Village Board 
has significant authority to impose and periodically increase/decrease rates (water, wastewater, impact fees, 
building fees, etc.) 
 
Changing Patterns in Intergovernmental and Grant Revenue (both recurring and non-recurring ) such as 
state-shared revenue, etc., may experience significant changes periodically while non-recurring (or one-time) 
grants are less predictable and often distorting in their impact on year-to-year comparisons. 
 
Market Impacts on Investment Income –The Village’s investment portfolio consists mainly of certificates 
of deposit and government securities. Market conditions may cause interest rates and investment income to 
fluctuate. 
 
Expenses: 
 
Introduction of New Programs - Within the functional expense categories (Public Safety, Public Works, 
General Government, etc.), individual programs may be added or deleted to meet changing community 
needs. 
 
Increase in Authorized Personnel - Changes in service demand may cause the Village to increase/decrease 
authorized staffing.  Staffing costs (salary and related benefits) represent about 40% of the Village's 
operating costs. 
 
Salary Increases (annual adjustments/merit) - The ability to attract and retain (employees) resources 
requires the Village to strive to approach a competitive salary structure in the marketplace. 
 
Inflation - While overall inflation appears to be reasonably modest, the Village is a major consumer of 
certain commodities such as supplies, fuels and repair parts.  Some functions may experience commodity 
specific increases. 
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Current Year Impacts 
 
Governmental Activities 
 
Revenue: 
 
For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, revenues from the governmental activities totaled $26.5 million. 
Sales tax revenue is the Village's largest revenue source, totaling $7.4 million with property tax revenues 
second at $6.8 million. Sales tax receipts had a decrease of $152,980 when compared to Fiscal 2015.  The 
Village is still experiencing a slow recovery in consumer spending as seen in both our State and National 
economies. The Village also received a grant totaling $3.6 million attributed to the purchase of property. The 
grant accounted for 80% of the purchase price.  Property tax revenues and sales tax revenues combined with 
the local utility tax and shared state income tax and other tax revenues total $22.6 million and represents 85% 
of the total Governmental Funds revenue. Investment income experienced a small increase due to minimal 
rate increases the Village earned on the certificates of deposit and other investments. 
 
Expenses:  
 
For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, expenses for governmental activities totaled $24.7 million. 
 
The Village invested in capital assets during Fiscal 2016. This investment totaled $6.8 million less the 
current year depreciation of $1.8 million for a net increase in capital assets of $5 million. The Village 
purchased land from the Union Pacific Railroad totaling $4.6 million dollars during the current fiscal year. 
This purchase accounts for 67% of the total capital asset investment for the year. 
 
It is important that the Village provide competitive compensation levels for our employees.  Fiscal 2016 
expenses included funding an average 2% increase for Village personnel along with minimal increases in 
medical benefits. Spending on various programs and capital assets was done within the constraints of the 
availability of revenue received. 
 
Business-type Activities 
 
Revenue: 
 
For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, revenues from the business-type activities totaled $4.7 million.  The 
major revenue source is Charges for Services to operate the Water and Sewer Fund.  The water rate charged 
to residents and businesses within the Village increased in Fiscal 2016 by 15%.  The increase was needed to 
offset the 15% increase by City of Chicago, the Village’s supplier of water.  
 
Expenses: 
 
For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, expenses for business-type activities totaled $4.3 million, including 
depreciation and amortization of $.7 million.  Included therein was an operating transfer to the General Fund 
of $.2 million for the reimbursement of administrative expenses. 
 
The Water and Sewer Fund follows the same strict spending guidelines imposed on the Governmental Funds. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE VILLAGE'S FUNDS 
 

Governmental Funds 
 

At April 30, 2016, the governmental funds (as presented on the income statement on page 12) reported a 
combined fund balance of $21.9 million.  
 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 

The 2016 fiscal year budget, as originally approved by the Village Board, was not amended during the 
current year.  Below is a table that reflects the original and final budget and the actual for the revenues and 
expenditures for the General Fund. 
 

Original/
Final

Budget Actual
Revenues

Taxes $ 14.5 14.2
Intergovernmental 2.1 2.2
Other 4.2 3.9

Total 20.8 20.3

Expenditures 20.4 19.6

Excess of Revenues
over Expenditures 0.4 0.7

Other Financing Sources
Transfer In 0.3            0.3
Transfer Out (1.0) (0.6)

(0.7) (0.3)

Change in Fund Balance (0.3) 0.4

Table 3: General Fund Budgetary Highlights
(in millions)

   
 

The Fiscal 2016 General Fund approved budget was balanced with the use of $273,239 of excess fund 
balance. The actual results reflect a $440,738 increase in fund balance for the year ended April 30, 2016.  
Total revenues were $.5 million (2%) less than the budget amount, and actual expenditures were $.8 million 
less than the budget amount. State sales and home rule sales taxes were $233,724 less than budgeted while 
state income tax revenues were also less than budget by $23,846. This reflects the slow growth that the 
national economy is experiencing. This revenue is received from the state of Illinois based on a per capita 
basis. The expenditure budget variance was $.8 million (4%) under budget. This was mainly due to a 
reduction in payments due under an Intergovernmental Agreement with the local school district. Transfers 
out to other funds were $.4 million under budget as expenses in a capital projects fund were deferred to the 
next budget year.  
 

Other Major Funds Highlights 
 

The Village's major Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Fund experienced a decrease of $632,526 in fund 
balance for fiscal year ended April 30, 2016. The tax increment revenue received of $841,202 was mainly 
used to pay debt service costs of $310,875 and $4,730,220 of operating expenses. Included in the operating 
expenses is the purchase of land from the Union Pacific Railroad totaling $4,600,000. The Village was 
reimbursed 80% of the cost from a grant used to purchase the property.  
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT.) 
 
 
 
The Motor Fuel Tax Fund had a $296,261 increase in fund balance. The Village received a local distributive 
share of $322,038 from the State of Illinois. The primary expenditures were made for maintenance of 
streetlights in the Village and street improvements. 
 
The Debt Service Fund had a slight decrease in fund balance of $33. Local taxes totaling $480,792 were 
allocated to pay the current year’s general bond obligations. Other funds transferred in $652,687 to pay loans 
for capital asset purchases and street improvements.  
 
Capital Assets 
 
At the end of Fiscal Year 2016, the Village had a combined total of capital assets of $48.6 million invested in 
a broad range of capital assets including land, streets, sidewalks, alleys, buildings, vehicles, water mains, 
storm sewers and sanitary sewer lines. (See Table 4 below).  
 

Land 10.9$        0.1            11.0          
Buildings 4.1            0.4            4.5            
Improvements Other Than Buildings 5.2            -           5.2            
Equipment 0.4            0.9            1.3            
Vehicle 1.9            -           1.9            
Waterworks System -           10.1          10.1          
Infrastructure 14.6          -           14.6          

37.1$        11.5          48.6          

Activities Activities Total

Table 4:  Total Capital Assets at Year End
Net of Depreciation

(in millions)

Governmental Business-type

 
 
More detailed information on capital asset activity can be found in Note 4 of the notes to the financial 
statements beginning on page 34. 
 

Beginning Balance 32.1$        11.8          43.9          

Additions:
Depreciable 2.2            0.4            2.6            

Non depreciable 4.6            -           4.6            
Depreciation (1.8)          (0.7)          (2.5)          

Ending Balance 37.1$        11.5          48.6          

Activities Activities Total

Table 5:  Change in Capital Assets
(in millions)

Governmental Business-type
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT.) 
 
 
 
Debt Outstanding 
 
The Village of Lincolnwood had total long-term debt and loans payable of $37.5 million as of April 30, 
2016.  Long-term debt is comprised of general obligation debt, compensated absences to employees, net 
pension liabilities and loans payable. The Village made payments totaling $1.6 million of general obligation 
debt and loans payable while compensated absences increased by $1,279. In addition, the net pension 
liability increased by $5.9 million. This was a result of the change in accounting principle for the 
implementation of GASB Statement No. 68 which required the Village to retroactively record the net pension 
liability. 
 
The Village has a legal debt limitation not to exceed 8.625% of the total equalized assessed valuation of the 
taxable property with the Village boundaries.  This means that the total of bonds, notes, warrants or any other 
type of general obligation issued or outstanding will not be greater than 8.625%. The following types of 
obligations are not considered in determining the debt limitations:  certain revenue bonds, special assessment 
bonds, special service area bonds, and alternate revenue bonds. 
 
At April 30, 2016, the Village had $1,540,000 of general obligation bonds outstanding.  Under current state 
statute, the Village's general obligation bonded debt issuances are subject to a legal limitation based on 
$566,183,876 of total assessed value of real personal property. As of April 30, 2016, the Village's general 
obligation bonded debt, applicable to the debt limit of $1,540,000, was well below the legal limit of 
$47,293,359. 
 
As presented above, the Village is well within the existing debt levels and will continue to be so in the future. 
 
Additional information on the Village's long-term bonded debt can be found in the Note 3 to the basic 
financial statements beginning on page 38. 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget 
 
The Village continues to provide quality government services funded by a tax base that is basically 
residential.  The local and national economies are still experiencing slow economic growth. The next few 
years will still continue to be challenging as the Village continues to balance expenditures with the slow 
growth in revenues while continuing to maintain the current services to our residents and businesses. The 
Village property tax, sales tax, local utility taxes and the Village’s share of the state income tax make a 
majority of the portion of General Fund revenues. Most of these major revenue sources experienced increases 
from the prior year. We still expect revenues to remain in a slow growth pattern in the upcoming years as the 
global economy is still in a slow growth mode and the current State budget impasse could affect certain 
Village revenue sources. 
 
The Village is also continuing to look for economic development to generate additional sales and real estate 
tax revenues. There are various developments in the plans to begin in Fiscal 2017 for various sites in the 
Village, including the TIF districts.  
 
 

CONTACTING THE VILLAGE'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors and creditors with a general 
overview of the Village's finances and to demonstrate the Village's accountability for the money it receives.  
Questions concerning this report or requests for additional financial information should be directed to 
Robert J. Merkel, Finance Director, Village of Lincolnwood, 6900 N. Lincoln Ave. Lincolnwood, IL  60712. 



• Government-Wide Financial Statements

• Fund Financial Statements

Governmental Funds

Proprietary Funds

Fiduciary Funds

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The basic financial Statements include integrated sets of financial statements as required by the GASB.
The sets of statements include:

In addition, the notes to the financial statements are included to provide information that is essential to
a user’s understanding of the basic financial statements.
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Net Position
April 30, 2016

Business-
Type

Activities Totals

Current Assets
Cash and Investments $ 18,051,477 1,589,726 19,641,203
Receivables - Net of Allowances 5,692,874 855,720 6,548,594
Due from Other Governments 3,740,577 -      3,740,577
Prepaids/Inventories 482 44,764 45,246

Total Current Assets 27,485,410 2,490,210 29,975,620

Noncurrent Assets
Capital Assets 

Nondepreciable Capital Assets 10,885,084 96,214 10,981,298
Depreciable Capital Assets 51,991,274 21,495,390 73,486,664
Accumulated Depreciation (25,731,267) (10,122,235) (35,853,502)

Total Capital Assets 37,145,091 11,469,369 48,614,460

Other Assets
Long-Term Notes Receivable 110,000 -      110,000

Total Noncurrent Assets 37,255,091 11,469,369 48,724,460

Total Assets 64,740,501 13,959,579 78,700,080

Deferred Items - IMRF 1,228,007 92,015 1,320,022
Deferred Items - Police Pension 3,986,036 -      3,986,036

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 5,214,043 92,015 5,306,058

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 69,954,544 14,051,594 84,006,138

Governmental
Activities

ASSETS 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Business-
Type

Activities Totals

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $ 1,554,902 183,649 1,738,551
Accrued Payroll 177,767 14,833 192,600
Deposits Payable 45,019 -      45,019
Accrued Interest 12,834 -      12,834
Other Payables 1,282,324 -      1,282,324
Current Portion of Long-Term Debt

Compensated Absences Payable 150,732 13,054 163,786
Loans Payable 210,381 582,528 792,909
General Obligation Bonds Payable 760,000 -      760,000

Total Current Liabilities 4,193,959 794,064 4,988,023
Noncurrent Liabilities

Compensated Absences Payable 602,926 52,216 655,142
Net Pension Liability - IMRF 2,222,800 166,555 2,389,355
Net Pension Liability - Police Pension 26,987,128 -      26,987,128
Loans Payable 570,778 4,382,074 4,952,852
General Obligation Bonds Payable 780,000 -      780,000

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 31,163,632 4,600,845 35,764,477
Total Liabilities 35,357,591 5,394,909 40,752,500

Deferred Items - IMRF 45,842 3,435 49,277
Deferred Items - Police Pension 194,442 194,442
Property Taxes 2,683,034 -      2,683,034

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 2,923,318 3,435 2,926,753
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 38,280,909 5,398,344 43,679,253

Net Investment in Capital Assets 34,823,932 6,504,767 41,328,699
Restricted - Economic Development 6,490,549 -      6,490,549
Restricted - Street and Street Light 

Maintenance and Replacement 3,969,762 -      3,969,762
Restricted - Transportation Improvement 458,445 -      458,445
Restricted - Police Dispatch 2,149 -      2,149
Restricted - Capital Projects 8,440 -      8,440
Unrestricted (14,079,642) 2,148,483 (11,931,159)

Total Net Position 31,673,635 8,653,250 40,326,885

NET POSITION

LIABILITIES

Governmental
Activities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016
 

Charges Operating Capital
for Grants/ Grants/

Services Contributions Contributions
Primary Government

Governmental Activities
General Government $ 7,343,902 323,925 3,847,125 -      
Public Safety 10,010,892 1,583,595 -      -      
Highways and Streets 2,644,884 -      -      79,245
Sanitation 1,000,930 -      -      -      
Economic Development 950,667 -      -      -      
Culture and Recreation 2,659,858 1,424,915 -      -      
Interest Expense 49,222 -      -      -      

Total Governmental Activities 24,660,355 3,332,435 3,847,125 79,245

Business-Type Activities
Water and Sewer 4,274,948 4,643,875 -      -      

Total Primary Government 28,935,303 7,976,310 3,847,125 79,245

General Revenues
Taxes
     Property Taxes
     Food and Beverage Taxes
     Utility Taxes
     Other Taxes
Intergovernmental - Unrestricted
     Sales Taxes
     Income Taxes
     Replacement Taxes
     Use Taxes
     Motor Fuel Taxes

    Investment Income
    Miscellaneous
Internal Activity - Transfers

Change in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning as Restated

Net Position - Ending

Program Revenues

Expenses

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
6



Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Totals

(3,172,852) -      (3,172,852)
(8,427,297) -      (8,427,297)
(2,565,639) -      (2,565,639)
(1,000,930) -      (1,000,930)

(950,667) -      (950,667)
(1,234,943) -      (1,234,943)

(49,222) -      (49,222)
(17,401,550) -      (17,401,550)

-      368,927 368,927

(17,401,550) 368,927 (17,032,623)

6,754,910 -      6,754,910
470,774 -      470,774

1,323,632 -      1,323,632
735,501 -      735,501

7,351,368 -      7,351,368
1,276,154 -      1,276,154

126,382 -      126,382
288,899 -      288,899
322,038 -      322,038
231,769 2,813 234,582
326,367 10,000 336,367
200,000 (200,000) -      

19,407,794 (187,187) 19,220,607

2,006,244 181,740 2,187,984

29,667,391 8,471,510 38,138,901

31,673,635 8,653,250 40,326,885

Net (Expenses)/Revenues
Primary Government

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds  
April 30, 2016

Cash and Investments $ 10,444,276
Receivables 

Property Taxes 2,725,028
Other Taxes 2,314,574
Accounts 521,989
Accrued Interest -      

Due from Other Governments -      
Due from Other Funds 455,712
Long-Term Notes Receivable 110,000
Prepaids 482

Total Assets 16,572,061

Accounts Payable 1,070,131
Accrued Payroll 175,424
Deposits Payable 45,019
Due to Other Funds 92,621
Other Payables 1,282,324

Total Liabilities 2,665,519

Property Taxes 2,683,034
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 5,348,553

Nonspendable 110,482
Restricted -      
Unassigned 11,113,026

Total Fund Balances 11,223,508

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balances 16,572,061

FUND BALANCES

General

ASSETS

LIABILITIES 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Northeast
Industrial

District Tax
Increment Motor Debt  
Financing Fuel Tax Service Nonmajor Totals

2,811,425 3,923,614 9,729 862,433 18,051,477

8,579 -      -      -      2,733,607
-      -      -      -      2,314,574
-      28,652 -      92,895 643,536
735 -      -      422 1,157

3,680,000 18,668 -      41,909 3,740,577
-      -      -      -      455,712
-      -      -      -      110,000
-      -      -      -      482

6,500,739 3,970,934 9,729 997,659 28,051,122

10,190 1,172 -      380,788 1,462,281
-      -      -      2,343 177,767
-      -      -      -      45,019
-      -      -      455,712 548,333
-      -      -      -      1,282,324

10,190 1,172 -      838,843 3,515,724

-      -      -      -      2,683,034
10,190 1,172 -      838,843 6,198,758

-      -      -      -      110,482
6,490,549 3,969,762 9,729 469,034 10,939,074

-      -      -      (310,218) 10,802,808
6,490,549 3,969,762 9,729 158,816 21,852,364

6,500,739 3,970,934 9,729 997,659 28,051,122

Special Revenue

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balance to the
Statement of Net Position - Governmental Activities

April 30, 2016
 

Total Governmental Fund Balances $ 21,852,364

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position
are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and therefore, are not reported in the funds. 37,145,091

Deferred outflows (inflows) of resources related to the pensions not reported
in the funds.

Deferred Items - IMRF 1,182,165
Deferred Items - Police Pension 3,791,594

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Compensated Absences Payable (753,658)
Net Pension Liability - IMRF (2,222,800)
Net Pension Liability - Police (26,987,128)
Loan Payable (781,159)
General Obligation Bonds Payable (1,540,000)
Accrued Interest Payable (12,834)

Net Position of Governmental Activities 31,673,635

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

See Following Page



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Revenues
Taxes $ 7,829,696
Charges for Services 1,968,852
Licenses and Permits 1,072,394
Intergovernmental 8,562,011
Fines and Forfeits 291,189
Investment Income 204,781
Miscellaneous 326,367

Total Revenues 20,255,290

Expenditures
Current

General Government 3,366,502
Public Safety 9,767,597
Highways and Streets 1,336,261
Sanitation 1,000,930
Economic Development 950,667
Culture and Recreation 2,195,582

Capital Outlay 988,834
Debt Service  

Principal Retirement -      
Interest and Fiscal Charges -      

Total Expenditures 19,606,373

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 648,917

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 330,000
Transfers Out (538,179)

(208,179)

Net Change in Fund Balances 440,738

Fund Balances - Beginning 10,782,770

Fund Balances - Ending 11,223,508

General

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Northeast
Industrial

District Tax
Increment Motor Debt
Financing Fuel Tax Service Nonmajor Totals

841,202 -      -      613,919 9,284,817
-      -      -      -      1,968,852
-      -      -      -      1,072,394

3,680,000 359,374 480,792 209,034 13,291,211
-      -      -      -      291,189

17,367 4,128 -      5,493 231,769
-      -      -      -      326,367

4,538,569 363,502 480,792 828,446 26,466,599

91,875 -      -      697,398 4,155,775
-      -      -      -      9,767,597
-      64,241 -      1,204,834 2,605,336
-      -      -      -      1,000,930
-      -      -      -      950,667
-      -      -      -      2,195,582

4,638,345 -      -      390,482 6,017,661

292,500 -      1,083,053 -      1,375,553
18,375 -      50,459 -      68,834

5,041,095 64,241 1,133,512 2,292,714 28,137,935

(502,526) 299,261 (652,720) (1,464,268) (1,671,336)

-      -      652,687 83,373 1,066,060
(130,000) (3,000) -      (194,881) (866,060)
(130,000) (3,000) 652,687 (111,508) 200,000

(632,526) 296,261 (33) (1,575,776) (1,471,336)

7,123,075 3,673,501 9,762 1,734,592 23,323,700

6,490,549 3,969,762 9,729 158,816 21,852,364

Special Revenue

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
to the Statement of Activities - Governmental Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016
 

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $ (1,471,336)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. 

Capital Outlays 6,865,670
Depreciation Expense (1,804,854)
Disposals - Cost (66,856)
Disposals - Accumulated Depreciation 50,028

The net effect of deferred outflows (inflows) of resources related to the pensions
not reported in the funds.

Change in Deferred Items - IMRF 774,559
Change in Deferred Items - Police Pension 2,127,945

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal on long-term
debt consumes the current financial resources of the governmental funds.

Additions to Net Pension Liability - IMRF (997,615)
Additions in Net Pension Liability - Police (4,867,210)
Deductions to Compensated Absences Payable 748
Retirement of Debt 1,375,553

Changes to accrued interest on long-term debt in the Statement of Activities
does not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not
reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. 19,612

Changes in Net Position of Governmental Activities 2,006,244

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Fund (Business-Type Activities)
April 30, 2016

See Following Page



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Fund (Business-Type Activities)
April 30, 2016

Current Assets
Cash and Investments $ 1,589,726

Receivables - Net of Allowances
Accounts 855,186

Accrued Interest 534

Inventories 44,764

Total Current Assets 2,490,210

Noncurrent Assets
Capital Assets

Nondepreciable Capital Assets 96,214

Depreciable Capital Assets 21,495,390

Accumulated Depreciation (10,122,235)

Total Noncurrent Assets 11,469,369

Total Assets 13,959,579

Deferred Items - IMRF 92,015

Total Assets/ Deferred Outflows of Resources 14,051,594

Water and
Sewer

ASSETS

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $ 183,649
Accrued Payroll 14,833
Compensated Absences Payable 13,054
Loans Payable 582,528

Total Current Liabilities 794,064

Noncurrent Liabilities
Compensated Absences Payable 52,216
Net Pension Liability - IMRF 166,555
Loans Payable 4,382,074

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 4,600,845

Total Liabilities 5,394,909

Deferred Items - IMRF 3,435

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 5,398,344

Net Investment in Capital Assets 6,504,767
Unrestricted 2,148,483

Total Net Position 8,653,250

NET POSITION

LIABILITIES

Water and
Sewer

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position -
Proprietary Fund (Business-Type Activities)
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Operating Revenues
Charges for Services $ 4,586,070
Fines and Forfeitures 57,805

Total Operating Revenues 4,643,875

Operating Expenses
Cost of Sales and Services 3,473,353
Depreciation 694,967

Total Operating Expenses 4,168,320

Operating Income 475,555

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest Income 2,813
Other Income 10,000
Interest and Fiscal Charges (106,628)

(93,815)

Income Before Transfers 381,740

Transfers Out (200,000)

Change in Net Position 181,740

Net Position - Beginning as Restated 8,471,510

Net Position - Ending 8,653,250

Sewer
Water and 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
16



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Fund (Business Type Activities)
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from Customers and Users $ 4,453,190
Other Income 10,000
Payments to Employees (562,572)
Payments to Suppliers (2,879,332)

1,021,286

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities
Transfers Out (200,000)

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Purchase of Capital Assets (375,940)
Interest and Fiscal Charges (106,628)
Payment of Bond Principal (575,647)

(1,058,215)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Interest Received 2,813

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (234,116)

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 1,823,842

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year 1,589,726

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash 
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities
Operating Income (Loss)  475,555
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating 

Income to Net Income to Net Cash
Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities:

Depreciation and Amortization Expense 694,967
Other Income 10,000
(Increase) Decrease in Current Assets (190,685)
Increase (Decrease) in Current Liabilities 31,449

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1,021,286

Water and
Sewer

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
April 30, 2016

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 708,620

Investments
U.S. Government and Agency Obligations 3,946,354
Corporate Bonds 4,410,882
Money Market 671,878
Equity Mutual Funds 8,886,506

Accrued Interest 61,887

Due from Other Funds 92,621

Net Position Restricted for Pensions 18,778,748

NET POSITION

Pension
Police

ASSETS

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Additions
Contributions - Employer $ 1,663,647
Contributions - Plan Members 368,810

Total Contributions 2,032,457

Investment Income
Interest Earned 483,997
Net Change in Fair Value (404,051)

79,946
Less Investment Expenses (42,732)

Net Investment Income 37,214

Total Additions 2,069,671

Deductions
Administration 23,850
Benefits and Refunds 2,213,010

Total Deductions 2,236,860

Change in Fiduciary Net Position (167,189)

Net Position - Beginning 18,945,937

Net Position - Ending 18,778,748

Police
Pension

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
19
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
The Village of Lincolnwood (Village), Illinois, is a municipal corporation, organized with powers and 
authorities as established in the Illinois Municipal code (Chapter 65 of the Illinois Compiled Statutes), 
as is governed by an elected Village President and six member Board of Trustees. 
 
The government-wide financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is responsible 
for establishing GAAP for state and local governments through its pronouncements (Statements and 
Interpretations). The more significant of the Village’s accounting policies established in GAAP and 
used by the Village are described below. 
 
REPORTING ENTITY 
 
The Village’s financial reporting entity comprises the following: 
 

Primary Government:  Village of Lincolnwood 
 
In determining the financial reporting entity, the Village complies with the provisions of GASB 
Statement No. 61, “The Financial Reporting Omnibus – an Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 
and No. 34,” and includes all component units that have a significant operational or financial 
relationship with the Village. Based upon the criteria set forth in the GASB Statement No. 61, there are 
no component units included in the reporting entity. 
 
Police Pension Employees Retirement System 
 
The Village’s sworn police employees participate in the Police Pension Employees Retirement System 
(PPERS). PPERS functions for the benefit of these employees and is governed by a five-member 
pension board. Two members appointed by the Village’s President, one elected pension beneficiary and 
two elected police employees constitute the pension board. 
 
The participants are required to contribute a percentage of salary as established by state statute and the 
Village is obligated to fund all remaining PPERS costs based upon actuarial valuations. The State of 
Illinois is authorized to establish benefit levels and the Village is authorized to approve the actuarial 
assumptions used in the determination of contribution levels. Although it is legally separate from the 
Village, the PPERS is reported as if it were part of the primary government because its sole purpose is 
to provide retirement benefits for the Village’s police employees. The PPERS is reported as a pension 
trust fund. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
Government-Wide Statements 
 
The Village’s basic financial statements include both government-wide (reporting the Village as a 
whole) and fund financial statements (reporting the Village’s major funds). Both the government-wide 
and fund financial statements categorize primary activities as either governmental or business-type. The 
Village’s police, highway and street maintenance and reconstruction, forestry, building code 
enforcement, public improvements, economic development, planning and zoning, and general 
administrative services are classified as governmental activities. The Village’s water and sewer services 
are classified as business-type activities. 
 
In the government-wide Statement of Net Position, both the governmental and business-type activities 
columns are: (a) presented on a consolidated basis by column, and (b) reported on a full accrual, 
economic resource basis, which recognizes all long-term assets/deferred outflows and receivables as 
well as long-term debt/deferred inflows and obligations. The Village’s net position is reported in three 
parts: net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted. The Village first utilizes restricted 
resources to finance qualifying activities. 
 
The government-wide Statement of Activities reports both the gross and net cost of each of the 
Village’s functions and business-type activities (general government, public safety, public works, etc.). 
The functions are supported by general government revenues (property, sales and use taxes, certain 
intergovernmental revenues, fines, permits and charges, etc.). The Statement of Activities reduces gross 
expenses (including depreciation) by related program revenues, which include 1) changes to customers 
or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a 
given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational 
or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. 
 
The net costs (by function or business-type activity) are normally covered by general revenue (property 
tax, sales tax, intergovernmental revenues, interest income, etc.). The Village allocates indirect costs to 
the proprietary funds for personnel who perform administrative services for those funds, along with 
other indirect costs deemed necessary for their operations, but are paid through the General Fund. This 
government-wide focus concentrates on the sustainability of the Village as an entity and the change in 
the Village’s net position resulting from the current year’s activities. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
BASIS OF PRESENTATION – Continued  
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The financial transactions of the Village are reported in individual funds in the fund financial 
statements. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that 
comprises its assets/deferred outflows, liabilities/deferred inflows, fund equity, revenues and 
expenditures/expenses. Funds are organized into three major categories: governmental, proprietary, and 
fiduciary. The emphasis in fund financial statements is on the major funds in either the governmental or 
business-type activities categories. Nonmajor funds by category are summarized into a single column. 
GASB Statement No. 34 sets forth minimum criteria (percentage of the assets/deferred outflows, 
liabilities/deferred inflows, revenues or expenditures/expenses of either fund category or the 
governmental and enterprise combined) for the determination of major funds. The Village electively 
added funds, as major funds, which either had debt outstanding or specific community focus. The 
nonmajor funds are combined in a column in the fund financial statements. A fund is considered major 
if it is the primary operating fund of the Village or meets the following criteria: 
 

Total assets/deferred outflows, liabilities/deferred inflows, revenues, or 
expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise fund 
are at least 10 percent of the corresponding total for all funds of that 
category or type; and 
 
Total assets/deferred outflows, liabilities/deferred inflows, revenues, or 
expenditures/expenses of the individual governmental fund or enterprise 
fund are at least 5 percent of the corresponding total for all governmental 
and enterprise funds combined. 

 
The various funds are reported by generic classification within the financial statements. The following 
fund types are used by the Village: 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
The focus of the governmental funds’ measurement (in the fund statements) is upon determination of 
financial position and changes in financial position (sources, uses, and balances of financial resources) 
rather than upon net income. The following is a description of the governmental funds of the Village: 
 
General fund is the general operating fund of the Village. It is used to account for all financial 
resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. The General Fund is a major fund. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
BASIS OF PRESENTATION – Continued 
 
Governmental Funds – Continued 
 
Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally 
restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. The Village maintains two major special revenue 
funds, the Northeast Industrial District Tax Increment Financing Fund and the Motor Tax Fuel Fund. 
The Northeast Industrial District Tax Increment Financing Fund is used to account for resources 
(restricted real estate taxes) received and expenditures made to promote the objectives of the TIF 
District. The Motor Tax Fuel Fund is used to account for resources (restricted motor fuel taxes) to 
maintain traffic signal lighting in the Village and for services performed by the Village for upkeep of 
IDOT street within the Village limits. The Village maintains five nonmajor special revenue funds. 
 
Debt service funds are used to account for the accumulation of funds for the periodic payment of 
principal and interest on general long-term debt. The Debt Service Fund is treated as a major fund and 
is used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, general long-term debt 
principal and interest. 
 
Capital projects funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or 
construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by business-type/proprietary funds). 
The Village maintains three nonmajor capital projects funds. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
The focus of proprietary fund measurement is upon determination of operating income, changes in net 
position, financial position, and cash flows. The generally accepted accounting principles applicable are 
those similar to businesses in the private sector. The following is a description of the proprietary fund 
of the Village: 
 
Enterprise funds are required to account for operations for which a fee is charged to external users for 
goods or services and the activity (a) is financed with debt that is solely secured by a pledge of the net 
revenues, (b) has third party requirements that the cost of providing services, including capital costs, be 
recovered with fees and charges or (c) establishes fees and charges based on a pricing policy designed 
to recover similar costs. The Village maintains one major enterprise fund, the Water and Sewer Fund, 
which is used to account for resources to maintain the Village’s water distribution system and combined 
storm/sanitary sewer system. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
BASIS OF PRESENTATION – Continued 
 
Governmental Funds – Continued 
 
Fiduciary Funds 
 
Fiduciary funds are used to report assets held in a trustee or agency capacity for others and therefore are 
not available to support Village programs. The reporting focus is on net position and changes in net 
position and is reported using accounting principles similar to proprietary funds. 
 
Pension trust funds are used to account for assets held in a trustee capacity for pension benefit 
payments. The Police Pension Fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources to be used for 
disability and retirement annuity payments to employees covered by the plan. Financing is provided by 
employee contributions, the Village’s contribution and investment income. 
 
Since by definition the assets of the Village’s fiduciary fund are being held for the benefit of a third 
party (other pension participants) and cannot be used to address activities or obligations of the Village, 
this fund is not incorporated into the government-wide statements. 
 
MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 
Measurement focus is a term used to describe “which” transactions are recorded within the various 
financial statements. Basis of accounting refers to “when” transactions are recorded regardless of the 
measurement focus applied. 
 
Measurement Focus 
 
On the government-wide Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, both governmental 
and business-type activities are presented using the economic resources measurement focus as defined 
below. In the fund financial statements, the “current financial resources” measurement focus or the 
“economic resources” measurement focus is used as appropriate. 
 
All governmental funds utilize a “current financial resources” measurement focus. Only current 
financial assets/deferred outflows and liabilities/deferred inflows are generally included on their 
balance sheets. Their operating statements present sources and uses of available spendable financial 
resources during a given period. These funds use fund balance as their measure of available spendable 
financial resources at the end of the period. 
 
All proprietary and pension trust funds utilize an “economic resources” measurement focus. The 
accounting objectives of this measurement focus are the determination of operating income, changes in 
net position (or cost recovery), financial position, and cash flows. All assets/deferred outflows and 
liabilities/deferred inflows (whether current or noncurrent) associated with their activities are reported. 
Proprietary and pension trust fund equity is classified as net position. Agency funds are not involved in 
the measurement of results of operations; therefore, measurement focus is not applicable to them. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING – Continued 
 
Basis of Accounting  
 
In the government-wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, both governmental and 
business-type activities are presented using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability/deferred 
inflow is incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets/deferred outflows, 
and liabilities/deferred inflows resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized 
when the exchange takes place. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds are presented on the modified accrual basis of 
accounting. Under this modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when 
“measurable and available.” Measurable means knowing or being able to reasonably estimate the 
amount. Available means collectible within the current period or within sixty days after year-end. The 
Village recognizes property taxes when they become both measurable and available in accordance with 
GASB Codification Section P70. A sixty-day availability period is used for revenue recognition for all 
other governmental fund revenues. Expenditures (including capital outlay) are recorded when the 
related fund liability is incurred, except for general obligation bond principal and interest which are 
recognized when due. 
 
In applying the susceptible to accrual concept under the modified accrual basis, those revenues 
susceptible to accrual are property taxes, sales and use taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, interest revenue, 
and charges for services. All other revenues are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are 
not measurable until received in cash. 
 
All proprietary and pension trust funds utilize the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis 
of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is 
incurred or economic asset used. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of 
the Village’s enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The Village also 
recognizes as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new 
customers to the system. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, 
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this 
definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
ASSETS/DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND NET 
POSITION OR EQUITY  
 
Cash and Investments 
 
Cash and cash equivalents on the Statement of Net Position are considered to be cash on hand, demand 
deposits, cash with fiscal agent. For the purpose of the proprietary funds “Statement of Cash Flows,” 
cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, cash with fiscal agent, 
and all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less.  
 
Investments are reported at fair value. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates 
fair value. Securities traded on national exchanges are valued at the last reported sales price. 
Investments that do not have any established market, if any, are reported at estimated fair value. 
 
Prepaids/Inventories 
 
Prepaids/inventories are valued at cost, which approximates market, using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) 
method. The costs of governmental fund-type prepaids/inventories are recorded as expenditures when 
consumed rather than when purchased. Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future 
accounting periods and are recorded as prepaids in both the government-wide and fund financial 
statements. 
 
Interfund Receivables, Payables and Activity 
 
Interfund activity is reported as loans, services provided, reimbursements or transfers. Loans are 
reported as interfund receivables and payables as appropriate and are subject to elimination upon 
consolidation. Services provided, deemed to be at market or near market rates, are treated as revenues 
and expenditures/expenses. Reimbursements occur when one fund incurs a cost, charges the appropriate 
benefiting fund and reduces its related cost as a reimbursement. All other interfund transactions are 
treated as transfers. Transfers between governmental or proprietary funds are netted as part of the 
reconciliation to the government-wide financial statements. 
 
Receivables 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, receivables consist of all revenues earned at year-end and 
not yet received. Allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable are based upon historical trends and 
the periodic aging of accounts receivable. Major receivables balances for governmental activities 
include property taxes, sales and use taxes, franchise taxes, and grants. Business-type activities report 
waterworks and sewerage charges as their major receivables. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
ASSETS/DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND NET 
POSITION OR EQUITY – Continued 
 
Capital Assets  
 
Capital assets purchased or acquired with an original cost of $10,000 or more are reported at historical 
cost or estimated historical cost. Contributed assets are reported at fair market value as of the date 
received. Additions, improvements and other capital outlays that significantly extend the useful life of 
an asset are capitalized. Other costs incurred for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 
 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement 
focus. General capital assets are long-lived assets of the Village as a whole. Infrastructure such as 
streets, traffic signals and signs are capitalized. The valuation basis for general capital assets are 
historical cost, or where historical cost is not available, estimated historical cost based on replacement 
costs. 
 
Capital assets in the proprietary funds are capitalized in the fund in which they are utilized. The 
valuation basis for proprietary fund capital assets are the same as those used for the general capital 
assets. Donated capital assets are capitalized at estimated fair market value on the date donated. 
 
Depreciation on all assets is computed and recorded using the straight-line method of depreciation over 
the following estimated useful lives: 
 

Parks and Improvements 10 - 25 Years

Buildings 35 Years

Equipment and Furniture 5 -30 Years

Vehicles and Heavy Equipment 5 -30 Years

Streets, Sidewalks and Alleys 30 Years

Waterworks System 30 Years  
 
Compensated Absences 
 
The Village accrues accumulated unpaid vacation and associated employee-related costs when earned 
(or estimated to be earned) by the employee. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 16, no liability is 
recorded for nonvesting accumulation rights to receive sick pay benefits. However, a liability is 
recognized for that portion of accumulated sick leave that is estimated to be taken as “terminal leave” 
prior to retirement. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
ASSETS/DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND NET 
POSITION OR EQUITY – Continued 
 
Compensated Absences – Continued 
 
All vacation pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial 
statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in the governmental funds only if they have 
matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements. 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 
Deferred outflow/inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future 
period and therefore will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense)/inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that future time. 
 
Long-Term Obligations  
 
In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial 
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable 
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type Statement of Net Position. 
Bond premiums and discounts, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective 
interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond 
issuance costs are reported as expenses at the time of issuance. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as 
well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as 
other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources 
while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not 
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 
Net Position 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, fund equity is classified as net position and displayed in 
three components: 
 

Net Investment in Capital Assets – Consists of capital assets including 
restricted capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by 
the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes or other 
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of those assets. 
 
Restricted – Consists of net position with constraints placed on the use 
either by (1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or 
laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislations. 
 
Unrestricted – All other net position balances that do not meet the 
definition of “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.”  
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NOTE 2 – STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
BUDGETARY INFORMATION 
 
All departments of the Village submit requests for appropriation to the Village Manager so that a 
budget may be prepared. The budget is prepared by fund, function and activity, and includes 
information on the past year, current year estimates and requested appropriations for the next fiscal 
year. Annual appropriated budgets are adopted the for general, special revenue, debt service, capital 
projects, enterprise and pension trust funds. 
 
Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles except of the 
Water and Sewer Fund. The Water and Sewer Fund is adopted on a modified basis in that depreciation 
is not budgeted and capital outlay and debt principal retirements, if any, are budgeted. 
 
The proposed budget is presented to the governing body for review. The governing body hold public 
hearings and may add to, subtract from or change appropriations, but may not change the form of the 
budget. The finance director is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between departments within 
any fund; however, the governing body must approve any revisions that alter the total expenditures of 
any fund. 
 
The budget may be amended by the governing body and was not amended during the year. 
 
EXCESS OF ACTUAL EXPENDITURES OVER BUDGET IN INDIVIDUAL FUNDS 
 
The following funds had an excess of actual expenditures over budget as of the date of this report: 
 

Fund

Northeast Industrial District Tax Increment Financing $ 108,720
Touhy/Lawndale Tax Increment Financing 197,697

Transportation Improvement 70,521

Excess

 
 
DEFICIT FUND EQUITY 
 
The following funds had deficit fund equity as of the date of this report: 
 

Fund

Lincoln/Touhy Tax Increment Financing $ 63,016      
Devon/Lincoln Tax Increment Financing 247,202

Deficit

 
 
The deficit in the Lincoln/Touhy Tax Increment Financing Fund and the Devon/Lincoln Tax Increment 
Financing Fund will be retired when the Districts start to receive the tax increment from the increase in 
the assessed valuation of the TIF Districts.   
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
The Village maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds except the 
pension trust fund. Each fund type's portion of this pool is displayed on the financial statements as 
"cash and investments." In addition, investments are separately held by several of the Village's funds. 
The deposits and investments of the pension trust funds are held separately from those of other funds. 
 
Permitted Deposits and Investments – Statutes authorize the Village to make deposits/invest in 
commercial banks, savings and loan institutions, obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. Agencies, 
obligations of States and their political subdivisions, credit union shares, repurchase agreements, 
commercial paper rated within the three highest classifications by at least two standard rating services, 
Illinois Funds, and the Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund (IMET). 
 
The Illinois Funds is an investment pool managed by the Illinois Public Treasurer’s Office which 
allows governments within the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. Although not 
registered with the SEC, Illinois Funds operates in a manner consistent with Rule 2a7 of the Investment 
Company Act of 1940. Investments in Illinois Funds are valued at the share price, the price for which 
the investment could be sold. 
 
The IMET is a non-for-profit investment trust formed pursuant to the Illinois Municipal Code. IMET is 
managed by a Board of Trustees elected from the participating members. IMET is not registered with 
the SEC as an Investment Company. Investments in the IMET are valued at the share price, the price 
for which the investment could be sold. 
 
The deposits and investments of the Pension Fund are held separately from those of other Village funds. 
Statutes authorize the Pension Fund to make deposits/invest in interest bearing direct obligations of the 
United States of America; obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured as to the payment of principal 
and interest by the United States of America; bonds, notes, debentures, or similar obligations of agencies 
of the United States of America; savings accounts or certificates of deposit issued by banks or savings and 
loan associations chartered by the United States of America or by the State of Illinois, to the extent that 
the deposits are insured by the agencies or instrumentalities of the federal government; credit unions, to 
the extent that the deposits are insured by the agencies or instrumentalities of the federal government; 
State of Illinois bonds; pooled accounts managed by the Illinois Funds Market Fund (Formerly known as 
IPTIP, Illinois Public Treasurer’s Investment Pool), or by banks, their subsidiaries or holding companies, 
in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois; bonds or tax anticipation warrants of any county, 
township, or municipal corporation of the State of Illinois; direct obligations of the State of Israel; money 
market mutual funds managed by investment companies that are registered under the Federal Investment 
Company Act of 1940 and the Illinois Securities Law of 1953 and are diversified, open-ended 
management investment companies, provided the portfolio is limited to specified restrictions; general 
accounts of life insurance companies; and separate accounts of life insurance companies and mutual 
funds, the mutual funds must meet specific restrictions, provided the investment in separate accounts 
and mutual funds does not exceed ten percent of the Pension Fund’s plan net position; and corporate 
bonds managed through an investment advisor, rated as investment grade by one of the two largest 
rating services at the time of purchase. Pension Funds with plan net position of $2.5 million or more  
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued  
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
may invest up to forty-five percent of plan net position in separate accounts of life insurance companies 
and mutual funds. Pension Funds with plan net position of at least $5 million that have appointed an 
investment advisor, may through that investment advisor invest up to forty-five percent of the plan net 
position in common and preferred stocks that meet specific restrictions. In addition, Pension Funds with 
plan net position of at least $10 million that have appointed an investment advisor, may invest up to 
fifty percent of its net position in common and preferred stocks and mutual funds that meet specific 
restrictions effective July 1, 2011 and up to fifty-five percent effective July 1, 2012. 
 
Village Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and Concentration Risk 
 
Deposits. At year-end, the carrying amount of the Village’s deposits for governmental and business-
type activities totaled $11,482,774 and the bank balances totaled $12,120,167. The Village also has 
$7,269,162 invested in the Illinois Funds and $889,267 invested in IMET, which have an average 
maturity of less than one year to three years. 
 
Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of an investment. The Village’s investment policy limits its exposure to interest rate risk by 
primarily investing in investment with maturities of one year or less, except for US. government and 
agencies obligations. 
 
Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations. The Village limits its exposure to credit risk by primarily investing in securities issued by 
the United States Government and/or its agencies that are implicitly guaranteed by the United States 
Government. The Village’s policy prescribes to the “prudent person” rule which states, “All 
investments shall be made with sound judgment and extraordinary care by persons of prudence, 
discretion, and intelligence. The primary objectives of the investment policy shall be safety, liquidity, 
and return on investment (yield). At year-end, the Village’s investment in the Illinois Funds was rated 
AAAm by Standard & Poor’s. The Illinois Metropolitan Investment Trust Convenience Fund is not 
rated and the Illinois Metropolitan Investment Trust 1-3 Year Fund is rated Aaa by Moody’s. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk. In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the 
Village’s deposits may not be returned to it. The Village’s investment policy does not mitigate custodial 
credit risk. The Village’s investment in the Illinois Funds and IMET are noncategorizable. At year-end, 
the entire amount of the bank balance of deposits was covered by collateral, federal depository or 
equivalent insurance.  
 
For an investment, this is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the Village will not 
be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an 
outside party. The Village’s investment policy does not mitigate custodial credit risk for investments. 
 
Concentration Risk. This is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Village’s investment in a 
single issuer. The Village’s investment policy does not address concentration risk. At year-end, the 
Village’s investment in the Illinois Funds represents more than 5 percent of the total cash and 
investment portfolio. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued  
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued  
 
Police Pension Fund Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and Concentration 
Risk 
 
Deposits. At year-end, the carrying amount of the Fund’s deposits totaled $707,146 and the bank 
balances totaled $707,146. 
 
Investments. The Fund has the following investment fair values and maturities: 
 

Less Than More Than
Investment Type 1 1 to 5 6 to 10 10

U.S. Treasuries $ 3,078,579 822,816 1,458,568 797,195 -      
U.S. Agencies 867,775 867,775 -      -      -      
Money Market 671,878 671,878 -      -      -      
Corporate Bonds 4,410,882 401,652 3,119,120 890,110 -      
Illinois Funds 1,474 1,474 -      -      -      

9,030,588 2,765,595 4,577,688 1,687,305 -      

Investment Maturities (in Years)
Fair

Value

 
 

Interest Rate Risk. In accordance with its investment policy, the Fund limits its exposure to interest rate 
risk by structuring the portfolio to provide liquidity for all reasonable anticipated operating 
requirements while providing a reasonable rate to return based on the current market. 
 
Credit Risk. The Fund limits its exposure to credit risk by primarily investing in U.S. Treasury 
Obligations and other obligations which are rated AA or better by a national rating agency. At year-end, 
the Fund’s investments in U.S. Agency securities were not available, Corporate Bonds were rated AA+ 
to BBB by Standard & Poor’s and Illinois Funds was rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s.  
 
Custodial Credit Risk. The Fund’s investment policy does not mitigate custodial credit risk for deposits. 
At year-end, the entire amount of the bank balance of deposits was covered by collateral, federal 
depository or equivalent insurance.  
 
In the case of investments, the Fund limits its exposure to custodial credit risk, the investment policy 
requires all security transactions that are exposed to custodial credit risk to be processed on a delivery 
versus payment basis with the underlying investments held by a third-party custodian and evidenced by 
safekeeping receipts. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued  
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
Police Pension Fund Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and Concentration 
Risk – Continued 
 
Concentration Risk. The Fund’s investment policy requires diversification of investment to avoid 
unreasonable risk. No financial institution, except any securities custodians of the Fund, shall hold more 
than 10% of the Fund’s portfolio at any time. In addition to the securities and fair values listed above, 
the Fund also has $8,886,506 invested in mutual funds. At year end, the Fund has over 5% of net plan 
position invested in U.S. Treasuries (16%), and Corporate Bonds (23%). Investments that represent 5 
percent or more of the total Police Pension Fund’s investment are Investment Co. America of 
$2,045,218, Vanguard Total Stock of $2,451,951 and Vanguard Dividend Growth Fund IV of 
$1,014,708. 
 
The Fund’s investment policy in accordance with Illinois Compiled Statutes (ILCS) establishes the 
following target allocation across asset classes:  
 

Long-Term
Expected Real

Asset Class Target Rate of Return

Fixed Income 35% - 65% 3.3% - 8.8%
Domestic Equities 20% - 80% 10.0% - 12.2%
International Equities 20% 9.8% - 12.0%
Cash and Cash Equivalents 0% 0.0%  

 
Illinois Compiled Statutes (ILCS) limit the Fund’s investments in equities, mutual funds and variable 
annuities to 55%. Securities in any one company should not exceed 5% of the total fund.  
 
The long-term expected rate of return on the Fund’s investments was determined using an asset 
allocation study conducted by the Fund’s investment management consultant in May 2016 in which 
best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (net of pension plan investment expense and 
inflation) were developed for each major asset class. These ranges were combined to produce the long-
term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage and by adding the expected inflation. Best estimates or arithmetic real rates of 
return for each major asset class included in the Fund’s target asset allocation as of April 30, 2016 are 
listed in the table above.  
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued  
 
DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
Police Pension Fund Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Custodial Credit Risk and Concentration 
Risk – Continued 
 
Rate of Return 
 
For the year ended April 30, 2016, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments, 
net of pension plan investment expense, was 0.73%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses 
investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 
 
PROPERTY TAXES 
 
Property taxes for 2015 tax levy attach as an enforceable lien on January 1, on property values assessed 
as of the same date. Taxes are levied by December of the subsequent fiscal year (by passage of a Tax 
Levy Ordinance). Tax bills are prepared by the County and are payable in two installments, on or about 
March 1 and November 1. The County collects such taxes and remits them periodically. The allowance 
for uncollectible taxes has been stated at 1% of the tax levy, to reflect actual collection experience. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Governmental Activities 
 
Governmental capital asset activity for the year was as follows: 
 

Ending 
Increases Decreases Balances

Nondepreciable Capital Assets
Land $ 6,285,084 4,600,000 -       10,885,084
Construction in Progress 1,001,921 -       1,001,921 -       

7,287,005 4,600,000 1,001,921 10,885,084

Depreciable Capital Assets
Parks and Improvements 10,686,988  212,014 -       10,899,002
Buildings 10,325,971  -       -       10,325,971
Equipment and Furniture 1,853,427  173,180 15,285 2,011,322
Vehicles and Heavy Equipment 4,486,928 368,104 51,571 4,803,461
Streets, Sidewalks and Alleys 21,437,225 2,514,293 -       23,951,518

48,790,539 3,267,591 66,856 51,991,274

Beginning
Balances
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS – Continued 
 
Governmental Activities – Continued 

 
Ending 

Increases Decreases Balances

Less Accumulated Depreciation
Parks and Improvements $ 5,297,626 426,279 -       5,723,905
Buildings 5,896,305 292,738 -       6,189,043
Equipment and Furniture 1,479,696 91,082 -       1,570,778
Vehicles and Heavy Equipment 2,614,498 288,200  15,285 2,887,413
Streets, Sidewalks and Alleys 8,688,316 706,555 34,743 9,360,128

23,976,441 1,804,854 50,028 25,731,267

Total Net Depreciable Capital Assets 24,814,098 1,462,737 16,828 26,260,007

Total Net Capital Assets 32,101,103 6,062,737 1,018,749 37,145,091

Beginning
Balances

 
Depreciation expense was charged to governmental activities as follows: 
 

General Government $ 1,015,709
Public Safety 243,295
Highways and Streets 81,574
Culture and Recreation 464,276
 
 1,804,854
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS – Continued 
 
Business-Type Activities 
 
Business-type capital asset activity for the year was as follows: 
 

Ending 
Increases Decreases Balances

Nondepreciable Capital Assets
Land $ 96,214 -       -       96,214
Construction in Progress 1,509,291 -       1,509,291 -       

1,605,505 -       1,509,291 96,214

Depreciable Capital Assets
Buildings and Structures 692,615  -       -       692,615
Waterworks System 17,765,072  1,509,291 -       19,274,363
Equipment and Vehicles 1,307,422 375,940 154,950 1,528,412

19,765,109 1,885,231 154,950 21,495,390

Less Accumulated Depreciation
Buildings and Structures 299,242 28,945 -       328,187
Waterworks System 8,593,996 586,738  -       9,180,734
Equipment and Vehicles 688,980 79,284 154,950 613,314

9,582,218 694,967 154,950 10,122,235

Total Net Depreciable Capital Assets 10,182,891 1,190,264 -       11,373,155

Total Net Capital Assets 11,788,396 1,190,264 1,509,291 11,469,369

Beginning
Balances

 
Depreciation expense was charged to the business-type activities as follows: 

 
Water and Sewer $ 694,967
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS 
 
Interfund Balances 
 
The composition of interfund balances as of the date of this report is as follows: 

 
Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

General Nonmajor Governmental $ 455,712
Police Pension General 92,621

548,333  
 
Interfund balances are advances in anticipation of receipts. 
 
Interfund Transfers 
 
Interfund transfers for the year consisted of the following: 
 

Transfer In Transfer Out Amount

General Northeast Industrial District $ 130,000 (1)
Tax Increment Financing

General Water and Sewer 200,000 (1)
Debt Service General 454,806 (2)
Debt Service Motor Fuel Tax 3,000 (2)
Debt Service Nonmajor Governmental 194,881 (2)

Nonmajor Governmental General 83,373 (3)

1,066,060  
 

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to 
the fund that statute or budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from 
the funds collecting the receipts to the debt service fund as debt service payments become due, and (3) 
use unrestricted revenues collected in the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in 
other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
Loans Payable 
 
Loans payable are utilized to acquire capital equipment.  Loans payable currently outstanding are as 
follows: 
 

Fund Ending
Issue Retired by Issuances Retirements Balances

Debt
Service $ 187,500 -     12,500 175,000

Debt
Service 386,840 -     386,840 -     

Debt
Service 33,332 -     33,332 -     

Debt
Service 804,040 -     197,881 606,159

Water
and Sewer 1,207,172 -     302,119 905,053

2,618,884 -     932,672 1,686,212

Beginning
Balances

Illinois Finance Authority Loan
Payable of 2009 due in annual
payments of $12,500, non-interest
bearing through May 9, 2029.

Oshkosh Capital Loan Payable of
2010 due in annual payments of
$75,193, including interest at 4.00%
through August 13, 2020.

Cook County Intergovernmental
Agreement of 2014 due in annual
payments of $500,000 to $511,212,
non- interest bearing through May 1,
2018.

Loan Payable of 2012 due in annual
payments of $34,431 to $36,627,
including interest at 3.25% through
July 20, 2015.

 
 
 
  



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
April 30, 2016  

 

 

39 

NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 
 
General Obligation Bonds 
 
The Village issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of 
major capital facilities. General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and 
credit of the Village. General obligation bonds currently outstanding are as follows: 

 
Fund

Retired Ending
Issue by Issuances Retirements Balances

Northeast
Industrial

District TIF $ 900,000 -     292,500 607,500
Debt

Service 300,000 -     97,500 202,500

Debt
Service 1,085,000 -     355,000 730,000

2,285,000 -     745,000 1,540,000

Beginning
Balances

General Obligation Refunding Bonds
of 2011A - Due in annual
installments of $365,000 to $410,000
plus interest at 2.00%, through
December 1, 2017.

General Obligation Refunding Bonds
of 2011B - Due in annual
installments of $325,000 to $370,000
plus interest at 2.00%, through
December 1, 2017.

 
Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA) Loans Payable 
 
The Village has entered into loan agreements with the IEPA to provide low interest financing for water 
and sewer improvements. IEPA loans currently outstanding are as follows: 
 

Fund
Retired Ending

Issue by Issuances Retirements Balances

Water
and 

Sewer $ 4,333,077 -     273,528 4,059,549

IEPA Water Pollution Control
Revolving Fund Loan Payable of
2008 due in semi-annual payments of
$87,660 to $187,731, plus interest at
2.5% through June 17, 2028.

Beginning
Balances
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 
 
Long-Term Liability Activity 
 
Changes in long-term liabilities during the fiscal year were as follows: 

 
Amounts

Ending Due within
Additions Deductions Balances One Year

Governmental Activities
Compensated Absences $ 754,406 210,133 210,881 753,658 150,732
Net Pension Liability - IMRF 1,225,185 997,615 -     2,222,800 -     
Net Pension Liability - Police 22,119,918 4,867,210 -     26,987,128 -     
Loans Payable 1,411,712 -     630,553 781,159 210,381
General Obligation Bonds Payable 2,285,000 -     745,000 1,540,000 760,000

27,796,221 6,074,958 1,586,434 32,284,745 1,121,113

Business-Type Activities
Compensated Absences 63,243 14,627 12,600 65,270 13,054
Net Pension Liability - IMRF 91,804 74,751 -     166,555 -     
Loans Payable 1,207,172 -     302,119 905,053 302,119
IEPA Loans Payable 4,333,077 -     273,528 4,059,549 280,409

5,695,296 89,378 588,247 5,196,427 595,582

Beginning
Balances

Type of Debt as Restated

 
 

For governmental activities, the General Fund makes payments on the compensated absences and the 
net pension liabilities. Payments on the loans payable are being made by the Debt Service Fund, Motor 
Fuel Tax Fund, and Transportation Improvement Fund. The Northeast Industrial District TIF and the 
Debt Service Funds make payments on the general obligation bonds payable.  
 
For business-type activities, the Water and Sewer Fund makes payments on the compensated absences, 
the net pension liability, the loans payable and the IEPA loans payable. 
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 
 
Debt Service Requirements to Maturity  
 
The annual debt service requirements to maturity, including principal and interest, are as follows: 

 

Loans
Fiscal Payable
Year Principal Interest Principal Principal Interest

   
2017 $ 210,381 760,000 30,800 302,119 280,409 99,747
2018 210,381 780,000 15,600 302,119 287,463 92,693
2019 222,897 -     -     300,815 294,695 85,461
2020 12,500 -     -     -     302,108 78,048
2021 12,500 -     -     -     309,708 70,448
2022 12,500 -     -     -     317,500 62,656
2023 12,500 -     -     -     325,486 54,670
2024 12,500 -     -     -     333,674 46,482
2025 12,500 -     -     -     342,068 38,088
2026 12,500 -     -     -     350,673 29,482
2027 12,500 -     -     -     359,495 20,661
2028 12,500 -     -     -     368,539 11,617
2029 12,500 -     -     -     187,731 2,347
2030 12,500 -     -     -     -     -     

781,159 1,540,000 46,400 905,053 4,059,549 692,400Totals 

Governmental Activities
Loans General Obligation IEPA Loans

Business-Type Activities

Principal
Payable Bonds Payable Payable
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT – Continued 
 
Legal Debt Margin 
 
Chapter 65, Section 5/8-5-1 of the Illinois Compiled Statutes provides, “…no municipality having a 
population of less than 500,000 shall become indebted in any manner or for any purpose, to an amount, 
including existing indebtedness in the aggregate exceeding 8.625% on the value of the taxable property 
therein, to be ascertained by the last assessment for state and county purposes, previous to the incurring 
of the indebtedness or, until January 1, 1983, if greater, the sum that is produced by multiplying the 
municipality’s 1978 equalized assessed valuation by the debt limitation percentage in effect on January 
1, 1979.” 
 

Assessed Valuation - 2015 $ 566,183,876 

Legal Debt Limit - 8.625% of Assessed Value 48,833,359   

Amount of Debt Applicable to Limit (1,540,000)    

Legal Debt Margin 47,293,359   
 

 
NET POSITION/FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS 
 
Net Position Restatements 
 
Net position was restated due to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68. The following is a 
summary of the net position as originally reported and as restated: 

 
Net Position As Restated (Decrease)

Governmental Activities $ 51,007,020 29,667,391 (21,339,629)

Business-Type Activities/Water and Sewer 8,532,771 8,471,510 (61,261)

As Reported
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
NET POSITION/FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS – Continued 
 
Fund Balance Classifications 
 
In the governmental funds financial statements, the Village considers restricted amounts to have been 
spent when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund 
balance is available. The Village first utilizes committed, then assigned and then unassigned fund 
balance when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which all three unrestricted fund balances are 
available. 
 
Minimum Fund Balance Policy. The Villages policy manual states that the General Fund should 
maintain a minimum unrestricted fund balance equal 25 to 35 percent of actual revenues. Fund balances 
in excess of said levels may be used for the purchase of new or replacement capital equipment. 

 
Special

Revenue
Northeast
Industrial

District Tax
Increment Motor Debt
Financing Fuel Tax Service Nonmajor Totals

Fund Balances
Nonspendable

Notes Receivable $ 110,000 -      -      -      -      110,000
Prepaids 482 -      -      -      -      482

110,482 -      -      -      -      110,482

Restricted
Economic Development -      6,490,549 -      -      -      6,490,549
Debt Service -      -      -      9,729 -      9,729
Street and Streetlight 

Maintenance and Replacement -      -      3,969,762 -      -      3,969,762
Transportation Improvements -      -      -      -      458,445 458,445
Police Dispatch -      -      -      -      2,149 2,149
Capital Projects -      -      -      -      8,440 8,440

-      6,490,549 3,969,762 9,729 469,034 10,939,074

Unassigned 11,113,026 -      -      -      (310,218) 10,802,808

Total Fund Balances 11,223,508 6,490,549 3,969,762 9,729 158,816 21,852,364

General
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NOTE 3 – DETAIL NOTES ON ALL FUNDS – Continued 
 
NET POSITION/FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS – Continued 
 
Net Position Classifications 
 
Net investment in capital assets was comprised of the following as of April 30, 2016: 
 

Governmental Activities
Capital Assets - Net of Accumulated Depreciation $ 37,145,091

Less Capital Related Debt:
Illinois Finance Authority Loan Payable of 2009 (175,000)
Cook County Intergovernmental Agreement of 2014 (606,159)
General Obligation Refunding Bonds of 2011A (810,000)
General Obligation Refunding Bonds of 2011B (730,000)

Net Investment in Capital Assets 34,823,932

Business-Type Activities
Capital Assets - Net of Accumulated Depreciation 11,469,369

Less Capital Related Debt:
Cook County Intergovernmental Agreement of 2014 (905,053)
IEPA Loan Payable of 2008 (4,059,549)

Net Investment in Capital Assets 6,504,767
 

 
NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION  
 
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  
 
Litigation 
 
The Village is a defendant in various lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not presently 
determinable, in the opinion of the Village’s attorney, the resolution of these matters will not have a 
material, adverse effect on the financial condition of the Village. 
 
Grants 
 
Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor 
agencies, principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already 
collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures which 
may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time although the Village expects such 
amounts, if any, to be immaterial.  
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES – Continued  
 
Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County (SWANCC) 
 
The City’s contract with the Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County (SWANCC) provides that 
each member is liable for its proportionate share of any costs arising from defaults in payment 
obligations by other members. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
The Village is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; natural disasters; and injuries to the Village’s employees. These risks are 
provided for through participation in the public entity risk pool Intergovernmental Risk Management 
Agency (IRMA). Settled claims from these risks have not exceeded the pool’s limit of coverage in any 
year since the Village became a member in 1989. The Village retains the risk on the first $10,000 loss 
per occurrence, and also for losses above the pool’s $10,000,000 coverage limit. At fiscal year end, the 
Village determined there were no probable unpaid claims for which it retained risk, and, as such, did 
not record a claims liability. 
 
Intergovernmental Risk Management Agency (IRMA) 
 
The Village participates in the Intergovernmental Risk Management Agency (IRMA). IRMA is an 
organization of municipalities and special districts in Northeastern Illinois which have formed an 
association under the Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperation’s Statute to pool its risk management 
needs. The agency administers a mix of self-insurance and commercial insurance coverages; 
property/casualty and workers’ compensation claim administration/litigation management services; 
unemployment claim administration; extensive risk management/loss control consulting and training 
programs; and a risk information system and financial reporting service for its members. 
 
The Village’s payments to IRMA are displayed on the financial statements as expenses in the Liability 
Insurance Fund. Each member assumes the first $10,000 of each occurrence, and IRMA has a mix of 
self-insurance and commercial insurance at various amounts about that level. Each member appoints 
one delegate, along with an alternate delegate, to represent the member on the Board of Directors. The 
Village does not exercise any control over the activities of the Agency beyond its representation on the 
Board of Directors. 
 
Initial contributions are determined each year based on the individual member’s eligible revenue as 
defined in the by-laws of IRMA and experience modification factors based on past member loss 
experience. Members have a contractual obligation to fund any deficit of IRMA attributable to a 
membership year during which they were a member. Supplemental contributions may be required to 
fund these deficits. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT – Continued  
 
North Suburban Employee’s Benefit Cooperative 
 
The Village participates in the North Suburban Employee’s Benefit Cooperative (NSEBC), an agency 
of municipalities created to finance and administer health and life insurance benefits for its members. 
Each municipality appoints one representative to serve on the Board of Directors. The Board 
determines the general government policies which include approval of the annual budget. 

 
COMMITMENTS 
 
Intergovernmental Agreement 
 
Under an Intergovernmental Agreement entered into in September of 1997, the Village agreed to provide 
a development benefit from the Northeast Industrial TIF District to the Lincolnwood Elementary School 
District #74. The benefit paid is attributable to any revenues received by the Village for any new 
development occurring within the Northeast Industrial TIF District.  The payment is made each year until 
the TIF District closes and there is no limit to the amount paid to the School District.  The Village paid the 
School District $37,464 in the current fiscal year. The payment has been recorded as an expenditure of the 
General Fund.  
 
Sales Tax Incentive Agreements 
 
The Village has an agreement with an automobile dealership based upon sales tax revenue generated 
and paid by this dealership during the calendar year. The Village will remit 50% of sales tax revenue, 
not to exceed the maximum incentive amount of $5,000,000, for no greater than fifteen years paid by 
this dealership. For the year ended April 30, 2016, the Village collected and will rebate $128,957 of 
sales tax revenue to this dealership. Cumulative payments through April 30, 2016 are $722,445. 
 
The Village has an agreement with an automobile dealership based upon sales tax revenue generated 
and paid by this dealership during the calendar year. The Village will remit 50% of sales tax revenue, 
not to exceed the maximum incentive amount of $1,200,000, for no greater than twenty years paid by 
this dealership. For the year ended April 30, 2016, the Village collected and will rebate $35,943 of sales 
tax revenue to this dealership. Cumulative payments through April 30, 2016 are $214,984. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
JOINT VENTURES  
 
Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County (SWANCC)  
 
The Village is a member of the Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County (SWANCC), which 
consists of twenty-three municipalities. SWANCC is a municipal joint action agency, established 
pursuant to the Constitution of the State of Illinois and the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act of the 
State of Illinois, as amended (the Act). SWANCC is empowered under the Act to plan, construct, 
finance, operate, and maintain a solid waste disposal system to serve its members. SWANCC is 
reported as a nonequity proprietary joint venture. 
 
The twenty-three members of SWANCC and their percentage shares as of April 30, 2015 are as 
follows: 
 

Village of Arlington Heights 9.84      %
Village of Barrington 1.37      
Village of Buffalo Grove 6.58      
Village of Elk Grove Village 5.15      
City of Evanston 6.34      
Village of Glencoe 1.30      
Village of Glenview 4.53      
Village of Hoffman Estates 5.48      
Village of Inverness 1.11      
Village of Kenilworth 0.87      
Village of Lincolnwood 1.97      
Village of Morton Grove 3.28      
Village of Mount Prospect 9.04      
Village of Niles 3.31      
Village of Palatine 10.26    
City of Park Ridge 5.19      
City of Prospect Heights 2.94      
City of Rolling Meadows 3.52      
Village of Skokie 7.21      
Village of South Barrington 0.72      
Village of Wheeling 3.53      
Village of Wilmette 3.62      
Village of Winnetka 2.84      

100.00  %

Percent
Share
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  
 
JOINT VENTURES – Continued 
 
Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County (SWANCC) – Continued 
 
These percentage shares are subject to change in future years based on the population of the 
municipalities. The members form a contiguous geographic service area, which is located northwest of 
downtown Chicago. 
 
SWANCC is governed by a Board of Directors, which consists of one appointed Mayor or President 
from each member municipality. Each Director has an equal vote. The officers of SWANCC are 
appointed by the Board of Directors. 
 
The Board of Directors determines the general policy of SWANCC, makes all appropriations, approves 
contracts, adopts resolutions providing for the issuance of bonds or notes by SWANCC, adopts by-
laws, rules and regulations, and exercises such powers and performs such duties as may be prescribed 
in the Agency Agreement or the by-laws. 
 
Summary of financial positions as of April 30, 2015: 
 

Current Assets $ 3,745,840 Current Liabilities $ 3,684,511

Capital Assets 9,694,317 Deferred Inflows 171,429

Total Assets 13,440,157 Total Liabilities and Deferred
Inflows of Resources 3,855,940

Net Position 9,584,217
 

 
Summary of revenues, expenses and changes in net position for the year ended April 30, 2015: 
 

Operating Revenues $ 14,294,118

Operating Expenses 14,279,224

Change in Net Position 14,894

Net Position - Beginning 9,569,323

Net Position - Ending 9,584,217
 

 
Complete financial statements for SWANCC can be obtained from the Agency’s administrative office 
at 77 West Hintz Road, Suite 200, Wheeling, Illinois 60090. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  
 

JOINT VENTURES – Continued 
 
Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County (SWANCC) – Continued 
 
SWANCC’s bonds are revenue obligations. They are limited obligations of SWANCC, with a claim for 
payment solely from and secured by a pledge of the revenues of the system, and amounts in various 
funds and accounts established by SWANCC resolutions. SWANCC has no power to levy taxes. 
 
Revenues of the system consist of: (a) all receipts derived from Solid Waste Disposal Contracts or any 
other contracts for the disposal of waste; (b) all income derived from the investment of monies; and (c) 
all income, fees, service charges, and all grants, rents, and receipts derived by SWANCC from the 
ownership and operation of the system. SWANCC covenants to establish fees and charges sufficient to 
provide revenues to meet all its requirements. 
 
SWANCC has entered into Solid Waste Disposal Contracts with the member municipalities. The 
Contracts are irrevocable, and may not be terminated or amended, except as provided in the Contract. 
Each member is obligated, on a “take or pay” basis, to purchase or in any event to pay for a minimum 
annual cost of the system. 
 
The obligation of the Village to make all payments as required by this Contract is unconditional and 
irrevocable, without regard to performance or nonperformance by SWANCC of its obligations under 
this Contract. 
 
The payments required to be made by the Village under this Contract are required to be made solely 
from revenues to be derived by the Village from the operation of the Solid Waste Disposal System. The 
Village is not prohibited by the Contract from using any other funds to make the payments required by 
the Contract. The Contract shall not constitute an indebtedness of the Village within the meaning of any 
statutory or constitutional limitation. 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS 
 
The Village contributes to three defined benefit pension plans, the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund 
(IMRF), and the Sheriff’s Law Enforcement Program (SLEP), which are both defined benefit agent 
multiple-employer public employee retirement systems administered by the IMRF; and the Police 
Pension Plan, which is a single-employer, pension plan. A copy of the Police Pension Plan report may 
be obtained by writing to the Village at 6900 North Lincoln Avenue, Lincolnwood, Illinois 60712. 
IMRF and SLEP issue a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and 
required supplementary information for the plan as a whole, but not by individual employer. That report 
may be obtained online at www.imrf.org. The benefits, benefit levels, employee contributions and 
employer contributions are governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes (ILCS) and can only be amended by 
the Illinois General Assembly. 
  

http://www.imrf.org/


VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
April 30, 2016  

 

 

50 

NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) 
 
Plan Descriptions 
 
Plan Administration. All employees (other than those covered by the Police Pension Plan) hired in 
positions that meet or exceed the prescribed annual hourly standard must be enrolled in IMRF as 
participating members. The plan is accounted for on the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting. Employer and employee contributions are recognized when earned in the 
year that the contributions are required, benefits and refunds are recognized as an expense and liability 
when due and payable.   
 
Benefits Provided. IMRF has three benefit plans. The vast majority of IMRF members participate in the 
Regular Plan (RP). The Sheriff’s Law Enforcement Personnel (SLEP) plan is for sheriffs, deputy sheriffs, 
and selected police chiefs. Counties could adopt the Elected County Official (ECO) plan for officials 
elected prior to August 8, 2011 (the ECO plan was closed to new participants after that date). 
 
IMRF provides two tiers of pension benefits. Employees hired before January 1, 2011, are eligible for 
Tier 1 benefits. Tier 1 employees are vested for pension benefits when they have at least eight years of 
qualifying service credit. Tier 1 employees who retire at age 55 (at reduced benefits) or after age 60 
(at full benefits) with eight years of service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable 
monthly for life, in an amount equal to 1-2/3% of the final rate of earnings for the first 15 years of 
service credit, plus 2% for each year of service credit after 15 years to a maximum of 75% of their 
final rate of earnings. Final rate of earnings is the highest total earnings during any consecutive 48 
months within the last 10 years of service, divided by 48. Under Tier 1, the pension is increased by 3% 
of the original amount on January 1 every year after retirement. 
 
Benefits Provided – Continued. Employees hired on or after January 1, 2011, are eligible for Tier 2 
benefits. For Tier 2 employees, pension benefits vest after ten years of service. Participating 
employees who retire at age 62 (at reduced benefits) or after age 67 (at full benefits) with ten years 
of service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life, in an amount 
equal to 1-2/3% of the final rate of earnings for the first 15 years of service credit, plus 2% for each 
year of service credit after 15 years to a maximum of 75% of their final rate of earnings. Final rate of 
earnings is the highest total earnings during any 96 consecutive months within the last 10 years of 
service, divided by 96. Under Tier 2, the pension is increased on January 1 every year after retirement, 
upon reaching age 67, by the lesser of: 
 

 3% of the original pension amount, or  
 

 1/2 of the increase in the Consumer Price Index of the original pension amount.  
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued 
 
Plan Descriptions 
 
Plan Membership. As of December 31, 2015, the measurement date, the following employees were 
covered by the benefit terms: 
 

Inactive Plan Members Currently Receiving Benefits 56
Inactive Plan Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 61
Active Plan Members 63

Total 180
 

 
Contributions. As set by statute, the Village’s Regular Plan Members are required to contribute 4.50% 
of their annual covered salary. The statute requires employers to contribute the amount necessary, in 
addition to member contributions, to finance the retirement coverage of its own employees. The 
Village’s annual contribution rate for calendar year 2015 was 11.06% of covered payroll.  
 
Net Pension Liability. The Village’s net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2015. The 
total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of that date. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed, 
as of December 31, 2015, using the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 
 

Actuarial Valuation Date 12/31/2015

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age
Normal

Asset Valuation Method Market

Actuarial Assumptions
Interest Rate 7.49%

Salary Increases 3.75% to 14.50%

Cost of Living Adjustments 2.75%

Inflation 2.75%  
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued  
 
Plan Descriptions – Continued 
 
For nondisabled retirees, an IMRF specific mortality table was used with fully generational projection 
scale MP-2014 (base year 2014). IMRF specific rates were developed from the RP-2014 Blue Collar 
Health Annuitant Mortality Table with adjustments to match current IMRF experience. For disabled 
retirees, an IMRF specific mortality tables was used with fully generational projection scale MP-2014 
(base year 2014). IMRF specific rates were developed from the RP-2014 Disabled Retirees Mortality 
Table applying the same adjustment that were applied for nondisabled lives. For active members, an 
IMRF specific mortality table was used with fully generational projection scale MP-2014 (base year 
2014). IMRF specific rates were developed from the RP-2014 Employee Mortality Table with 
adjustments to match current IMRF experience.  
 
Discount Rate 
 
A Single Discount Rate of 7.49% was used to measure the total pension liability. The projection of 
cash flow used to determine this Single Discount Rate assumed that the plan members’ contributions 
will be made at the current contribution rate, and that employer contributions will be made at rates 
equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. The 
Single Discount Rate reflects: 
 

1. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments (during the period in 
which the fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay benefits), and  
 

2. The tax-exempt municipal bond rate based on an index of 20-year general obligation bonds 
with an average AA credit rating (which is published by the Federal Reserve) as of the 
measurement date (to the extent that the contributions for use with the long-term expected 
rate of return are not met).  

 
For the purpose of the most recent valuation, the expected rate of return on plan investments is 
7.50%, the municipal bond rate is 3.57%, and the resulting single discount rate is 7.49%. 
 
Discount Rate Sensitivity 
 
The following presents the plan’s net pension liability, calculated using a Single Discount Rate of 
7.47%, as well as what the plan’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a Single 
Discount Rate that is 1% lower or 1% higher: 
 

Current 
 Discount Rate 1% Increase

(7.49%) (8.49%)

Net Pension Liability (Asset) $ 5,569,737 2,389,355 (164,137)

1% Decrease
(6.49%)
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued 
 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability 
 

Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Net Position Liability

  (B)    (A) - (B)  

Balances at December 31, 2014 $ 21,877,872 20,560,883 1,316,989

Changes for the Year:
Service Cost 415,872 -     415,872
Interest on the Total Pension Liability 1,616,496 -     1,616,496
Difference Between Expected and Actual
    Experience of the Total Pension Liability (65,350) -     (65,350)
Changes of Assumptions 29,098 -     29,098
Contributions - Employer -     438,149 (438,149)
Contributions - Employees -     204,467 (204,467)
Net Investment Income -     101,748 (101,748)
Benefit Payments, including Refunds
    of Employee Contributions (1,065,044) (1,065,044) -     
Other (Net Transfer) -     179,386 (179,386)

Net Changes 931,072 (141,294) 1,072,366

Balances at December 31, 2015 22,808,944 20,419,589 2,389,355

  (A)  

Pension
Liability

Total
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) – Continued 
 
Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions  
 
For the year ended April 30, 2016, the Village recognized pension expense of $239,770. At April 30, 
2016, the Village reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources Totals

Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience $ -     (49,277) (49,277)

Change in Assumptions 21,941 -     21,941

Net Difference Between Projected and Actual
    Earnings on Pension Plan Investments 1,144,963 -     1,144,963

Pension Contributions Made Subsequent
    to the Measurement Date 153,118 -     153,118

Total Deferred Amounts Related to IMRF 1,320,022 (49,277) 1,270,745

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

 
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense in future periods as follows: 
 

Net Deferred
Fiscal Outflows
Year of Resources  

2017 $ 430,443
2018 277,325
2019 277,325
2020 285,652
2021 -     

Thereafter -     

Total 1,270,745
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued  
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Police Pension Plan  
 
Plan Descriptions  
 
Plan Administration. The Police Pension Plan is a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that 
covers all sworn police personnel. The defined benefits and employee and minimum employer 
contribution levels are governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes (40 ILCS 5/3-1) and may be amended 
only by the Illinois legislature. The Village accounts for the Fund as a pension trust fund. The Fund is 
governed by a five-member pension board. Two members of the Board are appointed by the Village 
President, one member is elected by pension beneficiaries and two members are elected by active police 
employees.  
 
Plan Membership. At April 30, 2016, the measurement date, membership consisted of the following: 
 

Inactive Plan Members Currently Receiving Benefits 36
Inactive Plan Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits -   
Active Plan Members 32

Total 68
 

 
Benefits Provided. The following is a summary of the Police Pension Plan as provided for in Illinois 
State Statutes. 
 
The Police Pension Plan provides retirement benefits through two tiers of benefits as well as death and 
disability benefits. Covered employees hired before January 1, 2011 (Tier 1), attaining the age of 50 or 
older with 20 or more years of creditable service are entitled to receive an annual retirement benefit of 
½ of the salary attached to the rank held on the last day of service, or for one year prior to the last day, 
whichever is greater. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.5 percent of such salary for each 
additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years, to a maximum of 75 percent of such salary. 
Employees with at least eight years but less than 20 years of credited service may retire at or after age 
60 and receive a reduced benefit. The monthly benefit of a police officer who retired with 20 or more 
years of service after January 1, 1977 shall be increased annually, following the first anniversary date of 
retirement and be paid upon reaching the age of at least 55 years, by 3 percent of the original pension 
and 3 percent compounded annually thereafter. 
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Police Pension Plan – Continued  
 
Plan Descriptions – Continued 
 
Benefits Provided – Continued. Covered employees hired on or after January 1, 2011 (Tier 2), attaining 
the age of 55 or older with 10 or more years of creditable service are entitled to receive an annual 
retirement benefit equal to the average monthly salary obtained by dividing the total salary of the police 
officer during the 96 consecutive months of service within the last 120 months of service in which the 
total salary was the highest by the number of months of service in that period. Police officer salary for 
the pension purposes is capped at $106,800, plus the lesser of ½ of the annual change in the Consumer 
Price Index or 3 percent compounded. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.5 percent of such a 
salary for each additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years to a maximum of 75 percent of 
such salary. Employees with at least 10 years may retire at or after age 50 and receive a reduced benefit 
(i.e., ½ percent for each month under 55). The monthly benefit of a Tier 2 police officer shall be 
increased annually at age 60 on the January 1st after the police office retires, or the first anniversary of 
the pension starting date, whichever is later. Noncompounding increases occur annually, each January 
thereafter. The increase is the lesser of 3 percent of ½ of the change in the Consumer Price Index for the 
proceeding calendar year.   
 
Contributions. Covered employees are required to contribute 9.91% of their base salary to the Police 
Pension Plan. If an employee leaves covered employment with less than 20 years of service, accumulated 
employee contributions may be refunded without accumulated interest. The Village is required to 
contribute the remaining amounts necessary to finance the plan and the administrative costs as actuarially 
determined by an enrolled actuary. However, effective January 1, 2011, ILCS requires the Village to 
contribute a minimum amount annually calculated using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method 
that will result in the funding of 90% of the past service cost by the year 2040. For the year-ended April 
30, 2016, the Village’s contribution was 60.98% of covered payroll. 
 
Concentrations. At year end, the Pension Plan has investments (other than U.S. Government and U.S. 
Government-guaranteed obligations) in any one organization that represent 5 percent or more of net 
position available for benefits as follows: 
 

Investment

Investment Co. America $ 2,045,218
Vanguard Total Stock 2,451,951

Vanguard Dividend Growth Fund IV 1,014,708

Amount

 
  



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
April 30, 2016  

 

 

57 

NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Police Pension Plan – Continued  
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed, as of April 30, 2016, 
using the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 
 

Actuarial Valuation Date 4/30/16

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age
Normal

Asset Valuation Method Market

Actuarial Assumptions
Interest Rate 7.00%

Salary Increases 5.50%

Cost of Living Adjustments 2.50%

Inflation 2.50%  
 
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Table (BCHA) projected to 2016 using 
improvement scale MP-2015. The other non-economic actuarial assumptions used in the April 30, 2016 
valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study conducted by the Illinois Department 
of Insurance dated September 26, 2012. 
 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%, the same as the prior valuation. 
The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions 
will be made at the current contribution rate and that Village contributions will be made at rates equal 
to the difference between the actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on 
those assumptions, the Fund’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all project 
future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was applied to all period of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability.  
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Police Pension Plan – Continued  
 
Discount Rate Sensitivity 
 
The following is a sensitive analysis of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The 
table below presents the pension liability of the Village calculated using the discount rate as well as 
what the Village’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one 
percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate:  
 

Current 
 Discount Rate 1% Increase

(7.00%) (8.00%)

Net Pension Liability $ 32,549,383 26,987,128 22,358,694

1% Decrease
(6.00%)

 
 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability 
 

Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Net Position Liability

  (B)    (A) - (B)  

Balances at April 30, 2015 $ 41,065,855 18,945,937 22,119,918

Changes for the Year:
Service Cost 604,414 -     604,414
Interest on the Total Pension Liability 2,797,155 -     2,797,155
Difference Between Expected and Actual
    Experience of the Total Pension Liability (246,911) -     (246,911)
Changes of Assumptions 3,758,373 -     3,758,373
Contributions - Employer -     1,663,647 (1,663,647)
Contributions - Employees -     368,810 (368,810)
Net Investment Income -     37,214 (37,214)
Benefit Payments, including Refunds
    of Employee Contributions (2,213,010) (2,213,010) -     
Other (Net Transfer) -     (23,850) 23,850

Net Changes 4,700,021 (167,189) 4,867,210

Balances at April 30, 2016 45,765,876 18,778,748 26,987,128

  (A)  

Pension
Liability

Total
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS – Continued  
 
Police Pension Plan – Continued  
 
Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions  
 
For the year ended April 30, 2016, the Village recognized pension expense of $2,739,265. At April 
30, 2016, the Village reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources Totals

Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience $ -     (194,442) (194,442)

Change in Assumptions 2,959,718 -     2,959,718

Net Difference Between Projected and Actual
    Earnings on Pension Plan Investments 1,026,318 -     1,026,318

Total Deferred Amounts Related to Police Pension 3,986,036 (194,442) 3,791,594

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

 
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense in future periods as follows: 
 

Net Deferred
Fiscal Outflows
Year of Resources  

2017 $ 1,002,766
2018 1,002,766
2019 1,002,766
2020 783,296
2021 -     

Thereafter -     

Total 3,791,594
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NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION – Continued 
 
OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
The Village has evaluated its potential other post-employment benefits liability.  Former employees 
who choose to retain their rights to health insurance through the Village are required to pay 100% of the 
current premium. As the implicit cost of this retirees paying 100% of the premium is immaterial, there 
is no implicit subsidy to calculate in accordance with GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting by Employers for Post-Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions.  Therefore, the 
Village has not recorded any post-employment benefit liability as of April 30, 2016.   
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Notes to the Required Supplementary Information

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Required supplementary information includes financial information and disclosures that are required by
the GASB but are not considered a part of the basic financial statements. Such information includes:

Budgetary Information – Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting
principles.



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Employer Contributions
April 30, 2016

Calendar
Year

2015 $ 426,544        $ 438,149        $ 11,605 $ 3,960,480 11.06%

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information:

Actuarial Valuation Date December 31, 2015
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method Level % Pay (Closed)
Remaining Amortization Period 28 Years
Asset Valuation Method 5-Year Smoothed Market
Inflation 3.00%
Salary Increases 4.40% - 16.00%
Investment Rate of Return 7.50%
Retirement Age See the Notes to the Financial Statements
Mortality RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table

Note:
This schedule is intended to show information for ten years and additional year's information will be displayed 
as it becomes available.

Payroll Payroll
Determined Determined Excess/
Contribution Contribution (Deficiency)

Contributions as
Covered- a Percentage of
Employee Covered-Employee

Contributions
in Relation to

Actuarially the Actuarially Contribution 
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Police Pension Fund

Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Employer Contributions
April 30, 2016

Fiscal 
Year

2015 $ 1,180,180     $ 1,402,000     $ 221,820 $ 2,549,041 55.00%
2016 1,449,717     1,663,647     213,930 2,728,347 60.98%

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information:

Actuarial Valuation Date April 30, 2016
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method Level % Pay (Closed)
Remaining Amortization Period 25 Years
Asset Valuation Method Market Value
Inflation 2.50%
Salary Increases 5.00% 
Investment Rate of Return 7.00%
Retirement Age See the Notes to the Financial Statements
Mortality RP 2014 projected to 2016

Note:

Payroll Payroll

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years and additional year's information will be displayed 
as it becomes available.

Contributions
in Relation to

Actuarially the Actuarially Contribution 
Contributions as

Covered- a Percentage of
Employee Covered-EmployeeDetermined Determined Excess/

Contribution Contribution (Deficiency)
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Changes in the Employer's Net Pension Liability 
April 30, 2016

Total Pension Liability
Service Cost $ 415,872        
Interest 1,616,496     
Changes in Benefit Terms -                
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience (65,350)         
Change of Assumptions 29,098          
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions (1,065,044)    

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 931,072        
Total Pension Liability - Beginning 21,877,872   

Total Pension Liability - Ending 22,808,944   

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - Employer $ 438,149        
Contributions - Members 204,467        
Net Investment Income 101,748        
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions (1,065,044)    
Other (Net Transfer) 179,386        

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position (141,294)       
Plan Net Position - Beginning 20,560,883   

Plan Net Position - Ending 20,419,589   

Employer's Net Pension Liability $ 2,389,355     

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 89.52%

Covered-Employee Payroll $ 3,960,480     

Employer's Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered-Employee Payroll 60.33%

Note:

2015
December 31,

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years and additional year's information will be displayed
as it becomes available.
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Police Pension Fund

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Changes in the Employer's Net Pension Liability 
April 30, 2016

Total Pension Liability
Service Cost $ 607,303        604,414        
Interest 2,479,621     2,797,155     
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 715,929        (246,911)       
Change of Assumptions 2,821,996     3,758,373     
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions (1,964,302)    (2,213,010)    

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 4,660,547     4,700,021     
Total Pension Liability - Beginning 36,405,308   41,065,855   

Total Pension Liability - Ending 41,065,855   45,765,876   

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - Employer 1,402,000     1,663,647     
Contributions - Members 327,215        368,810        
Net Investment Income 975,130        37,214          
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions (1,964,302)    (2,213,010)    
Administrative Expense (13,796)         (23,850)         

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 726,247        (167,189)       
Plan Net Position - Beginning 18,219,690   18,945,937   

Plan Net Position - Ending 18,945,937   18,778,748   

Employer's Net Pension Liability 22,119,918   26,987,128   

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 46.14% 41.03%

Covered-Employee Payroll $ 2,549,041     2,728,347     

Employer's Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of 
Covered-Employee Payroll 867.77% 989.14%

Note:

2015 2016

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years and additional year's information will be displayed
as it becomes available.
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Police Pension Fund

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Investment Returns
April 30, 2016

Annual Money-
Weighted Rate
of Return, Net

Fiscal of Investment
Year Expense

2015 5.39%
2016 0.73%

Note:
This schedule is intended to show information for ten years and additional year's information will be displayed
as it becomes available.
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes $ 7,866,000 7,866,000 7,829,696
Charges for Services 1,928,567 1,928,567 1,968,852
Licenses and Permits 1,338,171 1,338,171 1,072,394
Intergovernmental 8,784,300 8,784,300 8,562,011
Fines and Forfeitures 338,400 338,400 291,189
Investment Income 143,000 143,000 204,781
Miscellaneous 395,237 395,237 326,367

Total Revenues 20,793,675 20,793,675  20,255,290

Expenditures
Current

General Government 3,492,365 3,492,365 3,366,502
Public Safety 9,939,845 9,939,845 9,767,597
Highways and Streets 1,299,510 1,299,510 1,336,261
Sanitation 1,097,775 1,097,775 1,000,930
Economic Development 1,381,249 1,381,249 950,667
Culture and Recreation 2,343,830 2,343,830 2,195,582

Capital Outlay 850,115 850,115 988,834
Total Expenditures 20,404,689 20,404,689 19,606,373

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 388,986 388,986 648,917

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 330,000 330,000 330,000
Transfers Out (992,225) (992,225) (538,179)

(662,225) (662,225) (208,179)

Net Change in Fund Balance (273,239) (273,239) 440,738

Fund Balance - Beginning 10,782,770

Fund Balance - Ending 11,223,508

Original
Budget
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Northeast Industrial District Tax Increment Financing - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes

Local Taxes $ 1,000,000 1,000,000 841,202
Intergovernmental

Grants 3,220,000 3,220,000 3,680,000
Interest 11,000 11,000 17,367

Total Revenues 4,231,000 4,231,000 4,538,569

Expenditures
Current

General Government 296,500 296,500 91,875
Capital Outlay 4,325,000 4,325,000 4,638,345
Debt Service

Principal Retirement 292,500 292,500 292,500
Interest and Fiscal Charges 18,375 18,375 18,375

Total Expenditures 4,932,375 4,932,375 5,041,095

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (701,375) (701,375) (502,526)

Other Financing (Uses)
Transfers Out (3,035,000) (3,035,000) (130,000)

Net Change in Fund Balance (3,736,375) (3,736,375) (632,526)

Fund Balance - Beginning 7,123,075

Fund Balance - Ending 6,490,549

Original
Budget
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Motor Fuel Tax - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016
 

Final Actual

Revenues
Intergovernmental

Motor Fuel Tax Allotments $ 300,000 300,000 322,038
Grants -      -      37,336

Interest 1,100 1,100 4,128
Total Revenues 301,100 301,100 363,502

Expenditures
Highways and Streets 130,500 130,500 64,241

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 170,600 170,600 299,261

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers Out -      -      (3,000)

Net Change in Fund Balance 170,600 170,600 296,261

Fund Balance - Beginning 3,673,501

Fund Balance - Ending 3,969,762

Original
Budget
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Such statements and schedules include: 

• Budgetary Comparison Schedules – Major Governmental Funds 
General Fund
Debt Service Fund

• Combining Statements – Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
Combining Balance Sheet
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

• Budgetary Comparison Schedules – Nonmajor Governmental Funds
E-911 – Special Revenue Fund
Touhy/Lawndale Tax Increment Financing – Special Revenue Fund
Transportation Improvement – Special Revenue Fund
Lincoln/Touhy Tax Increment Financing – Special Revenue Fund
Devon/Lincoln Tax Increment Financing – Special Revenue Fund
Comm Ed ROW Bike Path – Capital Projects Fund
PEP – Capital Projects Fund
Private Water Line Assistance – Capital Projects Fund

• Budgetary Comparison Schedule – Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer Fund

• Budgetary Comparison Schedule – Fiduciary Fund
Police Pension – Pension Trust Fund

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Other supplementary information includes financial statements and schedules not required by the
GASB, nor a part of the basic financial statements, but are presented for purposes of additional
analysis.



Special Revenue Funds are created to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than
fiduciary funds or capital project funds) that are legally restricted to expenditure for specified purposes.

COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

GENERAL FUND

The General Fund accounts for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in
another fund.

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Northeast Industrial District Tax Increment Financing Fund

The Northeast Industrial District Tax Increment Financing Fund is used to account for resources
(restricted real estate taxes) received and expenditures made to promote the objectives of the TIF
District.

Motor Fuel Tax Fund

The Motor Fuel Tax Fund is used to account for resources to maintain traffic signal lighting in the
Village and for services performed by the Village for upkeep of IDOT street within the Village limits.

E-911 Fund

The E-911 Fund is used to account for resources for the emergency communications operation that
receives calls from the public for emergency service requests.

The Transportation Improvement Fund is used to account for resources to improve the transportation
systems in the Village.

Lincoln/Touhy Tax Increment Financing Fund

The Lincoln/Touhy Tax Increment Financing Fund is used to account for resources generated from the
properties within the Lincoln/Touhy Tax Increment Financing District.

Touhy/Lawndale Tax Increment Financing Fund

The Touhy/Lawndale Tax Increment Financing Fund is used to account for resources generated from
the properties within the Touhy/Lawndale Tax Increment Financing District. This fund was closed for
the year ended April 30, 2016.

Transportation Improvement Fund



The Devon/Lincoln Tax Increment Financing Fund is used to account for resources generated from the
properties within the Devon/Lincoln Tax Increment Financing District. The Devon/Lincoln Tax
Increment Financing District was established on June 24, 2014.

Debt Service Funds are created to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of,
general long-term debt principal and interest.

Private Water Line Assistance Fund

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

Capital Projects Funds are created to account for all resources used for the acquisition of capital
facilities by a governmental unit except those financed by Proprietary Funds.

Comm Ed ROW Bike Path Fund

The Comm Ed ROW Bike Path Fund is used to account for a grant and other sources to construct a bike 
path in the utility right-of-way.

PEP Fund

DEBT SERVICE FUND

Devon/Lincoln Tax Increment Financing Fund

COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS – Continued

The PEP Fund is used to account for resources to provide business owners to make improvements to
their buildings exterior and other property enhancements that will improve the appearance of a business
district.

The Private Water Line Assistance Fund is used to assist Village residents in replacing their private
sewer lines due to damage caused by Village trees located in homeowners’ parkways. 



ENTERPRISE FUND

Water and Sewer Fund

COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

The Police Pension Fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources to be used for retirement
annuity payments to employees on the police force at appropriate amounts and times in the future.
Resources are contributed by employees at rates fixed by law and by the Village at amounts determined
by an annual actuarial study.

Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar
to private business enterprises where the intent is that costs of providing goods or services to the
general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or where
it has been decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred and/or net
income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability or
other purpose. The Village’s enterprise fund is a non-major fund.

The Water and Sewer Fund is used to account for resources to maintain the Village’s water distribution
system and combined storm/sanitary sewer system.

TRUST FUND

PENSION TRUST FUND

Police Pension Fund



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016
 

Final Actual

Taxes
Property Taxes $ 5,498,000 5,498,000 5,580,576
Food and Beverage Tax 480,000 480,000 470,774
Auto Rental Tax 12,000 12,000 3,088
Foreign Fire Insurance Tax 26,000 26,000 30,475
Gas Tax for Motor Fuel 420,000 420,000 421,151
Utility Taxes - Electric 560,000 560,000 574,941
Utility Taxes - Natural Gas 410,000 410,000 276,607
Telecommunications Tax 460,000 460,000 472,084

7,866,000 7,866,000 7,829,696

Charges for Services
Accident Report Fee 9,000 9,000 12,313
Alarm Service Fee 72,515 72,515 103,681
Ambulance and EMS Fee 350,000 350,000 392,019
Filing and Variance Fee 5,000 5,000 5,125
Landscape Waste Program Sales 700 700 276
Parks and Recreation 1,452,095 1,452,095 1,424,915
Elevator Inspection Fee 12,000 12,000 7,350
Other Charges for Services 27,257 27,257 23,173

1,928,567 1,928,567 1,968,852

Licenses and Permits
Vehicle Licenses 339,870 339,870 340,236
Business Licenses 114,966 114,966 129,513
Liquor Licenses 34,587 34,587 35,836
Building Permits 629,006 629,006 326,380
Franchise Fees 185,000 185,000 209,305
Licenses and Permits - Other 34,742 34,742 31,124

1,338,171 1,338,171 1,072,394

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual - Continued
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016
 

Final Actual

Intergovernmental
State Income Tax $ 1,300,000 1,300,000 1,276,154
State Sales Tax 5,288,700 5,288,700 4,817,877
Home Rule Sales Tax 1,815,600 1,815,600 2,052,699
Personal Property Replacement Tax 140,000 140,000 126,382
State Use Tax 220,000 220,000 288,899
State Grants 20,000 20,000 -      

8,784,300 8,784,300 8,562,011

Fines and Forfeitures
Late Payment Penalty 7,000 7,000 7,347
NSF Check Charge 400 400 50
Circuit Court Fines 65,000 65,000 51,726
Court Cost Liens and Fees 20,000 20,000 74,981
Parking Ticket Fines 75,000 75,000 52,585
Red Light Camera Fines 139,000 139,000 95,000
False Alarm Fines 20,000 20,000 9,500
Building Code Violation Fines 12,000 12,000 -      

338,400 338,400 291,189

Investment Income 143,000 143,000 204,781

Miscellaneous
Rent - Telecommunications Antenna Site Lease 46,500 46,500 61,504
Rent - Parking Lot 55,000 55,000 55,000
Reimbursements 85,000 85,000 73,878
Donations 171,000 171,000 69,335
Miscellaneous 37,737 37,737 66,650

395,237 395,237 326,367

Total Revenues 20,793,675 20,793,675 20,255,290

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual 
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016
 

Final Actual

General Government  
Village President and Board of Trustees

Personal Services $ 65,654 65,654 65,610
Contractual Services 18,500 18,500 2,200
Commodities 37,730 37,730 34,013

121,884 121,884 101,823

Village Clerk
Personal Services 8,852 8,852 8,883
Commodities 10,350 10,350 8,513

19,202 19,202 17,396

Village Manager
Personal Services 652,899 652,899 647,558
Contractual Services 18,000 18,000 15,460
Commodities 66,640 66,640 76,920

737,539 737,539 739,938

Finance Department
Personal Services 583,248 583,248 588,318
Contractual Services 181,300 181,300 113,691
Commodities 131,475 131,475 128,144

896,023 896,023 830,153

Engineering
Commodities 139,000 139,000 87,160

Legal Department
Contractual Services 323,320 323,320 336,685

Information Services
Personal Services -      -      323
Contractual Services 224,772 224,772 240,421
Commodities 56,760 56,760 34,221

281,532 281,532 274,965

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual - Continued
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016
 

Final Actual

General Government - Continued
Public Works Department

Personal Services $ 340,854 340,854 336,110
Contractual Services 10,000 10,000 6,081
Commodities 14,874 14,874 14,273

365,728 365,728 356,464

Vehicle Maintenance Division
Personal Services 257,896 257,896 220,090
Commodities 21,100 21,100 18,168

278,996 278,996 238,258

Building Maintenance Division
Personal Services 125,531 125,531 121,707
Contractual Services 34,400 34,400 39,387
Commodities 169,210 169,210 222,566

329,141 329,141 383,660

Total General Government 3,492,365 3,492,365 3,366,502

Public Safety   
Police Department

Personal Services 6,463,185 6,463,185 6,299,027
Contractual Services 17,978 17,978 21,105
Commodities 354,285 354,285 311,858

6,835,448 6,835,448 6,631,990
Fire Department

Personal Services 81,689 81,689 79,844
Contractual Services 2,727,894 2,727,894 2,725,011
Commodities 294,814 294,814 330,752

3,104,397 3,104,397 3,135,607

Total Public Safety 9,939,845 9,939,845 9,767,597

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual - Continued
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016
 

Final Actual

Highways and Streets  
Street Maintenance Division

Personal Services $ 778,560 778,560 788,743
Contractual Services 148,800 148,800 119,569
Commodities 372,150 372,150 427,949

Total Highways and Streets 1,299,510 1,299,510 1,336,261

Sanitation
Contractual 1,097,775 1,097,775 1,000,930

Economic Development
Community Development Department

Personal Services 475,673 475,673 493,483
Contractual Services 385,126 385,126 246,971
Commodities 520,450 520,450 210,213

Total Economic Development 1,381,249 1,381,249 950,667

Culture and Recreation  
Parks and Recreation Department

Personal Services 1,524,751 1,524,751 1,477,597
Contractual Services 346,000 346,000 289,280
Commodities 473,079 473,079 428,705

Total Culture and Recreation 2,343,830 2,343,830 2,195,582

Capital Outlay
General Government

Information Services 94,425 94,425 200,466
Public Safety

Police Department 110,370 110,370 153,917
Fire Department 345,320 345,320 332,525

Sanitation 90,000 90,000 88,414
Culture and Recreation

Parks and Recreation Department 210,000 210,000 213,512

Total Capital Outlay 850,115 850,115 988,834

Total Expenditures 20,404,689 20,404,689 19,606,373

Original
Budget
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Debt Service Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Final Actual

Intergovernmental 
$ 480,800 480,800 480,792

1,095,313 1,095,313 1,083,053
47,115 47,115 50,459

1,142,428 1,142,428  1,133,512

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (661,628) (661,628) (652,720)

Other Financing Sources
Transfers In 661,628 661,628 652,687

-      -      (33)

Fund Balance - Beginning 9,762

Fund Balance - Ending 9,729

State Sales Tax

Budget

 

Principal Retirement
Interest and Fiscal Charges

Total Expenditures

Net Change in Fund Balance

Expenditures
Debt Service

Original

Revenues
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Balance Sheet
April 30, 2016

Capital
Projects Totals

Cash and Investments $ 812,433 50,000 862,433
Receivables 

Accounts 92,895 -      92,895
Accrued Interest 422 -      422

Due from Other Governments -      41,909 41,909

Total Assets 905,750 91,909 997,659

Accounts Payable 323,317 57,471 380,788
Accrued Payroll 2,343 -      2,343
Due to Other Funds 429,714 25,998 455,712

Total Liabilities 755,374 83,469 838,843

Restricted 460,594 8,440 469,034
Unassigned (310,218) -      (310,218)

Total Fund Balances 150,376 8,440 158,816

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 905,750 91,909 997,659
   

FUND BALANCES

Special
Revenue

ASSETS

LIABILITIES 
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Capital
Projects Totals

Revenues
Taxes $ 613,919 -      613,919
Intergovernmental 167,125 41,909 209,034
Interest 5,493 -      5,493

Total Revenues 786,537 41,909 828,446

Expenditures
General Government 697,398 -      697,398
Highways and Streets 1,204,834 -      1,204,834
Capital Outlay 297,426 93,056 390,482

Total Expenditures 2,199,658 93,056 2,292,714

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (1,413,121) (51,147) (1,464,268)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 27,373 56,000 83,373
Transfers Out (194,881) -      (194,881)

(167,508) 56,000 (111,508)

Net Change in Fund Balances (1,580,629) 4,853 (1,575,776)

Fund Balances - Beginning 1,731,005 3,587 1,734,592

Fund Balances - Ending 150,376 8,440 158,816

Special
Revenue
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Special Revenue Funds

Combining Balance Sheet
April 30, 2016

See Following Page



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Special Revenue Funds

Combining Balance Sheet
April 30, 2016

Cash and Investments $ -      
Receivables 

Accounts 36,611
Accrued Interest -      

Total Assets 36,611

Accounts Payable 1,595
Accrued Payroll 2,343
Due to Other Funds 30,524

Total Liabilities 34,462

Restricted 2,149
Unassigned -      

Total Fund Balances 2,149

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 36,611
 

E-911

FUND BALANCES

ASSETS

LIABILITIES 
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Touhy/ Lincoln/ Devon/
Lawndale Touhy Lincoln

Tax Tax Tax
Increment Transportation Increment Increment
Financing Improvement Financing Financing Totals

-      812,333 100 -      812,433

-      56,284 -      -      92,895
-      422 -      -      422

-      869,039 100 -      905,750

-      309,141 -      12,581 323,317
-      -      -      -      2,343
-      101,453 63,116 234,621 429,714
-      410,594 63,116 247,202 755,374

-      458,445 -      -      460,594
-      -      (63,016) (247,202) (310,218)
-      458,445 (63,016) (247,202) 150,376

-      869,039 100 -      905,750
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Special Revenue Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Revenues
Taxes $ -      
Intergovernmental 167,125
Interest 1,356

Total Revenues 168,481

Expenditures
General Government 192,496
Highways and Streets -      
Capital Outlay 3,358

Total Expenditures 195,854

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (27,373)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 27,373
Transfers Out -      

27,373

Net Change in Fund Balances -      

Fund Balances - Beginning 2,149

Fund Balances - Ending 2,149

E-911
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Touhy/ Lincoln/ Devon/
Lawndale Touhy Lincoln

Tax Tax Tax
Increment Transportation Increment Increment
Financing Improvement Financing Financing Totals

182,862 280,787 -      150,270 613,919
-      -      -      -      167,125
-      4,057 -      80 5,493

182,862 284,844 -      150,350 786,537

444,703 -      -      60,199 697,398
-      1,204,834 -      -      1,204,834
-      -      -      294,068 297,426

444,703 1,204,834 -      354,267 2,199,658

(261,841) (919,990) -      (203,917) (1,413,121)

-      -      -      -      27,373
-      (194,881) -      -      (194,881)
-      (194,881) -      -      (167,508)

(261,841) (1,114,871) -      (203,917) (1,580,629)

261,841 1,573,316 (63,016) (43,285) 1,731,005

-      458,445 (63,016) (247,202) 150,376
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

E-911 - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016
 

Final Actual

Revenues
Intergovernmental $ 174,000 174,000 167,125
Interest 50 50 1,356

Total Revenues 174,050 174,050 168,481

Expenditures
General Government 244,271 244,271 192,496
Capital Outlay 138,400 138,400 3,358

Total Expenditures 382,671 382,671 195,854

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (208,621) (208,621) (27,373)

Other Financing Sources 
Transfers In 210,000 210,000 27,373

Net Change in Fund Balance 1,379 1,379 -      

Fund Balance - Beginning 2,149

Fund Balance - Ending 2,149

Original
Budget
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Touhy/Lawndale Tax Increment Financing - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes

Property Taxes $ -      -      182,862

Expenditures
General Government 247,006 247,006 444,703

Net Change in Fund Balance (247,006) (247,006) (261,841)

Fund Balance - Beginning 261,841

Fund Balance - Ending -      

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Transportation Improvement - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes

Local Taxes $ 300,000 300,000 280,787
Interest 1,000 1,000 4,057

Total Revenues 301,000 301,000 284,844

Expenditures
Highways and Streets 1,134,313 1,134,313 1,204,834

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (833,313) (833,313) (919,990)

Other Financing (Uses)
Transfers Out (202,403) (202,403) (194,881)

Net Change in Fund Balance (1,035,716) (1,035,716) (1,114,871)

Fund Balance - Beginning 1,573,316

Fund Balance - Ending 458,445

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Lincoln/Touhy Tax Increment Financing - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Final Actual

Revenues
Miscellaneous $ -      -      -      

Expenditures
General Government 302,000 302,000 -      

Net Change in Fund Balance (302,000) (302,000) -      

Fund Balance - Beginning (63,016)

Fund Balance - Ending (63,016)

Original
Budget
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Devon/Lincoln Tax Increment Financing - Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Final Actual

Revenues
Taxes

Property Taxes $ -      -      150,270
Interest -      -      80

Total Revenues -      -      150,350

Expenditures
General Government 655,000 655,000 60,199
Capital Outlay 2,250,000 2,250,000 294,068

Total Expenditures 2,905,000 2,905,000 354,267

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (2,905,000) (2,905,000) (203,917)

Other Financing Sources
Transfers In 2,905,000 2,905,000 -      

Net Change in Fund Balance -      -      (203,917)

Fund Balance - Beginning (43,285)

Fund Balance - Ending (247,202)

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Capital Projects Funds

Combining Balance Sheet
April 30, 2016

Private
Water Line

PEP Assistance Totals

Cash and Investments $ -      50,000 -      50,000
Due from Other Governments 41,909 -      -      41,909

Total Assets 41,909 50,000 -      91,909

Accounts Payable 7,471 50,000 -      57,471
Due to Other Funds 25,998 -      -      25,998

Total Liabilities 33,469 50,000 -      83,469

Restricted 8,440 -      -      8,440

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 41,909 50,000 -      91,909
    

Comm Ed
ROW

Bike Path

FUND BALANCES

ASSETS

LIABILITIES 
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Nonmajor Governmental - Capital Projects Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Private
Water Line

PEP Assistance Totals

Revenues
Intergovernmental $ 41,909 -      -      41,909

Expenditures
Capital Outlay 37,056 50,000 6,000 93,056

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 4,853 (50,000) (6,000) (51,147)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In -      50,000 6,000 56,000

Net Change in Fund Balances 4,853 -      -      4,853

Fund Balances - Beginning 3,587 -      -      3,587

Fund Balances - Ending 8,440 -      -      8,440

ROW
Bike Path

Comm Ed
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Comm Ed ROW Bike Path - Capital Projects Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Final Actual

Revenues
Intergovernmental

State Grants $ 264,000 264,000 41,909

Expenditures
Capital Outlay

Contractual Services 512,000 512,000 37,056

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (248,000) (248,000) 4,853

Other Financing Sources
Transfers In 248,000 248,000 -      

Net Change in Fund Balance -      -      4,853

Fund Balance - Beginning 3,587

Fund Balance - Ending 8,440

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

PEP - Capital Projects Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Final Actual

Revenues
Intergovernmental $ -      -      -      

Expenditures
Capital Outlay 50,000 50,000 50,000

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (50,000) (50,000) (50,000)

Other Financing Sources
Transfers In 50,000 50,000 50,000

Net Change in Fund Balance -      -      -      

Fund Balance - Beginning -      

Fund Balance - Ending -      

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Private Water Line Assistance - Capital Projects Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Final Actual

Revenues
Intergovernmental $ -      -      -      

Expenditures
Capital Outlay 25,000 25,000 6,000

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (25,000) (25,000) (6,000)

Other Financing Sources
Transfers In 25,000 25,000 6,000

Net Change in Fund Balance -      -      -      

Fund Balance - Beginning -      

Fund Balance - Ending -      

Budget
Original
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Water and Sewer - Enterprise Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Final Actual

Operating Revenues
Charges for Services $ 4,600,000 4,600,000 4,586,070
Fines and Forfeitures 40,000 40,000 57,805

Total Operating Revenues 4,640,000 4,640,000 4,643,875

Operating Expenses 
Cost of Sales and Services

Personal Services 842,024 842,024 809,011
Contractual 463,008 463,008 380,945
Commodities 2,409,227 2,409,227 2,283,019

Capital Outlay 785,000 785,000 376,318
Less Capital Assets Capitalized (785,000) (785,000) (375,940)
Debt Service

Principal Payments 575,646 575,646 575,647
Less Principal Payments Capitalized (575,646) (575,646) (575,647)

Depreciation -      -      694,967
Total Operating Expenses 3,714,259 3,714,259 4,168,320

Operating Income 925,741 925,741 475,555

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest Income 2,000 2,000 2,813
Other Income -      -      10,000
Interest and Fiscal Charges (106,628) (106,628) (106,628)

(104,628) (104,628) (93,815)

Income Before Transfers 821,113 821,113 381,740

Transfers Out (200,000) (200,000) (200,000)

Change in Net Position 621,113 621,113 181,740

Net Position - Beginning as Restated 8,471,510

Net Position - Ending 8,653,250

Original
Budget
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Police Pension - Pension Trust Fund

Schedule of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016

Final Actual

Additions
Contributions - Employer $ 1,680,000 1,680,000 1,663,647
Contributions - Plan Members 280,000 280,000 368,810

Total Contributions 1,960,000 1,960,000 2,032,457

Investment Income
Interest Earned 780,000 780,000 483,997
Net Change in Fair Value -      -      (404,051)

780,000 780,000 79,946
Less Investment Expenses (76,000) (76,000) (42,732)

Net Investment Income 704,000 704,000 37,214

Total Additions 2,664,000 2,664,000 2,069,671

Deductions
Administration 19,550 19,550 23,850
Benefits and Refunds 2,362,770 2,362,770 2,213,010

Total Deductions 2,382,320 2,382,320 2,236,860

Change in Fiduciary Net Position 281,680 281,680 (167,189)

Net Position - Beginning 18,945,937

Net Position - Ending 18,778,748

Budget
Original
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SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

Illinois Finance Authority Loan Payable of 2009
April 30, 2016

Date of Issue May 9, 2009
Date of Maturity May 9, 2029
Authorized Issue $250,000
Interest Rate Non-Interest Bearing
Principal Maturity Date May 9
Payable at Office of the State Fire Marshal

Fiscal
Year

2017 $ 12,500
2018 12,500
2019 12,500
2020 12,500
2021 12,500
2022 12,500
2023 12,500
2024 12,500
2025 12,500
2026 12,500
2027 12,500
2028 12,500
2029 12,500
2030 12,500

175,000

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

Cook County Intergovernmental Agreement of 2014
April 30, 2016

Date of Issue May 1, 2014
Date of Maturity May 1, 2018
Authorized Issue $2,511,211
Interest Rate Non-Interest Bearing
Principal Maturity Date May 1
Payable at Cook County Treasurer

Fiscal
Year

2017 $ 500,000
2018 500,000
2019 511,212

1,511,212

606,159     Debt Service
905,053     Water and Sewer

1,511,212  

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

General Obligation Refunding Bonds of 2011A
April 30, 2016

Date of Issue November 1, 2011
Date of Maturity December 1, 2017
Authorized Issue $2,325,000
Denomination of Bonds $5,000
Interest Rate 2.00%
Interest Dates June 1 and December 1
Principal Maturity Date December 1
Payable at Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

Fiscal
Year Interest Totals

2017 $ 400,000 16,200 416,200
2018 410,000 8,200 418,200

810,000 24,400 834,400

Note: Repayment of these bonds comes 25% from the Debt Service Fund and 75% from the 
Northeast Industrial District Tax Increment Financing Fund.

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

General Obligation Refunding Bonds of 2011B
April 30, 2016

Date of Issue November 1, 2011
Date of Maturity December 1, 2017
Authorized Issue $2,090,000
Denomination of Bonds $5,000
Interest Rate 2.00%
Interest Dates June 1 and December 1
Principal Maturity Date December 1
Payable at Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

Fiscal
Year Interest Totals

2017 $ 360,000 14,600 374,600
2018 370,000 7,400 377,400

730,000 22,000 752,000

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Long-Term Debt Requirements

Illinois Environmental Protection Agency Loan Payable of 2008
April 30, 2016

Date of Issue December 17, 2008
Date of Maturity June 17, 2028
Authorized Issue $5,718,966
Interest Rate 2.50%
Principal Maturity Date June 17 and December 17
Payable at Illinois Environmental Protection Agency

Fiscal
Year Interest Totals

2017 $ 280,409 99,747 380,156
2018 287,463 92,693 380,156         
2019 294,695 85,461 380,156         
2020 302,108 78,048 380,156         
2021 309,708 70,448 380,156         
2022 317,500 62,656 380,156         
2023 325,486 54,670 380,156         
2024 333,674 46,482 380,156         
2025 342,068 38,088 380,156         
2026 350,673 29,482 380,155         
2027 359,495 20,661 380,156         
2028 368,539 11,617 380,156         
2029 187,731 2,347 190,078         

4,059,549 692,400 4,751,949

CURRENT AND LONG-TERM PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Principal
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These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the Village’s financial
performance and well-being have changed over time.

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the
information in the Village’s financial report relates to the services the Village provides and the
activities it performs.

STATISTICAL SECTION
(Unaudited)

This part of the comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a context for
understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required
supplementary information says about the Village’s overall financial health.

Financial Trends

Operating Information

Revenue Capacity

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the Village’s most significant local
revenue sources.

Debt Capacity

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the Village’s current
levels of outstanding debt and the Village’s ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Demographic and Economic Information

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the
environment within which the Village’s financial activities take place.



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Net Position by Component - Last Ten Fiscal Years*
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

See Following Page



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Net Position by Component - Last Ten Fiscal Years*

2008 2009

Governmental Activities
Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 17,044,916   19,075,136   20,057,662   
Restricted 6,301,033     6,052,311     7,642,939     
Unrestricted 7,986,055     8,921,742     9,054,630     

Total Governmental Activities Net Position 31,332,004   34,049,189   36,755,231   

Business-Type Activities
Net Investment in Capital Assets 6,254,185     7,859,971     7,998,375     
Restricted -                -                -                
Unrestricted 2,251,419     832,538        990,528        

Total Business-Type Activities Net Position 8,505,604     8,692,509     8,988,903     

Primary Government
Net Investment in Capital Assets 23,299,101   26,935,107   28,056,037   
Restricted 6,301,033     6,052,311     7,642,939     
Unrestricted 10,237,474   9,754,280     10,045,158   

Total Primary Government Net Position 39,837,608   42,741,698   45,744,134   

* Accrual Basis of Accounting

Data Source: Village Records

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2007
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

21,129,264   24,011,361   25,625,635   26,637,660   27,626,486    28,404,391    34,823,932     
8,516,994     7,664,671     11,211,585   12,260,925   12,353,691    12,637,469    10,929,345     
9,618,838     10,140,308   7,590,556     8,193,496     9,402,780      9,965,159      (14,079,642)   

39,265,096   41,816,340   44,427,776   47,092,081   49,382,957    51,007,019    31,673,635     

7,097,003     6,177,316     6,576,698     6,521,402     6,299,012      6,248,147      6,504,767       
-                240,000        -                -                -                -                -                 

1,387,413     2,156,907     1,969,054     2,144,850     2,337,049      2,284,624      2,148,483       

8,484,416     8,574,223     8,545,752     8,666,252     8,636,061      8,532,771      8,653,250       

28,226,267   30,188,677   32,202,333   33,159,062   33,925,498    34,652,538    41,328,699     
8,516,994     7,904,671     11,211,585   12,260,925   12,353,691    12,637,469    10,929,345     

11,006,251   12,297,215   9,559,610     10,338,346   11,739,829    12,249,783    (11,931,159)   

47,749,512   50,390,563   52,973,528   55,758,333   58,019,018    59,539,790    40,326,885     
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Changes in Net Position - Last Ten Fiscal Years*

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Expenses
Governmental Activities

General Government $ 7,942,459       8,310,374      7,717,680      8,543,683      8,368,482      8,425,153       8,584,081       8,575,330       7,684,121       10,954,427     
Public Safety 8,751,570       9,515,472      9,396,466      8,743,302      8,854,696      9,309,941       9,211,302       9,406,734       9,588,612       10,010,892     
Public Works 2,060,518       2,266,360      2,141,803      2,092,928      2,182,058      2,307,646       2,372,041       2,759,369       3,659,649       3,645,814       
Interest on Long-Term Debt 573,106          485,310         427,695         369,448         345,551         274,942          169,973          132,128          87,897            49,222            

Total Governmental Activities Expenses 19,327,653     20,577,516    19,683,644    19,749,361    19,750,787    20,317,682     20,337,397     20,873,561     21,020,279     24,660,355     

Business-Type Activities
Water and Sewer 2,259,393       2,258,816      2,188,047      3,010,490      3,317,525      3,290,392       3,719,065       4,012,613       4,062,562       4,274,948       

Total Business-Type Activities Expenses 2,259,393       2,258,816      2,188,047      3,010,490      3,317,525      3,290,392       3,719,065       4,012,613       4,062,562       4,274,948       

Total Primary Government Expenses 21,587,046     22,836,332    21,871,691    22,759,851    23,068,312    23,608,074     24,056,462     24,886,174     25,082,841     28,935,303     

Program Revenues
Governmental Activities

Charges for Services
General Government 1,529,905       1,660,102      1,813,687      1,859,319      2,023,209      1,731,344       1,841,064       1,804,892       1,736,500       1,748,840       
Public Safety 1,385,084       965,460         1,087,079      917,706         1,065,490      1,575,783       1,532,619       1,555,281       1,498,731       1,583,595       
Public Works 40,844            3,792             4,605             2,858             733                -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Operating Grants/Contributions 166,000          751,563         304,282         80,817           602,356         105,533          250,393          347,483          205,573          3,847,125       
Capital Grants/Contributions -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 388,795          392,023          104,024          182,199          79,245            

Total Governmental Activities Program Revenues 3,121,833       3,380,917      3,209,653      2,860,700      3,691,788      3,801,455       4,016,099       3,811,680       3,623,003       7,258,805       

Business-Type Activities
Charges for Services

Water and Sewer 2,181,794       2,474,138      2,508,912      2,639,221      3,576,490      3,455,950       4,035,302       4,163,619       4,156,613       4,643,875       
Total Business-Type Activities Program Revenues 2,181,794       2,474,138      2,508,912      2,639,221      3,576,490      3,455,950       4,035,302       4,163,619       4,156,613       4,643,875       

Total Primary Government Program Revenues 5,303,627       5,855,055      5,718,565      5,499,921      7,268,278      7,257,405       8,051,401       7,975,299       7,779,616       11,902,680     

Net (Expenses) Revenues
Governmental Activities (16,205,820)   (17,196,599)   (16,473,991)   (16,888,661)   (16,058,999)   (16,516,227)   (16,321,298)   (17,061,881)   (17,397,276)   (17,401,550)   
Business-Type Activities (77,599)          215,322         320,865         (371,269)        258,965         165,558          316,237          151,006          94,051            368,927          

Total Primary Government Net (Expenses) Revenues (16,283,419)   (16,981,277)   (16,153,126)   (17,259,930)   (15,800,034)   (16,350,669)   (16,005,061)   (16,910,875)   (17,303,225)   (17,032,623)   

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)
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2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities

Taxes
Property $ 6,682,802       6,688,546      6,960,014      8,124,554      6,699,698      7,612,055       6,516,497       6,879,900       6,227,314       6,754,910       
Utility 1,694,638       1,766,707      1,682,754      1,595,804      1,601,218      1,546,490       1,545,378       1,565,985       1,482,244       1,323,632       

Intergovernmental - Unrestricted
State Sales, Income Taxes and Use Taxes 9,705,050       9,545,382      9,072,290      8,099,811      8,681,973      8,448,621       8,683,316       8,860,471       9,045,745       8,916,421       
Replacement Taxes 155,270          171,151         150,040         124,581         153,684         135,608          143,399          150,349          157,314          126,382          
Other 927,833          575,230         507,724         866,145         872,480         799,404          1,330,642       1,339,288       1,337,757       1,528,313       

Interest 630,637          584,477         222,002         200,209         238,760         196,040          152,448          176,067          186,750          231,769          
Miscellaneous 331,957          432,291         435,209         212,422         187,430         189,445          413,923          180,697          384,214          326,367          
Transfers 150,000          150,000         150,000         175,000         175,000         200,000          200,000          200,000          200,000          200,000          

Total Governmental Activities 20,278,187     19,913,784    19,180,033    19,398,526    18,610,243    19,127,663     18,985,603     19,352,757     19,021,338     19,407,794     

Business-Type Activities
Interest 169,809          121,583         125,529         41,782           5,842             5,971              4,263              2,653              2,659              2,813              
Miscellaneous -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 16,150            -                 10,000            
Transfers (150,000)        (150,000)        (150,000)        (175,000)        (175,000)        (200,000)        (200,000)        (200,000)        (200,000)        (200,000)        

Total Business-Type Activities 19,809            (28,417)          (24,471)          (133,218)        (169,158)        (194,029)        (195,737)        (181,197)        (197,341)        (187,187)        

Total Primary Government General Revenue 20,297,996     19,885,367    19,155,562    19,265,308    18,441,085    18,933,634     18,789,866     19,171,560     18,823,997     19,220,607     

Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities 4,072,367       2,717,185      2,706,042      2,509,865      2,551,244      2,611,436       2,664,305       2,290,876       1,624,062       2,006,244       
Business-Type Activities (57,790)          186,905         296,394         (504,487)        89,807           (28,471)          120,500          (30,191)          (103,290)        181,740          

Total Primary Government 4,014,577       2,904,090      3,002,436      2,005,378      2,641,051      2,582,965       2,784,805       2,260,685       1,520,772       2,187,984       

* Accrual Basis of Accounting

Data Source: Village Records

2007
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds - Last Ten Fiscal Years*

2008 2009

General Fund
Reserved $ 2,407            2,407          625             
Unreserved 8,868,659     9,272,816   9,158,204   
Nonspendable -                -              -              
Unassigned -                -              -              

Total General Fund 8,871,066     9,275,223   9,158,829   

All Other Governmental Funds
Reserved 6,301,033     6,052,311   7,642,939   
Unreserved, Reported in,

Special Revenue Funds 1,072,217     1,409,348   1,778,703   
Debt Service Funds 5,428            6,629          -              
Capital Projects Funds 1,213            9,244          17,842        

Restricted -                -              -              
Unassigned -                -              -              

Total All Other Governmental Funds 7,379,891     7,477,532   9,439,484   

* Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting

Data Source: Village Records

The Village implemented GASB No. 54 for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2012.

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2007
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

400,625        150,478      -                -                -                -                 -                 
8,914,733     9,805,693   -                -                -                -                 -                 

-                -              511,884        408,967        435,356        142,887         110,482         
-                -              9,047,480     9,370,395     10,206,133   10,639,883    11,113,026    

9,315,358     9,956,171   9,559,364     9,779,362     10,641,489   10,782,770    11,223,508    

8,516,994     7,664,671   -                -                -                -                 -                 

2,084,554     1,632,933   -                -                -                -                 -                 
453               703             -                -                -                -                 -                 

18,102          485,611      -                -                -                -                 -                 
-                -              11,221,347   12,270,687   12,363,453   12,647,231    10,939,074    
-                -              (103,757)       (59,987)         (63,017)         (106,302)        (310,218)        

10,620,103   9,783,918   11,117,590   12,210,700   12,300,436   12,540,929    10,628,856    
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds - Last Ten Fiscal Years*

2008 2009

Revenues
Taxes $ 19,276,245   19,220,739   18,798,722   
Licenses, Permits and Fees 1,082,324     973,929        983,497        
Intergovernmental - Grants 605,242        544,027        301,604        
Charges for Services 1,408,827     1,458,500     1,563,533     
Fines and Forfeitures 213,138        189,514        183,904        
Interest 630,637        575,803        213,404        
Miscellaneous 33,607          195,026        195,022        

Total Revenues 23,250,020   23,157,538   22,239,686   

Expenditures
Current

General Government 3,770,594     3,974,785     3,709,003     
Public Safety 8,673,850     9,325,358     9,068,488     
Public Works 1,224,594     1,266,245     1,131,520     
Culture and Recreation 1,984,619     2,071,540     2,086,397     
Sanitation 910,548        917,168        956,426        
Economic Development 804,893        872,154        940,667        

Capital Outlay 405,038        2,058,126     336,409        
Debt Service

Principal Retirement 2,088,232     1,850,000     1,905,000     
Interest and Fiscal Charges 547,167        470,364        410,218        

Total Expenditures 20,409,535   22,805,740   20,544,128   

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 2,840,485     351,798        1,695,558     

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Debt Issuance -                -                -                
Transfers In 449,038        1,055,240     418,279        
Transfers Out (299,038)      (905,240)       (268,279)       

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 150,000        150,000        150,000        

Net Change in Fund Balances 2,990,485     501,798        1,845,558     

Debt Service as a Percentage
of Noncapital Expenditures 13.20% 11.20% 11.40%

* Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting

Data Source: Village Records

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

18,837,235   18,036,316   18,715,559   18,219,232   18,795,993   18,250,374   18,649,658   
922,356        1,007,370     1,009,122     1,074,728     1,109,864     1,033,923     1,072,394     
166,993        667,400        494,328        642,416        451,507        387,772        3,926,370     

1,654,481     1,789,585     1,764,893     1,940,107     1,902,915     1,903,730     1,968,852     
176,706        265,214        359,731        358,848        347,394        297,578        291,189        
200,209        238,758        196,040        152,448        176,067        186,750        231,769        
129,033        135,559        189,445        413,923        180,697        384,214        326,367        

22,087,013   22,140,202   22,729,118   22,801,702   22,964,437   22,444,341   26,466,599   

3,889,439     3,825,017     3,858,935     3,723,651     3,965,888     3,722,000     4,155,775     
8,668,806     9,489,960     9,051,421     9,200,803     9,393,305     9,518,972     9,767,597     
1,141,803     1,873,033     1,171,370     1,257,315     1,768,165     2,670,998     2,605,336     
2,064,504     2,142,897     2,100,417     2,210,831     2,091,160     2,194,920     2,195,582     
1,006,848     1,000,832     1,042,760     1,003,569     977,975        1,001,538     1,000,930     
1,415,550     1,105,001     1,137,237     1,184,987     1,191,511     1,314,624     950,667        
1,449,975     2,111,785     2,106,974     1,521,896     1,202,232     1,016,945     6,017,661     

1,190,000     1,242,500     1,330,550     1,402,751     1,478,386     1,718,674     1,375,553     
347,940        312,201        351,695        182,791        143,952        105,817        68,834          

21,174,865   23,103,226   22,151,359   21,688,594   22,212,574   23,264,488   28,137,935   

912,148        (963,024)       577,759        1,113,108     751,863        (820,147)       (1,671,336)    

250,000        592,652        159,106        -                -                1,001,921     -                
310,000        422,094        1,264,655     883,513        518,392        768,716        1,066,060     

(135,000)       (247,094)       (1,064,655)    (683,513)       (318,392)       (568,716)       (866,060)       
425,000        767,652        359,106        200,000        200,000        1,201,921     200,000        

1,337,148     (195,372)       936,865        1,313,108     951,863        381,774        (1,471,336)    

7.90% 8.10% 8.37% 7.80% 7.76% 8.53% 6.79%

105



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Sales Tax by Category - Last Ten Calendar Years
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

% Change % Change % Change % Change
from from from from

Previous Previous Previous Previous
Amount Year Amount Year Amount Year Amount Year

General Merchandise $ 314,147    (4.2%)      $ 328,058    (0.3%)      $ 328,933    20.3%     $ 273,486    (2.9%)     
Food 200,513    (1.7%)      204,020    (45.7%)    375,458    (4.2%)     392,096    0.8%       
Drinking and Eating Places 492,393    2.0%        482,730    6.8%        452,061    4.4%       433,003    11.5%     
Apparel 214,716    10.5%      194,259    (3.0%)      200,338    (10.0%)   222,703    (4.1%)     
Furniture, Households and Radio 80,594      (9.0%)      88,558      1.2%        87,519      14.3%     76,548      13.5%     
Lumber, Building and Hardware 220,429    (0.2%)      220,960    1.5%        217,737    4.2%       208,967    (2.1%)     
Automotive Filing Stations 2,769,625 4.1%        2,661,791 11.2%      2,392,776 0.3%       2,385,103 0.0%       
Drugs and Other Retail 434,860    (15.8%)    516,760    (1.9%)      526,540    11.6%     471,864    15.7%     
Agriculture and Extractive 237,989    (1.5%)      241,719    13.1%      213,816    (6.2%)     227,959    (4.3%)     
Manufacturers 83,010      3.3%        80,379      2.0%        78,803      (41.9%)   135,689    1.0%       

5,048,276 0.6%        5,019,234 3.0%        4,873,981 1.0%       4,827,418 1.9%       

Village Statutory Allocated
     Sales Tax Rate 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Note: Sales Tax information for the calendar year 2015 is the most current available.

Data Source: Illinois Department of Revenue

2015 2014 2013 2012
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% Change % Change % Change % Change % Change % Change
from from from from from from

Previous Previous Previous Previous Previous Previous
Amount Year Amount Year Amount Year Amount Year Amount Year Amount Year

$ 281,587    (19.3%)   $ 349,013    (2.4%)     $ 357,635    (7.7%)     $ 387,343    (13.6%)   $ 448,526    10.1%    $ 407,383    (2.4%)       
388,828    14.3%     340,290    0.2%       339,654    (3.8%)     352,895    7.5%      328,219    1.7%      322,803    (1.6%)       
388,243    3.5%       375,025    (1.4%)     380,518    (9.4%)     420,113    2.9%      408,198    0.9%      404,746    (5.7%)       
232,302    (4.9%)     244,264    0.6%       242,758    (11.5%)   274,233    (14.5%)   320,828    (2.4%)     328,715    (3.0%)       

67,414      (9.6%)     74,594      (2.2%)     76,302      (17.4%)   92,403      (8.4%)     100,831    5.2%      95,852      (6.7%)       
213,529    (6.6%)     228,726    (2.6%)     234,730    (15.2%)   276,899    (13.8%)   321,215    (13.8%)   372,716    5.2%        

2,384,220 14.6%     2,080,078 14.0%     1,824,494 (17.1%)   2,201,509 (13.0%)   2,530,231 (8.2%)     2,754,935 17.5%       
407,778    16.9%     348,743    (0.6%)     350,756    (6.7%)     375,877    (9.1%)     413,424    (0.6%)     415,789    3.1%        
238,146    (35.3%)   367,963    (0.5%)     369,838    (13.6%)   428,148    (1.2%)     433,155    2.8%      421,297    (1.6%)       
134,346    (19.3%)   166,420    17.1%     142,106    (12.0%)   161,443    21.6%    132,776    17.1%    113,343    5.8%        

4,736,393 3.5%       4,575,116 5.9%       4,318,791 (13.1%)   4,970,863 (8.6%)     5,437,403 (3.6%)     5,637,579 7.3%        

1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

2008 2007 20062011 2010 2009
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Home Rule Sales Tax by Category - Last Ten Calendar Years
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

% Change % Change % Change % Change
from from from from

Previous Previous Previous Previous
Amount Year Amount Year Amount Year Amount Year

General Merchandise $ 314,098    (4.20%)      $ 327,862    (0.33%)    $ 328,934    21.4%     $ 270,971    0.1%       
Food 147,100    4.46%       140,820    (24.35%)  186,143    (4.1%)     194,097    2.9%       
Drinking and Eating Places 489,053    1.99%       479,509    6.74%      449,239    4.3%       430,734    11.5%     
Apparel 214,718    10.53%     194,257    (3.04%)    200,339    (10.0%)   222,704    (4.1%)     
Furniture, Households and Radio 80,595      (8.99%)      88,559      1.19%      87,521      14.3%     76,548      13.5%     
Lumber, Building and Hardware 220,124    (0.19%)      220,540    1.63%      216,994    4.1%       208,436    (2.3%)     
Automotive Filing Stations 350,202    (17.95%)    426,815    (7.13%)    459,580    2.6%       448,000    3.8%       
Drugs and Other Retail 255,043    (22.52%)    329,188    (6.20%)    350,943    13.5%     309,144    11.5%     
Agriculture and Extractive 227,516    5.60%       215,448    11.91%    192,520    (9.4%)     212,591    2.2%       
Manufacturers 79,825      3.20%       77,353      2.00%      75,836      (43.7%)   134,729    1.0%       

2,378,274 (4.88%)      2,500,351 (1.87%)    2,548,049 1.6%       2,507,954 4.1%       

Village Home Rule
     Sales Tax Rate 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Note: Sales Tax information for the calendar year 2015 is the most current available.

Data Source: Illinois Department of Revenue

2015 2014 2013 2012
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% Change % Change % Change % Change % Change % Change
from from from from from from

Previous Previous Previous Previous Previous Previous
Amount Year Amount Year Amount Year Amount Year Amount Year Amount Year

$ 270,834    (22.4%)   $ 349,013    (2.4%)     $ 357,635    (7.7%)     $ 387,343    (13.6%)   $ 448,322    10.3%    $ 406,461    30.1%       
188,624    63.3%     115,542    26.2%     91,548      2.4%       89,392      6.4%      84,035      4.5%      80,451      32.5%       
386,324    3.5%       373,285    (1.3%)     378,311    (9.5%)     417,838    3.0%      405,782    1.1%      401,322    26.2%       
232,285    (4.9%)     244,246    0.7%       242,561    (11.5%)   274,140    (14.5%)   320,751    (2.2%)     328,066    29.2%       

67,414      (9.6%)     74,592      (2.2%)     76,305      (17.6%)   92,642      (8.1%)     100,830    7.5%      93,836      21.8%       
213,421    (6.4%)     228,116    (2.3%)     233,600    (15.2%)   275,450    (14.2%)   321,061    (13.8%)   372,645    40.3%       
431,588    52.8%     282,472    2.4%       275,854    (23.4%)   360,287    8.1%      333,171    (3.2%)     344,231    35.8%       
277,149    13.8%     243,535    16.3%     209,486    (11.6%)   236,960    (14.2%)   276,254    (4.7%)     289,832    31.1%       
208,091    (33.6%)   313,544    (10.6%)   350,667    (15.3%)   413,990    (0.9%)     417,766    2.6%      407,266    29.5%       
133,396    (13.4%)   154,123    17.0%     131,713    (14.3%)   153,676    23.3%    124,618    16.5%    106,928    41.6%       

2,409,126 1.3%       2,378,468 1.3%       2,347,680 (13.1%)   2,701,718 (4.6%)     2,832,590 0.1%      2,831,038 31.5%       

1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 0.75%

2008 2007 20062011 2010 2009
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Assessed Value and Actual Value of Taxable Property - Last Ten Tax Levy Years (in Thousands)
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

 
Tax  Total
Levy Direct Tax
Year Rate

2006 $ 417,718   $ 72     $ 170,066    $ 99,023     $ 19,422     $ 667,457     0.704        

2007 575,648   128   189,630    84,606     27,833     822,179     0.586        

2008 588,860   136   194,846    86,963     -           870,805     0.576        

2009 596,660   49     183,818    76,573     -           857,100     0.585        

2010 514,583   130   181,926    82,205     57            778,787     0.661        

2011 464,664   49     155,217    73,887     N/A 693,817     0.753        

2012 428,515   49     143,447    71,069     N/A 643,080     0.836        

2013 368,229   49     134,578    70,450     N/A 573,306     0.954        

2014 377,532   108   156,369    42,453     N/A 576,462     0.963        

2015 368,908   107   154,132    43,037     N/A 566,184     0.988        

Data Source: Office of the County Clerk

Property in the Village is reassessed every three years.

N/A - Information is not available.

Value

Total
Less: Taxable

Residential Commercial Industrial Tax-Exempt Assessed
Property Farm Property Property Property
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates - Last Ten Tax Levy Years
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

See Following Page



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates - Last Ten Tax Levy Years
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2006 2007 2008

Village Direct Rates
General 0.403   0.332    0.327    
Police Pension 0.146   0.128    0.130    
Special Recreation -   -    0.013    
Playgrounds and Recreation 0.155   0.126    0.106    

Total Direct Rates 0.704   0.586    0.576    

Overlapping Rates
Lincolnwood Public Library 0.339   0.285    0.280    
School District #74 2.807   2.348    2.313    
High School District #219 2.374   2.114    2.120    
Oakton Community College District #535 0.166   0.141    0.140    
Niles Township 0.031   0.027    0.027    
Niles Township General Assistance 0.003   0.003    0.003    
North Shore Mosquito Abatement District 0.009   0.008    0.008    
County of Cook 0.395   0.186    0.224    
Cook County Health Facilities 0.105   0.093    0.086    
Forest Preserve District of Cook County 0.057   0.053    0.051    
Cook County Consolidated Elections -   0.012    -    
Cook County Public Safety -   0.167    0.105    
Suburban Cook County T.B. Sanitarium District 0.005   -    -    
Metro Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago 0.284   0.263    0.252    

Total Overlapping Rates 6.575   5.700    5.609    

Total Direct and Overlapping Rates 7.279   6.286    6.185    

Data Source: Office of the County Clerk

Note: Rates are per $100 of Assessed Value
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2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

0.328    0.366    0.395    0.450    0.522    0.541    0.530    
0.137    0.165    0.210    0.226    0.252    0.243    0.276    
0.013    0.015    0.016    0.018    0.020    0.019    0.020    
0.107    0.115    0.132    0.143    0.160    0.160    0.162    
0.585    0.661    0.753    0.836    0.954    0.963    0.988    

0.286    0.289    0.330    0.368    0.421    0.426    0.442    
2.363    2.666    3.034    3.366    3.383    3.421    3.891    
2.267    2.538    2.904    3.256    3.707    3.650    3.741    
0.140    0.160    0.196    0.219    0.256    0.258    0.271    
0.029    0.032    0.037    0.042    0.049    0.050    0.052    
0.003    0.004    0.005    0.006    0.007    0.007    0.008    
0.008    0.009    0.010    0.010    0.007    0.011    0.012    
0.203    0.228    0.223    0.287    0.275    0.296    0.289    
0.086    0.082    0.078    0.063    0.066    0.031    0.116    
0.049    0.051    0.058    0.063    0.069    0.069    0.069    
0.021    -    0.025    -    0.031    -    0.034    
-    0.113    0.161    0.181    0.219    0.241    0.147    
0.105    -    -    -    -    -    -    
0.261    0.274    0.320    0.370    0.417    0.430    0.426    
5.821    6.446    7.381    8.231    8.907    8.890    9.498    

6.406    7.107    8.134    9.067    9.861    9.853    10.486  
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Principal Property Tax Payers - Current Fiscal Year and Nine Fiscal Years Ago
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Percentage Percentage
of Total Village of Total Village

Taxable Taxable
Assessed Assessed

Taxpayer Rank Value Rank Value

Simon Property Group $ 29,713,972     1    5.25% $ 30,833,352   1    4.61%
    (formerly Syndicated Equities)
Puig Holding Co. 7,383,454       2    1.30% 6,837,816     7    1.02%
WLH Lincolnwood LLC 7,384,708       3    1.30%
Grossprops Assoc. 7,216,929       4    1.27% 10,564,348   2    1.58%
Joe Koenig 4,975,402       5    0.88%
Lowes Companies 4,945,470       6    0.87% 9,430,940     3    1.41%
MCRIL LLC 4,936,725       7    0.87%
Loeber Motors Corp 4,486,506       8    0.79% 6,794,490     8    1.02%
Country Fresh Market 
   (formerlySafe Way, Inc.) 5,637,130     10  1.02%
Kohls 3,735,900       9    0.66%
Bryn Mawr Country Club 3,701,271       10  0.65%
Centerpoint Prop Trust 8,175,312     4    1.22%
McRaes Inc. 7,639,940     5    1.14%
Senior Lifestyle Corp. 7,338,512     6    1.10%
Imperial Realty 5,774,894     9    0.86%

78,480,337     13.86% 99,026,734   14.98%

Data Source: Office of the County Clerk and Assessor's Office

Value Value

2016 2007

Taxable Taxable
Assessed Assessed
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Property Tax Levies and Collections - Last Ten Fiscal Years
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Tax
Fiscal Levy Percentage Percentage
Year Year of Levy of Levy

2007 2006 $ 4,698,899   $ 4,640,292   98.75% $ -              $ 4,640,292   98.75%

2008 2007 4,817,971   -              0.00% 4,729,420   4,729,420   98.16%

2009 2008 5,008,652   -              0.00% 4,942,904   4,942,904   98.69%

2010 2009 5,014,344   2,379,592   47.46% 2,526,706   4,906,298   97.85%

2011 2010 5,148,487   2,653,434   51.54% 2,456,162   5,109,596   99.24%

2012 2011 5,224,442   2,657,978   50.88% 2,479,071   5,137,049   98.33%

2013 2012 5,382,584   2,563,342   47.62% 2,765,655   5,328,997   99.00%

2014 2013 5,469,347   2,769,183   50.63% 2,610,222   5,379,405   98.36%

2015 2014 5,551,337   2,722,099   49.04% 2,691,416   5,413,515   97.52%

2016 2015 5,599,559   2,847,165   50.85% -              2,847,165   50.85%

Data Source: Office of the County Clerk

Property in the Village is reassessed every three years. Property is assessed at 33% of actual value.

Taxes Collected within the Collections
Levied for Fiscal Year of the Levy in Total Collections to Date
the Fiscal Subsequent

Year Amount Years Amount
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type - Last Ten Fiscal Years
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Percentage
of

Fiscal Loan Personal
Year Payable Income (1)

2007 $ 13,875,000   $ -              $ -              $ -              $ 13,875,000   3.13% $ 1,123    

2008 12,025,000   -              -              1,992,021   14,017,021   3.16% 1,134    

2009 10,120,000   -              -              4,371,277   14,491,277   3.27% 1,173    

2010 8,930,000     250,000      -              4,992,058   14,172,058   3.19% 1,147    

2011 7,662,129     830,152      -              5,361,696   13,853,977   2.82% 1,100    

2012 6,405,878     869,602      -              5,114,044   12,389,524   2.52% 984       

2013 5,078,564     806,851      -              4,860,162   10,745,577   2.19% 854       

2014 3,705,000     708,465      -              4,599,893   9,013,358     1.84% 716       

2015 2,285,000     1,411,712   1,207,172   4,333,077   9,236,961     1.88% 734       

2016 1,540,000     781,159      905,053      4,059,549   7,285,761     1.48% 579       

Note: Details regarding the Village's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

(1) See the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics for personal income and population data.

Governmental Activities
General IEPA

Business-Type
Activities

Total Per
Obligation Loan Primary CapitaLoan

Bonds Payable Government (1)Payable
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April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Percentage of
Less:  Amounts Total Taxable

Available in Assessed
Fiscal Debt Service  Value of
Year Property (1)

2007 $ 13,875,000     $ -              $ 13,875,000     2.08% $ 1,123  

2008 12,025,000     -              12,025,000     1.46% 973     

2009 10,120,000     -              10,120,000     1.16% 819     

2010 8,930,000       -              8,930,000       1.04% 723     

2011 7,662,129       -              7,662,129       0.98% 609     

2012 6,405,878       -              6,405,878       0.92% 509     

2013 5,078,564       -              5,078,564       0.79% 403     

2014 3,705,000       -              3,705,000       0.65% 294     

2015 2,285,000       -              2,285,000       0.40% 181     

2016 1,540,000       -              1,540,000       0.27% 122     

Note: Details regarding the Village's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

(1) See the Schedule of Assessed Value and Actual Value of Taxable Property for property value data.

(2) See the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics for population data.

Bonds Fund Total (2)

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding - Last Ten Fiscal Years

General Per
Obligation Capita
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Schedule of Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

Percentage of
Debt

Applicable
Governmental Unit to Village*

Village - Payable from Property Taxes $ 2,321,159 100.000% $ 2,321,159

Overlapping Debt
Cook County - Including Forest Preserve 3,525,168,750 0.427% 15,052,471

Metropolitan Water Reclamation District 2,629,938,992 (1) 0.435% 11,440,235

School District #74 12,740,000 100.000% 12,740,000

School District #219 139,728,951 (2) 16.296% 22,770,230

Oakton Community College #535 33,175,000 3.031% 1,005,534

Total Overlapping Debt 6,340,751,693 63,008,469

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt 6,343,072,852 65,329,628

Data Source: Cook County Tax Extension Department

* Determined by ratio of assessed valuation of property subject to taxation in the Village to valuation of 
      property subject to taxation in overlapping unit.

Notes:

(1) Includes Illinois EPA Revolving Loan Bonds

(2) Includes original principal and interest amounts of outstanding General Obligation Capital
Appreciation Bonds

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Village's
Share of

Gross Debt Debt
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates - Last Ten Fiscal Years
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

See Following Page



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates - Last Ten Fiscal Years
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

2007 2008 2009

Issuing Body
Direct (Locally Imposed)

Village of Lincolnwood 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%
Village of Lincolnwood Home Rule 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%
    Total Direct Rates 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Overlapping (State Imposed)
State of Illinois 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Cook County 1.00% 1.00% 2.00%
RTA 0.75% 1.00% 1.00%
    Total Overlapping Rates 6.75% 7.00% 8.00%

    Total Direct and Overlapping Rates 8.75% 9.00% 10.00%

Data Source: Illinois Department of Revenue
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%
1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%
2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%
8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 8.00%

10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00%
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Retailers' Occupation, Service Occupation and Use Tax Distribution - Last Ten Fiscal Years
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

State
Fiscal Sales Tax
Year Distributions Amount Percentage

2007 $ 8,634,119      1,819,685$   26.70%        
2008 8,383,508      (250,611)       (2.90%)         
2009 7,580,207      (803,301)       (9.58%)         
2010 6,759,593      (820,614)       (10.83%)       
2011 7,303,975      544,382        8.05%          
2012 7,373,902      69,927          0.96%          
2013 7,502,274      128,372        1.74%          
2014 7,443,297      (58,977)         (0.79%)         
2015 7,504,348      61,051          0.82%          
2016 7,351,368      (152,980)       (2.04%)         

Data Source: State of Illinois

Annual Change
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Schedule of Legal Debt Margin - Last Ten Fiscal Years

2007 2008 2009 2010

Legal Debt Limit $ -                -                -                -                

Total Net Debt Applicable to Limit -                -                -                -                

Legal Debt Margin -                -                -                -                

Total Net Debt Applicable to the Limit
as a Percentage of Debt Limit 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Data Source: Audited Financial Statements

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

-                59,841,718   55,465,700   49,447,717   49,719,915     48,833,359     

-                6,425,000     5,085,000     3,705,000     2,285,000       1,540,000       

-                53,416,718   50,380,700   45,742,717   47,434,915     47,293,359     

0.00% 10.74% 9.17% 7.49% 4.60% 3.15%

Assessed Value $ 566,183,876   

Bonded Debt Limit - 8.625% of 
     Assessed Value 48,833,359     

Amount of Debt Applicable to Limit 1,540,000       

Legal Debt Margin 47,293,359     

Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2016
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April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Fiscal Population
Year (1) Village State

2007 12,359      $ 443,824,049   $ 35,911 4.00% 5.50%

2008 12,359      443,824,049   35,911 5.50% 7.30%

2009 12,359      443,824,049   35,911 6.00% 10.50%

2010 12,359      443,824,049   35,911 7.20% 10.30%

2011 12,590      491,161,080   39,012 6.80% 9.80%

2012 12,590      491,161,080   39,012 6.50% 8.60%

2013 12,590      491,161,080   39,012 5.20% 7.10%

2014 12,590      491,161,080   39,012 N/A N/A

2015 12,590      491,161,080   39,012 N/A N/A

2016 12,590      491,161,080   39,012 N/A N/A

Data Source:
(1) U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census
(2) Illinois Department of Labor, Illinois Department of Commerce and Economic Opportunity
and Northeastern Illinois Planning Commission

The U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census defines personal income as a measure of income
received from all sources by residents of the Village during a calendar year.

N/A - Not Available

Income Income (1)

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Demographic and Economic Statistics - Last Ten Fiscal Years

Per
Estimated Capita
Personal Personal Unemployment Rate (2)
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Construction - Last Ten Fiscal Years
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Fiscal Number Property Number Property Number Property 
Year of Units Value of Units Value of Permits Value

2007 N/A N/A 21 10,450,900 694          17,955,436  

2008 1           818,004     8 6,989,300   817          12,832,731  

2009 N/A N/A 4 3,724,600   943          10,446,483  

2010 N/A N/A 1 567,000      829          10,459,481  

2011 N/A N/A N/A N/A 869          13,856,843  

2012 4           1,524,154  3          2,457,029   1,056       14,867,739  

2013 -        -            5 3,484,700   707          11,575,025  

2014 2           2,580,916  4 3,122,250   965          14,109,942  

2015 -        -            5 3,744,549   887          12,710,383  

2016 -        -            1 411,060      1,139       18,967,347  

Data Source: Village's Building Department Records

Other Construction
Commercial Construction Residential Construction Alterations, Etc.
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Principal Employers - Current Fiscal Year and Nine Fiscal Years Ago
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Percentage Percentage
of Total of Total
Village Village

Employer Employees Rank Population Employees Rank Population

ATF 244 1    1.94% N/A N/A N/A
Carson Pirie Scott 142 2    1.13% N/A N/A N/A
Lincolnwood Place 145 3    1.15% N/A N/A N/A
Grossinger Autoplex 135 4    1.07% N/A N/A N/A
Loeber Motors 121 5    0.96% N/A N/A N/A
Lowe's 131 6    1.04% N/A N/A N/A
Trim Tex 111 7    0.88% N/A N/A N/A
Kohl's 112 8    0.89% N/A N/A N/A
Olive Garden 109 9    0.87% N/A N/A N/A
Village of Lincolnwood 103 10  0.82% N/A N/A N/A

1,353            10.75% N/A N/A

Data Source: Village Community Development Department Records and U.S. Census Bureau.

N/A - Information is not available for nine fiscal years ago.

2016 2007
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Full-Time Equivalent Village Government Employees by Function - Last Ten Fiscal Years
April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

See Following Page



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Full-Time Equivalent Village Government Employees by Function - Last Ten Fiscal Years

2007 2008 2009

General Government
Executive 9.0      9.0      9.0      
Administration 5.5      5.5      5.5      
Finance 5.0      5.0      5.0      

Public Safety
Police

Sworn 33.0    33.0    33.0    
Non-Sworn 13.0    13.0    13.0    

Fire
Sworn* -         -         -         
Non-Sworn 1.0      1.0      1.0      

Building 5.5      5.5      4.5      

Village Services
Community Development 1.0      1.0      1.0      
Public Works 23.5    23.5    22.5    
Parks and Recreation 11.5    11.5    11.5    

Total 108.0  108.0  106.0  

Data Source: Village Records

* The Village contracts for Fire and EMS Services.

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

9.0      9.0      9.0      9.0      9.0        9.0        9.0        
5.0      5.0      5.0      5.0      5.0        5.0        5.0        
5.0      5.0      5.0      5.0      5.0        5.0        5.0        

32.0    32.0    32.0    32.0    32.0      33.0      33.0      
13.0    12.5    12.5    12.5    12.5      12.0      12.0      

-         -         -         -         -           -            -            
1.0      1.0      1.0      1.0      1.0        1.0        1.0        

-         -         -         -         -           -            -            

4.0      4.0      4.0      4.0      4.0        4.5        5.0        
22.5    22.5    22.5    22.5    22.5      23.0      23.0      
11.5    10.5    10.5    10.5    10.5      10.0      10.0      

103.0  101.5  101.5  101.5  101.5    102.5    103.0    
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Operating Indicators by Function/Program - Last Ten Fiscal Years

2007 2008 2009

General Government
Building and Zoning

Permits Issued 849         827         949         
Inspections Conducted 3,250      2,217      1,932      
Contractors Licenses Issued 980         950         682         
Business Licenses Issued 193         220         340         
Legal Notices Published 18           18           25           

Personnel
Employment Exams Given 12           68           83           
Full-Time Employees Hired 9             10           9             
Part-Time/Seasonal Employees Hired 10           198         166         

Legal
Ordinances Written 38           68           46           
Resolutions Written 52           78           74           

Vehicles
Vehicles Replaced 5             3             3             

Public Safety
Police

Part I Offenses 579         555         625         
Part II Offenses 1,268      1,530      1,314      
Traffic Accidents 731         804         810         
Criminal Arrests 701         868         886         
Total Calls for Service 12,135    13,945    12,978    

Fire
EMS Related Incidents 1,155      1,195      1,276      
Structural Fire Incidents 11           13           9             
Other Fire and Rescue Incidents 472         457         10           
Hazardous Materials Incidents 23           37           28           
All Other Received 121         165         685         
Mutual Aid Received 28           25           70           
Mutual Aid Given 21           39           43           
Total Incidents 1,782      1,931      2,066      

Highways and Streets
Complete Sweeps of the Village 10           10           10           
Tons of Salt Used 850         688         600         
Reconstruction by Contractor (Feet) -             -             -             
Tons of Asphalt Installed 140         62           150         

Public Service
Waterworks and Sewerage Systems

Metered Customers 4,191      4,207      4,215      
Gallons of Water Delivered to Residences

and Businesses (Thousands of Gallons) 630,843  624,556  577,695  
Feet of Sanitary Sewer Televised 4,200      -             -             
Feet of Sanitary Sewer Cleaned 4,000      400         100,000  
Water Meters Installed 50           200         4,500      

Data Source: Village Departments

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

822         869         861         801         971         920         1147
1,390      1,336      1,337      1,398      1,239      1,450      3657

339         599         499         557         560         506         664
416         505         406         559         602         613         828
25           26           23           25           19           25           14

83           -             46           -             86           67           14
5             3             7             7             19           8             10

109         187         180         180         180         180         180

69           61           53           59           47           64           52
44           74           79           60           64           58           63

3             3             4             5             5             8             3

500         496         576         748         575         444         404
827         1,047      1,394      1,071      978         1,260      998
897         948         851         897         818         853         897
808         957         946         1,177      725         835         678

18,128    20,118    20,688    21,449    18,228    21,881    22,522

1,262      1,264      1,263      1,416      1,338      1,365      1,395
38           18           7             13           12           10           11

291         26           23           23           24           39           40
63           30           18           52           20           26           25

293         645         570         585         682         584         600
24           28           26           27           16           35           35
32           36           41           33           39           50           40

1,947      1,983      1,948      2,089      2,131      2,109      2,146      

10           10           10           10           10           10           10           
600         800         800         800         1,000      750         600         

-             -             4,625      -             -             -                        -  
700         200         500         700         900         800         405         

4,232      4,226      4,228      4,228      4,228      4,223      4,231      

508,073  529,871  483,640  500,000  498,000  447,000  451,000  
235,000  -             500         1,000      1,500      1,000      400         

500         57,000    57,000    57,000    50,000    55,000    105,600  
10           40           30           50           100         35           35           
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VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program - Last Ten Fiscal Years

2007 2008 2009

General Government
Land, General (Acres) 47              47              47              
Land, Right of Way (Acres) 352            352            352            
Buildings 3                3                3                

Public Safety
Police

Land (Acres) 1                1                1                
Buildings 1                1                1                
Vehicles 20              20              20              

Fire
Land (Acres) 1                1                1                
Buildings 1                1                1                
Vehicles 12              12              12              

Public Works
Land (Acres) 3                3                3                
Streets (Lane Miles) 35              35              35              
Buildings 1                1                1                
Vehicles 29              29              29              

Enterprise
Land (Acres) 3.5             3.5             35.0           
Combined Sanitary/Storm (Miles) 59              59              59              
Water Mains (Miles) 53              53              53              
Buildings 1                1                1                
Vehicles 17              17              17              

Data Source: Various Village Departments

April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

47              47              47              47              47               47               47               
352            352            352            352            352             352             352             

3                3                3                3                3                 3                 3                 

1                1                1                1                1                 1                 1                 
1                1                1                1                1                 1                 1                 

20              19              19              19              22               26               26               

1                1                1                1                1                 1                 1                 
1                1                1                1                1                 1                 1                 

12              13              13              12              12               13               13               

3                3                3                3                3                 3                 3                 
35              35              35              35              35               35               35               
1                1                1                1                1                 19               19               

29              29              29              29              29               26               26               

35              35              35              35              35               35               35               
59              59              59              59              59               59               59               
53              53              53              53              53               53               53               
1                1                1                1                1                 1                 1                 

17              17              17              17              17               17               17               
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April 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Principal Official

Village President $ 3,000         

Village Clerk 3,000         

Finance Director/Treasurer 50,000       

Data Source: Village Records

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, ILLINOIS

Surety Bonds of Principal Officials
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Request for Board Action 
 
 
REFERRED TO BOARD:  October 20, 2016        AGENDA ITEM NO:  8     
 
ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT:  Community Development  
 
SUBJECT:  Consideration of an Ordinance Concerning Case #PC-01-16 Approving a New 

Comprehensive Plan for the Village of Lincolnwood 
 
SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:  
At its September 20, 2016 and October 5, 2016 meeting, the Village Board considered the 
recommendation from the Plan Commission to adopt a new Comprehensive Plan.  During deliberation, 
the Village Board identified three policy recommendations for further discussion:  1) Multi-family 
redevelopment within and adjacent to commercial corridors; 2) encouraging senior housing; and 3) 
vacation of alleyways over time.   
 
In considering this matter, a majority of the Village Board concluded that the policy recommendation to 
encourage multi-family redevelopment within and adjacent to commercial corridors should remain as 
recommended by the Plan Commission.  The Village Board did not concur with the Plan Commission 
regarding the policy to encourage senior housing and directed this policy recommendation to be 
removed.  Finally, the Village Board concurred with the intent of the Plan Commission recommendation 
regarding the vacation of alleyways over time but directed the policy to be clarified to vacate alleyways 
“where feasible” over time.  Below is the revised policy based on the direction provided at the last 
meeting (added text appears in italics and underline). 
 

In blocks where alleys exist, require new residential development to provide vehicular access 
from the public street where feasible so that alleys can be vacated over time. 

Over the past several decades, the Village has vacated several residential alleys due to 
maintenance costs and public safety concerns. However, alleys that remain are the only means of 
access to residential lots with rear garages. As redevelopment occurs over time, new residential 
lots should provide access from the public street wherever possible based on conditions related to lot 
width and site access. This will allow the Village to vacate additional alleys once rear garage access 
is no longer required.  

  
By a 4-2 vote, the Village Board directed the Village Attorney to prepare the requisite Ordinance to adopt 
the new Comprehensive Plan.  Consistent with the direction, attached for approval is this proposed 
Ordinance prepared by the Village Attorney.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:  
None 
 
 



DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: 
1. Proposed Ordinance
2. Comprehensive Plan Dated October 2016

RECOMMENDED MOTION:  
Move to approve an Ordinance adopting a new Comprehensive Plan for the Village of Lincolnwood. 



 
ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

 
AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING A 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FOR THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Division 12 of Article 11 of the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 
ILCS 5/11-12-1 et seq., the Village has the power to adopt a comprehensive plan; and  
 

WHEREAS, in March 2015, the Village initiated the process to develop a new 
comprehensive plan to ensure the continued high quality of life in Lincolnwood by establishing a 
community vision and policy guidelines regarding growth and development (“Comprehensive 
Plan”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village convened a Comprehensive Plan Citizen Committee, which met 
on March 12, 2015 and held a public workshop on April 9, 2015, concerning a new 
Comprehensive Plan, and sought additional input through online residential and business 
questionnaires; and  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to notice duly published in the Lincolnwood Review on January 7, 
2016, the Lincolnwood Plan Commission (“Plan Commission”) conducted a public hearing on 
January 27, 2016, April 13, 2016, and May 25, 2016, concerning the adoption of a new 
Comprehensive Plan for the Village; and 
 

WHEREAS, at the conclusion of the public hearing, the Plan Commission made findings 
and recommended that the President and Board of Trustees adopt a new Comprehensive Plan for 
the Village; and 

 
WHEREAS, having considered the findings and recommendations of the Plan 

Commission, the President and Board of Trustees have found and determined that the adoption 
of a new Comprehensive Plan, as set forth in this Ordinance, is in the best interests of the Village 
and its residents; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as 
follows: 

SECTION 1. RECITALS.  The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this 
Ordinance are found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Ordinance. 
 

SECTION 2. ADOPTION OF COMPREHENSIVE PLAN.  The President and Board of 
Trustees hereby adopt a new Comprehensive Plan for the Village, in the form attached to this 
Ordinance as Exhibit A.  
 

SECTION 3. NOTICE OF ADOPTION.  The Village Clerk is hereby authorized and 
directed to record a notice of adoption of the new Comprehensive Plan in the Office of the Cook 
County Recorder. 

 



 SECTION 4.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance will take full force and effect 
following its passage, approval, and publication in the manner provided by law. Pursuant to 
Section 11-12-7 of the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 ILCS 5/11-12-17, the Comprehensive Plan 
adopted pursuant to this Ordinance will take effect 10 days following recording of the notice as 
provided in Section 3 of this Ordinance. 

PASSED this _____ day of _____, 2016. 

AYES:           
 
NAYS:           
 
ABSENT:           
 
ABSTENTION:          

 
 

APPROVED by me this _____ day of ______, 2016. 

 
             

Gerald C. Turry, President 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 

 
ATTESTED and FILED in my office the 
_____ day of _______, 2016. 
 
 
        
Beryl Herman, Village Clerk 
Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois 
 
 
 



Prepared by and after recording 
return to: 
 
Village of Lincolnwood 
6900 N. Lincoln Avenue 
Lincolnwood, IL 60712 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF ADOPTION OF A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FOR  
THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNWOOD, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 

 Notice is hereby given that on ______, _______, 2016, the Village Board of Trustees of 
the Village of Lincolnwood, Cook County, Illinois, did adopt Ordinance No. ___, “An Ordinance 
Adopting a Comprehensive Plan for Village of Lincolnwood,” which ordinance is on file in the 
office of the Village Clerk. 
 
       Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Beryl Herman 
       Village Clerk 

Village of Lincolnwood 
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Introduction
4 4
Purpose of the 
Comprehensive Plan

Planning Process



The Village of Lincolnwood is a 
central Chicago suburb located 

in the heart of the Chicago Metropol-
itan Area. Nestled between the City 
of Chicago and various northern Chi-
cago municipalities, Lincolnwood has 
reached full build-out, placing empha-
sis on internal growth. In March of 
2015, the Village initiated a 12 month 
process to develop a new Compre-
hensive Plan that would help guide 
reinvestment within the community 
and ensure the continued high quality 
of life in Lincolnwood. The Plan will 
establish a community vision, pro-
viding recommendations and policy 
regarding land use and development; 
residential neighborhoods; commer-
cial and industrial areas; transpor-
tation and mobility; recreation, open 
space, and environmental features; 
and community facilities.

Purpose of the 
Comprehensive 
Plan
A Comprehensive Plan offers 
guidance for growth, development, 
and physical improvement within a 
municipality. The document is reflec-
tive of the local community, utilizing 
community input to identify a vision 
for the future supported by all key 
stakeholders. Based on foundational 
analysis, the Comprehensive Plan is 
able to identify tangible actions that 
can be enacted to achieve this vision.

At its most basic, a Comprehensive 
Plan is a “how-to” guide, assisting 
with land use patterns, neighborhood 
cohesiveness, business growth, mobil-
ity and accessibility, maintenance of 
community facilities, and manage-
ment of parks and recreational oppor-
tunities. Opportunities were provided 
for residents to voice their opinions, 
provide feedback, and share ideas. 
Both in-person events and online 
tools were employed throughout the 
planning process to gather invaluable 
public opinion, ensuring the Compre-
hensive Plan is representative of the 
community it serves.

Planning 
Process
The planning process was designed to 
collect community input, review ex-
isting conditions, establish a clear vi-
sion, and generate recommendations 
and strategies for the Village moving 
forward. The process included five 
separate steps, aimed at developing 
the plan over a 12 month period. 
Overall, the process was structured 
around the collection of communi-
ty input through various outreach 
opportunities, helping to ensure the 
Comprehensive Plan is applicable to 
the community it serves.

The planning process included the 
following five steps:

Step 1: 
Project Initiation & Outreach

Step 2: 
Existing Conditions Analysis

Step 3: 
Community Vision, Goals & Objectives

Step 4: 
Community-Wide Plans & Policies

Step 5: 
Plan Documents & Adoption

4 Introduction | Lincolnwood Comprehensive Plan
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The community profile establishes 
a baseline understanding of the 

Village of Lincolnwood, creating a 
foundation for the recommendations 
and strategies of the Comprehensive 
Plan. This includes an overview of 
the Village’s regional setting, history, 
past planning efforts, demographics, 
land use, development regulations, 
transportation, parks system, and 
community facilities. This information 
defines a background for the com-
munity and outlines current existing 
conditions, ensuring that the Compre-
hensive Plan is readily applicable to 
Lincolnwood today and in the future. 

Regional 
Setting
The Village of Lincolnwood is a 
community of approximately 12,500 
residents located in Cook County, 
Northern Illinois, at the heart of 
the Chicago Metropolitan Region. 
Lincolnwood is comprised of 2.69 
square miles nestled within the City 
of Chicago’s diverse neighborhoods as 
one of the first communities directly 
north of Chicago. Lincolnwood is 
bordered by Chicago to the east and 
south and the Village of Skokie to the 
north and west.

Lincolnwood’s location provides 
direct access to the City of Chicago 
and greater Chicago region. Interstate 
94, the Edens Expressway, runs 
north to south through the west side 
of the community, connecting the 
Village to other municipalities in the 
region, central Chicago, and O’Hare 
International Airport. In addition, 
the Chicago Transit Authority (CTA) 
operates a variety of transit options 
connecting Lincolnwood with Down-
town Chicago and numerous Chicago 
neighborhoods. Closely knit into the 
urban fabric of Chicago, Lincolnwood 
offers a suburban community in an 
urban setting. 

6



Community 
History
That land that would become Lin-
colnwood was originally home to 
Potawatomi Native Americans, who 
were forced to vacate the land due to 
the Indian Boundary Treaty of 1816. 
The region was settled by farmers in 
the 1840s and 1850s, most prominently 
German immigrants George Proesel, 
whose grandson would become the 
Village’s mayor in the 1930s, and 
Johann Tess, for whom the Village 
would be named during the 1800s and 
early 1900s. 

With abundant land, the area saw 
steady growth as an agrarian commu-
nity. The Halfway House Saloon was 
the community’s first commercial 
development, built in 1873. Further 
population growth was spurred by 
the completion of a Chicago & North 
Western Railway station in adjacent 
Niles Center (now Skokie) in 1891 
and the North Shore Channel in 1909. 
With additional saloons and taverns 
developing, 359 residents incorporat-
ed as the Village of Tessville in 1911, 
giving the community power to grant 
liquor licenses. The Village remained 
largely rural until the extension of an 
electric rail service to Niles Center in 
the mid-1920s.

During the American Prohibition, the 
Village of Tessville gained a repu-
tation as a haven for drinking and 
gambling, with numerous speakeas-
ies popping up in the community. 
This image would persist until the 
efforts of Henry A. Proesel, George 
Proesel’s grandson and the Village’s 
longest-serving president. Proesel 
coordinated with the federal govern-
ment to hire the entire unemployed 
workforce in Tessville for a public 
works project, planting over approx-
imately 10,000 elm trees on Village 
streets. In 1934 Proesel helped pass a 
liquor license law which limited the 
number of licenses allowable within 
the municipality. This would become 
a model for other communities across 
the nation. Perhaps his most lasting 
action, in 1936 Proesel changed the 
Village’s name to Lincolnwood.

Through the 1950s Lincolnwood was 
able to reduce taxes by fostering 
growth of industry and commercial 
uses, bringing in major companies 
like Bell & Howell. The Village saw 
significant population growth with 
the opening of the Edens Express-
way (I-94) in 1951. The community’s 
population grew rapidly, from just 
over 3,000 in 1950 to almost 13,000 in 
1970. In the late 1900s Lincolnwood 
accomplished many firsts in terms 
of elected representation, includ-
ing Madeleine Grant becoming the 
Village’s first female president in 1993 
and Peter Moy becoming the first 
Asian American to serve as a mayor 
in Illinois in 2000.

Lincolnwood in 1999. Source: U.S. Geological Survey
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Past Plans, 
Studies & 
Reports
Past plans, studies, and reports repre-
sent efforts conducted by the Village 
and other local bodies that will help 
guide the recommendations of the 
Lincolnwood Comprehensive Plan. In 
many cases, the issues and opportu-
nities addressed in previous planning 
efforts are still relevant today and 
can assist with development of new 
strategies for the community. Where 
appropriate, the Comprehensive 
Plan will integrate or build upon the 
recommendations of previous plans 
and provide a broader context for 
coordinated decision making.

Northeast 
Industrial District 
Redevelopment Plan 
and Project (1996)
The Northeast Industrial District 
Redevelopment Plan and Project out-
lines the details of establishing a tax 
increment financing (TIF) redevel-
opment project area for a northeast 
industrial district, including various 
parcels north of Pratt Avenue and 
east of Hamlin Avenue. The plan 
aimed to encourage reinvestment in 
the district as an important economic 
base, recommending improvements to 
public infrastructure, rehabilitation of 
aging facilities, utility improvements, 
and necessary land acquisition. The 
document enabled the establishment 
of the Northeast Industrial District 
TIF. Implementation of recommen-
dations included the construction of 
the Northeast Parkway and extension 
of North Central Park Avenue to im-
prove circulation and provide better 
access on the site. 

Lincolnwood Vision 
2020 (1997)
The Lincolnwood Vision 2020 
established a strategic plan for the 
Village’s future through the year 
2020. The planning process included 
extensive community outreach to 
create a vision for the Village guided 
by residents, businesses, officials, and 
community stakeholders. Focusing 
on six key elements, the plan outlines 
future trends and recommendations 
to guide municipal decision making. 
The six key focus areas include:

•	 Education
•	 Government
•	 Community Diversity
•	 Community Development
•	 Economic Development
•	 The Environment

Touhy-Lawndale 
District 
Redevelopment Plan 
and Project (1998)
The Touhy-Lawndale District Redevel-
opment Plan and Project outlines the 
details of establishing a TIF rede-
velopment project area for the site 
southeast of the intersection of Touhy 
Avenue and Lawndale Avenue. The 
plan recommended redevelopment of 
the two structures on the site into a 
single planned commercial or special 
use. The document enabled the estab-
lishment of the Touhy-Lawndale TIF 
district. General recommendations 
of the plan were implemented, with 
the site currently containing a Lowe’s 
Home Improvement store. 

Northeast Business 
Park Improvement 
Plan (2000)
As a follow-up to the establishment 
of the Northeast Industrial and 
Touhy-Lawndale TIF Districts, the 
Northeast Business Park Improve-
ment Plan was developed. The Plan 
unified the entire area bounded by 
Pratt Avenue, McCormick Boulevard, 
Touhy Avenue, and Hamlin Avenue, 
with the exception of residential 
uses along Hamlin Avenue, as the 
Northeast Business Park. Identified 
improvements include street circu-
lation projects, expanded employee 
parking, short-term truck parking, co-
ordinate landscape treatments, façade 
upgrades, and lighting treatments, 
and gateway signage. 
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Lincoln Avenue 
Corridor Plan (2005)
The Lincoln Avenue Corridor Plan 
provides analysis and recommenda-
tions to benefit the Lincoln Avenue 
Corridor and create a lively, attractive 
main street within the community. 
The plan reviews similar munici-
palities in the area and establish-
es a vision for reinvestment and 
redevelopment along Lincoln Avenue. 
The document further focuses on 
three overarching concepts for the 
corridor:

•	 Changes to land use to estab-
lish three business districts at 
major intersections along Lincoln 
Avenue

•	 Enhancements to the public right-
of-way to improve public safety 
and foster a strong sense of place

•	 Development regulations that 
control the shape and force of new 
structures, based in neo-tradi-
tional planning and new urbanism 
concepts 

Though the plan has not yet been 
entirely implemented, a Lincoln 
Avenue overlay zoning district was 
established.

Lincolnwood 
Comprehensive Plan 
(2006)
The Village’s previous comprehen-
sive plan was adopted in 2001, with 
subsequent amendments made in 
2006. The plan provides land use 
and development recommendations, 
focusing on a review of development 
regulations and specific focus areas 
to be addressed within the Village. 
Many of these focus areas have been 
addressed in separate plans and 
reports, both prior to and after the 
development of the 2001 Comprehen-
sive Plan.

Lincolnwood Bikeway 
Plan (2006)
The Bikeway Plan provides specific 
recommendations for establishing a 
thorough and dedicated bikeway in 
Lincolnwood. The Plan emphasized 
that Lincolnwood is in a central posi-
tion to contribute to a larger regional 
bicycle system linked to paths in 
Chicago and Skokie. This included 
general guidelines for development of 
bicycle infrastructure and identi-
fication of potential on-street and 
off-street bicycle routes. 

Lincoln Avenue 
Streetscape Master 
Plan (2009)
The Lincoln Avenue Streetscape Mas-
ter Plan was completed as a follow-up 
to the Lincoln Avenue Corridor Plan, 
providing specific streetscape im-
provements and visualizations based 
on recommendations of the Corridor 
Plan. Improvements focus on a road 
diet, curb bump-outs, bike lanes, and 
other measures to slow down cars 
and increase pedestrian safety. In 
addition, landscaped medians, entry 
monuments, and other pedestrian 
amenities were identified to aid with 
improving the physical appearance of 
the corridor. 

Comprehensive Parks 
and Recreation 
Master Plan (2011)
The Comprehensive Parks and Recre-
ation Master Plan was established to 
inventory, analyze, and provide rec-
ommendations for all elements of the 
Parks and Recreation Department. 
The Plan offers recommendations to 
continue high quality programs and 
services and maximize recreational 
opportunities for residents while 
managing the fiscal constraints of the 
department. The detailed focus of the 
Plan allows for park-by-park specific 
recommendations for improved main-
tenance and programming, and the 
development of various scenarios and 
options for creation of new parks and 
facilities. Individual recommenda-
tions of the implementation plan are 
prioritized on a schedule extending 
from 2011 to 2021.
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Lincolnwood Parks 
and Recreation 
Department Strategic 
Plan 2012-2015 (2011)
The Lincolnwood Parks and 
Recreation Department Strategic 
Plan establishes a vision, goals, 
and objectives for the department 
between the years 2012 and 2015. The 
Plan was part of a series of strategic 
and long term plans developed to 
provide guidance for the department. 
Specific objectives were included in 
the plan, with responsibility attached 
to members of the department and 
a fiscal year targeted for completion. 
Given Lincolnwood’s size and position 
relative to neighboring communities, 
implementation largely focused on 
improved programming and services. 

Lincoln-Touhy TIF 
Redevelopment Plan 
(2011)
Prior to the termination of the Lin-
coln-Touhy TIF in 2015, improvements 
in its boundaries were guided by 
the 2011 Lincoln-Touhy TIF Redevel-
opment Plan. This TIF Redevelop-
ment Plan was completed as part 
of establishing the Lincoln-Touhy 
TIF District, which included parcels 
around the intersection of Lincoln 
Avenue and Touhy Avenue. The 
Plan demonstrated the need for 
redevelopment and improvement in 
the area, noting issues within the 
district, citing supporting policy from 
the 2006 Comprehensive Plan, and 
providing specific cost estimates and 
action steps for improvements. The 
main focus of the Lincoln-Touhy TIF 
District is the redevelopment of the 
Purple Hotel site.

Devon Avenue 
Corridor-Technical 
Assistance Panel 
Report (2013)
The Devon Avenue Corridor-Technical 
Assistance Panel Report was a joint 
planning effort initiated by the City 
of Chicago and Village of Lincoln-
wood, completed by the Urban Land 
Institute (ULI). The report identifies 
recent concerns with the Devon Ave-
nue Corridor following the closing of 
anchor retailers in the area. Further, 
the split between Lincolnwood on 
the north and Chicago on the south 
creates additional challenges in the 
area. The plan identifies preferred 
land uses, including specific types of 
retailers that could benefit the local 
market, streetscape improvements, 
and parking options.

Lincolnwood Strategic 
Plan Report 
2014-2016 (2014)
The Lincolnwood Strategic Plan 
Report provides a vision with specific 
core values and goals for the Village 
between the years 2014 and 2016. The 
Strategic Plan offers direction for Vil-
lage staff and elected officials to help 
with important decision making and 
policy choices. The expressed core 
values help define areas of emphasis 
within the Village, including:

•	 Education
•	 Diversity
•	 Business Development
•	 Integration of Neighborhoods
•	 Parks and Open Space
•	 Sound/Professional Government
•	 Customer Service

Devon-Lincoln TIF 
Redevelopment Plan 
(2014)
The Devon-Lincoln TIF Redevelop-
ment Plan was completed as part of 
establishing the Devon-Lincoln TIF 
District. This area includes, with a 
few exceptions, parcels adjacent to 
and contained within the triangle 
formed by Devon Avenue, Lincoln 
Avenue, and Proesel Avenue as well 
as parcels north of Devon Avenue 
from Lincoln Avenue to McCormick 
Boulevard. The Plan demonstrates the 
need for redevelopment and improve-
ment in the area, noting issues within 
the district, citing supporting policy 
from the 2006 Comprehensive Plan, 
and providing specific cost estimates 
and action steps for improvements. 
The main focus of the Devon-Lincoln 
TIF District will be commercial uses 
along the two corridors.

10 Community Profile | Lincolnwood Comprehensive Plan



Demographics
The following summarizes and 
highlights existing and projected de-
mographic, housing, and employment 
data for the Village of Lincolnwood. 
This information provides context 
for existing conditions and helps to 
inform the planning process moving 
forward. 

Demographic 
Characteristics 
The Village of Lincolnwood’s popula-
tion is stable and projected to grow 
slightly over the next several years. 
The Village is also getting older with 
the median age projected to continue 
to increase to 47 in 2020 up from 
45 in 2010. While the 65 and older 
population is projected to experience 
the largest increase, the 25 to 44 year 
old age cohort is expected to grow 
as well. This is a key segment of 
the population in that it represents 
households with children which is a 
positive indication of the stability of 
the community and its future. While 
the County is also aging, it is doing so 
at a slower rate and has a projected 
median age of 37, ten years less than 
that of Lincolnwood. 

Median household income continues 
to increase. Currently at $89,720 it is 
expected to increase to $104,723 by 
2020. This is considerably higher than 
that of Cook County at $53,284 and 
$60,807 respectively. Growth is pro-
jected in all upper end income groups 
above $100,000. 

The Village is currently and projected 
to continue to be largely white (as de-
fined by the US Census), while there 
is continued growth in the Asian 
population which will account for 
approximately one-third of the total 
population by 2020. The White popu-
lation is generally comparable to that 
of Cook County, but other segments 
align much differently. Most notably, 
Lincolnwood’s black population 
accounts for only 1% of the popula-
tion versus 23% for Cook County; the 
Hispanic population represents 25% 
of the County population but only 7% 
of Lincolnwood. The Asian population 
in particular represents the largest 
disparity, being four times greater in 
terms of total population in Lincoln-
wood versus the rest of Cook County. 

It should be noted that the racial and 
ethnic categories discussed are de-
fined by the U.S. Census. Per the U.S. 
Census definition, those individuals 
who identify themselves as “His-
panic” (which is an ethnicity) also 
identify with a racial category such 
as “White” or “Black.” As such, the 
Hispanic category cannot be added to 
the sum of the racial categories.

The combination of unique demo-
graphic characteristics including the 
increasing presence of young families, 
seniors, diversity of ethnicities, and 
higher incomes should be embraced 
by the Village. These characteristics 
can be leveraged in terms of future 
housing and commercial opportuni-
ties as well as services and program-
ming. 

Racial Composition (2015)
Lincolnwood

Hispanic Population (2015)
Lincolnwood & Cook County

Source: ESRI Business AnalystSource: ESRI Business Analyst
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Demographic Summary (2010-2020)
2010 2015 2020

Lincolnwood
Population 12,590 12,576 12,601
Households 4,341 4,330 4,339
Median Household Income -- $89,720 $104,723

Source: ESRI Business Analyst; Chicago Metropolitan Agency for Planning; Houseal Lavigne Associates
Median household income data unavailable for 2010

Age Distribution (2015)
Lincolnwood

Source: ESRI Business Analyst
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Housing 
There are approximately 4,639 
housing units in Lincolnwood with 
the most common being an owner oc-
cupied detached single-family home. 
Over 75% of homes in the Village are 
single-family detached and more than 
87% of all units (including multi-fam-
ily) are owner occupied. Just 13% of 
the Village’s housing is rental. This is 
a much higher home ownership than 
Cook County which currently has 
about a 50% ownership rate.

During the early 2000’s, the Village ex-
perienced some reinvestment in the 
housing stock through tear-downs of 
older single-family homes. While the 
Village had 26 single-family building 
permits issued in 2004 that number 
dropped to zero in 2010 as a result 
of the downturn in the economy and 
the real estate market. Recently, the 
number of permits issued for new 
single-family homes has begun to 
increase with a total of 7 being issued 
in 2014. Although those figures are 
well behind that of the early 2000’s it 
is an indication that the housing mar-
ket is improving. Still, only 5% of the 
total housing stock was constructed 
in the past 15 years.

While the housing stock is older, with 
nearly 75% having been built before 
1970, most homes are well main-
tained. The Village does have a variety 
of single family product available al-
though there is less availability in the 
single-family attached (townhomes, 
rowhomes) and newer multi-family. 
Over 100 building permits have been 
issued for single-family homes in the 
past 10 years.

Given the Village’s location proxi-
mate to the City of Chicago, access to 
mass transit, major arterials, quality 
schools, and other assets, it is gener-
ally well positioned to attract young 
professionals. On the other end of the 
spectrum, the Village and the market 
area’s population is aging. During the 
public outreach process, many older 
residents stated that they continue to 
live in single-family attached homes, 
in part by choice, but also due to the 
lack of available alternative housing 
options. There may be an opportu-
nity for the Village to accommodate 
additional attached housing and 
multi-family (both for-sale and rental) 
catering to both the younger and 
older segments of the market.

Employment 
Lincolnwood has a strong employ-
ment base given its relatively limited 
geography and resident population. 
According to the latest data available 
from the U.S. Census Bureau there 
are approximately 9,000 primary jobs 
(positions that are the jobholders pri-
mary source of income) based in the 
Village. In 2008 the Village, like most 
of the region, suffered a loss in total 
employment as businesses closed, 
reduced staff, or consolidated. While 
there has been recovery and some 
segments such as Healthcare are ex-
periencing continued growth, losses 
in other jobs such as manufacturing 
continue to languish.
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The Village’s diverse economic base, 
which includes retail, restaurants and 
entertainment, as well as industri-
al and manufacturing businesses, 
accounts for a range of employment 
options not found in other commu-
nities. The Village should continue to 
support and encourage this business 
mix to ensure a diversified tax base, 
business retention and attraction, 
maintain a daytime population to sup-
port retail and restaurant uses, and 
position the Village as a destination 
for new residents. 

Currently, most jobs located in 
Lincolnwood are held by individu-
als from outside of the community 
and the majority of Lincolnwood 
residents are employed in the City 
of Chicago and surrounding areas. 
Only 221 individuals both live and 
work in Lincolnwood, while each day 
over 5,000 residents leave the Village 
for work and approximately 8,700 
non-residents commute to the Village 
for work.

Inflow/Outflow Job Counts (2011)
Lincolnwood

8,780 - People who Work in Lincolnwood, but Live elsewhere
5,027 - People who Live in Lincolnwood, but Work elsewhere
221 - People who Live and Work in Lincolnwood
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4,658 or greater jobs per ft2

4,657 - 2,622 jobs per ft2

2,621 - 1,169 jobs per ft2

1,168 - 296 jobs per ft2

295 or fewer jobs per ft2

Employment Density

Total Employment (2007-2011)
Lincolnwood

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
Count Count Count Count Count

Total Primary Jobs 9,863 9,820 8,876 9,072 9,001

Share Share Share Share Share
Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hunting 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.1%
Mining, Quarrying, and Oil and  
Gas Extraction 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Utilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0%
Construction 2.2% 2.3% 2.7% 2.3% 2.1%
Manufacturing 14.0% 13.2% 11.5% 11.4% 12.2%
Wholesale Trade 4.9% 5.2% 5.1% 4.7% 5.5%
Retail Trade 15.7% 17.4% 17.0% 19.4% 18.4%
Transportation and Warehousing 0.8% 1.2% 1.3% 0.8% 1.1%
Information 6.4% 6.5% 6.7% 6.7% 4.5%
Finance and Insurance 4.2% 2.3% 2.3% 2.0% 2.2%
Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 1.9% 1.5% 1.6% 1.5% 1.7%
Professional, Scientific, and 
Technical Services 6.6% 6.4% 6.5% 6.4% 6.2%

Management of Companies and 
Enterprises 0.2% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1%

Administration & Support, 
Waste Management and Remediation 18.9% 18.3% 19.1% 18.8% 19.6%

Educational Services 3.9% 4.0% 2.1% 3.9% 3.7%
Health Care and Social Assistance 6.8% 8.1% 10.9% 11.8% 12.8%
Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.1% 1.2%
Accommodation and Food Services 7.6% 7.6% 7.4% 3.9% 4.5%
Other Services 
(excluding Public Administration) 3.7% 3.5% 3.6% 3.8% 3.0%

Public Administration 1.1% 1.0% 1.0% 1.1% 1.1%
Source: U.S. Census "On the Map"; Houseal Lavigne Associates        
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Existing 
Land Use
Land use within the Village of Lin-
colnwood has been categorized into 
9 land use designations, including 
a variety of uses, structures, and 
development types. All parcels within 
the Village’s municipal boundary have 
been inventoried and reviewed using 
a combination of existing data and 
field reconnaissance.

Residential
Single-Family Detached: Single-fam-
ily detached residential is a land use 
type of free-standing residential 
dwellings. The single-family residen-
tial areas of the Village include a wide 
range of lot sizes and housing types. 
Homes in the community range from 
modest, smaller, post-WWII homes to 
very large, newer homes that reflect 
the trend toward maximizing allowed 
building height, floor area, and lot 
coverage.

Single-Family Attached: Single-fami-
ly attached residential are single-fam-
ily homes which share a common 
wall. Examples of this could include 
side-by-side duplexes, townhomes 
and rowhomes. Single-family attached 
are primarily located along Pratt 
Avenue east of the abandoned rail 
corridor.

Multi-Family: Multi-family resi-
dential is a land use that contains 
multiple residential dwellings in the 
same building. Examples include 
duplexes, apartments and condomini-
ums. As it relates to land use, senior 
housing is considered multi-family. 
Multi-family uses are found along the 
Village’s busier corridors, where they 
help transition between commercial 
uses and higher volumes of traffic, to 
quieter traditional neighborhoods.

Commercial
General/Corridor Commercial. 
General/corridor commercial uses 
provide employment opportunities 
and goods to primarily serve the 
daily needs of Lincolnwood residents; 
however, their positioning along busy 
regional roadways makes them well 
positioned to serve a larger market. 
Most of these uses are found along 
Lincoln Avenue, Devon Avenue, and 
Touhy Avenue. These corridors offer 
the visibility and access desired by 
office and commercial businesses, 
including banks, restaurants, profes-
sional offices, convenience retail, sa-
lons, car washes, cleaners and service 
stations. (One exception to this is the 
Urhausen Greenhouses nursery locat-
ed at Prairie Road and Lunt Avenue.) 
General/corridor commercial uses in 
the Village are located in both multi-
tenant and standalone buildings, and 
generally provide parking on-site.

Regional Commercial. Regional 
commercial areas consist of uses, 
parcels, and areas that rely on the 
ability to draw a customer base from 
the larger region. These uses are 
primarily situated in two loca-
tions given proximity to the Edens 
Expressway and the City of Chicago: 
around the Lincolnwood Town Center, 
an enclosed regional shopping mall 
in the northeast corner of the Village, 
and the area near the Touhy Avenue/
Edens Expressway interchange, 
including the former “Purple Hotel” 
property. These areas consist of large 
shopping centers, big box devel-
opment, auto dealers, and higher 
intensity office.

Light Industrial/ 
Business Park
Industrial land uses are those 
involved in the manufacture or distri-
bution of goods to businesses (rather 
than the general public). There are 
three large general areas of industrial 
land uses in the Village, each located 
adjacent to an abandoned rail corri-
dor. The largest concentration of light 
industrial uses is the Lincolnwood 
Business Park, located south and 
west of Lincolnwood Town Center. 

Public/Semi-Public
Public/Semi-Public land uses include 
publicly and privately owned facilities 
such as Village-owned facilities, 
schools and religious institutions. 
These uses are found throughout 
the Village and are typically located 
based on their need to serve their 
constituents, members, or targeted 
population.

Parks/Open Spaces
Parks/Open Spaces land uses include 
public or privately owned sites used 
for parks and recreational purposes, 
or lands intentionally preserved in 
a natural state. These land uses are 
located throughout the Village and 
range in size and purpose, from small 
tot-lots, to Henry A. Proesel Park. The 
Bryn Mawr Country Club is also clas-
sified as parks and open space.

Utilities
Utilities are the structures, facilities, 
parcels, and corridors that accom-
modate necessary infrastructure. 
Utilities may be publicly or privately 
owned and are located throughout 
the Village based on service needs.
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Issues & 
Opportunities
Analysis of the Village’s existing land 
use has identified several character-
istics in Lincolnwood that present 
either challenges or opportunities for 
future investment. Given the impor-
tance of land use, these provided a 
basis on which further analysis of the 
community has been established and 
helped guide recommendations for 
land use and development in Lincoln-
wood. Issues related to existing land 
uses include:

Teardowns and resulting neigh-
borhood character. Throughout 
the 1990’s and 2000’s, Lincolnwood 
experienced residential reinvestment 
as developers consolidated lots and 
built larger homes. This represents a 
positive trend in terms of housing val-
ue and quality. However, it also poses 
challenges related to maintaining a 
consistent community character and 
resulting “leftover” lots between tear-
downs that cannot be redeveloped.

Isolated residential areas. There 
are several areas in Lincolnwood 
where awkward block configurations 
along Lincoln Avenue or surrounding 
land uses isolate some residential 
areas. These areas may experience 
disinvestment over time and should 
be considered for other land uses that 
create commercial or employment 
opportunities.

Industrial/residential buffers. 
Several industrial properties abut 
residential areas or front on the 
same street as homes. Creating an 
appropriate buffer will be important 
in order to maintain the long-term 
attractiveness of these homes.

Reinvestment in strong residen-
tial building stock. Lincolnwood’s 
neighborhoods are generally in good 
condition, with only a few cases of 
poor maintenance. These are typically 
associated with rental properties or 
vacant structures. This has a pro-
found impact on the street character 
and aesthetics of several neighbor-
hoods.

Small lots on commercial corri-
dors. Lincolnwood’s commercial 
corridor (Lincoln, Touhy, Devon and 
Cicero) have a typical lot depth of 
110-125’. This makes it difficult to 
accommodate all the required compo-
nents of site design (i.e. parking, land-
scaping, sidewalks, etc.) As a result, 
several sites have “shoehorned” these 
elements onto the site, often creating 
additional challenges related to site 
access, circulation, or safety. In some 
areas, there are opportunities for 
commercial lot expansion, while oth-
ers, such as Touhy Avenue, are more 
tightly constrained by surrounding 
residences.

Multi-family maintenance. Many 
multi-family properties in Lincoln-
wood are well-kept and attractive. 
However, others are showing signs 
of neglect and disrepair. This could 
be a significant barrier in attracting 
young families and providing quality 
housing for the aging population.

Purple Hotel site and context. The 
site of the former Purple Hotel is 
currently under review for a devel-
opment plan. Emerging recommen-
dations of the Comprehensive Plan 
should be considered during plan 
review, and surrounding roadways 
and development should aim to 
maximize the potential of the site and 
its possible benefits to the rest of the 
community.

Awkward block configurations 
along Lincoln Avenue. The diagonal 
alignment of Lincoln Avenue creates 
awkward block intersections with 
side streets. These often result in me-
andering alleys, inefficient commer-
cial layouts, and isolated residential 
lots.

Vacated rail corridors. The Village 
has two vacated rail corridors that 
run through the community from 
north to south. These represent an 
opportunity for trail connections, 
local circulators, or active land uses 
that could support existing develop-
ment.
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Public outreach is an invaluable 
step in the planning process 

which enables engagement with 
residents, business owners, city staff, 
elected officials, and key stakeholders. 
Through public events and outreach 
tools, the Lincolnwood community is 
able to provide their input, thoughts, 
ideas, concerns, and feedback, 
helping to guide the development of 
the Comprehensive Plan. Issues and 
opportunities identified by commu-
nity members will directly impact 
goals, objectives, and recommenda-
tions of the document. This document 
summarizes and provides analysis of 
public outreach efforts conducted as 
part of the Lincolnwood Comprehen-
sive Plan.

To best engage Lincolnwood residents 
and stakeholders, the following out-
reach opportunities were provided:

•	 Community Workshop
•	 Online Questionnaires
•	 sMap-Online mapping tool

Comprehensive 
Plan Citizen 
Committee
The Comprehensive Plan Citizen 
Committee (CPCC) was established 
as the first line of public engagement 
to help guide the comprehensive plan-
ning process. Consisting of dedicated 
community members, the CPCC first 
met on March 12, 2015 at the kick-off 
meeting. This event provided an early 
opportunity for City Staff, the CPCC, 
and members of the consultant team 
to discuss issues and opportunities 
facing the Village. The CPCC contin-
ued to aid with development of the 
plan through review of plan recom-
mendations and interim documents, 
ensuring that the final plan document 
is a direct reflection of the communi-
ty it will serve.

Community 
Workshop
On April 9, 2015, members of the 
Lincolnwood community participated 
in a Community Workshop which 
took place at Village Hall beginning 
at 7:00 p.m. The workshop included 
an exercise designed to facilitate 
discussion and collect public opinion 
from a local perspective. First, those 
in attendance were asked to identify 
five issues that are most import-
ant to the Village of Lincolnwood. 
Participants were then broken into 
groups and asked to form a “vision” 
for Lincolnwood, coming up with 
solutions to identified issues and 
envisioning a preferred “future” for 
the Village. Each group was given a 
large map of the Village and colored 
markers, enabling them to graphically 
draw their ideas directly on the map. 
The following is a summary of the 
thoughts, comments, and opinions 
voiced during both parts of the Com-
munity Workshop exercise.

Issues & Concerns
Residents discussed a wide range of is-
sues; however, many comments centered 
on a group of related themes. Though 
not representing the full extent of issues 
identified, the following is a summary 
of the central themes most commonly 
discussed as important elements for the 
Comprehensive Plan to address:

Empty Commercial Sites
Participants consistently emphasized 
the numerous empty commercial sites 
within Lincolnwood as a central issue. A 
large amount of discussion was given to 
the Purple Hotel site and the importance 
of repurposing this site, amongst others. 
Community members felt that these 
large lots create an image of vacancy and 
emptiness which negatively affects the 
Village and local market power. These 
sites also represent a loss in potential tax 
revenue while taking up space that could 
be put to better use. Respondents called 
for greater focus on the timely develop-
ment and repurposing of these sites to 
benefit the local community.

Business Retention & 
Attraction
Closely linked to the prevalence of 
empty commercial sites, residents 
identified business retention and 
attraction as an important issue. Par-
ticipants felt that commercial areas 
throughout the Village had trouble 
retaining businesses and attracting 
new, high quality companies to Lincol-
nwood. Larger lots, such as the Pur-
ple Hotel site, the vacant Dominick’s 
site, or the vacant lots between Pratt 
Avenue and Northeast Parkway, were 
regularly identified, but respondents 
also noted other areas with similar 
issues. Some community members 
argued that the failure to maintain 
and attract businesses in Lincoln-
wood is shifting the local tax burden 
to residential uses. New business de-
velopment, especially high quality and 
locally demanded commercial options, 
were desired to ensure a healthy and 
balanced tax base.
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Aging Infrastructure
Workshop attendees highlighted a va-
riety of infrastructure issues, largely 
discussing areas where infrastruc-
ture was aging and needed improve-
ment or replacement. Infrastructure 
issues included the poor appearance 
and maintenance of transportation 
corridors, stormwater and flooding 
issues, and numerous streetscaping 
concerns. In addition, the general 
inconsistency of infrastructure 
quality between different areas was 
acknowledged. Also widely discussed 
was water quality within the Village. 
Some residents expressed concerns 
about maintaining the long-term 
supply and quality of water from the 
City of Chicago. 

Streetscape Character
As a large component of infrastruc-
ture, participants emphasized the 
Village’s streetscape character as a 
specific concern. Issues focused on 
two elements of local streetscaping. 
First, respondents noted a number 
of maintenance issues, such as aging 
street signs or low safety, which 
create an unfavorable image of the 
Village. Residents felt that new or 
improved streetscaping would help 
counter this image and create larger 
market appeal for commercial prop-
erties within the area. Second, partic-
ipants hoped for greater accessibility 
and mobility for both pedestrians 
and bicycles. This includes a call for 
trails and paths, bike lanes, medians 
and other pedestrian safety features, 
and overall greater consistency in 
the maintenance and appearance of 
streetscape facilities.

Property Maintenance
Both commercial and residential 
property within Lincolnwood was 
noted as being poorly maintained, 
which creates an unfavorable 
outward appearance. Participants 
suggested that a review of regula-
tions and more strict application of 
local ordinances may help ensure 
the Village maintains a high quality 
of commercial and housing stock. 
Maintenance of commercial areas 
was closely linked to attracting new 
businesses. Similarly, many felt that 
ensuring residential areas are of a 
high quality and well maintained will 
strengthen the local market demand 
and encourage renewed investment. 

Parking & Transportation
Residents noted difficult limitations 
on parking throughout Lincolnwood, 
with particular emphasis on the dif-
ficulties of finding overnight parking 
in certain residential neighborhoods. 
Respondents mentioned that it 
was often difficult to find parking 
within the Village beyond the large 
commercial parking lots. Some felt 
that parking restrictions, especially 
on-street parking regulations, are too 
strict, and penalties and fines are too 
severe. Other residents were con-
cerned about individuals not from the 
local neighborhood parking on streets 
overnight or for extended periods 
of time. Related to parking issues, a 
number of workshop attendees called 
for greater public transportation 
options and expanded bus schedules 
and routes, with the particular goal 
of connecting Lincolnwood to larger 
Chicago transit options.

Image & Identity
Residents generally felt that the local 
image and identity of Lincolnwood 
is an important issue. Participants 
discussed various limitations that 
a poor image can place on business 
development, reinvestment, and as a 
result, community services. Respon-
dents believed that a new image and 
united identity for the Village will 
help establish a clear direction for the 
community, Village staff, and officials. 
In addition, the development of an 
outward, visual identity and appeal 
for Lincolnwood can help bring new 
economic development and improve 
the local quality of life. Residents 
also identified Edens Expressway 
overpasses as an opportunity for 
community identifiers.
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Vision for the Future
In developing their vision for the 
future of Lincolnwood, each group 
was given a packet including sug-
gested topics for discussion. Using 
these categories, residents were able 
to provide both notes and graphic 
visuals of their vision for the Village. 
The following are improvements and 
projects identified in the workshop, 
categorized according to the suggest-
ed topics.

These lists represent the cumulative 
input provided by all groups.

Transportation
•	 Enforce line of sight regulation

•	 Enforce commercial vehicle 
regulations

•	 Place speed bumps near parks

•	 Conduct a traffic study for the 
area west of I-94

•	 Address after school traffic on 
major arterial and residential 
routes

•	 Address traffic backups on 
Cicero as you exit I-94

•	 Create bike lanes along main 
roads, especially Devon between 
McCormick and Lincoln

•	 Educate residents of bike safety 
and rules of the road regarding 
bicycle transportation

•	 Add public transportation 
around Devon, which brings 
people to and from Edgebrook

•	 Introduce greater public trans-
portation, especially bus routes, 
to the east side south of Touhy 
that connects to other modes 
of transportation, such as the 
Metra or CTA (Jefferson Park)

•	 Introduce or permit more park-
ing at Springfield Park

•	 Coordinate traffic signals and 
turn arrows to create efficient 
mobility through and within the 
Village

•	 Implement the Lincoln Avenue 
Plan

•	 Add dedicated pedestrian and 
bicycle pathways along the util-
ity rights-of-way running north 
to south through Lincolnwood

•	 Make improvements to ensure 
that all sidewalks are connected 
and complete, especially adding 
a sidewalk on the west side of 
Crawford from Devon to Pratt

•	 Add sidewalks on all sides of the 
Bryn Mawr Country Club and 
Golf Course

Parks, Open Space & 
Environmental Features

•	 Construct an indoor community 
rec center including an indoor 
pool, potentially located at 
Proesel Park

•	 Collaborate with the school dis-
trict to enhance recreation

•	 Plan for greater stormwater 
management and reduce flood-
ing throughout the Village

•	 Add lighting in Centennial Park

•	 Add picnic areas in Centennial 
Park

•	 Find land for a roller blade park

•	 Continue upkeep and safety at 
all parks

Residential Areas
•	 Create downsizing opportuni-

ties for Village residents who 
become “empty-nesters,” not 
located on a main arterial

•	 Introduce new multi-family 
housing to serve a wide range of 
residents

•	 Do not allow overnight parking 
or commercial vehicle parking 
in residential areas

•	 Review the bulk standards 
ordinance

•	 Encourage more redevelopment 
of aging housing stock

•	 Introduce affordable housing

•	 Develop the vacant site between 
Pratt Avenue and Northeast 
Parkway for Senior residential 
living
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Community Facilities
•	 Redevelop or repurpose empty 

commercial sites located within 
Lincolnwood

•	 Consider the expansion or 
creation of a new school to 
handle an increased population 
as a result of new multi-family 
residential uses

•	 Construct a Magnet School

•	 Construct a High School

•	 Increase police activity and 
presence and ensure greater en-
forcement of driving regulations

•	 Host community events to draw 
people to the Village and create 
new connections

•	 Host community events at the 
library

•	 Foster greater public awareness 
and engagement

•	 Work to generate stronger 
community participation and 
help the community understand 
all aspects of change within the 
Village, such as the positive as-
pects of Section 8 or affordable 
housing.

•	 Limit use of the pool by non-res-
idents

•	 Attract a Mosque to the Village 
for prayer services

Commercial Areas
•	 Work to invigorate all commer-

cial areas

•	 Create a themed planned de-
velopment, such as an improve 
theater surrounded by dining

•	 Redevelop Lincolnwood Town 
Center and the adjacent prop-
erties to create new desirable 
stores and housing

•	 Repurpose and redevelop the 
Purple Hotel site at a more 
efficient pace

•	 Consider attracting a drive-thru 
Peet’s Coffee or Starbucks

•	 Need for a hotel

•	 Need for a grocery store

•	 Consider consolidating parking 
to a single lot in commercial 
areas

•	 Attract and retain commercial 
uses, especially retail

•	 Review the permit process for 
remodeling and construction

•	 Review and take action on a 
Town Center concept, given 
the conflict with the Skokie 
Development

•	 Redevelop the industrial area 
west of Lincolnwood Town 
Center as a commercial use or 
development

•	 Attract more restaurants to the 
area

21 Lincolnwood Comprehensive Plan | Community Outreach



Online 
Questionnaires
Online questionnaires were made 
available to residents and business 
owners in Lincolnwood through the 
Comprehensive Plan’s project website 
(which can be accessed through 
the City’s website). These surveys 
created an outlet for residents to 
provide additional feedback, as well 
as providing an alternative form 
of involvement for those unable to 
attend the community workshop. Two 
questionnaires were prepared, one 
for residents and community mem-
bers and a separate questionnaire 
geared toward business owners and 
operators.

Resident 
Questionnaire
The resident questionnaire received 
288 responses from Lincolnwood 
residents. Respondents demonstrated 
the Village’s diversity, including equal 
shares of new residents (1 to 5 years 
in Lincolnwood), long term residents 
(10 to 20 years), and those who have 
called Lincolnwood home for most of 
their lives (30 or more years). The ma-
jority of respondents were between 
the ages of 35 and 54 (60%) and have 
a strong education background, with 
over 80% having received at least a 
bachelor’s degree and 48% of respon-
dents having completed some post 
graduate education.

When asked to identify advantages 
and disadvantages to Lincolnwood, 
responses were generally positive. No 
single choice was listed as a disadvan-
tage by the majority of participants, 
indicating that no one element of the 
Village is consistently seen as a major 
issue. The largest disadvantages were 
identified as taxes (30.00%), mass 
transit options (20.87%), and access 
to regional transportation (13.78%). 
By comparison, the largest advantages 
were location (78.26%), residential 
neighborhoods (64.66%), and schools 
(57.66%).

Village services were also seen pos-
itively, with the majority of services 
thought to be in good condition. The 
top services were identified as fire 
protection (82.47% of responses), po-
lice protection (79.84% of responses), 
and water quality (79.60% of respons-
es). Only a few services were seen as 
being in poor condition, mainly storm 
water drainage (36.90% of responses) 
and sidewalks (22.76% of responses).

The majority of Lincolnwood resi-
dents are satisfied with the overall 
quality of life in Lincolnwood, with 
just over 25% being very satisfied. 
Over 50% of respondents believe 
the quality of life has remained the 
same over the past ten years, while 
just over 20% claimed it had gotten 
somewhat worse. The largest threats 
to quality of life were identified as 
poorly maintained and vacant prop-
erties, traffic flow and congestion, 
infrastructure, and development 
regulations and policies. Overall, 
52.50% of participants believe the 
Village will remain the same in the 
next five years.

A majority of respondents felt the 
current housing stock is in good con-
dition; however, most believe it will 
not see improvement in the coming 
years. Participants were strongly 
in support of additional residential 
development, particularly single-fam-
ily homes, but also townhomes and 
condominiums. Apartments were the 
most frequently cited as the type of 
new development residents do not 
want in Lincolnwood, followed by 
gas stations and industrial uses. In 
regards to non-residential develop-
ment, participants greatly favored 
new retail stores and restaurants, as 
well as entertainment uses and mixed 
use developments that may include 
residential options. Many noted they 
do not want to see additional banks, 
liquor stores, or bars in the Village.

Lincolnwood’s location and ac-
cess, schools, and neighborhoods 
were identified as the Village’s top 
strengths. Conversely, development 
and growth potential, commercial 
and shopping areas, and taxes were 
noted as top three weaknesses. Re-
spondents emphasized development 
and growth potential, schools, and 
commercial and shopping areas as the 
three most important priorities for 
the comprehensive plan to address.

Business 
Questionnaire
The business questionnaire received 
20 responses from members of the 
Lincolnwood business community, 
largely comprised of non-residents 
whose businesses have been in the 
community for over 10 years. The 
smaller number of responses, espe-
cially when compared to the resident 
questionnaire, limits the applicability 
of the survey. While trends estab-
lished by the business questionnaire 
are not applicable to the entire Lincol-
nwood business community, findings 
were consistent with other outreach 
efforts.

Overall, respondents to the business 
questionnaire were supportive of 
Lincolnwood, with no major issues or 
threats to local business noted. Some 
participants did feel that Lincoln-
wood can be unfriendly to business-
es, particularly new ones. Emphasis 
was given to the need for new 
commercial uses, especially retail, 
restaurants, and entertainment, that 
would help build a stronger business 
community and reduce taxes within 
Lincolnwood. 

22 Community Outreach | Lincolnwood Comprehensive Plan



Vision for Lincolnwood



The vision statement describes 
the desired characteristics of 

Lincolnwood after successful adop-
tion of the Comprehensive Plan. It is 
intended to capture input received 
from the community and reflect the 
collective vision of all Lincolnwood 
residents. The vision statement is 
written as a retrospective from the 
year 2030, which describes changes 
and improvements in the community 
since adoption of the Comprehensive 
Plan, articulating what the Village 
could be 15 years into the future.

In 2030…
The Village of Lincolnwood is a 
thriving community that offers 
suburban living in a more urbanized 
environment. Residents drawn to 
Lincolnwood’s high quality of life 
have created a diverse community 
that consists of different cultures and 
background. Local schools, parks and 
trails, neighborhoods, shopping areas, 
and employment centers have made 
Lincolnwood welcoming to families 
and individuals of all ages and from 
all walks of life.

Lincoln Avenue remains the spine of 
the community, stitching together 
eastern and western neighborhoods 
of Lincolnwood in a vibrant, mixed-
use, and pedestrian-oriented corridor. 
Along the corridor residents can 
enjoy shopping and dining and visit 
the Lincolnwood Public Library. At 
the Lincolnwood Civic Campus res-
idents gather for unique events and 
activities, stay active in Proesel Park, 
or enjoy a summer day at the Family 
Aquatic Center. 

At the northern end of Lincoln Avenue, 
the previous Purple Hotel site has 
emerged as a creative multi-use area 
that provides a unique space for citi-
zens to gather. Featuring a new hotel, 
grocery store, shops, and restaurants, 
the area attracts residents and visitors 
from across the northern suburbs. 
The combination of attractive outdoor 
areas with places to shop and dine has 
created a unique public space where 
residents complete errands, meet 
friends, and spend time. The site now 
stands as a major anchor for the Village 
and a focal point for the community.

The Lincolnwood Town Center has 
also continued to prosper as a region-
al shopping center. Roadway enhance-
ments to Capitol Drive and Central 
Park Avenue have improved truck 
routes within the Northeast Business 
Park while protecting adjacent neigh-
borhoods from negative impacts. New 
sidewalks, landscaped areas, benches, 
light fixtures, and other amenities 
support local businesses and em-
ployers in providing an inviting and 
attractive district where individuals 
enjoy working and shopping.

Lincolnwood’s major roadways 
continue to define the Village, es-
tablishing an efficient network for 
transportation. These corridors act 
as major gateways to the community, 
connecting travelers to key destina-
tions and local businesses. Cyclists 
and pedestrians are able to move 
safely through the Village along new 
trails developed in the vacated rail 
corridors, which connect residents 
to parks, schools, and other popular 
local and regional destinations.

The Village’s neighborhoods have 
remained a vital component of 
Lincolnwood, offering a range of high 
quality housing. Continued invest-
ment has improved the character of 
local neighborhoods, boasting attrac-
tive homes surrounded by beautiful 
tree canopies. The development of 
new housing has provided options 
for young professionals, new families, 
and aging residents to move to and 
remain in the community.

From Lincolnwood’s neighborhoods, 
residents can access all areas of the 
community using the local system of 
trails and parks. The conversion of 
vacant rail corridors has helped tie 
together parks, schools, and neigh-
borhoods in a network of local trails 
and pathways. Well-maintained parks 
and trails have encouraged residents 
to stay active and healthy while 
connections to adjacent trail systems 
have positioned Lincolnwood at the 
center of a regional trail network.

Since adoption of the Comprehensive 
Plan, implementation efforts have 
enabled the Lincolnwood community 
to flourish. The Village’s balance of 
charming neighborhoods, unique 
regional shopping centers and local 
businesses continue to attract diverse 
residents looking for a suburban life-
style near the City of Chicago. Overall, 
Lincolnwood residents are proud of 
their community, and excited about 
the future to come.
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The Land Use recommendations 
of the Comprehensive Plan are 

driven significantly by the established 
land use pattern and the context of 
existing development, along with the 
Village’s zoning and development 
regulations. The existing land use 
pattern of the Village of Lincolnwood 
reflects a mature, established com-
munity with relatively few vacant par-
cels within Lincolnwood’s corporate 
limits. 

Land Use Plan
The Land Use Plan builds upon the 
existing land uses and development 
patterns within the Village and is 
intended to promote and accommo-
date investment, development, and 
redevelopment that protects and 
enhances Lincolnwood’s existing 
neighborhoods, strengthens its 
commercial areas, protects industrial 
areas and employment centers, and 
enhances the Village’s network of 
community amenities. Where appro-
priate, the Land Use Plan suggests 
land use transitions and changes to 
address existing land use conflicts 
that have arisen as the community 
has matured.

It should be emphasized that the 
Land Use Plan is a general guide for 
growth and development within the 
Village and provides a foundation for 
further decision-making. The Land 
Use Plan is NOT a site development 
plan with rigid and finite recommen-
dations.  While it is sufficiently de-
tailed to provide specific guidance on 
land use decisions, it is also intended 
to be flexible to accommodate unique 
circumstances and the consideration 
of creative approaches to develop-
ment that are consistent with the 
overall policies and guidelines in the 
Comprehensive Plan.

Residential
Single-Family Detached: The sin-
gle-family detached residential homes 
and neighborhoods are a defining 
characteristic of Lincolnwood and, 
while two flats are scattered through-
out single-family detached areas, 
detached dwellings should continue 
to predominate.

Single-Family Attached: Single-fam-
ily attached areas include duplexes 
and townhomes. These are primarily 
located along Pratt Avenue east of 
the vacated rail corridor. In addition 
to areas designated as single-family 
attached, the Village should consider 
appropriate redevelopment in some 
locations, allowing new attached 
single-family homes to help transition 
between single-family detached areas 
and commercial and industrial uses.

Multi-Family: Multi-family uses 
are found along the Village’s busier 
corridors, where they help transi-
tion between commercial uses and 
higher volumes of traffic, to quieter 
traditional neighborhoods. In addition 
to those identified on the Land Use 
Plan, the Village should consider, on a 
case-by-case basis, opportunities for 
transitional multi-family develop-
ment to help diversify the commu-
nity’s housing stock and separate 
single-family areas from more intense 
uses. This could include traditional 
apartments or condominiums, senior 
housing, or multi-family residences as 
a component of mixed-use develop-
ment.
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Commercial
General/Corridor Commercial: Most 
of these uses are found along Lincoln Av-
enue, Devon Avenue, and Touhy Avenue. 
These corridors offer the visibility and 
access desired by office and commercial 
businesses, including banks, restaurants, 
professional offices, convenience retail, 
salons, cleaners and service stations. 
General/corridor commercial uses in the 
Village are located in both multi-tenant 
and standalone buildings, and generally 
provide parking onsite. In all of these ar-
eas, the Village should consider, on a case-
by-case basis, the inclusion of traditional 
mixed-use development with commercial 
services on the ground floor and office 
or residential uses above, where such a 
program can adequately accommodate 
parking, screening, and other important 
site design components. The Village 
should also consider allowing transition 
of some of these areas to multi-family 
or townhouse development, as site 
constraints and market potential may not 
warrant some blocks being sustained for 
commercial uses.

Regional Commercial: These uses 
are primarily situated in two loca-
tions given proximity to the Edens 
Expressway and the City of Chicago: 
around the Lincolnwood Town Center, 
an enclosed regional shopping mall 
in the northeast corner of the Village, 
and the area near the Touhy Avenue/
Edens Expressway interchange, 
including the former “Purple Hotel” 
property. These areas consist of 
large shopping centers, hotels, big 
box development, auto dealers, and 
higher-intensity office. A key site for 
Lincolnwood is the former Dominick’s 
grocery store on McCormick Bou-
levard, which was approved in 2015 
for use as a multi-tenant commercial 
shopping center.

Light Industrial/ 
Business Park
There are three large general areas 
of industrial land uses in the Village, 
each located adjacent to a vacated 
rail corridor. The largest concentra-
tion of light industrial uses is the 
Lincolnwood Business Park, located 
south and west of Lincolnwood 
Town Center. The Village adopted the 
Lincolnwood Business Park Retail 
Analysis & Feasibility Report in 2010, 
which called for the preservation 
of the employment centers located 
immediately west of the Town Center, 
and it still carries relevant recom-
mendations going forward.

Public/ 
Semi-Public
Public/Semi-Public land uses include 
publicly and privately owned facilities 
such as Village-owned facilities, 
schools and religious institutions.  
These uses are found throughout 
the Village and are typically located 
based on their need to serve their 
constituents, members, or targeted 
population. Goals, objective and poli-
cies relating to public and semi-pub-
lic land uses will be discussed in a 
subsequent chapter of the Compre-
hensive Plan.

Parks/ 
Open Spaces
Parks/Open Spaces as a land use are 
public or privately owned areas used 
for parks and recreational uses, or lands 
intentionally preserved in a natural 
state.  These land uses are located 
throughout the Village and range in 
size and purpose, from small tot-lots, 
to Henry A. Proesel Park. The Bryn 
Mawr Country Club is also classified as 
parks and open space.  Goals, objective 
and policies relating to parks and open 
space will be discussed in a subsequent 
chapter of the Comprehensive Plan.

Utilities
Utilities are the structures, facilities, 
parcels, and corridors that accom-
modate necessary infrastructure. 
Utilities may be publicly or privately 
owned and are located throughout 
the Village based on service needs.  
Utilities are identified as a separate 
land use in the Land Use Plan, and it 
is anticipated they will remain active.
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Goals, 
Objectives & 
Policies
Residential Area Goal 1 
Ensure that Lincolnwood 
remains an attractive place 
for people to live through 
market-responsive and 
well-maintained housing.
Objectives & Policies
As teardowns occur, encourage 
developers to purchase existing 
properties in such a manner that 
there are not small “leftover” lots 
between larger teardown lots.

Lincolnwood’s trend of residential lot 
consolidation and redevelopment, or 
“tear-downs,” has resulted in some 
older lots isolated between newer, 
larger homes. These older lots will 
likely deteriorate over time as they 
lack the market competitiveness for 
resale and rehabilitation. As future 
tear-downs occur, the Village should 
establish incentives to encourage 
developers to pursue properties in 
such a way that isolated older lots 
will not remain as redevelopment 
occurs over time.

Amend the Village’s zoning map 
to allow for quality multi-family 
redevelopment within and adjacent 
to commercial corridors as part 
of a larger economic development 
vision. (See Commercial Objective 
2.1.)

To establish a greater transition 
from commercial to residential uses, 
the Village should amend zoning 
regulations to allow the development 
of multi-family and townhome resi-
dential options between commercial 
roads and adjacent single-family 
neighborhoods. This could include 
stand-alone residential buildings or 
residential units as the upper-floor 
component of mixed-use devel-
opment. As a part of development 
review, the Village should maintain 
regulatory approval authority based 
on a proposal’s ability to mitigate 
parking, traffic, and physical impacts 
on nearby residential blocks.

Strictly enforce maintenance 
requirements for multi-family 
buildings, especially those owned 
by absentee landlords. 

In some cases, multi-family build-
ings in Lincolnwood are not as well 
maintained as surrounding resi-
dential development. Many of these 
multi-family buildings are owned by 
landlords living outside the commu-
nity, which increases the likelihood 
of poor maintenance. The Village 
should strictly enforce maintenance 
requirements for multi-family, placing 
a higher emphasis on buildings with 
non-owner-occupied units.

Amend the Village’s zoning or-
dinance to allow for appropriate 
residential development as a com-
ponent of mixed-use projects along 
commercial corridors. 

The Village’s zoning ordinance and 
map designate several corridors as 
commercial areas. The ordinance 
should be amended to allow for 
upper-floor residences as a special 
use on a case-by-case basis in the 
“B” Business Districts. Approval of a 
proposed mixed-use project should 
consider the following criteria:

•	 Appropriate on-site parking 
capacity and access;

•	 Scaling and massing that 
minimizes impacts on adjacent 
neighborhoods;

•	 Buffering and landscaping 
against surrounding neighbor-
hoods;

•	 Adequate infrastructure ca-
pacity;

•	 Alignment with other adopted 
plans; and,

•	 Input from nearby residents.

Adopt and enforce maintenance 
standards for single-family rental 
properties or vacant housing 
structures.

Lincolnwood’s quality schools and 
services make it an attractive place 
for families to rent single-family 
housing. As the same time, while 
Lincolnwood’s neighborhoods 
remains generally stable, there are 
some examples of residential vacancy 
resulting from the recent recession. 
The Village should adopt and enforce 
maintenance standards for rental 
homes or vacant properties to ensure 
that surrounding properties are 
not negatively impacted. Fines for 
non-compliant maintenance should 
be structured to encourage resolu-
tions to issues through refunds or 
rebates for improvements that lead 
to compliance, rather than being seen 
simply as a revenue source for the 
Village or hardship for the property 
owner.
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Encouraged land-locked residen-
tial blocks on Keating Avenue and 
Kilpatrick Avenue to transition to 
uses compatible with surrounding 
development.

North of Touhy Avenue, Keating 
Avenue and Kilpatrick Avenue include 
small residential blocks that are 
entirely surrounded by commercial 
or industrial development. This neigh-
borhood is isolated and is unlikely 
to sustain itself over time due to the 
nature of surrounding uses. This areas 
could transition in one of two ways, 
depending on market viability for dif-
ferent uses. It could become light in-
dustrial, acting as an extension of the 
industrial area north of Chase Avenue. 
It could also transition to regional 
commercial, filling in the gap between 
the Purple Hotel site and the Touhy/
Edens Expressway interchange.

Individual development proposals in 
this area should be assessed based on 
their ability to establish the long-term 
use of the remaining transitional 
blocks and preserve the potential 
for a planned development area with 
cohesive access and character.

In blocks where alleys exist, re-
quire new residential development 
to provide vehicular access from 
the public street where feasible 
so that alleys can be vacated over 
time.

Over the past several decades, the 
Village has vacated several residential 
alleys due to maintenance costs and 
public safety concerns. However, 
alleys that remain are the only means 
of access to residential lots with rear 
garages. As redevelopment occurs 
over time, new residential lots should 
provide access from the public 
street wherever possible based on 
conditions related to lot width and 
site access. This will allow the Village 
to vacate additional alleys once rear 
garage access is no longer required. 

Residential Area Goal 2 
Sustain and improve the 
aesthetic character of Lincoln-
wood’s neighborhoods.
Objectives & Policies
Establish a residential pattern 
book to guide the design of infill 
housing related to bulk and scale, 
massing, and architectural detail.

The Village’s zoning regulations pro-
vide standards for basic bulk, setback, 
and height characteristics. However, 
recent tear-downs demonstrate a vast 
range of forms and design charac-
ter that are out of character with 
existing development and each other. 
To address this, the Village should 
establish a residential pattern book 
to guide the design of residential infill 
housing, ensuring that existing and 
future development is compatible in 
terms of bulk and scale, massing, and 
architectural detail.
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Modify design standards for front 
yard circular driveways in order 
to minimize the visual impacts on 
neighborhood character.

Section 7.13 of the Village’s zoning 
ordinance includes regulations 
for residential circular driveways. 
These current regulations focus 
on the width of the drive. However, 
the Village should adopt additional 
regulations related to landscaping 
and curb cuts. These could include 
requirements for a minimum green 
area and landscaping between the cir-
cular drive and public right-of-way, an 
adequate minimum distance between 
curb cuts to accommodate one car 
length, and a maximum total curb 
cut width to ensure excessive paving 
does not occur. This will ensure that 
driveways are properly screened and 
the visual appeal of the neighborhood 
is not impacted.

Plant new street trees throughout 
the Village, prioritizing blocks with 
little or no tree cover.

Many residential blocks lack tree 
cover in the public right-of-way. 
Building upon the existing tree plant-
ing program aimed at eliminating the 
emerald ash borer, the Village should 
establish a residential tree planting 
program through which residents 
could request parkway trees in the 
public right-of-way in front of their 
properties. The Village could also pur-
chase trees in bulk and resell them to 
residents who would like to plant new 
trees on their private property.

Commercial Area Goal 1 
Maximize the benefit of exist-
ing businesses and potential 
commercial investment sites 
throughout Lincolnwood.
Objectives & Policies
Monitor the status of the Purple 
Hotel redevelopment plan, and 
work with IDOT on improvements 
on Lincoln Avenue and Touhy Ave-
nue to maximize access to the site.

The former Purple Hotel property is 
a key development opportunity in the 
community which could have signifi-
cant impacts on surrounding uses. As 
development proposals are reviewed by 
Village staff and elected and appointed 
officials, special consideration should 
be given to impacts on local traffic 
circulation, Lincoln Avenue and Touhy 
Avenue (under the jurisdiction of IDOT), 
Pace bus transit services, bicycle and 
pedestrian circulation, and surrounding 
land uses.

Utilize the approval process for the 
Purple Hotel site as an opportunity 
to maximize public benefits related 
to open spaces, walkability, and 
design character.

The size of former Purple Hotel 
property provides the potential for 
active development as well as public 
amenities that would benefit tenants 
and Village-wide residents. The Village 
should use the Planned Develop-
ment approval process to maximize 
opportunities for usable public open 
space, pedestrian connections to sur-
rounding blocks, bicycle and transit 
access, and iconic architectural and 
urban design elements. Plan approval 
should also encourage the integration 
of several uses on the site, including 
commercial development and a hotel 
that take advantage of the property’s 
unique and advantageous location. 
Residential uses could be considered, 
so long as consideration is given to 
the impacts on community services 
and the vitality of the commercial 
environment.

Continue to implement the Lincol-
nwood Business Park Retail Analy-
sis and Feasibility Report in order 
to improve existing businesses and 
attract new development to the 
Town Center area.

The Lincolnwood Business Park 
remains the Village’s most important 
employment center, including most of 
Lincolnwood’s largest redevelopment 
opportunities. The Village should con-
tinue to implement the recommen-
dations of the Lincolnwood Business 
Park Retail Analysis and Feasibility 
Report. Efforts should focus on 
improving existing businesses and 
attracting new development to oppor-
tunities sites in the Town Center Area 
as Lincolnwood’s central district for 
economic activity.
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Market the success of the Village’s 
facade improvement program and 
encourage greater participation 
among business owners.

Commercial development on Lincoln-
wood’s corridors has occurred over 
the past several decades. As a result, 
there is a great variety of façade 
designs. The Village should continue 
to market its façade improvement 
program to encourage exterior reha-
bilitation. The program should include 
standards related to materials, design 
elements, signs, and other character-
istics, and allow for an appropriate 
level of flexibility when appropriate.

As parking lot improvements are 
made, work with property owners 
to improve parking lots in a way 
that best meets community objec-
tives.

Parking lots are a prominent feature 
of much of the commercial devel-
opment in Lincolnwood. They are 
often unscreened, and in some cases, 
poorly maintained. As improvements 
are made to existing parking lots, the 
Village should require conformance 
with current regulations for parking 
lot screening and landscaping, partic-
ularly along the Village’s major com-
mercial corridors. However, in some 
cases, the Village should allow relief 
from these regulations where parking 
capacity, circulation, and access man-
agement are a higher priority than 
development character.

Commercial Area Goal 2 
Support the creation and 
development of viable 
commercial nodes along the 
Village’s primary corridors.
Objectives & Policies
Encourage the market-driven 
acquisition and redevelopment of 
residential lots adjacent to Lincoln 
Avenue commercial uses in order 
to create more viable commercial 
blocks.

Lincoln Avenue is currently an 
auto-oriented corridor, yet many of 
the commercial lots along it have 
traditional depths of 120’-125’. These 
lots cannot appropriately accommo-
date the parking necessary to support 
businesses, and lack the space nec-
essary for buffers against adjacent 
neighborhoods.

The Village should work with residen-
tial property owners and potential 
developers to encourage the market 
acquisition of residential lots in order 
to expand the footprint of commercial 
development sites. This should result 
in the greater management of access, 
parking capacity, and screening. 
It should also create more vibrant 
commercial nodes at key points along 
Lincoln Avenue.
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Support the redevelopment of 
obsolete or non-viable commer-
cial lots along Lincoln Avenue to 
multi-family or townhouse uses 
that enhance housing variety and 
create a more appropriate transi-
tion to existing neighborhoods.

Vacant commercial spaces could be a 
symptom of a lack of market demand, 
physical development constraints, 
or both. If vacancy persists as older 
commercial spaces cannot remain 
competitive against new commer-
cial development, the Village should 
encourage, on a case-by-case basis, 
the transition of portions of Lincoln 
Avenue to multi-family or townhouse 
development. This will expand hous-
ing choice in the Village, and further 
reinforce viable commercial nodes on 
Lincoln Avenue.

Encourage the use of obsolete or 
vacant commercial properties 
as opportunities for parking that 
supports nearby commerce.

There are several vacant commercial 
buildings or underutilized sites along 
Lincoln Avenue. These sites provide 
the opportunity for parking that 
would support active and viable busi-
nesses. The Village should encourage 
property owners to seek shared 
parking agreements or acquisition in 
order to increase the overall parking 
capacity along Lincoln Avenue.

Commercial Area Goal 3 
Improve vehicular 
access and safety to 
commercial sites on Lincoln, 
Touhy, Devon, and Cicero.

Objectives & Policies
Prohibit back-out parking on to 
major roadways.

Shallow lot depths and the incremen-
tal widening of major streets over 
time has resulted in private parking 
lots that require patrons to back out 
onto the public street in order to exit 
the lot. This increases the likelihood 
of vehicular accidents and eliminates 
the pedestrian network on that 
portion of a block. The Village should 
prohibit back-out parking on to 
major roadways, shifting parking lot 
access to side streets or cross-access 
agreements with adjacent property 
owners.

Allow businesses to improve and 
utilize alleys where it yields more 
on-site parking spaces or improved 
circulation.

Several commercial corridors are 
backed by public alleys that are typ-
ically considered reserved for direct 
access to private lots. However, given 
the site constraints along Lincoln-
wood’ commercial corridors, these 
alleys could be used to accommodate 
on-site circulation to parking areas. 
This would free up additional space 
for parking rather than circulation. 
Where this is implemented, the alley 
should continue to provide general 
access to other surrounding devel-
opment.

Limit vehicular access from major 
streets, instead relying on side 
streets and alleys for parking 
ingress and egress.

Excessive curb cuts along Lincoln-
wood’s major commercial corridors 
decrease traffic flow and create 
numerous points of conflict between 
pedestrians and automobiles. Where 
appropriate, the Village should work 
with developers to limit curb cut 
access from major streets. Access 
to and from parking areas should 
instead be provided from side streets, 
alleys, and cross-access agreements 
with adjacent commercial lots.
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Encourage vehicular cross-access 
between adjacent commercial 
parking lots.

There are several instances in Lin-
colnwood where adjacent commer-
cial parking lots are separated by a 
barrier, resulting in excessive curb 
cuts and poor on-site circulation. The 
Village should encourage commercial 
cross-access between parking lots. 
This would enhance access to multi-
ple businesses, potentially increase 
on-site parking capacity, and reduce 
the number of required curb cuts 
along a block.

To the extent possible, eliminate 
excess curb cuts or curb cuts that 
are unnecessarily wide.

Excessive curb cuts reduce the safety 
and flow of major commercial corri-
dors. The Village should work with 
property owners to eliminate excess 
curb cuts and reduce the width 
of unnecessarily wide curb cuts. 
This is likely to be more feasible as 
cross-access agreements and access 
management from side streets and 
alleys are implemented.

Industrial Area Goal 1 
Minimize the impacts of 
industrial development on 
surrounding land uses.
Objectives & Policies
Continue to strictly enforce truck 
traffic bans in all residential areas.

Truck traffic in Lincolnwood should 
be closely regulated to reduce poten-
tial impacts in residential areas such 
as congestion, noise, and vibration. 
The Village should continue to strictly 
enforce truck traffic bans in all 
residential areas and coordinate with 
industrial tenants to address truck 
traffic concerns.
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Improve the aesthetics of industri-
al properties that face residential 
areas or open spaces.

Industrial uses in Lincolnwood are 
sometimes adjacent to or across the 
street from residential areas or open 
spaces. The Village should amend 
Section 6.16 of the zoning ordinance 
to require improvements that would 
enhance the aesthetic character of 
industrial sites. The most appropriate 
improvements may vary from site 
to site, but could include decorative 
fencing and screening, parking lot 
landscaping, and building facade 
enhancements.

Industrial Area Goal 2 
Enhance the operations of 
existing industrial areas, and 
identify opportunities for new 
industrial development.
Objectives & Policies
Encourage and support local prop-
erty owners to improve Capitol 
Drive for public truck traffic and 
provide an industrial circulator 
road between the end of Capitol 
Drive and Central Park Avenue.

Capitol Drive is a private road with 
access only from Touhy Avenue. The 
Village should work with local prop-
erty owners to gain jurisdictional 
control of Capitol Drive, and explore 
alternative for increasing industrial 
circulation in this portion of the Vil-
lage. One option for doing so would be 
to extend Capitol Drive southwest to 
Central Park Avenue. An alternative 
would be to create a roadway connec-
tion directly between Central Park 
Avenue and the Lincolnwood Town 
Center circulator road. Capitol Drive 
could then be extended to intersect 
this new roadway.
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Lincolnwood is served by a 
multi-layered system of road-

ways, bike lanes, sidewalks, and tran-
sit lines. Collectively, these provide 
access to local goods and services, 
jobs, parks, and community services. 
They also provide access to and from 
surrounding communities and other 
portions of the Chicago region. This 
chapter of the Comprehensive Plan 
presents goals, objectives, and poli-
cies related to the community’s roads, 
sidewalks, trails, and transit services. 
Given the fact that several primary 
roads are under the jurisdiction of 
the Illinois Department of Transpor-
tation (IDOT) and the Cook County 
Department of Transportation and 
Highways, and bus transit service is 
under the purview of Pace Suburban 
Bus and the Chicago Transit Authority 
(CTA), many of the recommendations 
of this chapter will require collabora-
tion with these or other agencies.

Existing 
Transportation 
Network
Roadway Network
Lincolnwood’s roadway network 
supports many roles within the com-
munity, including local and regional 
vehicular mobility and access to 
commercial areas, neighborhoods, 
and employment. This section sum-
marizes the key characteristics of the 
roadway network.

Roadway Classification
The roadway network in Lincolnwood 
is classified by IDOT according to 
a hierarchy that balances regional 
connectivity and local mobility. Clas-
sifications include the following:

Interstates: I-94 runs north-south 
through the western portion of the 
community and provides efficient 
access to Downtown Chicago, the 
northern suburbs, and Wisconsin. 
One interchange is available in Lincol-
nwood at Touhy Avenue, with another 
one nearby in Chicago at Peterson 
Avenue.

Principal Arterials: Cicero Avenue 
(IL 50), McCormick Boulevard, and 
Touhy Avenue west of Cicero are prin-
cipal arterials that provide efficient 
mobility through Lincolnwood. These 
three principal arterials connects to 
Chicago on the south and Skokie on 
the north. IDOT has jurisdiction over 
these roadways and maintains them.

Minor Arterials: Devon Avenue, 
Touhy Avenue east of Cicero Avenue, 
Lincoln Avenue (US 41), Central 
Avenue, and Crawford Avenue are 
classified as minor arterials. These 
provide connections to surrounding 
communities, but also offer more fre-
quent traffic control and access to lo-
cal land uses than principal arterials. 
Devon Avenue, Touhy Avenue, Central 
Avenue, and Lincoln Avenue are main-
tained by IDOT.  Crawford Avenue is 
maintained by Cook County.

Major Collectors: Pratt Avenue and 
Hamlin Avenue (south of Touhy Ave-
nue) are classified as major collectors. 
These provide direct access to local 
streets and connect to arterials. Both 
roadways are under the jurisdiction 
of the Village.

Local Streets: Local streets include all 
remaining roadways in the Village. These 
generally host residential land uses and 
provide access to individual lots.

Private Streets
There are three small segments of 
private roads in Lincolnwood. They 
include Capitol Drive, Cherry Lane, 
and portions of Chase Avenue.

Planned Improvements
Given the built-out nature of Lin-
colnwood, there is little likelihood 
that major changes to the roadway 
network will occur. Most improve-
ments will likely be modifications 
to existing roadways.  The only 
programmed improvement  in IDOT’s 
FY 2016-2021 Multi-Year Highway 
Improvement Program is the Touhy 
Avenue/Hamlin Avenue traffic signal 
installation, roadway channelization, 
and land acquisition. The estimated 
cost of the project is $835,000, with 
implementation to take place between 
2017 and 2021.
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Transit Service
Transit service in Lincolnwood is pro-
vided by Pace Suburban Bus and the 
Chicago Transit Authority (CTA). (It 
should be noted that CTA routes that 
operate in Lincolnwood primarily 
serve the City of Chicago, though the 
Village benefits from access to these 
routes at bus transit terminals.) The 
alignment of bus routes, frequency 
and times of service, bus stop facil-
ities, and information is subject to 
Pace Suburban Bus and the CTA. Bus 
transit routes that serve Lincolnwood 
include:

•	 Pace Route 210-Lincoln Avenue 
originates at the Lincolnwood 
Town Center, then heads south 
on McCormick to Lincoln, north 
on Lincoln, and up to Glenview. 
Average daily weekday ridership 
in April 2015 was 386 riders.

•	 Pace Route 225-Central-Howard 
originates at the Jefferson Park 
Transit Center (CTA Blue Line, 
Metra Union Pacific North-
west Line) and runs along the 
west side of Lincolnwood on 
Central Avenue. It runs north to 
Howard Street then terminates 
at Harlem and Oakton in Niles. 
Average daily weekday ridership 
in April 2015 was 163 riders.

•	 Pace Route 226-Oakton orig-
inates at the Jefferson Park 
Transit Center and runs along 
the west side of Lincolnwood 
on Central Avenue. However, 
during portions of its service 
period, the route diverts on 
Pratt Avenue, LeClaire Avenue, 
and Touhy Avenue. It then con-
tinues northwest through Niles, 
Des Plaines, and Rosemont. 
Average daily weekday ridership 
in April 2015 was 708 riders.

•	 Pace Route 290-Touhy Avenue 
links the Cumberland Blue Line 
and Howard Red Line stations. 
In Lincolnwood, it diverts into 
the Lincolnwood Town Center 
to serve the multi-route transit 
center. Average daily weekday 
ridership in April 2015 was 3,253 
riders.

•	 CTA Route 54A-North Cicero/
Skokie Boulevard operates 
between the Skokie Yellow Line 
station and the Jefferson Park 
Transit Center .

•	 CTA Route 82-Kimball/Homan 
originates at the Lincolnwood 
Town Center and takes McCor-
mick/Kimball south to 31st in 
Chicago.

•	 CTA Route 96-Lunt originates 
at the Kedzie/Devon bus transit 
center and follows McCormick 
Boulevard, Touhy Avenue and 
Lunt Avenue to the Morse Red 
Line station.

Bus Transit Vision
Pace’s long-term service model is 
guided by its Vision 2020 Plan. The 
Plan describes a regional service 
model that includes line-haul ser-
vice and/or Arterial Rapid Transit 
(ART) services on transit arterials, 
enhanced regional and community 
transit facilities, technology upgrades 
to increase efficiency and perfor-
mance, and local transit services that 
maximize ridership and mobility. In 
the Vision 2020 Plan, Lincoln Avenue, 
Touhy Avenue, and Niles Center 
Road/Central Avenue are  envisioned 
as line-haul arterials, implying that 
they  could be considered for ART 
service in the future. Further study 
by Pace identified Touhy Avenue as a 
medium-term ART corridor. Lincoln-
wood Town Center is envisioned as 
a community transportation center, 
meaning it will continue to serve as 
a transfer point or terminus for multi-
ple bus routes.

In addition to the public transit ser-
vices described above, Lincolnwood 
is served by local taxi services and 
car-share services such as Uber.

Bicycle & 
Pedestrian Network
The traditional block pattern in Lin-
colnwood provide the foundation for 
a highly walkable and bicycle-friendly 
community. Most neighborhoods have 
sidewalks on at least one side of a 
street, and neighborhood traffic pat-
terns support safe on-street bicycle 
use. However, the greatest challenge 
to bicycle and pedestrian mobility 
in Lincolnwood are along arterial 
and collector streets. Many of these 
streets lack adequate crosswalks or 
signage for pedestrians, and force pe-
destrians to walk in close proximity 
to vehicles moving at relatively high 
speeds.

Long-term improvements to the 
bicycle network are guided by the 
2006 Bikeway Plan. The Plan identifies 
strategies to improve connections to 
regional trail networks in surround-
ing communities and establishes 
standards related to on-street routes, 
off-street routes, signage, and inter-
section design.
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TOUHYTOUHYGoals, 
Objectives & 
Policies
Vehicular Traffic & 
Circulation Goal 1 
Ensure that Lincolnwood’s lo-
cal roadway network provides 
safe and efficient mobility to 
destinations throughout the 
Village.
Objectives & Policies
Continue to monitor and enforce 
truck traffic restrictions in resi-
dential areas adjacent to industrial 
or commercial development.

Truck traffic in Lincolnwood should 
be restricted to routes that serve 
industrial and commercial devel-
opment, reducing the potential of 
congestion, light, and noise impacts 
in residential areas. The Village 
should continue to monitor and 
enforce truck traffic restrictions in 
neighborhoods, particularly those 
adjacent to industrial and commercial 
development. The Village should also 
coordinate with existing and future 
industrial users to address related 
truck traffic concerns.

Install stop signs at intersecting 
residential streets where bike 
lanes and transit routes are imple-
mented.

Several intersections of local streets 
lack any type of signed traffic control. 
However, on local streets that host 
bus transit or designated bike lanes, 
stop signs are installed for intersect-
ing streets. As new bike routes are 
established, stop signs should be in-
stalled on intersecting streets to pri-
oritize efficient and safe multi-modal 
traffic flow.

Remove access points to vacated 
alleys.

The Village has proactively vacated 
many alleys over the past several 
decades. However, in some cases, 
curb cuts from the public street still 
exist. The Village should reconstruct 
the curbs and reseed parkways to 
remove the obsolete curb cuts to the 
former alleys.

Dedicate Chase Avenue (east of 
Cicero Avenue) as a public street 
and upgrade the street to Village 
standards.

Chase Avenue east of Cicero Avenue 
is a private street serving industrial 
land uses. The Village should work 
with local property owners to ensure 
the street is maintained at standards 
that will support future industrial 
or commercial growth. This could 
be done through a construction and 
maintenance agreement or through a 
formal jurisdictional acquisition that 
would result in Village ownership 
of the roadway. However, any action 
taken should consider long-term 
commercial tenant access to any sites 
reliant upon Chase Avenue.

Lower the speed of traffic on Lin-
colnwood’s neighborhood streets.

The character and safety of Lincoln-
wood’s neighborhoods is one of the 
community’s greatest assets. These 
can be compromised by vehicles 
using local streets as an alternative 
to congested arterial roadways. 
In order to minimize the impacts 
of such traffic, the Village should 
assess the need for and implement 
local traffic-calming techniques. The 
appropriate technique for a given 
location will be dependent upon on 
traffic volume, available right-of-way 
and other factors. However, solutions 
could include speed humps, traffic 
circles, or the installation of new stop 
signs along residential streets.

Modify the local circulation 
pattern of Chase Avenue, Keating 
Avenue, and Kilpatrick Avenue as 
the area north of Touhy transitions 
from residential uses to commer-
cial or office/industrial uses.

Transition of the residential area 
northeast of Touhy and Cicero to 
commercial or industrial land use will 
require modifications to the existing 
roadways. Modifications will depend 
on the future use of this area. If a mix 
of commercial and industrial uses is 
preferred, the Keating Avenue and 
Kilpatrick Avenue cul-de-sacs should 
be reversed, with access from Chase 
Avenue. If there is market support 
for regional commercial development, 
Keating and Kilpatrick could be 
entirely vacated in order to create a 
larger site that could accommodate 
its own internal circulation.
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Vehicular Traffic & 
Circulation Goal 2 
Improve the efficiency and 
operations of the Village’s 
major corridors.
Objectives & Policies
Identify opportunities where the 
rear portions of blocks with com-
mercial frontage or underutilized 
commercial lots can be used for 
additional parking.

Small commercial lots in Lincoln-
wood struggle to provide adequate 
parking. The Village should work with 
commercial property owners and 
adjacent residential property owners 
to identify opportunities for market 
acquisition in order to create private 
commercial parking areas.

Where feasible, install diagonal 
parking and intersection bump 
outs on streets that intersect com-
mercial streets.

Portions of some side streets closest 
to commercial corridors are wide 
enough to accommodate on-street 
diagonal parking for businesses. The 
Village should explore the feasibility 
of this configuration along its com-
mercial corridors, limiting commer-
cial parking to the portion of the 
block between the primary commer-
cial street and rear commercial lot 
line to prevent traffic and aesthetic 
impacts on nearby neighborhoods.

Where feasible, convert awkward 
intersecting street segments to 
parking areas.

Lincoln Avenue’s diagonal alignment 
creates a number of awkward inter-
sections at unconventional angles. 
These intersections can be dangerous 
for both pedestrians and vehicles and 
limit the viability of nearby proper-
ties. Where feasible, the Village should 
convert roadway segments to com-
mercial parking, eliminating access 
to Lincoln Avenue and rerouting local 
traffic to single intersection.

Continue to use development 
review and approval as a means of 
ensuring that large development 
projects provide logical connec-
tions to surrounding streets.

There are opportunities for larger 
redevelopments in Lincolnwood that 
are likely to have a significant im-
pacts on transportation and mobility 
in the community. The Village should 
continue to use Planned Develop-
ment review to ensure they provide 
logical connections to surrounding 
streets, internal circulation, parking 
management, and traffic management 
to surrounding streets.

Continue to work with Cook Coun-
ty and IDOT to coordinate traffic 
management technologies to maxi-
mize efficiency in Lincolnwood and 
throughout the regional roadway 
network.

Major roadways in the Village are 
part of a regional roadway network 
which serves not just Lincolnwood 
but other surrounding municipalities. 
On McCormick Boulevard, Touhy 
Avenue, Devon Avenue, Cicero Avenue 
and Lincoln Avenue, the Village 
should continue to coordinate traffic 
management technologies with Cook 
County and IDOT, aiming to maximize 
the efficiency of roadways in Lincol-
nwood as part of a local and regional 
network.
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Expand parking opportunities 
in the Northeast Business Park 
through the installation of ad-
ditional surface lots and/or the 
addition of angle parking along the 
public streets under the Village’s 
jurisdiction.

Several industrial tenants in the area 
in and around the Northeast Business 
Park are in need of additional parking. 
The Village currently maintains two 
municipal parking lots in this area. 
The Village should work with prop-
erty owners to identify opportuni-
ties for additional surface parking 
opportunities, built and maintained 
either by the Village or the property 
owner for shared use by multiple 
tenants. The Village should also install 
on-street diagonal parking where 
roadway cross-section dimensions 
and traffic patterns make it feasible.

Bicycle & Pedestrian 
Mobility Goal 1 
Create a comprehensive 
pedestrian network that con-
nects residents to 
destinations throughout the 
Village and maximizes safety 
along and across major traffic 
corridors.
Objectives & Policies
Establish a long-term sidewalk 
infill program.

The presence, location, and condi-
tion of sidewalks varies throughout 
Lincolnwood’s neighborhoods and 
commercial areas. The Village should 
establish a long-term sidewalk infill 
program to manage and prioritize im-
provements to the sidewalk network. 
This program should continue to 
include an annual review process to 
monitor the condition of existing side-
walks, repair or replace segments as 
necessary, and install new sidewalks 
on blocks where they don’t exist. It 
should also include a program for res-
idents to report disrepair and request 
improvements.

Work with IDOT and Cook County 
to implement pedestrian crossing 
improvements.

Major roadway corridors in Lincoln-
wood can be barriers to walkability 
and pedestrian mobility between 
different parts of the community. The 
Village should work with IDOT and 
Cook County to implement pedes-
trian crossing improvements that 
include best practices for pedestri-
an safety. Crossing improvements 
should be made along Devon Avenue, 
Pratt Avenue, Touhy Avenue, Cicero 
Avenue, Crawford Avenue, McCor-
mick Boulevard, and Lincoln Avenue, 
and could include pedestrian refuge 
islands, pedestrian crossing signals, 
and adjustments to signal phasing.

Where feasible, provide pedestrian 
pass-throughs to future bike trail 
corridors from residential cul-de-
sacs and adjacent parks.

Future trails will enhance mobility 
throughout Lincolnwood, though 
access from only intersecting arte-
rials is inadequate. Where feasible, 
neighborhood access points should 
be provided at local streets that end 
at the vacated rail corridors. Existing 
parks should also provide direct 
connection to the new trails. This 
could occur through breaks in fencing 
or through alignment of the trail to be 
integrated with the park design.

Where possible, shorten pedes-
trian crossing distances through 
crosswalk configurations that are 
perpendicular to traffic flow.

Due to the diagonal alignment of 
Lincoln Avenue, several pedestrian 
crossings cross the roadway at an 
angle that lengthens the crossing 
distance. Where feasible, the Village 
should work with IDOT to reconfigure 
pedestrian crossings to be more per-
pendicular to traffic flow and utilize 
existing medians, or install new ones, 
as pedestrian refuge islands.
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Bicycle & Pedestrian 
Mobility Goal 2 
Establish a bicycle network 
throughout the communi-
ty with connections to the 
broader regional trail system.
Objectives & Policies
Continue to implement the 2006 
Bikeway Plan.

The Village’s 2006 Bikeway Plan 
demonstrates the community’s 
commitment to bicycle mobility. The 
Village should continue to implement 
the Bikeway Plan, including on-street 
bike lanes, marked shared lanes, or 
posted bike route connections to 
regional trails on Longmeadow Ave, 
and Minnehaha Ave.

Complete the conversion of the 
Village’s two rail corridors into 
dedicated bike trails.

Two vacated rail corridors represent 
unique opportunities to establish 
off-street bike trails within the 
Village, offering readily available land 
which can link Village neighborhoods, 
commercial areas, and regional bike 
networks. The Village is proactively 
taking steps to acquire and convert 
these rail corridors to bike trails. The 
Village should continue to work with 
IDOT, Cook County, and adjacent 
municipalities to ensure the resulting 
trails maximize local and regional 
mobility, and should continue to seek 
grant funding to install the trail and 
related amenities, including lighting, 
signage, fountains, furniture, etc.

Amend zoning regulations to 
require a ratio of on-site bicycle 
parking for commercial properties 
based upon the required amount of 
vehicular parking.

Lincolnwood lacks the bicycle park-
ing amenities necessary to support 
increased bicycle use in the commu-
nity. The Village should amend zoning 
regulations to require a ratio of on-
site bicycle parking for commercial 
properties based upon the required 
amount of vehicular parking. The 
Village could also develop incentives 
that encourage property owners 
or tenants to include other bicycle 
amenities, such as repair stations, 
showers, and storage lockers.

Work with IDOT and Cook County 
to implement bicycle crossing 
improvements where designated 
trails and bike lanes cross major 
roadways.

New designated trails and bike lanes 
will intersect a number of major 
roadways in Lincolnwood. The Village 
should work with IDOT and Cook 
County to implement bicycle crossing 
improvements at these locations 
to ensure safe connectivity across 
Lincolnwood. Improvements could in-
clude user-activated warning signals, 
highly visible crossings, and vehicular 
warning signs. Such improvements 
should also be installed on arterials 
or collectors under the jurisdiction of 
the Village.

Work with local service provid-
ers to develop an education and 
awareness program for bicycle 
use.

In order to maximize investment in 
bicycle infrastructure, the Village 
should work with School Districts 
74 and 219, the Lincolnwood Public 
Library, IDOT, Cook County, and other 
partners to support local education 
for safe driving and bicycling. This 
program could include print mate-
rials, online resources, and safety 
training.
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Transit Goal 1 
Enhance transit connections 
to destinations within and 
outside of Lincolnwood.
Objectives & Policies
Coordinate with regional trans-
portation organizations to ensure 
that, as roadway improvements 
are implemented, appropriate 
considerations are given to transit 
infrastructure.

Roadway improvements present a sig-
nificant opportunity to accommodate 
transit infrastructure needs in Lincol-
nwood. The Village should work with 
IDOT, Cook County, Pace, and CTA 
to ensure roadway projects include 
necessary transit improvements. 
Appropriate considerations should be 
given to transit infrastructure, signal 
technologies, facilities, and passenger 
waiting amenities.

Continue to coordinate with Pace 
and CTA to assess potential service 
improvements in Lincolnwood that 
would benefit local residents.

Changing demographics and local 
land use could shift transit demand in 
and around Lincolnwood. The Village 
should coordinate with CTA and Pace 
to ensure that bus transit offers 
residents access to destinations both 
within and outside the community. 
The Village should also work with 
CTA and Pace to keep them aware of 
significant developments that could 
potentially shift ridership demand or 
travel patterns.

Work with Pace to assess the via-
bility of local or subregional transit 
circulator service.

In addition to its fixed line-haul bus 
routes, Pace works with municipal-
ities to establish locally-subsidized 
circulator routes. These routes 
utilize Pace vehicles and fill in “gaps” 
between line-haul routes and local 
transit destinations. The Village 
should work with Pace to explore 
the viability of such a service on 
Lincolnwood.

Amend zoning regulations to 
reference Pace’s Design Review 
Assistance for Transit (DRAFT) 
program for development projects 
abutting bus transit alignments.

Pace’s DRAFT program provides 
technical review and assistance 
for projects that could impact bus 
transit, helping to ensure that new 
developments support both local and 
regional transit mobility. The Village 
should amend zoning regulations 
to reference this program, encour-
aging developers to use DRAFT for 
development projects abutting bus 
transit alignments in Lincolnwood 
or requiring Planned Development 
review and approval.
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Lincolnwood is a built-out commu-
nity with an established land use 

and development pattern. As such, 
there is little opportunity for signif-
icant changes to the parks and open 
space system in the Village. However, 
there are several actions that can 
be taken to ensure that existing 
parks continue to serve the needs of 
Lincolnwood residents, and future 
investment provides opportunities 
for new open spaces while minimiz-
ing impacts on natural features. This 
section of the Comprehensive Plan 
presents policies and recommenda-
tions relevant to parks, open space, 
and natural features.

Existing Parks & 
Open Spaces
This section highlights the Village’s 
existing parks and open spaces. The 
information was obtained through 
field inventories undertaken by the 
Consultant in spring 2015 and infor-
mation collected from the Village of 
Lincolnwood.

Village of Lincolnwood Parks & 
Recreation Department. The Village 
of Lincolnwood operates the Parks 
& Recreation Department, which is 
staffed by five full-time employees 
and over 250 part-time, seasonal em-
ployees. With limited available land 
to expand parks and open space, the 
Department focuses on programming 
at its existing parks and open spaces 
and has a goal of “providing a wide 
range of programs for individuals 
of all ages, abilities, interests, and 
cultures in the areas of sports, trips, 
after-school, camps, teens, adults, 
seniors, aquatic activities, and special 
events.” 

Based on categories established by the 
National Recreation and Parks Asso-
ciation (NRPA), Lincolnwood has four 
mini parks, seven neighborhood parks, 
and two community parks. These 
parks are well-distributed throughout 
the Village, and as a result, the majority 
of residents find themselves within 
walking distance (1/4 – 1/2 mile) of 
the nearest park. The total acreage of 
these parks is 74.4 acres, including the 
fields maintained by School District 74. 
(This does not include the Bryn Mawr 
Golf Club, trail corridors, cemeteries, 
and unused open space on the east 
side of the North Shore Channel.) This 
acreage falls short of NRPA’s standard 
of 10 acres of parkland for every 1,000 
residents. (Lincolnwood’s current pop-
ulation is approximately 12,600 people 
meaning NRPA’s recommended area of 
parkland would be 126 acres.) However, 
compared to similar communities that 
are older and built-out, Lincolnwood is 
providing a high level of service related 
to both the total amount of parkland 
and access from local neighborhoods.

Community Parks, 
Facilities & Special 
Use Open Space
Proesel Park. Proesel Park is the 
centerpiece of the Lincolnwood 
parks system. It is home to baseball/
softball diamonds, two full basketball 
courts, a teen play area, children’s 
playground area, picnic facilities, per-
gola sitting area, three lighted tennis 
courts, in-line skating rink, outdoor 
ice skating rink, and two volleyball 
courts. It also houses the Family 
Aquatics Center, Community Center 
and Frida Proesel Shelter, and abuts 
the Village’s municipal complex.

Lincolnwood Centennial Park. This 
linear park defines the eastern edge 
of Lincolnwood, running one mile in 
length on the east side of McCormick 
Boulevard between Touhy Avenue 
and Devon along the North Shore 
Channel. Centennial Park includes 
the portion on the west side of the 
North Shore Channel, and features 
dog-friendly passive uses and ameni-
ties including sculptures, a walking /
jogging path, an outdoor amphithe-
ater, an area for small craft access 
to the channel, a nine-hole disc golf 
course, and a stage that doubles as a 
fishing platform. With the exception 
of The Stadium at Devon and Kedzie, 
the open space along the east side of 
the channel is unused.

Aquatic Center. Located in Proesel 
Park, the Aquatic Center features a 
membership-access outdoor pool 
complete with an open swim area, lap 
lanes, and diving boards. The Center 
also offers indoor and outdoor event 
rental space as well as locker rooms. 
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Community Center. The Lincoln-
wood Community Center provides a 
gathering space with the capacity to 
host 248 persons. Residents may rent 
out the Community Center for special 
events for a fee.

Bryn Mawr Country Club. Bryn 
Mawr Country Club was developed 
in the 1920’s and has experienced 
several recent renovations to the 
clubhouse facility. Most recently, the 
lower level was renovated to include 
new locker rooms, elevators, and 
other modern amenities. The country 
club occupies approximately 133 acres 
in the southern portion of the Village.

New Light Cemetery. New Light 
Cemetery occupies 2.5 acres adjacent 
to the Lincolnwood School campus. 

Cook County Forest Preserves. 
Lincolnwood is less than 3 miles 
north of the Cook County Forest 
Preserve’s LaBagh Woods, and 
less than 2.5 miles northeast of the 
Preserve’s Edgebrook Woods. While 
these woods are not included within 
the Village boundary, Lincolnwood 
residents benefit from the Preserves’ 
proximity. However, existing physical 
barriers such as Highway 14, Highway 
50 and I-94 make the County-main-
tained open spaces difficult to access. 
The Forest Preserve properties are 
supported by Cook County residents 
and have passive or low-intensity 
amenities such as trails, picnic areas, 
and flexible space for ball fields or 
open recreation.

Existing 
Environmental 
Features
Despite being a built-out community, 
there are several key environmental 
considerations in Lincolnwood. They 
include the following:

North Shore Channel. The North 
Shore Channel is the north branch of 
the Chicago River between the City of 
Chicago and its outlet to Lake Michi-
gan in Wilmette. The channel is lined 
with trees and lies within a 100-year 
floodplain, the only FEMA-designated 
floodplain in the Village.

Tree Population. Tree coverage 
in Lincolnwood varies. In some 
neighborhoods, trees on both private 
properties and in the public parkway 
enhance the character of the area. 
The Village owns and maintains 
over 7,000 trees in the public realm. 
The Village’s parks and open spaces 
support a significant tree popula-
tion that enhances the character of 
the community. The Public Works 
Department manages a tree program 
that maintains existing trees, replaces 
trees removed from the public right-
of-way, and pays 50% of the cost for 
new trees requested by residents.

Localized Flooding. While the only 
FEMA-designated 100-year flood-
plain exists along the North Shore 
Channel, several neighborhoods have 
experienced flooding during heavy 
rain events. This is the result of addi-
tional stormwater created by urban 
development, and infrastructure that 
cannot move the volume of water 
created by recent storms.

I-94 Corridor. According to IDOT, 
I-94 carries an average of about 
157,000 vehicles through Lincolnwood 
each day. This traffic has significant 
impacts on adjacent neighborhoods, 
especially in areas where the inter-
state is at a grade similar to that of 
surrounding local streets. Significant 
noise and light pollution were ob-
served during field reconnaissance. 

O’Hare International Airport Air 
Traffic Noise. O’Hare International 
Airport’s northern runway begins 
about 7.5 miles west of I-94/Touhy Av-
enue interchange. Several residents 
and businesses experience noise due 
to the approach of large commer-
cial aircraft. However, the Village is 
outside of the official noise impact 
contours that were established as 
part of the O’Hare runway expansion 
project.
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Goals, 
Objectives & 
Policies
The recommendations in this section 
are guided by several factors, includ-
ing public input received throughout 
the planning process, ongoing efforts 
to implement adopted plans, and 
the community’s desire to be more 
sustainable.

Parks & 
Open Spaces Goal 1 
Continue to provide 
high-quality and modern 
parks and open spaces to 
residents of Lincolnwood.
Objectives & Policies
Continue to support the Play-
ground Replacement Program, 
prioritizing playgrounds that are 
not accessible or are experiencing 
disrepair.

The Parks and Recreation Depart-
ment sets aside a regular budget 
item for upgrades to or replacement 
of playground equipment under its 
Playground Replacement Program. 
The Department should continue 
to do this in the future, and should 
prioritize improvements to play-
ground equipment based on observed 
safety concerns, accessibility for all 
residents, the age and condition of 
equipment, and location in the Village.

Continue to implement the 2011 
Comprehensive Parks and Recre-
ation Master Plan.

The Comprehensive Parks and Recre-
ation Master Plan provides a range of 
recommendations aimed at improving 
facilities and programs. The focus of 
this plan has allowed for highly spe-
cific action items aimed at individual 
parks and facilities. The Village should 
continue to implement these action 
items in accordance with the priori-
tization schedule established by the 
Plan. A review of the implementation 
plan should also be completed in 2016, 
five years since the Plan’s adoption, 
to assess changes in the community 
and new factors that may alter the 
importance of various projects.

Continue to monitor national and 
regional trends in playground 
amenities, and modify capital 
programs and design standards to 
integrate state-of-the-art facilities 
and equipment.

As playground equipment is updated 
through the Playground Replacement 
Program, new amenities should be 
state-of-the-art and bring local play-
grounds to not only regional, but nation-
al standards. The Village should review 
materials from organizations such 
as the National Recreation and Parks 
Association or the National Program for 
Playground Safety, as well as regional 
municipalities with recent state-of-the-
art improvements.

Continue to monitor local demo-
graphics, and modify parks and 
open space programming to reflect 
the evolving needs of Lincoln-
wood’s diverse population.

Lincolnwood’s aging population, influx 
of younger families, and diversity could 
place new demands on parks and open 
space programming. Existing program-
ming should be regularly reviewed 
so that new services are introduced 
to meet the demands of emerging or 
underserved populations. In addition, a 
community survey should be conducted 
on a regular basis to evaluate the needs 
and desires of Lincolnwood residents.

Monitor the availability of proper-
ties adjacent to existing parks, and 
where appropriate, acquire such 
property to accommodate park 
expansion.

Lincolnwood’s built-out development 
pattern constrains the ability to 
create new parks and open spaces. 
However, opportunities to expand 
existing parks may arise over time as 
properties become available for pur-
chase. The Department should identi-
fy parks for potential expansion and 
establish a master plan based on the 
incremental availability of adjacent 
land. The Department should also 
monitor the availability of adjacent 
properties and, where possible, work 
with property owners to establish 
the right of first refusal should they 
become available.
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Parks & 
Open Spaces Goal 2 
Enhance multi-modal access 
to Lincolnwood’s parks and 
open spaces from surround-
ing commercial and residen-
tial areas. 
Objectives & Policies
Establish formal agreements with 
School District 74 for the shared 
use of indoor and outdoor recre-
ational facilities.

The facilities of School District 74 
are an important community asset, 
centrally located within the Village 
and closely tied to adjacent residen-
tial areas. The district’s outdoor areas 
and indoor gymnasiums represent a 
significant amenity for residents. The 
Village should continue to coordinate 
with the School District to provide 
the shared use of indoor and outdoor 
recreational spaces outside of school 
hours of operation. This could in-
clude after-school programs, sports 
leagues, and community events.

Coordinate with the Forest Pre-
serves District of Cook County, 
IDOT, CTA and Pace to enhance 
sidewalk, trail, and transit access 
to Forest Preserve properties west 
and southwest of Lincolnwood.

Portions of Lincolnwood are located 
less than one mile from Forest 
Preserves District of Cook County 
properties, including LaBagh Woods, 
Forest Glen Woods, and Edgebrook 
Woods. These spaces provide an op-
portunity for Lincolnwood residents 
to access additional open space. Co-
ordinating with the Forest Preserve 
District, the City of Chicago, and 
IDOT, the Village should establish safe 
multi-modal routes for residents to 
access nearby Forest Preserve prop-
erties. Efforts could include sidewalk 
enhancements, designated routes, 
and wayfinding signage. In addition, 
new transit options could be coordi-
nated with CTA and Pace leaving from 
key sites within the Village.

Utilize the Planned Unit Develop-
ment approval process to integrate 
quality, usable open spaces into 
larger development and redevelop-
ment throughout the Village.

There are several key redevelop-
ment sites in Lincolnwood that are 
large enough to accommodate open 
space as a component of the overall 
development program. As part of the 
Planned Unit Development approval 
process, the Village should work with 
developers to integrate usable open 
spaces as part of new developments. 
These spaces should be accessible to 
and provide amenities for the general 
public.

Environmental 
Features Goal 1 
Sustain important environ-
mental elements that help 
define Lincolnwood’s char-
acter.
Objectives & Policies
Work closely with the City of Chica-
go to enforce littering and dumping 
regulations along Centennial Park.

Centennial Park, along with the 
open space east of the North Shore 
Channel, is an amenity shared with 
the City of Chicago to the east. The 
west side is actively used by Lincol-
nwood as Centennial Park, however, 
the east side is more isolated and 
is not actively used, making it more 
susceptible to trash dumping. Though 
it is technically within Lincolnwood’s 
boundary, the Village should work 
with the City of Chicago to monitor 
illegal dumping on the east side of the 
channel.

Continue to support the Village’s 
Tree Replacement Program, and 
establish benchmarks for the tree 
population on a block-by-block 
basis.

The Tree Replacement Program 
provides a 50/50 cost share where 
the Village and the property owner 
share the cost of tree replacement 
within the public right-of-way. This 
program should be continued and 
encouraged to facilitate creation of 
a consistent tree canopy in Lincoln-
wood. The Village should conduct an 
inventory of existing parkway trees 
on a block-by-block basis, targeting 
tree replacement in areas with sparse 
tree canopies. Benchmarks should be 
established for tree species to ensure 
that newly planted trees provide 
diversity and resiliency from disease 
and infestation.
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Implement a tree planting program 
along Lincoln Avenue, Devon Ave-
nue, Pratt Avenue, Touhy Avenue, 
Cicero Avenue, Crawford Avenue, 
and McCormick Boulevard.

Major roadways in Lincolnwood lack 
parkway trees that would enhance 
appearance and character. The Village 
should coordinate with IDOT and 
Cook County to assess existing trees 
along all major roadways. This should 
include a program for planting and 
replacing trees, including suggested 
species and guidelines for placement.

Environmental 
Features Goal 2 
Mitigate the impacts of 
environmental factors on 
development throughout 
Lincolnwood.
Objectives & Policies
Support residents and businesses 
in reducing local stormwater run-
off and flooding.

Stormwater runoff from residential 
and commercial uses has created an 
increased demand on the stormwa-
ter system resulting in intermittent 
flooding. The Village should establish 
a residential stormwater mitigation 
program to provide residents with 
methods to reduce stormwater 
runoff. This program should include 
technical summaries, product 
information, and potential funding 
or development incentives for rain 
barrels, permeable hardscaping, and 
other best management practices. 
The Village should also work with 
commercial property owners to iden-
tify techniques for on-site stormwater 
management. Such techniques could 
include parking lots or dry basins 
specifically engineered to receive and 
hold runoff during significant weather 
events.

Identify and implement strategic 
infrastructure upgrades that 
would increase stormwater capac-
ity and overcome physical barriers 
to the transmission of water.

The Lincolnwood stormwater system 
is not currently prepared to handle 
increased stormwater runoff from 
residential uses. In particular, the 
existing system does not include the 
infrastructure for transmission of 
stormwater from west to east across 
I-94, resulting in some flooding in 
the neighborhoods to the west of the 
highway. The Village has conduct-
ed studies to identify necessary 
engineering solutions to address this 
issue. However, implementation will 
require significant capital funding. 
The Village should pursue grant fund-
ing to address neighborhood flooding 
issues, and identify municipal funding 
that may be necessary to serve as a 
match for grant funding or implement 
related improvements not eligible 
under grants.

Utilize Village-owned open spaces 
as short-term detention areas for 
surrounding development.

Addressing local stormwater 
concerns may require long-term 
implementation of infrastructure 
improvements. However, as a short-
term solution, the Village should 
utilize open spaces for necessary de-
tention of stormwater. Potential open 
spaces should be reviewed to ensure 
short-term detention is viable given 
existing programming, topography, 
and other factors.

Identify municipal funding or 
outside grants to support window 
upgrades to minimize the impacts 
of O’Hare International Airport air 
traffic noise.

The Village frequently experiences air 
traffic related noise given Lincoln-
wood’s proximity to O’Hare Inter-
national Airport. The Village should 
identify potential funding to support 
window upgrades and sound insula-
tion to minimize air traffic noise and 
related impacts. While other grants 
do exist, Lincolnwood is situated out-
side of O’Hare’s official noise contour 
impact area, which may limit some 
potential funding opportunities. The 
Village should consider establishing 
a revolving loan program to maintain 
property values and residential 
marketability.
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Local development in Lincolnwood 
is served by a number of entities 

that provide critical infrastructure 
and services for residents and busi-
nesses. These services support land 
uses, provide a high quality of life, 
and sustain the community’s attrac-
tiveness as a place for residents and 
businesses to invest.

This section of the Comprehensive 
Plan presents goals, objectives, and 
policies for community facilities. It 
should be noted that several of the 
services discussed in this section are 
outside of the purview of the Village 
of Lincolnwood as a governing body. 
As a result, implementation of these 
recommendations may require collab-
oration among agencies and various 
forms of local government.

Existing 
Community 
Facilities
This section highlights the Village’s 
existing community facilities and 
services provided by a number of 
entities or forms of local govern-
ment. The information was obtained 
through field inventories undertaken 
by the Consultant in spring 2015 and 
information collected from the Village 
of Lincolnwood and other service 
providers.

Village of Lincolnwood. The Village 
of Lincolnwood’s Village Hall is locat-
ed in the Municipal Complex at 6900 
N. Lincoln Ave. There are no future 
renovation plans for the Municipal 
Complex since it was recently redone. 
The Municipal Complex houses 
Village Hall and the departments of 
Administration, Community Devel-
opment, Finance, Fire and Police. The 
facility is also used for Village Board 
meetings, voting and other special 
events. As mentioned in the Open 
Space & Environmental Features 
chapter of the Comprehensive Plan, 
the Parks & Recreation Department 
of the Village of Lincolnwood main-
tains the Community Center.

Police Department. Police Protec-
tion in the Village of Lincolnwood 
is provided by the Lincolnwood 
Police Department, which operates 
out of the Municipal Complex in the 
Police Station at 6900 N. Lincoln Ave. 
The Department is comprised of 33 
full-time police officers and 12 staff 
members. Despite recent trends, the 
Police Department indicated that the 
greatest perceived threat to public 
safety in Lincolnwood is burglary and 
theft. The Department has no future 
plans for expansion or redevelopment 
of facilities within the next ten years. 

Fire Department. Lincolnwood is the 
only municipality in the State of Illinois to 
privately contract its fire protection and 
paramedic services. Despite being a con-
tracted service, fire protection services 
in the Village are referred to as the Fire 
Department, operating out of Fire Station 
15 at 6900 N Lincoln Avenue. The Depart-
ment has plans to renovate its existing 
Fire Station 15 building. Renovations over 
the next five years will include remod-
eling the bathroom, painting the interior 
of the building, window upgrades, a new 
boiler and generator, and upgrades to 
the Police/Fire training room. A new 
ambulance substation is being installed 
as part of an approved development 
in the 4500 block of Pratt. The existing 
location of Fire Station 15 and size of 
the station are well suited to staff and 
community needs. The Fire Department 
is concerned about issues of flooding, as 
well as Lincolnwood’s aging population. 
If residential development is to incorpo-
rate more senior homes/assisted living 
units, the Fire Department anticipates an 
increase in ambulance usage. 
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Public Works Department. 
The Public Works Department is 
responsible for maintenance of the 
Village’s streets, vehicles, parks, 
public buildings, trees, alleys, water 
system, sewer system, and more.  The 
Department, located at 7001 North 
Lawndale Avenue, is organized into 
five divisions including: Adminis-
tration, Vehicle Maintenance, Parks 
& Building Maintenance, Streets 
Maintenance, and Water & Sewer 
Maintenance.  During winter, all the 
divisions work together to remove 
snow and ice from local roadways. 
 
Under the purview of Public Works is 
stormwater management. Community 
members voiced a concern about 
flooding issues in some neighbor-
hoods within the Village of Lincoln-
wood. Historically, much of Lincoln-
wood was developed with minimal 
regulations regarding lot coverage. As 
a result, some neighborhoods strug-
gle with excessive stormwater runoff 
and localized flooding.

Parks and Recreation Department. 
The Parks and Recreation Depart-
ment provides facilities and programs 
aimed at promoting healthy and 
enjoyable lifestyles in Lincolnwood. 
Recommendations related to parks 
and recreation are included in Chap-
ter 9 of the Comprehensive Plan.

Lincolnwood Public Library. The 
Lincolnwood Public Library, located 
at 4000 W Pratt Avenue, is operated 
by a separate Library District whose 
mission is “...to enhance the quality 
of life in Lincolnwood by creating 
and sustaining a sense of place for 
residents; bringing the community 
together in order to celebrate its 
diversity; offering individuals a 
welcoming gateway to knowledge and 
discovery; and fulfilling residents’ 
desire for cultural and recreational 
activities.” 

The Library District’s boundaries 
are coterminous with those of the 
Village. In 2012, the District drafted 
a Strategic Plan as a way to increase 
membership after discovering that 
only 30% of Lincolnwood residents 
held a library card. Shifting the 
focus to marketing the District as 
a resource of community space, the 
Library identified several needed 
improvements. The Library will 
undertake a major interior renovation 
in 2016. The District identified spatial 
constraints with its current site and 
building, noting that an expansion of 
the facility would require purchasing 
adjacent property since the existing 
structure cannot support a second 
floor without a major retrofit.

Representatives from the District 
stated that greater transit, bicycle, 
and pedestrian access would enhance 
use of the Library. Also, the Library 
would benefit from a faster fiber op-
tic internet connection similar to that 
already implemented by the Village.  

School District 74. School District 
74 provides elementary and middle 
school education for residents of Lin-
colnwood. (The District’s boundaries 
are coterminous with those of the Vil-
lage.) The campus is located at 6950 
North E. Prairie Road and includes 
four buildings; Todd Hall (Pre-Kinder-
garten through 2nd Grades), Rutledge 
Hall (3rd-5th Grades), Lincoln Hall 
(6th-8th Grades), and the District’s 
Administration Building. The District 
enrollment in 2013 was 1,239 students. 
In 2014, the District established a 
Strategic Plan to lead it through 
upcoming capital improvements. In 
2015, initial capital improvements 
were made to some facilities. In 2016, 
a major capital renovation is planned 
for Lincoln Hall that will include 
increased security and mobility, 
STEM curriculum and large group 
instruction spaces, instructional ren-
ovations, and renovation to common 
elements.

School District #219. Lincolnwood 
residents attend Niles West High 
School, one of three high schools 
operated by School District 219. 
Niles West High school is located 
approximately 1.5 miles northwest 
of Lincolnwood in Skokie. As such, 
the District does not maintain any 
facilities in Lincolnwood but provides 
bus service for students who live in 
the Village.

Oakton Community College (Dis-
trict 535). With primary facilities in 
Des Plaines and Skokie, and satellite 
facilities in various locations through-
out the northern suburbs, Oakton 
Community College offers a variety 
of associate degree and certification 
programs in 80 areas of study. The 
college also offers non-credit con-
tinuing education, adult education, or 
general wellness courses. Residents 
of Lincolnwood are eligible for in-dis-
trict tuition at Oakton Community 
College.
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Niles Township Government. 
Although its facilities are physically 
located in Skokie, IL, the Township of 
Niles offers critical services that are 
accessible by residents of Lincoln-
wood, Skokie, Golf, and sections of 
Morton Grove, Niles and Glenview. 
These services include an emergen-
cy food pantry, general assistance 
to direct people to special services, 
passport aid, and other assessor 
services. 

Community Events. The Village 
of Lincolnwood takes pride in its 
diversity and uses community events 
and various programs to promote this 
attribute. A sample of the communi-
ty-wide events hosted across the Vil-
lage of Lincolnwood include: Movies 
in the Park; the 5k Turkey Trot; the 
annual Holiday Tree Lighting Ceremo-
ny; Luau Night at the Aquatic Center; 
the Family Fun Fest and Classic Car 
Show; and Shake, Rattles and Roll.

Communities of Faith. Lincoln-
wood’s diversity is reflected in its 
range of faith-based institutions. 
These institutions are a resource 
in reaching out to residents and 
strengthening the sense of communi-
ty. Faith-based facilities are located 
throughout Lincolnwood.

Goals, 
Objectives & 
Policies
The following goals, objectives and 
policies are based on public input 
gathered throughout the planning 
process, existing conditions, future 
plans for community facilities, and 
the community’s desire to sustain 
high quality services and amenities.  

Community 
Facilities Goal 1 
Sustain access to high-qual-
ity services that provide 
Lincolnwood residents and 
businesses with the support 
necessary for investment in 
the community. 
Objectives & Policies
Expand and improve local bicycle 
and pedestrian facilities, prioritiz-
ing areas around destinations of-
ten used by senior citizens, youth, 
and other residents.

The pedestrian system in Lincoln-
wood should provide safe routes to 
important community facilities and 
points of interest. Locations such 
as the Municipal Complex, Lincoln-
wood Library, and the school campus 
generate regular traffic from a full 
range of residents, including senior 
citizens and young students. The 
blocks surrounding these locations 
should be the highest priority for 
pedestrian and bicycle network 
improvements. These could include 
the replacement of poorly maintained 
sidewalks, enhanced signage and 
vehicular warnings of the presence 
of bicyclists and pedestrians, and 
clearly marked on-site connections to 
building entries.

Support the Library District and 
School District in procuring high-
speed fiber optic telecommunica-
tions services.

High-speed fiber optic telecommuni-
cations services were identified by lo-
cal service providers as a shortcom-
ing in their existing and facilities. The 
Village should support access to such 
infrastructure for the Lincolnwood 
Public Library and School District 
74. Support could include advocacy 
or joint grant pursuits to support 
funding for telecommunications 
improvements.

Continue to keep Lincolnwood safe.

Lincolnwood citizens enjoy a high 
level of service from their police and 
fire departments. The Village should 
continue to invest in tools to sustain 
Lincolnwood’s reputation within the 
region. Annual capital improvement 
programs should be reviewed to 
ensure they integrate state-of-the art 
fleet vehicles, technologies, and other 
elements. The Village should also con-
tinue to support collaboration with 
adjacent communities to track crime 
patterns and implement preventative 
measures.

Work with IDOT to improve pedes-
trian crossings at intersections 
between Lincoln Avenue, Pratt Ave-
nue and Crawford Avenue adjacent 
to the Lincolnwood Library and 
school campus.

The Lincolnwood Library and the 
Lincolnwood school campus are 
important community destinations. 
While these facilities benefit from a 
central location in the Village, they 
are surrounded by three of the bus-
iest roadways in Lincolnwood. The 
Village should coordinate with IDOT 
to update these crossings in order to 
increase safety and support non-mo-
torized accessibility. Improvements 
could include pedestrian refuge 
islands, pedestrian activated timers, 
and textured crosswalks.
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Community 
Facilities Goal 2 
Improve the performance of 
municipal infrastructure. 
Objectives & Policies
Encourage the use of stormwater 
management and filtration tech-
niques on residential lots.

Recent housing development includes 
larger homes, wider driveways, and 
other characteristics that increase 
the amount of runoff during rain 
events. This can result in localized 
flooding where it hadn’t previously 
occurred. Residential stormwater 
management and filtration tech-
niques, such as permeable pavers, 
rain barrels, and rain gardens, should 
be encouraged to help reduce demand 
on municipal stormwater infrastruc-
ture. The Village should establish 
programs to incentivize stormwater 
management and develop informa-
tional materials to inform residents of 
these techniques and their benefits.

Establish a short- and long-term 
capital improvement strategy for 
addressing localized flooding in 
flood-prone neighborhoods.

Flooding has been noted in various 
residential areas throughout Lincoln-
wood, particularly the neighborhood 
west of I-94, due to infrastructure 
limitations. The Village should review 
all neighborhoods to establish short- 
and long-term capital improvements 
necessary for flood-prone areas. 
Strategies should be established to 
prioritize improvements to address 
existing flooding issues while mitigat-
ing future impacts.

Coordinate with IDOT and Cook 
County to implement local in-
frastructure modernization as 
arterial roadway improvements 
are made.

Village infrastructure runs under 
most of the arterial streets in the 
Village. These streets are typically un-
der the jurisdiction of IDOT or Cook 
County. As these entities undertake 
improvements to their roadways, the 
Village should coordinate to mod-
ernize underground infrastructure. 
This could reduce the overall cost of 
infrastructure maintenance.

Community 
Facilities Goal 3 
Foster collaboration and 
engagement among Village 
government, other agencies 
and forms of local govern-
ment, and the Lincolnwood 
community. 
Objectives & Policies
Support ongoing coordination 
among local service providers to 
maximize both the effectiveness 
and efficiency of public services.

Community facilities and service 
providers such as School Districts 74 
and 219, the Lincolnwood Library, and 
Village departments should continue 
to coordinate services and facilities. 
The Village should support and help 
facilitate cooperation, encouraging 
separate providers to work togeth-
er on community projects, share 
resources, and establish long-term 
plans for maintenance and improve-
ment of community facilities.

Continue to utilize multiple service 
provider networks to maintain 
open communication with Lincoln-
wood residents and businesses.

Lincolnwood’s existing service pro-
viders have pre-established networks 
of communication that are vital to 
keeping residents and businesses 
informed. The Village should utilize 
these avenues to maintain regular 
communication with citizens, includ-
ing both the distribution of news 
specific to the community, as well as 
information about upcoming events 
and activities. Similarly, these lines 
of communication should be central 
to efforts to survey and receive feed-
back from residents and businesses.

Continue to work with other 
service providers to establish a 
central calendar of community 
events that is easily accessible to 
all residents.

With so many activities provided by 
so many entities, residents may find 
information confusing or inconsis-
tent. The Village should work with 
other service providers to establish 
a central resource of information for 
residents regarding activities, events, 
and opportunities to be involved in the 
community.

Work with service providers 
whose district boundaries go be-
yond those of the Village to ensure 
Lincolnwood residents enjoy a 
high level of access and quality of 
service.

The service areas of several service 
providers in Lincolnwood go beyond 
the Village’s municipal border. The 
Village should coordinate with these 
service providers to ensure Lincol-
nwood residents are receiving an 
equitable level of access to facilities 
and services, regardless of where 
these services are actually provided. 
This could include coordination with 
surrounding municipalities to ensure 
bike trails and pedestrian networks 
extend to such facilities.
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The Lincolnwood Comprehensive 
Plan provides recommendations, 
strategies, and policies that should be 
implemented over the next 10 to 20 
years. To realize its vision, the Village 
must take a proactive role with sup-
port and participation from a variety 
of partners. This chapter highlights 
the key actions and funding sources 
that will enable the Lincolnwood com-
munity to put the plan into action.

Day-to-Day Use
The Lincolnwood Comprehensive 
Plan should be put to use on a day-
to-day basis, acting as the Village’s 
official policy guide for land use, 
development, and reinvestment. The 
Plan should be regularly consulted 
by Village staff, the Board of Trustees, 
and other boards and commissions 
in review and evaluation for future 
investment. Further, the various 
community facilities and service 
providers in Lincolnwood should use 
the Plan to assess how facilities, in-
frastructure, and programming align 
with broader community objectives. 
The Village should meet with depart-
ment heads, important Village staff, 
and key individuals in the community 
to explain the purpose and benefits of 
the Lincolnwood Comprehensive Plan.

To support the day-to-day use of the 
Plan, the Village should:

•	 Make copies of the Plan avail-
able online for free, provide 
hard copies at the Village Hall, 
and have a copy on file at the 
Lincolnwood Public Library for 
reference;

•	 Provide assistance to the public 
that explains the Plan and its re-
lationship to private and public 
development projects and other 
civic proposals;

•	 Assist the Boards of Trust-
ees and various boards and 
commissions in the day-to-day 
administration, interpretation, 
and application of the Plan;

•	 Provide a Lincolnwood Com-
prehensive Plan orientation 
for newly elected or appointed 
officials; and,

•	 Maintain a list of emerging 
trends, issues, or needs which 
may be the subject of amend-
ments to the Lincolnwood 
Comprehensive Plan.

Jurisdictional 
Cooperation & 
Participation
For the Lincolnwood Comprehensive 
Plan to be successful there must be 
strong leadership from the Village 
and dedicated participation from 
other local and regional agencies, 
organizations, community groups, 
and the private sectors. The Village 
should assume a leadership role in 
collaborating with other organiza-
tions to implement the Lincolnwood 
Comprehensive Plan and improve the 
quality of life in Lincolnwood. 

Partners should include, amongst 
others:

•	 Lincolnwood 
Public Library District

•	 Lincolnwood School District 74
•	 Niles Township High School 

District 219
•	 Private education providers
•	 Cook County
•	 Forest Preserves District of 

Cook County
•	 Illinois Department of 

Transportation
•	 Northwest Municipal Confer-

ence (NWMC)
•	 Business and development 

community
•	 Community stakeholders

62 Implementation | Lincolnwood Comprehensive Plan



Amending 
Development 
Regulations
While the Lincolnwood Compre-
hensive Plan provides a vision and 
direction for the community, the 
Village’s development regulations 
are the primary tool for implementa-
tion of the Plan. Following adoption 
of the Lincolnwood Comprehensive 
Plan, the Village should review the 
current zoning ordinance and related 
ordinances to ensure that regulations 
reflect current Village policy and the 
objectives of the Lincolnwood com-
munity. Amendments to development 
regulations and standards should 
consider complementary programs 
and incentives that can be used to 
achieve the community’s vision.

Multi-Year 
Capital 
Improvement 
Program
Recommendations of the Lincolnwood 
Comprehensive Plan will require 
capital investments by the Village. 
To support implementation of these 
recommendations and appropriately 
budget for improvements, Lincoln-
wood should review its multi-year 
Capital Improvement Program (CIP) 
to ensure that investments support 
objectives articulated in the Compre-
hensive Plan.

Regular Updates
The Lincolnwood Comprehensive 
Plan is not a static document. As new 
issues arise or community desires 
change in the future that are beyond 
the focus of the existing plan, updates 
should be made to the Comprehensive 
Plan to meet these changing condi-
tions. Although a proposal to amend 
the Plan can be brought forth by pe-
tition at any time, the Village should 
initiate review of the Plan at least 
every three to five years. Ideally, this 
review should coincide with prepa-
ration of the Village’s budget and 
future Capital Improvement Plans as 
well as the preparation of an annual 
action agenda. Routine examination 
of the Plan will help ensure that the 
planning program remains relevant to 
community needs and aspirations.

Maintain Public 
Communication
The planning process for the Lincoln-
wood Comprehensive Plan has facili-
tated a considerable amount of public 
outreach and communication, keeping 
residents involved and informed of 
the plan’s development. Members 
of the Lincolnwood community 
were able to stay involved through 
outreach events, a project website, 
interactive outreach tools, newslet-
ters, and other traditional media. This 
is an important step in educating 
the community about the relevance 
of planning and the Village’s role in 
defining its future. Building on these 
efforts, the Village should ensure that 
the Plan’s major recommendations 
and overall “vision” are conveyed to 
the entire community. This should 
include regular updates, coverage 
of major milestones, and additional 
opportunities for residents to voice 
their opinion.

The Village should continue to use 
established networks to ensure that 
community members can commu-
nicate with the Village and receive 
information about local planning and 
development. In addition, the Village 
should work to provide accessible 
materials both online and in print 
that simplify and explain regular civic 
functions. This could include infor-
mational materials that provide guid-
ance on applying for zoning, building, 
subdivision, or other development 
related permits and approvals.

The Village should also conduct 
regular surveys with residents and 
business owners. These could include 
surveys at regular intervals that 
monitor changes in opinion over 
time, or special surveys that solicit 
local opinions about specific issues. 
These could be conducted through 
e-blasts, water bill mailings, materials 
distributed through school students, 
or ballot questionnaires. 
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Potential Funding 
Sources
The following is a list of potential 
funding sources that the Village could 
pursue to fund implementation of the 
Lincolnwood Comprehensive Plan. 
These programs are organized by 
funding category, which include:

•	 General Economic Development
•	 Transportation & Infrastructure
•	 Parks, Trails & Open Spaces 

General Economic 
Development
Tax Increment Finance (TIF)
The purpose of TIF funding is to in-
centivize and attract desired develop-
ment within key redevelopment areas. 
TIF dollars can typically be used for 
infrastructure, streetscaping, public 
improvements, land assemblage, and 
offsetting the cost of development.

TIF utilizes future property tax rev-
enues generated within a designated 
area or district, to pay for improve-
ments and further incentivize contin-
ued reinvestment. As the Equalized 
Assessed Value (EAV) of properties 
within a TIF district increases, the 
incremental growth in property tax 
over the base year that the TIF was 
established is reinvested in that 
area. Local officials may then issue 
bonds to undertake other financial 
obligations based on the growth in 
new revenue. 

Over the life of a TIF district, existing 
taxing bodies receive the same level 
of tax revenue as in the base year. 
Provisions exist for schools to receive 
additional revenue. The maximum 
life of a TIF district in the State of 
Illinois is 23 years, although a district 
can be extended beyond that horizon 
through authorization from the State 
Legislature.

The Village currently has three TIF 
districts:

•	 Lincoln-Touhy TIF
•	 Northeast Industrial District TIF
•	 Devon-Lincoln TIF

Business Development 
District (BDD)
Authorized by Division 74.3 of the 
Municipal Code of the State of Illinois, 
a municipality may designate, after 
public hearings, an area as a Business 
Development District (BDD). A BDD 
would allow the Village to levy up to 
an additional 1% retailers occupation 
tax, 1% hotel tax, and 1% sales tax 
within a designated district. Similar 
to a TIF district, a BDD has a maxi-
mum life of 23 years. BDD legislation 
also permits municipalities to utilize 
tax revenue growth that has been 
generated by BDD properties to fund 
improvements in the district.

Business district designation empowers 
a municipality to carry out a business 
district development or redevelopment 
plan through the following actions:

•	 Review all development and 
redevelopment proposals for 
eligible projects using BDD fund-
ing to improve property

•	 Acquire, manage, convey, or 
otherwise dispose of real and 
personal property acquired 
pursuant to the provisions of a 
development or redevelopment 
plan

•	 Enter into contracts with any pub-
lic or private agency or person.

•	 Apply for and accept capital 
grants and loans from the fed-
eral government and the State 
of Illinois for business district 
development and redevelopment

•	 Borrow funds as it may be 
deemed necessary for the pur-
pose of business district devel-
opment and redevelopment, and 
in this connection, issue such 
obligation or revenue bonds as 
it shall be deemed necessary, 
subject to applicable statutory 
limitations

•	 Sell, lease, trade, or improve 
such real property as may be 
acquired in connection with 
business district development 
or redevelopment plans

•	 Expend such public funds as 
may be necessary for the plan-
ning, execution, and implemen-
tation of the business district 
plans

•	 Create a Business District 
Development and Redevelop-
ment Commission to act as an 
agent for the municipality for 
the purpose of business district 
development and redevelopment

BDD funds can be used for infra-
structure improvements, public 
improvements, site acquisition, and 
land assemblage.
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Special Service Area (SSA)
A Special Service Area (SSA) provides 
a means of funding improvements 
and programs within a designated 
area. In an SSA, a small percentage 
is added to property taxes within the 
defined service area. The revenue 
received from this additional levy 
is channeled back into projects and 
programs benefiting those properties. 
An SSA can be rejected if 51% of the 
property owners and electors within 
a designated area object.

SSA funded projects can include 
such things as district marketing and 
advertising assistance, promotional 
activities and special events, street-
scape and signage improvements, 
and property maintenance services. 
SSA’s can also be used to fund 
various incentives and tools such as 
small business loan funds or façade 
improvement programs.

Incubators
Business incubators provide low-cost 
space and specialized support to 
small companies. Such services might 
include administrative consulting, 
access to office equipment and train-
ing, and assisting in accessing credit. 
Incubators are typically owned by 
public entities such as municipalities 
or economic development agen-
cies who then subsidize rents and 
services with grants. In addition to 
job creation and generating activity, 
the goal is to facilitate growth and 
expansion of startup businesses 
within an area.

Sales Tax Rebate
A sales tax rebate is a tool typically 
used by municipalities to incentivize 
business to locate to a site or area. 
The rebate is offered as a percent-
age of the annual sales tax revenue 
generated by the establishment and 
is often tied to benchmarks such that 
as sales volume increases, so too does 
the proportion of the rebate. Sales tax 
rebate percentages can range from 
1% to 100% and are dependent on 
the goals and objectives of the local 
municipality. Sales tax rebates have 
proven effective in attracting new 
businesses and encouraging redevel-
opment and renovation.

Tax Abatement
A property tax abatement is a 
versatile tool that can be applied to 
address a wide range of community 
issues. Property tax abatements 
are typically used as an incentive to 
attract business and revitalize the 
local economy. In the State of Illinois, 
municipalities and other taxing 
districts can abate any portion of the 
tax that they individually levy on a 
property. The period of tax abatement 
on a given property can be no longer 
than 10 years and the total combined 
sum of abated taxes for all taxing 
districts cannot exceed $4 million 
over that period. A taxing district can 
administer the abatement by one of 
two methods: 1) lowering the tax rate; 
or 2) initiating a property tax freeze 
where the property is taxed based on 
a pre-development assessed value.

In some circumstances municipalities 
can also petition the County to lower 
a property’s assessment. For exam-
ple, a commercial property could be 
assessed at a percentage equivalent 
to that of a residential property. This 
is an effective means of lowering a 
property tax bill; however, it should 
be noted that this method impacts 
all taxing districts and not just the 
district making the request.

Payment in 
Lieu of Taxes (PILOT)
Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) is 
a tool similar to tax abatement. The 
Village can use PILOT to reduce the 
property tax burden of a desired busi-
ness for a predetermined period. In 
this instance, the Village and property 
owners will agree to the annual pay-
ment of a set fee in place of property 
taxes. Payments are generally made 
in the form of a fixed sum, but they 
may also be paid as a percentage of 
the income generated by a property.

In addition, PILOT can be a means of 
reducing the fiscal impact on the Vil-
lage of a nonprofit, institutional use, 
or other non-taxpaying entity located 
on a key site. While such uses can be 
desirable as activity generators, they 
can also negatively impact municipal 
services because they do not pay tax-
es. Provisions can be made to offset 
that negative impact by allowing the 
Village to be compensated for at least 
a portion of the revenue that would 
otherwise be collected in the form of 
property tax.
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Transportation & 
Infrastructure
In December 2015 the Fixing Amer-
ica’s Surface Transportation (FAST) 
Act, a five-year transportation 
reauthorization bill, was established. 
The FAST Act replaces the Moving 
Ahead for Progress in the 21st Cen-
tury (MAP-21) Act, which expired in 
October 2015 and was extended three 
times. The FAST Act aims to improve 
infrastructure, provide long-term 
certainty and increased flexibility 
for  government, streamline approval 
processes, and encourage innovation 
to make the surface transportation 
system safer and more efficient.

The FAST Act continues funding for 
numerous programs previously fund-
ed through MAP-21. Given the recent 
passage of the FAST Act, it is still 
uncertain how changes in Federal 
policy will ultimately impact existing 
funding programs. The Village should 
stay informed of the status of these 
programs and new funding sources 
that may be introduced in the near 
future as a result of the FAST Act.

The following are grant programs 
covered under the FAST Act that 
could be utilized by the Village to 
make enhancements to local trans-
portation infrastructure.

Illinois Transportation En-
hancement Program (ITEP)
The Illinois Department of Trans-
portation (IDOT) administers the 
Illinois Transportation Enhancement 
Program (ITEP) and has funded proj-
ects including bicycle and pedestrian 
facilities, streetscaping, landscaping, 
historic preservation, and projects 
that control or remove outdoor 
advertising. In the past, federal 
reimbursement has been available for 
up to 50% of the costs of right-of-way 
and easement acquisition and 80% of 
the costs for preliminary engineering, 
utility relocations, construction engi-
neering, and construction costs.

Safe Routes to Schools (SRTS)
The SRTS program provides funding 
for the planning, design, and con-
struction of infrastructure related 
projects that will substantially im-
prove the ability of students to walk 
and bike to school, including:

�� Sidewalk improvements;

�� Traffic calming and speed 
reduction improvements;

�� Pedestrian and bicycle-crossing 
improvements;

�� On-street bicycle facilities

�� Off-street bicycle and pedestri-
an facilities;

�� Secure bicycle parking system; 
and,

�� Traffic diversion improvements 
in the vicinity of schools

Congestion Mitigation & Air 
Quality Improvement Pro-
gram (CMAQ)
The Chicago Metropolitan Agency for 
Planning (CMAP) is the administrator 
of Congestion Mitigation & Air Quality 
Improvement (CMAQ) program funds 
for the northeastern Illinois region. 
CMAP has supported a wide range of 
projects through the CMAQ program 
including improvements to the bicy-
cle facilities, transit facilities, inter-
sections, sidewalk improvements, and 
signal timing, Funds have also been 
used to make transportation improve-
ments to eliminate traffic bottlenecks, 
limit desired emissions, and to create 
promotional campaigns to enhance 
use of transit and bicycles. As a result 
of changes made to the program 
under the recently adopted FAST Act, 
vehicle-to-infrastructure technology 
projects will also be eligible for CMAQ 
funding.

Surface Transportation Block 
Grant Program (STBGP)
STBGP funds are allocated to 
coordinating regional councils to 
be used for roadway and roadway 
related items. Projects in this funding 
category require a local sponsor and 
are selected based on a ranking scale 
that takes into account the regional 
benefits provided by the project 
among other factors. STBGP funds 
may be used for a variety of project 
types including roadway rehabilita-
tion, reconstruction and restoration, 
widening and adding lanes; intersec-
tion improvements, traffic signage 
improvements, and green infrastruc-
ture funding.

Surface Transportation Pro-
gram (STP) Set-Aside
STP Set-Aside is a sub-program of 
the Surface Transportation Block 
Grant Program, which provides 
funding for non-motorized transpor-
tation projects. Projects range from 
on-street bike facilities to multi-use 
paths and sidewalk infill programs to 
Safe Routes to School projects. STP 
Set-Aside funds are administered by 
the Chicago Metropolitan Agency for 
Planning (CMAP) through a formal 
application process.

66 Implementation | Lincolnwood Comprehensive Plan



Parks, Trails & 
Open Spaces
Illinois Department of Natural 
Resources (IDNR)
The Illinois Department of Natu-
ral Resources (IDNR) administers 
several grants-in-aid programs to 
help municipalities and other local 
agencies provide a number of public 
outdoor recreational areas and facili-
ties. The programs operate on a cost 
reimbursement basis to a govern-
ment or non-for-profit organization. 
Local governments can receive one 
grant per program per year, with no 
restrictions on the number of local 
governments that can be funded for 
a given location. IDNR grants are 
organized into three major categories: 
Open Space Land Acquisition and De-
velopment (OSLAD); Boat Access Area 
Development (BAAD); and the Illinois 
Trails Grants Program.

Open Space Land Acquisition & 
Development (OSLAD)
The OSLAD program awards up to 
50% of project costs up to a maximum 
of $750,000 for acquisition and 
$400,000 for development/renovation 
of recreational facilities such as play-
grounds, outdoor nature interpretive 
areas, campgrounds and fishing piers, 
park roads and paths, and beaches. 
IDNR administers five grant pro-
grams to provide financial assistance 
for the acquisition, development, and 
maintenance of trails that are used 
for public recreation uses.

Land & Water Conservation 
Fund (LWCF)
The federal Land & Water Conserva-
tion Fund program (LWCF) is a pro-
gram with similar objectives to the 
OSLAD program that is also managed 
by IDNR. LWCF grants are available to 
municipalities, counties, and school 
districts to be used for outdoor recre-
ation projects. Projects require a 50% 
match. All funded projects are taken 
under perpetuity by the National 
Park Service and must only be used 
for outdoor recreational purposes.

Illinois Bicycle Path Program
The Illinois Bicycle Path Program 
is a grants program administered 
by IDNR that provides funding 
assistance up to 50% to acquire and 
develop land for public bicycle path 
purposes. Funded by a percentage of 
vehicle title fees, maximum grants 
awards are limited to $200,000

Recreational Trails 
Program (RTP)
The Recreational Trails Program is a 
federally funded grant program for 
trail-related land acquisition, devel-
opment, or restoration. The grants 
are awarded based on the results of a 
competitive scoring process and the 
application’s suitability under MAP-21. 
A minimum 20% match is required 
by the applicant. Grants are to be 
used for motorized or non-motorized 
trail development, renovation, and / 
or preservation. All projects must be 
maintained for 25 years. Eligible appli-
cants include municipalities, counties, 
schools, non-profits, and for-profit 
businesses.

ComEd Green 
Region Program
Openlands has partnered with 
ComEd to administer the ComEd 
Green Region Program. Recognizing 
that open space is a crucial element 
of the quality of life, the ComEd pro-
gram awards grants for municipal ef-
forts to plan for, protect, and improve 
open land in ComEd’s service area of 
northern Illinois. The grants, of up to 
$10,000 each, support existing open 
space projects that focus on conser-
vation, preservation, and improve-
ments to local parks and recreation 
resources. Grant recipients can use 
Green Region grants in combination 
with other funding sources to cover 
a portion of the expenses associated 
with developing and/or supporting 
their open space program.
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